
Regular Meeting of the Artesia City Council
City Council Chambers
18747 Clarkdale Avenue

Artesia, CA 90701
(562) 865-6262

 
You may view this meeting live over the internet at

https://ca-artesia2.civicplus.com/241/City-Council-Meetings-Video
 

Monday, March 17, 2025
7:00 p.m.

1. CALL TO ORDER

1A. Call to Order

2. ROLL CALL

2A. Roll Call

3. INVOCATION

3A. Invocation

— Pastor Bob DeLeon, Artesia Calvary Chapel

4. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE

4A. Pledge of Allegiance

— Maria Andrade, Miss Artesia Princess

5. PUBLIC COMMENTS

This is the portion of the meeting set aside to invite public comments regarding any matter within the
subject matter jurisdiction of the City Council. Public comments may also be submitted by email at
publiccomments@cityofartesia.us before 12:00 p.m. on the date of the meeting. Public comments are
limited to no more than three minutes each. If comments relate to a specific agenda item, those comments
will be taken following the staff report for that item and prior to the City Council vote. Under the provisions
of the Brown Act, the City Council is prohibited from taking action on items that are not listed on the
agenda, but may refer the matter to staff or to a subsequent meeting. Those wishing to speak are asked to
add your information at the digital public kiosk located at the entrance of the Council Chamber.

5A. Public Comments

6. COUNCILMEMBER COMMENTS

6A. Councilmember Comments

7. CEREMONIAL PRESENTATIONS

7A. Developmental Disabilities Awareness Month Proclamation

7B. Women’s History Month Proclamation

https://ca-artesia2.civicplus.com/241/City-Council-Meetings-Video


7C. Social Work Month Proclamation

7D. Red Cross Month Proclamation

7E. National Kidney Month Proclamation

8. BUSINESS PRESENTATIONS

8A. Los Angeles County Sheriff Department Annual Report

9. CONSENT CALENDAR

It is recommended that Items (9A) through (9M) be acted on simultaneously in one vote unless a member
of the City Council requests separate discussion and/or action on the item. In the event a member of the
City Council requests separate discussion on a Consent Calendar item, or the item is removed from the
Consent Calendar to allow for public comments on the item to be read. The City Council will consider that
item immediately following approval of the rest of the Consent Calendar.

9A. Waive Reading of All Ordinance and Resolutions Adoptions on the Agenda and Read
by Title Only

— Recommended Action: Waive Reading, by Title Only, of all Ordinances and Resolutions. Said
Ordinances and Resolutions Which Appear on the Public Agenda Shall Be Determined to Have
Been Read by Title and Further Reading Waived.

9B. Accounts Payable Check Register - February 2025

— Recommended Action: Receive and File.

9C. City Financial Report - January 2025

— Recommended Action: Receive and File.

9D. AB 1234 Reporting

— Recommended Action: Receive and File.

9E. City Council Meeting Minutes

— Recommended Action: Approve Minutes as Presented for January 13, 2025 - Special Meeting,
January 13, 2025 - Regular Meeting, February 10, 2025 - Regular Meeting

9F. Large Event Facility Use Permit For Noel S.V. Omega to hold a Philippine American
Friendship Day Event on Saturday, July 12, 2025, at Artesia Park

— Recommended Action: Approve the Issuance of a Large Event Facility Use Permit.

9G. Production Agreement with Fireworks & Stage FX America for a City-Sponsored 4th
of July Fireworks Show

— Recommended Action: Approve and Authorize the City Manager to Retroactively Execute the
Production Agreement with Fireworks & Stage FX America in the Amount of $27,000.



9H. Refurbishments to Outdoor Buildings at Artesia Park

— Recommended Action: Approve Amendment No. 1 to the Agreement with South Coast
Painters, Increasing the Contract Amount by $19,800 for a Revised Not-To-Exceed Total of
$75,000 for Additional Painting Services at Artesia Park;

— Approve Agreement with Kilter Termite, to Repair and Replace Sections of Wood at Four
Exterior Park Buildings at Artesia Artesia Park for a Total Not-To-Exceed, of $39,753;

— Authorize the City Manager to Execute the Agreements on Behalf of the Council;

— Make a Determination of Exemption Under CEQA Pursuant to Section 15301 (d); and

— Approve a Budget Amendment to the Billboard Fund to Provide Funding for the Agreements.

9I. Grant Funding Update

— Recommended Action: Receive and File.

9J. Amendment No. 1 to Professional Service Agreement for Professional Planning
Services With Willdan

— Recommended Action: Approve Amendment No. 1 to the Professional Services Agreement
with Willdan Engineering to Complete the Housing Element, Mixed-Use Overlay Projects, and
Provide Staff Augmentation Services, for a Not-To-Exceed Amount of $450,000;

— Authorize the City Manager to Execute the Agreement on Council's Behalf; and

— Approve a Budget Amendment to the Housing Authority Fund.

9K. Amendment No. 1 to Professional Service Agreement for Professional Planning
Services With Sagecrest Planning and Environmental Services

— Recommended Action: Approve Amendment No 1. To Professional Services Agreement for
Professional Planning Services with Sagecrest Planning and Environmental Services for a Not-
To-Exceed Amount of $541,500; and

— Authorize the City Manager to Execute the Agreement on Council's Behalf.

9L. Allocation of Available Local Return Funds for the Completion of the Historical
District Trails Project - Phase III Landscaping

— Recommended Action: Authorize Staff to Complete the Historical District Trails Project- Phase
III Landscaping Using the City’s Available Resources, and Not a New Third-Party Contractor;

— Approve Budget Amendments to Allocate the Not to Exceed Amounts of $38,000 in Available
Measure R Funds and $250,000 in Available Measure M Funds to Complete Project;

— Authorize the City Manager to execute purchase orders that exceed his $40,909.27
spending authority and make purchases to implement the landscape maintenance plan for the
 Historical District Trails Project - Phase III Landscaping in amounts that do not exceed the
allocation and budget described herein;

— Make a Determination of Exemption Under CEQA Pursuant to Sections 15282(j)(c) and
15301.

9M. 2024 General Plan Annual Progress Report and Annual Housing Element Progress
Report

— Recommended Action: Approve the General Plan Annual Progress Report Inclusive of the
Annual Housing Element Progress Report for Calendar Year 2024; and

— Direct Staff to File the Reports with the State of California Office of Planning and Research
(OPR) and the California Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD)



10. PUBLIC HEARING - NONE

11. DISCUSSION

11A. Late-Night/Early-Morning Permit for Starbucks at 11732 Artesia Boulevard

— Recommended Action: Conduct hearing;

— Make Determination of Exemption from CEQA Pursuant to Section 15301 (Existing Facilities)
of the CEQA Guidelines; and

— Adopt Resolution No. 25-3032, A Resolution of the City Council of the City of Artesia,
California Granting a Late-Night/Early-Morning Permit Pursuant to Artesia Municipal Code
Section 3-2.209 to Starbucks Restaurant Located at 11732 Artesia Boulevard.

11B. Introduction of an Ordinance Amending the Artesia Municipal Code Relating to
Maintenance of Vacant Properties

— Recommended Action: Make Determination of Exemption from CEQA Pursuant to Section
15061(B)(3) of the CEQA Guidelines; and

— Introduce Ordinance No. 25-966, An Ordinance Amending Chapter 24 (Vacant Properties) of
Title 5 (Public Welfare) of the Artesia Municipal Code Relating to the Maintenance of Vacant
Properties.

11C. 2025 Goal Setting Report

— Recommended Action: Adopt the 2025 Goal Setting Report and Direct Staff to Begin
Implementation of the Early Action Goals.

11D. Schematic Design for Botanical Garden Project

— Recommended Action: Make a Determination that the Approval of the Schematic Design
Plans are in Accordance to the Approved MND; and

— Approve the Schematic Design Plans for the Artesia Botanical Garden Project at 11462 178th
St., Which Include the Overall Site Plan Design, Size of Program Areas Visualized in Renderings,
Rough Project Cost and Construction Time Estimates, and Direct Staff to Develop the Plans,
Specifications and Engineering for Bidding Construction Based upon the Approved Design.

12. CITY MANAGER INFORMATIONAL REPORTING

12A. City Manager Reporting

13. ADJOURNMENT

13A. Adjournment

The City of Artesia complies with the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990.  If you require special assistance to attend or participate in
this meeting, please call the City Clerk’s office at 562-865-6262 at least 72 hours prior to the meeting.  Copies of Staff Reports are on file

in the Office of the City Clerk and are available for inspection. 

Date Posted: March 13, 2025



 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT

MEETING DATE:   March 17, 2025  ITEM NO:   9A.

 
TO: Mayor and Members of the City Council

 
SUBJECT: Waive Reading of All Ordinance and Resolutions Adoptions on the Agenda and Read by Title

Only
 

FROM: Jennifer Alderete, City Clerk
 

REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY:
  Abel Avalos, City Manager

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
It is recommended that the City Council waive reading, by title only, of all ordinances and resolutions. Said
ordinances and resolutions which appear on the public agenda shall be determined to have been read by title and
further reading waived.
 
BACKGROUND:
California Government Code 36934 allows the legislative body to waive the requirement to read ordinances and
titles by the action. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
There is no fiscal impact associated with approval of this item. 
 
 
 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT

MEETING DATE:   March 17, 2025  ITEM NO:   9B.

 
TO: Mayor and Members of the City Council

 
SUBJECT: Accounts Payable Check Register - February 2025

 

FROM: Jamie Murguia, Finance Manager
 

REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY:
  Melissa Burke, Deputy City Manager

Abel Avalos, City Manager

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
It is recommended that the City Council receive and file this report.
 
BACKGROUND:
The attached demands summary (accounts payable checks) is a list of all checks issued by the City of Artesia from
February 1, 2025 through February 28, 2025.
 
Prior to printing each check, payment requests are approved by the department manager, Finance Manager, and
City Manager. Once payment requests have been approved, a batch for disbursement is processed by the Senior
Accountant, and approved by the Finance Manager. Each check is printed with its invoice detail, then signed by the
City Manager and Mayor.
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
There is no fiscal impact associated with approval of this item.
 
RECOMMENDED COUNCIL ACTION:
It is recommended that the City Council receive and file this report.
 
 
 

Attachments

2025 February Demand Check Register.pdf

https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67be099c23108a0054fe38d9%2F2025%20February%20Demand%20Check%20Register.pdf?alt=media&token=d615ed8a-9280-420f-880e-222b1abb3861
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67be099c23108a0054fe38d9%2F2025%20February%20Demand%20Check%20Register.pdf?alt=media&token=d615ed8a-9280-420f-880e-222b1abb3861
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67be099c23108a0054fe38d9%2F2025%20February%20Demand%20Check%20Register.pdf?alt=media&token=d615ed8a-9280-420f-880e-222b1abb3861


Transaction Type Post Date 
Due Date

Transaction 
Amount

Payment # Amount Paid

0207205 Invoice 02/12/2025 $697.07 85979 $697.07
02/12/2025

02212025 Invoice 02/26/2025 $669.43 86036 $669.43
02/26/2025

$1,366.50 $1,366.50

1440-83601 Invoice 02/19/2025 $95.00 86012 $95.00
Pre Employment Physical 02/19/2025

$95.00 $95.00

55085 Invoice 09/09/2024 $1,750.00 85966 $1,750.00
09/09/2024

$1,750.00 $1,750.00

82733672 Invoice 02/19/2025 $59.00 86013 $59.00
02/19/2025

$59.00 $59.00

98667 Invoice 02/12/2025 $11,704.02 85980 $11,704.02
02/12/2025

$11,704.02 $11,704.02

IR-3575 Invoice 02/19/2025 $12,000.00 86014 $12,000.00
02/19/2025

$12,000.00 $12,000.00

IR-3492 Invoice 01/29/2025 $37,500.00 85967 $37,500.00
01/29/2025

$37,500.00 $37,500.00

INV027946 Invoice 02/12/2025 $1,156.27 85981 $1,156.27
02/12/2025

$1,156.27 $1,156.27

1020177 Invoice 02/26/2025 $1,556.00 86037 $1,556.00
02/26/2025

1020173 Invoice 02/26/2025 $1,570.00 86037 $1,570.00
02/26/2025

1020179 Invoice 02/26/2025 $2,278.00 86037 $2,278.00
25/01 General Litigation 02/26/2025
1020165 Invoice 02/26/2025 $2,352.00 86037 $2,352.00
25/01 Planning 02/26/2025
1020178 Invoice 02/26/2025 $5,041.80 86037 $5,041.80
25/01 Code Enforcement 02/26/2025
1020171 Invoice 02/26/2025 $11,729.50 86037 $11,729.50
25/01 Labor/Employment 02/26/2025
1020172 Invoice 02/26/2025 $340.00 86037 $340.00
25/01 Successor Agency 02/26/2025
1020175 Invoice 02/26/2025 $306.00 86037 $306.00
25/01 HCD Notice 02/26/2025
1020164 Invoice 02/26/2025 $196.00 86037 $196.00
25/01 Administration 02/26/2025
1020176 Invoice 02/26/2025 $194.00 86037 $194.00

02/26/2025
1020169 Invoice 02/26/2025 $98.00 86037 $98.00
25/01 Utilities 02/26/2025
1020181 Invoice 02/26/2025 $643.50 86037 $643.50

02/26/2025

  ALL CITY MANAGEMENT SERVICES
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

09/09/2024 02/04/2025
Repair and replacement  of 

Totals for ALBANO'S PLUMBING INC.:

  ALBANO'S PLUMBING INC.

City of Artesia
February 2025 Check Register

Date Transaction # Description Payment Date

  AFSCME DISTRICT COUNCIL 36
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

Union Dues, Payroll  
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

Union Dues, Payroll  
Totals for AFSCME DISTRICT COUNCIL 36:

  AKESO OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH
02/19/2025 02/19/2025

Totals for AKESO OCCUPATIONAL HEALTH:

  ALISSA CARREIRO
02/19/2025 02/19/2025

Not enough players  
Totals for ALISSA CARREIRO:

  BEST BEST & KRIEGER LLP
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

25/01 Eminent Domain  RE 
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

1/19- 2/1/25 Crossing  Guard 
Totals for ALL CITY MANAGEMENT SERVICES:

  ARTESIA CERRITOS LIONS CLUB
02/19/2025 02/19/2025

2025 Community Benefits  
Totals for ARTESIA CERRITOS LIONS CLUB:

  ARTESIA TIRE AND SERVICE
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

Repairs - 2018 GMC  Sierra 
Totals for ARTESIA TIRE AND SERVICE:

Totals for ARTESIA HISTORICAL SOCIETY:

  ARTESIA HISTORICAL SOCIETY
01/29/2025 02/04/2025

2025 Community Benefits  

25/01 Builders Remedy  

25/01 Catalyst - Artesia  LLC - 
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

02/26/2025 02/26/2025

02/26/2025 02/26/2025

02/26/2025 02/26/2025

02/26/2025 02/26/2025

02/26/2025 02/26/2025

02/26/2025 02/26/2025

02/26/2025 02/26/2025
25/01 Economic  

02/26/2025 02/26/2025

02/26/2025 02/26/2025



1020182 Invoice 02/26/2025 $780.00 86037 $780.00
25/01 Public Records Act 02/26/2025
1020166 Invoice 02/26/2025 $983.50 86037 $983.50
25/01 City Clerk 02/26/2025
1020168 Invoice 02/26/2025 $1,029.00 86037 $1,029.00
25/01 Public Works 02/26/2025
1020170 Invoice 02/26/2025 $1,224.00 86038 $1,224.00
25/01 Finance 02/26/2025
1020167 Invoice 02/26/2025 $1,421.00 86038 $1,421.00
25/01 Parks & Recreation 02/26/2025
1020163 Invoice 02/26/2025 $1,494.50 86038 $1,494.50
25/01 City Manager 02/26/2025
1020162 Invoice 02/26/2025 $5,918.70 86038 $5,918.70
25/01 City Council 02/26/2025
1020174 Invoice 02/26/2025 $9,365.52 86038 $9,365.52
25/01 Motel 6 02/26/2025

$48,521.02 $48,521.02

184037 Invoice 02/12/2025 $1,526.16 85982 $1,526.16
25/01 Parking Meter IT 02/12/2025

$1,526.16 $1,526.16

A-007 Invoice 02/26/2025 $375.00 86039 $375.00
02/26/2025

$375.00 $375.00

7099 Invoice 02/26/2025 $5,850.00 86040 $5,850.00
Grant Writing Services 02/26/2025

$5,850.00 $5,850.00

231273 Invoice 02/12/2025 $134.00 85983 $134.00
25/01 Pest Control 02/12/2025
231383 Invoice 02/12/2025 $134.00 85983 $134.00
25/02 Pest Control 02/12/2025

$268.00 $268.00

4203484552-02/2025 Invoice 02/01/2025 $72,266.46 41108 $72,266.46
25/02 Health Premium 02/01/2025

$72,266.46 $72,266.46

IN2814585 Invoice 02/19/2025 $400.77 86015 $400.77
02/19/2025

$400.77 $400.77

5033126043 Invoice 02/12/2025 $653.71 85984 $653.71
02/12/2025

$653.71 $653.71

83735580 Invoice 02/26/2025 $80.00 86041 $80.00
02/26/2025

$80.00 $80.00

17612 Invoice 02/19/2025 $500.00 86016 $500.00
02/19/2025

$500.00 $500.00

2024-08-04 Invoice 02/12/2025 $23,000.00 85985 $23,000.00
02/12/2025

$23,000.00 $23,000.00

4219288008 Invoice 02/12/2025 $149.72 85986 $149.72
02/12/2025

4217835386 Invoice 02/12/2025 $556.70 85986 $556.70
02/12/2025

$706.42 $706.42

02/26/2025 02/26/2025

  CALE AMERICA INC.
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

02/26/2025 02/26/2025

02/26/2025 02/26/2025

02/26/2025 02/26/2025

02/26/2025 02/26/2025

02/26/2025 02/26/2025

02/26/2025 02/26/2025

02/26/2025 02/26/2025

Totals for BEST BEST & KRIEGER LLP:

02/12/2025 02/12/2025

Totals for CALIFORNIA PEST MANAGEMENT:
  CalPers
02/01/2025 02/12/2025

Totals for CalPers:

Totals for CALE AMERICA INC.:
  CALIFORNIA CLERK ADMINISTRATION SERVICES, LLC
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

Transcription of minutes  
Totals for CALIFORNIA CLERK ADMINISTRATION SERVICES, LLC:

  CALIFORNIA CONSULTING INC
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

Totals for CALIFORNIA CONSULTING INC:
  CALIFORNIA PEST MANAGEMENT
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

C&D Recycling Deposit  
Totals for CHAKRA MISHRA:

  CHEE SALETTE ARCHITECTURE OFFICE

  CBE OFFICE SOLUTIONS
02/19/2025 02/19/2025

12/20-1/19/25 Overage  
Totals for CBE OFFICE SOLUTIONS:

  CELL BUSINESS EQUIPMENT
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

2/20-3/19/25 Sharp  Copiers
Totals for CELL BUSINESS EQUIPMENT:

  CERRITOS FOOTBALL BOOSTERS
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

Facility use deposit  refund 
Totals for CERRITOS FOOTBALL BOOSTERS:

  CHAKRA MISHRA
02/19/2025 02/19/2025

02/12/2025 02/12/2025
24/12 Design Services  

Totals for CHEE SALETTE ARCHITECTURE OFFICE:
  CINTAS CORP
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

25/01 AJ Park Janitorial  
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

25/01 Artesia Park  Janitorial 
Totals for CINTAS CORP:



ASIT001483 Invoice 02/19/2025 $4,378.00 86017 $4,378.00
02/19/2025

$4,378.00 $4,378.00

3507880-00-021325 Invoice 02/12/2025 $234.88 85987 $234.88
02/12/2025

3507800-00-021325 Invoice 02/12/2025 $95.37 85987 $95.37
02/12/2025

$330.25 $330.25

70687030201247 Invoice 02/07/2025 $3,663.83 41109 $3,663.83
25/02 Supplemental Ins. 02/07/2025

$3,663.83 $3,663.83

4313 Invoice 12/16/2024 $4,282.90 85968 $4,282.90
12/16/2024

4357 Invoice 02/26/2025 $11,570.62 86042 $11,570.62
02/26/2025

$15,853.52 $15,853.52

83174360 Invoice 02/26/2025 $150.00 86043 $150.00
02/26/2025

$150.00 $150.00

41925 Invoice 02/19/2025 $400.00 86018 $400.00
02/19/2025

$400.00 $400.00

108 Invoice 02/26/2025 $1,500.00 86044 $1,500.00
02/26/2025

$1,500.00 $1,500.00

1803 Invoice 02/19/2025 $3,937.50 86019 $3,937.50
02/19/2025

$3,937.50 $3,937.50

70144-00001-01/01/25 Invoice 02/26/2025 $254.96 86045 $254.96
02/26/2025

70144-00001-02/01/25 Invoice 02/26/2025 $254.96 86045 $254.96
02/26/2025

70144-00001-03/01/25 Invoice 02/26/2025 $254.96 86045 $254.96
02/26/2025

$764.88 $764.88

902 Invoice 02/12/2025 $400.00 85988 $400.00
02/12/2025

IR-3694 Invoice 02/26/2025 $300.00 86046 $300.00
02/26/2025

$700.00 $700.00

113656 - B Invoice 02/19/2025 $1,097.27 86020 $1,097.27
02/19/2025

113656 - A Invoice 02/19/2025 $1,440.00 86020 $1,440.00
02/19/2025

113617 Invoice 02/26/2025 $260.00 86047 $260.00
02/26/2025

113660 Invoice 02/26/2025 $450.00 86047 $450.00
02/26/2025

$3,247.27 $3,247.27

19585 Invoice 02/26/2025 $1,817.00 86048 $1,817.00
02/26/2025

$1,817.00 $1,817.00

02/07/2025 02/12/2025

Totals for COLONIAL LIFE:

  CITY OF BREA
02/19/2025 02/19/2025

25/02 IT service and  onsite 
Totals for CITY OF BREA:

  CITY OF NORWALK
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

11/15-1/15/25 169th &  
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

11/15-1/15/25 11908  169th
Totals for CITY OF NORWALK:

  COLONIAL LIFE

Eggstravaganza & Public  
Totals for David Devito:

  DAVID M MARQUEZ JR.
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

  COMPLETE PAPERLESS SOLUTIONS, LLC

02/26/2025 02/26/2025
Laserfiche - CD  Document 

Totals for COMPLETE PAPERLESS SOLUTIONS, LLC:
  CUB SCOUT PACK 529
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

Facility use deposit  refund 
Totals for CUB SCOUT PACK 529:

  David Devito
02/19/2025 02/19/2025

12/16/2024 02/04/2025
Laserfiche - CD  Document 

02/26/2025 02/26/2025
Baseball Opening Day  2025 - 

Totals for DERAIN DAVIS:

Restaurant week promos  
Totals for DAVID M MARQUEZ JR.:

  DEB'S BOOKKEEPLUS
02/19/2025 02/19/2025

24/12 and 25/01  Accounting 
Totals for DEB'S BOOKKEEPLUS:

  DELTA DENTAL INSURANCE COMPANY
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

25/01 HMO Dental  
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

25/02 HMO Dental  
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

25/03 HMO Dental  
Totals for DELTA DENTAL INSURANCE COMPANY:

  DERAIN DAVIS
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

Dog Day Afternoon DJ  

  DUPRE ENTERPRISES
02/19/2025 02/19/2025

Various Street Lighting  
02/19/2025 02/19/2025

Artesia Park - Various  
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

Reprogram Water Tower  
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

Painting Conduit at Main  
Totals for DUPRE ENTERPRISES:

  EAST WHITTIER GLASS AND MIRROR CO. INC.
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

Board up of 11928 169th  St.
Totals for EAST WHITTIER GLASS AND MIRROR CO. INC.:

  EDITH GUERRA



TuitionReimb 2-24-25 Invoice 02/26/2025 $2,395.00 86049 $2,395.00
02/26/2025

$2,395.00 $2,395.00

480414A-020625 Invoice 02/20/2025 $3,534.91 41117 $3,534.91
02/20/2025

$3,534.91 $3,534.91

MAR2025 Invoice 02/26/2025 $221.12 86050 $221.12
25/03 Medical Premium 02/26/2025

$221.12 $221.12

001 Invoice 02/12/2025 $450,372.20 85989 $450,372.20
02/12/2025

$450,372.20 $450,372.20

5109217 Invoice 02/26/2025 $11.81 86051 $11.81
Artesia Community 02/26/2025
Center - PVC Coupling

$11.81 $11.81

166644920 Invoice 02/06/2025 $515.66 41118 $515.66
25/02 Vision Coverage 02/06/2025

$515.66 $515.66

250102 Invoice 02/26/2025 $8,199.41 86052 $8,199.41
02/26/2025

241203 Invoice 02/26/2025 $7,383.69 86052 $7,383.69
24/12 Dial-A-Ride Service 02/26/2025

$15,583.10 $15,583.10

7-4-2025-1 Invoice 02/12/2025 $13,500.00 85990 $13,500.00
02/12/2025

$13,500.00 $13,500.00

02072025 Invoice 02/12/2025 $80.00 85991 $80.00
02/12/2025

02212025 Invoice 02/26/2025 $80.00 86053 $80.00
02/26/2025

02212025 Invoice 02/26/2025 $46.09 86054 $46.09
02/26/2025

$206.09 $206.09

IR-3494 Invoice 01/29/2025 $25,000.00 85969 $25,000.00
01/29/2025

$25,000.00 $25,000.00

00552386989-021325 Invoice 02/21/2025 $415.65 41119 $415.65
25/01 11938 South St. 02/21/2025
28650044382-020625 Invoice 02/21/2025 $116.19 41119 $116.19
25/01 18609 IRR Pioneer 02/21/2025
Blvd
49057935782-021925 Invoice 02/21/2025 $159.79 41119 $159.79
25/01 18530 Corby Ave. 02/21/2025
13732300002-021825 Invoice 02/21/2025 $341.83 41119 $341.83

02/21/2025
80727400006-020625 Invoice 02/21/2025 $511.60 41119 $511.60

02/21/2025
43024400004-020625 Invoice 02/21/2025 $352.93 41119 $352.93
25/01 11734 IRR Artesia 02/21/2025
42732300001-021925 Invoice 02/21/2025 $315.24 41119 $315.24
25/01 12034 Artesia IRR 02/21/2025
11131392257-021825 Invoice 02/21/2025 $656.34 41119 $656.34

02/21/2025
97259400006-021825 Invoice 02/21/2025 $58.17 41119 $58.17

24/01 Electric Vehicle  Lease
Totals for Enterprise FM Trust:

02/26/2025 02/26/2025
Tuition Reimbursement  

Totals for EDITH GUERRA:
  Enterprise FM Trust
02/20/2025 02/26/2025

02/26/2025 02/26/2025

Totals for FIESTA COOPERATIVE INC.:

  ERNESTO OLIVARES
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

Totals for ERNESTO OLIVARES:
  EXCEL PAVING COMPANY
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

2024 City Wide Bus  Shelter 
Project - Invoice  No. 1

Totals for EXCEL PAVING COMPANY:
  Ferguson Enterprises LLC #1350
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

Totals for Ferguson Enterprises LLC #1350:
  FIDELITY SECURITY LIFE INSURANCE CO.
02/06/2025 02/26/2025

Totals for FIDELITY SECURITY LIFE INSURANCE CO.:
  FIESTA COOPERATIVE INC.
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

25/01 Dial-a-Ride  Services

Rene Trevino, 02/21/2025  
Totals for FRANCHISE TAX BOARD:

  GOLDEN STATE WATER COMPANY
02/21/2025 02/26/2025

02/21/2025 02/26/2025

  Fireworks & Stage FX America, LLC
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

July 4th Fireworks show  
Totals for Fireworks & Stage FX America, LLC:

  FRANCHISE TAX BOARD
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

Ericka Jackson,  02/07/2025 
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

Ericka Jackson,  02/21/2025 
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

25/01 17189 IRR Baber  Ave.
02/21/2025 02/26/2025

02/21/2025 02/26/2025

02/21/2025 02/26/2025

  FRIENDS OF THE ARTESIA LIBRARY
01/29/2025 02/04/2025

2025 Community Benefits  
Totals for FRIENDS OF THE ARTESIA LIBRARY:

25/01 11504 Artesia Blvd  
02/21/2025 02/26/2025

25/01 11710 South St.  IRR
02/21/2025 02/26/2025

02/21/2025 02/26/2025

02/21/2025 02/26/2025



25/01 17202 Alburtis Ave. 02/21/2025
82177200001-021825 Invoice 02/21/2025 $193.06 41119 $193.06
25/01 17203 Corby Ave. 02/21/2025
87564300009-021925 Invoice 02/21/2025 $742.16 41119 $742.16

02/21/2025
79020300004-021825 Invoice 02/21/2025 $1,676.68 41119 $1,676.68

02/21/2025
87836872074-021325 Invoice 02/21/2025 $211.55 41119 $211.55

02/21/2025
29424300001-020625 Invoice 02/21/2025 $175.46 41119 $175.46
25/01 18641 Corby 02/21/2025
22743000006-020625 Invoice 02/21/2025 $222.32 41119 $222.32
25/01 18644 Alburtis Ave. 02/21/2025
91743000001-020625 Invoice 02/21/2025 $408.54 41119 $408.54

02/21/2025
02743000008-020625 Invoice 02/21/2025 $27.30 41119 $27.30

02/21/2025
12743000007-020625 Invoice 02/21/2025 $425.03 41119 $425.03
25/01 18750 Clarkdale 02/21/2025
85147443411-021325 Invoice 02/21/2025 $392.68 41119 $392.68

02/21/2025
63500932239-021325 Invoice 02/21/2025 $91.89 41119 $91.89

02/21/2025
55342200007-020625 Invoice 02/21/2025 $251.98 41119 $251.98

02/21/2025
91385393847-020625 Invoice 02/21/2025 $1,327.68 41119 $1,327.68

02/21/2025
53533876818-020625 Invoice 02/21/2025 $346.98 41119 $346.98

02/21/2025
76772389227-021425 Invoice 02/21/2025 $182.76 41119 $182.76
25/01 11504 178th St. 02/21/2025

$9,603.81 $9,603.81

9345565015 Invoice 02/12/2025 $1,563.61 85992 $1,563.61
02/12/2025

9345565031 Invoice 02/12/2025 $2,241.04 85992 $2,241.04
02/12/2025

9366896091 Invoice 02/12/2025 $407.48 85992 $407.48
02/12/2025

9345565023 Invoice 02/26/2025 $403.00 86055 $403.00
02/26/2025

$4,615.13 $4,615.13

82733722 Invoice 02/19/2025 $54.00 86021 $54.00
02/19/2025

$54.00 $54.00

41621 Invoice 02/26/2025 $2,650.00 86056 $2,650.00
02/26/2025

41435 Invoice 02/26/2025 $870.00 86056 $870.00
02/26/2025

$3,520.00 $3,520.00

SIN046814 Invoice 02/03/2025 $2,196.42 85970 $2,196.42
02/03/2025

$2,196.42 $2,196.42

Jan2025 Invoice 02/19/2025 $1,340.95 86022 $1,340.95
25/01 Karate Class 02/19/2025

$1,340.95 $1,340.95

21010 Invoice 02/26/2025 $1,256.51 86057 $1,256.51
02/26/2025

$1,256.51 $1,256.51

25/01 Norwalk & South  St.
02/21/2025 02/26/2025

02/21/2025 02/26/2025

02/21/2025 02/26/2025
25/01 18747 Clarkdale  Ave.

02/21/2025 02/26/2025

02/21/2025 02/26/2025
25/01 17512 IRR Norwalk  

02/21/2025 02/26/2025
25/01 17815 Pioneer Blvd  

02/21/2025 02/26/2025
25/01 18506 IRR Pioneer  

02/21/2025 02/26/2025

02/21/2025 02/26/2025
25/01 18747 Fp Clarkdale  

02/21/2025 02/26/2025

02/21/2025 02/26/2025
25/01 18803 Elaine Ave.  

02/21/2025 02/26/2025

Public Works Janitorial  

25/01 Norwalk Blvd So of  
02/21/2025 02/26/2025

25/01 17514 Norwalk  Blvd 
02/21/2025 02/26/2025

25/01 Droxford St  Norwalk 
02/21/2025 02/26/2025

Totals for GOLDEN STATE WATER COMPANY:
  GRAINGER
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

Cleaning Supplies for  
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

Cleaning Supplies for City  
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

Vacuum and vacuum  bags
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

Jan/Mar '25 Property Tax  
Totals for HDL COREN & CONE:

Totals for GRAINGER:
  GUSTAVO SOTO
02/19/2025 02/19/2025

Not enough players  
Totals for GUSTAVO SOTO:

  HAZZARD BACKFLOW INC.
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

Replace Failed Backflow  
Assembly - 17815  Pioneer 

02/26/2025 02/26/2025
Annual Backflow Tests  

Totals for HAZZARD BACKFLOW INC.:
  HDL COREN & CONE
02/03/2025 02/04/2025

  HEDSSON JIMENEZ
02/19/2025 02/19/2025

Totals for HEDSSON JIMENEZ:
  HOLIDAYGOO
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

Candy and toy filled  plastic 
Totals for HOLIDAYGOO:

  HONEYWELL INTERNATIONAL INC



5269039414 Invoice 02/12/2025 $17,358.96 85993 $17,358.96
02/12/2025

$17,358.96 $17,358.96

11302425 Invoice 02/03/2025 $1,177.00 85971 $1,177.00
24/11 Senior Meals 02/03/2025
01312425 Invoice 02/19/2025 $1,029.00 86023 $1,029.00
25/01 Senior Meals 02/19/2025

$2,206.00 $2,206.00

59,169 Invoice 02/12/2025 $1,196.78 85994 $1,196.78
02/12/2025

59,144 Invoice 02/12/2025 $847.90 85994 $847.90
02/12/2025

$2,044.68 $2,044.68

ART1MS412411 Invoice 02/12/2025 $2,858.75 85995 $2,858.75
02/12/2025

ART1MS412410 Invoice 02/12/2025 $2,969.27 85995 $2,969.27
02/12/2025

ART1MS412412 Invoice 02/19/2025 $2,932.50 86024 $2,932.50
02/19/2025

$8,760.52 $8,760.52

MAR2025 Invoice 02/26/2025 $221.12 86058 $221.12
25/03 Medical Premium 02/26/2025

$221.12 $221.12

MAR2025 Invoice 02/26/2025 $32.28 86059 $32.28
25/03 Medical Premium 02/26/2025

$32.28 $32.28

MAR2025 Invoice 02/26/2025 $225.36 86060 $225.36
25/03 Medical Premium 02/26/2025

$225.36 $225.36

30876164 Invoice 02/26/2025 $1,300.00 86061 $1,300.00
02/26/2025

$1,300.00 $1,300.00

2412.8-001 Invoice 02/26/2025 $2,906.80 86062 $2,906.80
02/26/2025

2412.8-002 Invoice 02/26/2025 $6,275.00 86062 $6,275.00
02/26/2025

$9,181.80 $9,181.80

24-1479 Nov24 Invoice 02/26/2025 $4,930.38 86063 $4,930.38
02/26/2025

$4,930.38 $4,930.38

25021003878 Invoice 02/26/2025 $3,485.10 86064 $3,485.10
25/01 Industrial Waste 02/26/2025

$3,485.10 $3,485.10

251762TZ Invoice 02/26/2025 $955.26 86065 $955.26
24/12 Traffic Enforcement 02/26/2025
251829TZ Invoice 02/26/2025 $1,319.67 86065 $1,319.67

02/26/2025
251830TZ Invoice 02/26/2025 $14,663.79 86065 $14,663.79
24/12 Gang Suppression 02/26/2025
251761TZ Invoice 02/26/2025 $34,135.82 86065 $34,135.82
24/12 SAO Backfill 02/26/2025

Maintenance - 2012  Dodge 
Recreational Van  #1

Totals for JASPERS AUTO SERVICE INC.:
  JOHN L HUNTER & ASSOCIATES

02/01-4/30/25 HVCA  
Totals for HONEYWELL INTERNATIONAL INC:

  HUMAN SERVICES ASSOCIATION
02/03/2025 02/04/2025

02/12/2025 02/12/2025

02/19/2025 02/19/2025

Totals for HUMAN SERVICES ASSOCIATION:
  JASPERS AUTO SERVICE INC.
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

Maintenance - 2012  Dodge 
Recreational Van  #2

02/12/2025 02/12/2025

Totals for KIMLEY HORN AND ASSOCIATES INC:
  KOSMONT COMPANIES
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

Totals for JOSE ASCENCIO:
  JUSTINE MENZEL
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

02/12/2025 02/12/2025
24/11 Municipal Storm  

02/12/2025 02/12/2025
24/10 Municipal Storm  

02/19/2025 02/19/2025
24/12 Municipal Storm  

Totals for JOHN L HUNTER & ASSOCIATES:
  JOSE ASCENCIO
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

Totals for JUSTINE MENZEL:
  KAREN HEATH
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

Totals for KAREN HEATH:
  KIMLEY HORN AND ASSOCIATES INC
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

25/01 EV Charging  Facility 

Totals for LA COUNTY DEPT OF PUBLIC WORKS:
  LA COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

02/26/2025 02/26/2025
24/12 DES Hall Special  Event

24/12 Econ Dev  
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

25/01 Econ Dev  
Totals for KOSMONT COMPANIES:

  LA CONSERVATION CORPS
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

24/12 CAL FIRE Grant  Three 
Year Maintenance  

Totals for LA CONSERVATION CORPS:
  LA COUNTY DEPT OF PUBLIC WORKS
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

02/26/2025 02/26/2025

02/26/2025 02/26/2025



251628TZ Invoice 02/26/2025 $369,930.26 86065 $369,930.26
02/26/2025

251831TZ Invoice 02/20/2025 $5,068.76 86065 $5,068.76
02/20/2025

$426,073.56 $426,073.56

02152025 Invoice 02/19/2025 $139.70 86025 $139.70
25/02 Supplemental Ins. 02/19/2025

$139.70 $139.70

200006718171-021125 Invoice 02/12/2025 $1,252.00 85996 $1,252.00
02/12/2025

$1,252.00 $1,252.00

4793556977 Invoice 02/03/2025 $4,340.77 41111 $4,340.77
02/03/2025

$4,340.77 $4,340.77

IN250000464 Invoice 02/12/2025 $54,049.03 85997 $54,049.03
24/11 Building & Safety 02/12/2025

$54,049.03 $54,049.03

37303 Invoice 02/26/2025 $1,474.65 86066 $1,474.65
02/26/2025

$1,474.65 $1,474.65

Jan2025 Invoice 02/19/2025 $74.75 86026 $74.75
25/01 Yoga PM 02/19/2025
Feb2025 Invoice 02/19/2025 $74.75 86026 $74.75
25/02 Yoga PM 02/19/2025

$149.50 $149.50

0049434 Invoice 02/26/2025 $441.00 86067 $441.00
Helium Tank Rental 02/26/2025

$441.00 $441.00

106809 Invoice 02/26/2025 $43.10 86068 $43.10
02/26/2025

$43.10 $43.10

11928-R001-2 Invoice 02/26/2025 $550.00 86069 $550.00
02/26/2025

$550.00 $550.00

112109 Invoice 02/19/2025 $8,903.00 86027 $8,903.00
02/19/2025

$8,903.00 $8,903.00

MAR2025 Invoice 02/26/2025 $221.12 86070 $221.12
25/03 Medical Premium 02/26/2025

$221.12 $221.12

16758 Invoice 02/12/2025 $20,000.00 85998 $20,000.00
02/12/2025

$20,000.00 $20,000.00

RLE11973 Invoice 02/26/2025 $7,116.07 86071 $7,116.07
02/26/2025

$7,116.07 $7,116.07

70144-00001-010125 Invoice 02/11/2025 $254.96 41112 $254.96
02/11/2025

70144-00001-020125 Invoice 02/11/2025 $254.96 41112 $254.96

11/20-1/16/25 - 16712  
Totals for LIBERTY UTILITIES:

  LINCOLN NATIONAL LIFE INSURANCE

02/26/2025 02/26/2025
24/12 General Law  

02/20/2025 02/26/2025
24/12 Mirage Special  Event

Totals for LA COUNTY SHERIFF'S DEPARTMENT:
  LEGAL SHIELD
02/19/2025 02/19/2025

Totals for LEGAL SHIELD:
  LIBERTY UTILITIES
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

Jacket for Deputy City  
Totals for MANHATTAN STITCHING CO.:

Totals for LOS CERRITOS COMMUNITY NEWS:
  LOURDES TREROTOLA
02/19/2025 02/19/2025

02/03/2025 02/19/2025
25/02 Life & Disability  Ins.

Totals for LINCOLN NATIONAL LIFE INSURANCE:
  LOS ANGELES COUNTY PUBLIC WORKS
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

Totals for LOS ANGELES COUNTY PUBLIC WORKS:
  LOS CERRITOS COMMUNITY NEWS
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

Legal Notice Ord 24-965  

02/19/2025 02/19/2025

Totals for LOURDES TREROTOLA:
  MAGIC TOUCH BALLOON CO.
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

Totals for MAGIC TOUCH BALLOON CO.:
  MANHATTAN STITCHING CO.
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

25/01 HMO Dental  
02/11/2025 02/19/2025

Totals for MARTIN GAMEZ:
  MOSS, LEVY & HARTZHEIM, LLP
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

FY23/24 Audit  Completion

  MANUEL PEREZ
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

AJ Padelford Park  Expansion 
Project  Relocation Costs

Totals for MANUEL PEREZ:
  MARIPOSA LANDSCAPES INC
02/19/2025 02/19/2025

25/01 Landscape  
Totals for MARIPOSA LANDSCAPES INC:

  MARTIN GAMEZ
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

Totals for MOSS, LEVY & HARTZHEIM, LLP:
  MOVER SERVICES
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

AJ Padelford Park  Expansion-
Mover Sevices.  Inc.

Totals for MOVER SERVICES:
  MUNICIPAL DENTAL POOL
02/11/2025 02/19/2025



02/11/2025
23316-00001-020125 Invoice 02/11/2025 $4,239.96 41120 $4,239.96

02/11/2025
23316-00001-010125 Invoice 02/11/2025 $4,344.82 41120 $4,344.82

02/11/2025
$9,094.70 $9,094.70

MAR2025 Invoice 02/26/2025 $221.12 86072 $221.12
25/02 Medical Premium 02/26/2025

$221.12 $221.12

34489 Invoice 02/19/2025 $15,000.00 86028 $15,000.00
25/01 Street Sweeping 02/19/2025

$15,000.00 $15,000.00

339033SCOTT Invoice 12/12/2024 $150.00 85972 $150.00
12/12/2024

$1,752.38 $1,752.38

409425095001 Invoice 02/12/2025 $91.59 410027171 $33.05
General Office Supplies 02/12/2025

85999 $58.54
406955848001 Invoice 02/26/2025 $94.73 86073 $94.73
Office Supplies 02/26/2025

$186.32 $186.32

02032025 Invoice 02/03/2025 $5,263.21 85973 $5,263.21
02/03/2025

02032025 Invoice 02/03/2025 $18,686.47 85973 $18,686.47
Separation Payment 02/03/2025

$23,949.68 $23,949.68

A601ATA002 Invoice 02/26/2025 $527.00 86074 $527.00
02/26/2025

$527.00 $527.00

INVM0019426 Invoice 02/03/2025 $18,602.25 85974 $18,602.25
24/12 Shuttle Service 02/03/2025
INVM0019474 Invoice 02/26/2025 $20,764.48 86075 $20,764.48
25/01 Shuttle Services 02/26/2025

$39,366.73 $39,366.73

OCT/FEB2025 Invoice
02/12/2025 $41.88 86000 $41.88

$41.88 $41.88

ART-02.0-11 Invoice 02/26/2025 $1,035.35 86076 $1,035.35
25/01 ADSP TOD SIP 02/26/2025
ART-02.0-10 Invoice 02/26/2025 $1,315.00 86076 $1,315.00

02/26/2025
ART-02.0-12 Invoice 02/26/2025 $1,487.15 86076 $1,487.15
25/01 ADSP for TOD 02/26/2025
Portion

$3,837.50 $3,837.50

80855574-020225 Invoice 02/12/2025 $1,003.00 41110 $1,003.00
Refilled Postage Machine 02/12/2025

$1,003.00 $1,003.00

1551 Invoice 02/12/2025 $7,675.13 86001 $7,675.13
02/12/2025

$7,675.13 $7,675.13

64591243 Invoice 01/30/2025 $1,209.60 85975 $1,209.60
01/30/2025

Estimate to cap out and  

02/12/2025 02/06/2025

02/12/2025
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

25/02 HMO Dental  
02/11/2025 02/26/2025

25/02 PPO Dental  Coverage
02/11/2025 02/26/2025

25/01 PPO Dental  Coverage
Totals for MUNICIPAL DENTAL POOL:

  NATALIE HERRERA
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

Totals for NATALIE HERRERA:

12/12/2024 02/04/2025

Totals for NORWALK LA MIRADA PLUMBING:

  NORWALK LA MIRADA PLUMBING

  NATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES
02/19/2025 02/19/2025

Totals for NATIONAL ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES:

  ODP BUSINESS SOLUTIONS, LLC

02/26/2025 02/26/2025

Totals for PCAM, LLC:

Totals for ODP BUSINESS SOLUTIONS, LLC:
  OKINA DOR
02/03/2025 02/04/2025

Health benefit  
02/03/2025 02/04/2025

Totals for OKINA DOR:
  OPC TRANSYSTEMS CORPORATION
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

24/11 Acquisition  Services 
Totals for OPC TRANSYSTEMS CORPORATION:

  PCAM, LLC
02/03/2025 02/04/2025

Totals for RAMIREZ PRODUCTIONS:
  ROBERT HALF

02/26/2025 02/26/2025

  PETTY CASH
02/12/2025

Replenish Petty Cash  10/8- 02/12/2025
Totals for PETTY CASH:

  PLACEWORKS INC.
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

02/26/2025 02/26/2025
25/01 ADSP-SEGL Enviro  

Totals for PLACEWORKS INC.:
  Quadient Finance USA Inc.
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

Totals for Quadient Finance USA Inc.:
  RAMIREZ PRODUCTIONS
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

Mariachi Festival  

01/30/2025 02/04/2025
Administrative  Assistant



6461 Invoice 02/12/2025 $1,209.60 86002 $1,209.60
02/12/2025

64612387 Invoice 02/12/2025 $1,454.08 86002 $1,454.08
02/12/2025

64638268 Invoice 02/19/2025 $1,417.50 86029 $1,417.50
02/19/2025

64638237 Invoice 02/19/2025 $1,454.08 86029 $1,454.08
02/19/2025

64381406 Invoice 02/26/2024 $1,014.94 86077 $1,014.94
02/26/2024

64667443 Invoice 02/26/2025 $907.20 86077 $907.20
02/26/2025

64667432 Invoice 02/26/2025 $1,454.08 86077 $1,454.08
02/26/2025

64586739 Invoice 02/26/2025 $1,454.08 86077 $1,454.08
02/26/2025

$11,575.16 $11,575.16

IR-3493 Invoice 01/29/2025 $13,000.00 85976 $13,000.00
01/29/2025

$13,000.00 $13,000.00

5001 Invoice 02/12/2025 $1,150.00 86003 $1,150.00
02/12/2025

5072 Invoice 02/12/2025 $250.00 86003 $250.00
25/01 Artesia DTSP 02/12/2025
5073 Invoice 02/12/2025 $600.00 86003 $600.00
25/01 - Housing Element 02/12/2025
5071 Invoice 02/12/2025 $1,290.00 86003 $1,290.00

02/12/2025
5074 Invoice 02/12/2025 $12,710.00 86003 $12,710.00

02/12/2025
5070 Invoice 02/12/2025 $29,600.00 86003 $29,600.00

02/12/2025
$45,600.00 $45,600.00

022225 Invoice 02/19/2025 $240.00 86031 $240.00
02/19/2025

030125 Invoice 02/19/2025 $200.00 86030 $200.00
02/19/2025

$440.00 $440.00

Jan/Feb2025 Invoice 02/19/2025 $109.20 86032 $109.20
25/02 Guitar Class 02/19/2025

$109.20 $109.20

17827 Invoice 01/15/2025 $303.00 85977 $303.00
01/15/2025

$303.00 $303.00

7663 Invoice 02/19/2025 $250.00 86033 $250.00
25/01 Advisory Fee 02/19/2025

$250.00 $250.00

82733773 Invoice 02/19/2025 $59.00 86034 $59.00
02/19/2025

$59.00 $59.00

733117 Invoice 02/26/2025 $134.82 86078 $134.82
02/26/2025

733118 Invoice 02/26/2025 $134.82 86078 $134.82
02/26/2025

733119 Invoice 02/26/2025 $134.82 86078 $134.82
02/26/2025

02/12/2025 02/12/2025

2025 Community Benefits  
Totals for SAAHAS FOR CAUSE:

02/26/2025 02/26/2025
Planning Administrative  

02/26/2025 02/26/2025
Planning Admin Assistant  

Totals for ROBERT HALF:

02/26/2024 02/26/2025
Planning Administrative  

  SAAHAS FOR CAUSE
01/29/2025 02/04/2025

HR Administrative  Assistant 
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

Planning Administrative  
02/19/2025 02/19/2025

HR Administrative  Assistant 
02/19/2025 02/19/2025

Planning Administrative  

02/26/2025 02/26/2025
HR Administrative  Assistant 

02/19/2025 02/19/2025
Photography for Dog Day  

02/19/2025 02/19/2025

  SAGECREST PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

24/12 - 11746 South  Street
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

02/12/2025 02/12/2025

02/12/2025 02/12/2025
25/01 - 11746 South St.  

02/12/2025 02/12/2025
25/01 - 17610-18 Pioneer  

02/12/2025 02/12/2025
25/01 - General Planning  

Totals for SAGECREST PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL:
  SAMANTHA NAVARRO

Photography services for  
Baseball opening day  2025

Totals for SAMANTHA NAVARRO:
  SEUNG YOUNG JEUNG
02/19/2025 02/19/2025

Totals for SEUNG YOUNG JEUNG:

  SHUSTER ADVISORY GROUP
02/19/2025 02/19/2025

  SILVIA MORAN
02/19/2025 02/19/2025

Not enough players  
Totals for SILVIA MORAN:

  SO CAL INDUSTRIES LLC
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

  SHATTO SUMMIT PROPERTIES
01/15/2025 02/04/2025

Refund for Overcharge  fee 
for project 11746  South St.

Totals for SHATTO SUMMIT PROPERTIES:

Totals for SHUSTER ADVISORY GROUP:

11/22-12/19/24 Historical  
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

11/20-1/16/25 Historical  
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

1/17-2/13/25 Historical  



733147 Invoice 02/26/2025 $134.82 86078 $134.82
02/26/2025

$539.28 $539.28

700454958639-012425 Invoice 02/06/2025 $33.77 41113 $33.77
25/01 18510 Corby Ave. 02/06/2025
700483004874-012725 Invoice 02/06/2025 $5,370.86 41113 $5,370.86
25/01 Various Locations 02/06/2025
700485859203-012425 Invoice 02/06/2025 $3,272.31 41113 $3,272.31

02/06/2025
700492283835-011625 Invoice 02/06/2025 $265.00 41113 $265.00

02/06/2025
700492421150-011625 Invoice 02/06/2025 $154.26 41113 $154.26
25/01 Artesia/Gridley 02/06/2025
700498964105-011625 Invoice 02/06/2025 $1,631.01 41113 $1,631.01

02/06/2025

700560422190-011625 Invoice 02/06/2025 $83.35 41113 $83.35
02/06/2025

700562509108-011625 Invoice 02/06/2025 $70.24 41113 $70.24
25/01 12001 Artesia Blvd 02/06/2025
700405333439-012725 Invoice 02/06/2025 $1,163.94 41113 $1,163.94
25/01 Various Locations 02/06/2025
700491366274-020325 Invoice 02/06/2025 $18,164.70 41113 $18,164.70
25/01 Various Locations 02/06/2025

$30,209.44 $30,209.44

12690659565-021325 Invoice 02/21/2025 $14.30 41121 $14.30
25/02 18641 Corby Ave. 02/21/2025
17740623008-020425 Invoice 02/21/2025 $232.21 41121 $232.21

02/21/2025
17950623003-020425 Invoice 02/21/2025 $427.89 41121 $427.89

02/21/2025
17949759637-021325 Invoice 02/21/2025 $166.33 41121 $166.33
25/02 18644 Alburtis Ave. 02/21/2025
04530693599-021925 Invoice 02/21/2025 $242.27 41121 $242.27
25/02 11870 169th St. 02/21/2025

$1,083.00 $1,083.00

5164643 Invoice 02/26/2025 $577.18 86079 $577.18
02/26/2025

$577.18 $577.18

R-00575875 Invoice 02/26/2025 $1,428.99 86080 $1,428.99
02/26/2025

R-00572894 Invoice 02/26/2025 $262.11 86080 $262.11
02/26/2025

$1,691.10 $1,691.10

842084 Invoice 02/12/2025 $700.82 41114 $700.82
02/12/2025

843227 Invoice 02/22/2025 $700.82 41122 $700.82
02/22/2025

$1,401.64 $1,401.64

32469 Invoice 01/18/2025 $116.05 85978 $116.05
Copy paper 01/18/2025
32574 Invoice 02/12/2025 $174.07 86004 $174.07
Copy Paper 02/12/2025

$290.12 $290.12

2025-01944 Invoice 02/12/2025 $4,969.15 86005 $4,969.15
02/12/2025

$4,969.15 $4,969.15

183962780-0 Invoice 02/12/2025 $337.40 86006 $337.40

02/06/2025 02/19/2025

02/26/2025 02/26/2025
2/14-3/13/25 Historical  

Totals for SO CAL INDUSTRIES LLC:
  Southern California Edison Company
02/06/2025 02/19/2025

02/06/2025 02/19/2025

02/06/2025 02/19/2025
25/01 Various Traffic  Signals

02/06/2025 02/19/2025
25/01 Various Locations  TC-

02/06/2025 02/19/2025

25/02 18747 Clarkdale  Ave.
02/21/2025 02/26/2025

25/01 18750 Clarkdale EV  
Bus Station

02/06/2025 02/19/2025
25/01 18600 1/2 S  Norwalk 

02/06/2025 02/19/2025

02/06/2025 02/19/2025

02/06/2025 02/19/2025

Totals for Southern California Edison Company:
  Southern California Gas Company
02/21/2025 02/26/2025

02/21/2025 02/26/2025

Totals for Sterling Administration:

02/26/2025 02/26/2025
3/1-5/31/25 18747  Clarkdale 

02/26/2025 02/26/2025

25/02 18750 Clarkdale  Ave.
02/21/2025 02/26/2025

02/21/2025 02/26/2025

Totals for Southern California Gas Company:
  SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA NEWS GROUP
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

Legal Notice - Ord 25- 963
Totals for SOUTHERN CALIFORNIA NEWS GROUP:

  SSD ALARM SYSTEMS

3/1-5/31/2025 18750  
Totals for SSD ALARM SYSTEMS:

  Sterling Administration
02/12/2025 02/19/2025

25/02 FSA/DCA  
02/22/2025 02/26/2025

25/02 FSA/DCA  

  Superior Office Products

  TERRA REALTY ADVISORS INC.
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

25/01 Review Potential  City 
Totals for TERRA REALTY ADVISORS INC.:

  TPX COMMUNICATIONS
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

01/18/2025 02/04/2025

02/12/2025 02/12/2025

Totals for Superior Office Products:



25/01 Telephone Service 02/12/2025
184370083-0 Invoice 02/26/2025 $342.28 86081 $342.28
25/02 Telephone Service 02/26/2025

$679.68 $679.68

1.1 Invoice 02/12/2025 $6,250.00 86007 $6,250.00
02/12/2025

$6,250.00 $6,250.00

7883-25/01 Invoice 02/12/2025 $32,395.36 41115 $32,395.36
25/01 Credit Card 02/12/2025
Purchases

$32,395.36 $32,395.36

8363 Invoice 02/12/2025 $1,960.16 86008 $1,960.16
Uniforms for Deputies 02/12/2025

$1,960.16 $1,960.16

0160-123124 Invoice 02/12/2025 $21.85 86009 $21.85
02/12/2025

$21.85 $21.85

224138 Invoice 02/12/2025 $1,540.70 86010 $1,540.70
25/01 Tree Maintenance 02/12/2025
223416 Invoice 02/12/2025 $1,114.95 86010 $1,114.95
24/12 Tree Maintenance 02/12/2025

$2,655.65 $2,655.65

73613286 Invoice 02/26/2025 $192.81 86082 $192.81
25/02 11870 169th St. 02/26/2025
73615933 Invoice 02/26/2025 $162.40 86082 $162.40

02/26/2025
73612975 Invoice 02/26/2025 $127.12 86082 $127.12

02/26/2025
73614343 Invoice 02/26/2025 $115.53 86082 $115.53
25/02 17203 Corby Ave. 02/26/2025
73612869 Invoice 02/26/2025 $97.16 86082 $97.16
25/02 18641 Corby Ave. 02/26/2025
73612868 Invoice 02/26/2025 $97.16 86082 $97.16
25/02 18644 Alburtis Ave. 02/26/2025

$792.18 $792.18

102751291 Invoice 02/11/2025 $1,047.46 41116 $1,047.46
02/11/2025

$1,047.46 $1,047.46

00629493 Invoice 02/12/2025 $4,778.62 86011 $4,778.62
02/12/2025

006292327 Invoice 02/12/2025 $2,582.10 86011 $2,582.10
02/12/2025

$7,360.72 $7,360.72

90003677 Invoice 02/19/2025 $1,989.00 86035 $1,989.00
02/19/2025

5610004370 Invoice 02/19/2025 $2,408.66 86035 $2,408.66
02/19/2025

$4,397.66 $4,397.66
$1,635,624.99 $1,635,624.99

Payroll 2/7/2025 $90,073.37
2/21/2025 $91,426.81

Total Payroll $181,500.18
Total Disbursement $1,817,125.17

  TRANSFORMANCE CONSULTING
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

Classification and  
Totals for TRANSFORMANCE CONSULTING:

  U.S. BANK CORPORATE PAYMENT SYSTEMS
02/12/2025 02/19/2025

02/26/2025 02/26/2025

Totals for TPX COMMUNICATIONS:

02/12/2025 02/12/2025

Totals for WEST COAST ARBORISTS INC:

Totals for U.S. BANK CORPORATE PAYMENT SYSTEMS:
  UNIFORM DEPOT INC.
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

Totals for UNIFORM DEPOT INC.:
  WATER REPLENISHMENT DISTRICT OF SO. CALIF.
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

24/12 Groundwater  
Totals for WATER REPLENISHMENT DISTRICT OF SO. CALIF.:

  WEST COAST ARBORISTS INC
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

02/26/2025 02/26/2025

Totals for WESTERN EXTERMINATOR COMPANY:
  Wex Bank

  WESTERN EXTERMINATOR COMPANY
02/26/2025 02/26/2025

02/26/2025 02/26/2025
25/02 18750 Clarkdale  Ave.

02/26/2025 02/26/2025
25/02 18747 Clarkdale  Ave.

02/26/2025 02/26/2025

02/26/2025 02/26/2025

A total of 223 transaction(s) listed

02/11/2025 02/19/2025
24/01 Gas Card  Purchases

Totals for Wex Bank:
  WILLDAN ENGINEERING
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

24/12 Pavement  
02/12/2025 02/12/2025

24/11 Pavement  
Totals for WILLDAN ENGINEERING:

  YUNEX LLC
02/19/2025 02/19/2025

25/01 Traffic Signal  
02/19/2025 02/19/2025

25/01 Traffic Signal  Call/Out
Totals for YUNEX LLC:

GRAND TOTALS:



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT

MEETING DATE:   March 17, 2025  ITEM NO:   9C.

 
TO: Mayor and Members of the City Council

 
SUBJECT: City Financial Report - January 2025

 

FROM: Jamie Murguia, Finance Manager
 

REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY:
  Melissa Burke, Deputy City Manager

Abel Avalos, City Manager

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends that the City Council receive and file the report. 
 
BACKGROUND:
In accordance with Artesia Municipal Code (AMC) 2-4.705 (f), the attached Finance Report details the activity and
balance for all City accounts and funds as of January 31, 2025. Reports are reconciled for cash on hand (bank) to
cash recorded in the general ledger through the period ending January 31, 2025.
 
Activity for Money Market, Checking, Revolving, Cafeteria, Local Agency Investment Fund, CDBG, and Petty Cash
are provided for review. Fund Balances compare the cash to each fund's obligation. The balance of the individual
accounts and funds should be read with the understanding that cash on hand, is not cash available for unplanned
expenditures. The cash balance encompasses the City's contingency reserves, operating expenditures, and
monies kept in restricted use funds including Trust and Agency. The City of Artesia is debt-free; therefore, the
finance report does not include any debt activity. 
 
ANALYSIS:
The City is the recipient of several reimbursable grants. This means that, while the City has been awarded funding
projects, the City must front the cost of those projects with General Fund revenue, and request reimbursement from
the respective grantor as each project progresses. Towards that end, the balance of individual accounts and funds
reflected in this Report will vary from month to month as expenses are made and reimbursements are received.   
 
FISCAL IMPACT:
There is no fiscal impact associated with the receipt and file of this Report.   
 
RECOMMENDED COUNCIL ACTION:
Staff recommends that the City Council receive and file the report. 
 
 
 



Attachments

Treasurer Report 013125.pdf

https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67be098d23108a0054fe38a6%2FTreasurer%20Report%20013125.pdf?alt=media&token=91106789-4e1b-453c-82b2-506752ebd11a
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67be098d23108a0054fe38a6%2FTreasurer%20Report%20013125.pdf?alt=media&token=91106789-4e1b-453c-82b2-506752ebd11a
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67be098d23108a0054fe38a6%2FTreasurer%20Report%20013125.pdf?alt=media&token=91106789-4e1b-453c-82b2-506752ebd11a


MONEY MARKET 
ACCOUNT

CHECKING 
ACCOUNT

LOCAL 
AGENCY 

INVESTMENT 
ACCOUNT

Beginning Balance - 1/1/25 289,705.99           73,131.98             6,270,603.90     
State/County/Misc Monthly Wires 2,800,932.98        -                        -                    
Deposits 425,779.80           -                        -                    
Civic Plus Credit deposits -                       7,962.00               -                    
Credit Transactions -                       2,895.66               -                    
PayGov Credit Deposits -                       20,136.51             -                    
Transfer from Money Market -                       2,247,000.00        -                    
Transfer from LAIF Account -                       1,700,000.00        -                    
Interest Income 40.93                    -                        77,255.11          
Transfer to Checking Account (2,247,000.00)       -                        (1,700,000.00)    
Transfer to LAIF Account (1,140,000.00)       -                        1,140,000.00     
Transfer to CAMP/CLASS Account -                       (600,000.00)          -                    
Disbursements -                       (2,957,961.66)       -                    
Benefits Wires -                       (42,464.28)            -                    
PERS Health -                       (74,070.81)            -                    
PERS Retirement -                       (58,687.40)            -                    
Payroll -                       (214,844.72)          -                    
Payroll Tax Wire (EDD/IRS) -                       (53,896.34)            -                    
Bank Fees/Paid Parking Fees (1,310.97)              (1,405.72)              -                    
Ending Balance - 1/31/2025 128,148.73           47,795.22             5,787,859.01     

CAMP ACOUNT CLASS ACOUNT
CAFETERIA 
ACCOUNT

Beginning Balance - 1/1/25 9,470,952.39        8,737,898.11        1,324.56            
Transfer from Checking Account 300,000.00           300,000.00           -                    
Deposits 36,721.93             32,940.73             -                    
Checks Written during the month -                       -                        -                    
Ending Balance - 1/31/2025 9,807,674.32        9,070,838.84        1,324.56            

CDBG FIX-UP 
PROGRAM PETTY CASH

REVOLVING 
ACCOUNT

Beginning Balance - 1/1/25 1,716.19               500.00                  1,362.14            
Deposits -                       -                        -                    
Disbursements -                       -                        -                    
Ending Balance - 1/31/2025 1,716.19               500.00                  1,362.14            

TOTAL ALL 
ACCOUNTS

Beginning Balance - 1/1/25 24,847,195.26   
Deposits 7,951,665.65     
Disbursements (7,951,641.90)    
Ending Balance - 1/31/2025 24,847,219.01   

01/31/25
Treasurer's Report

City of Artesia



GENERAL FUND 
(100)

SUMMER LUNCH 
PROGRAM (150)

Cash Balance 14,719,683.67      6,425.49              
Receivables 944,723.38          -                       
Prepaid Expenses -                       -                       
Investment Appreciation -                       -                       
Liabilities (1,906,495.79)      -                       
FUND BALANCE 13,757,911.26      6,425.49              

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS

ARTESIA 
HOUSING 

AUTHORITY (200)
AJ PARK 

EXPANSION (205)

BICYCLE / 
PEDESTRIAN 
FUND (210)

Cash Balance 929,249.38          (604,139.99)         1,091.17              
Receivables -                       -                       
Liabilities (61,895.00)           -                       -                       
FUND BALANCE 867,354.38          (604,139.99)         1,091.17              

PUBLIC 
EDUCATION IN 
GOVERNMENT 

(215)
BILLBOARD 
FUND (220)

CNRA SPECIFIED 
GRANT (225)

Cash Balance (14,264.27)           673,830.83          (842,203.66)         
Receivables -                       2,379,604.21       -                       
Liabilities -                       (2,278,216.63)      -                       
FUND BALANCE (14,264.27)           775,218.41          (842,203.66)         

HOUSING 
URBAN 

DEVELOPMENT 
(227)

CALIFORNIA 
BEVERAGE 
RECYCLING 

(230)

CITIZEN OPTION 
FOR PUBLIC 
SAFETY (240)

Cash Balance (16,142.61)           5,474.03              503,530.65          
Receivables -                       -                       -                       
Liabilities -                       -                       -                       
FUND BALANCE (16,142.61)           5,474.03              503,530.65          

City of Artesia
Comparison of Cash Balances to Fund Balance

01/31/25



City of Artesia
Comparison of Cash Balances to Fund Balance

01/31/25

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS (continued)

CLEAN AIR FUEL 
BUS GRANT     

(250)

COMMUNITY 
FACILITY 

DISTRICT    (260)

COMMUNITY 
DEVELOPMENT 
BLOCK GRANT 

(270)

Cash Balance (10,547.50)           68,199.16            (22,496.78)           
Receivables -                       -                       -                       
Liabilities -                       -                       -                       
FUND BALANCE (10,547.50)           68,199.16            (22,496.78)           

CALIFORNIA 
STREET GRANTS 

(280)
FEDERAL STPL 

(290)
MAP 21 

EXCHANGE (310)

Cash Balance 422,294.95          69,160.47            190,986.68          
Receivables -                       -                       -                       
Liabilities -                       -                       -                       
FUND BALANCE 422,294.95          69,160.47            190,986.68          

MEASURE M 
(320)

MEASURE R 
(330)

TOD PLANNING 
GRANT (340)

Cash Balance 1,307,050.15       584,061.46          (98,104.97)           
Receivables -                       -                       
Liabilities -                       -                       -                       
FUND BALANCE 1,307,050.15       584,061.46          (98,104.97)           

COUNTY PARK 
IMPROVEMENT 

(350)
PROPOSITION A 

FUND (360)
PROPOSITION C 

FUND (370)

Cash Balance (643,507.92)         1,009,344.22       603,869.17          
Receivables -                       -                       -                       
Liabilities -                       -                       -                       
FUND BALANCE (643,507.92)         1,009,344.22       603,869.17          



City of Artesia
Comparison of Cash Balances to Fund Balance

01/31/25

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS (continued)

SB1 RMRA (375)
SB 1383 

GIVEAWAY (377)

SOUTH COAST 
AIR QUALITY 

MGMT DIST (390)

Cash Balance 847,227.29          72,981.37            316,339.53          
Receivables -                       -                       -                       
Liabilities -                       -                       -                       
FUND BALANCE 847,227.29          72,981.37            316,339.53          

SAFE ROUTE TO 
SCHOOL (400)

SHERIFF 
FORFEITURES & 
SEIZURES (410)

STATE GAS TAX 
(420)

Cash Balance (0.32)                    447.20                 (41,723.94)           
Receivables -                       -                       -                       
Liabilities -                       -                       -                       
FUND BALANCE (0.32)                    447.20                 (41,723.94)           

HOME STAY 
PROGRAM (430)

STREET 
LIGHTING 

MAINTENANCE 
FUND (440)

TRAFFIC 
CONGESTION 
RELIEF (450)

Cash Balance 3,363.13              68,615.78            21,705.05            
Receivables -                       -                       -                       
Liabilities -                       -                       -                       
FUND BALANCE 3,363.13              68,615.78            21,705.05            

CAL FIRE URBAN 
GRANT (460)

DEVELOPMENT 
IMPACT FEES 

(470)
MEASURE W 

(480)

Cash Balance (41,003.19)           1,941,526.32       869,429.36          
Receivables -                       -                       -                       
Liabilities -                       -                       -                       
FUND BALANCE (41,003.19)           1,941,526.32       869,429.36          



City of Artesia
Comparison of Cash Balances to Fund Balance

01/31/25

SPECIAL REVENUE FUNDS (continued)
RECYCLED OIL 

(490)

Cash Balance 2,602.21              
Receivables -                       
Liabilities -                       
FUND BALANCE 2,602.21              

CAPITAL PROJECTS FUNDS
SPECIAL / 
CAPITAL 

PROJECT FUND 
(500)

PIONEER BOND 
PROJECT (510)

HISTORICAL 
DISTRICT BOND 
PROJECT (520)

Cash Balance (92,631.59)           365,664.61          583,558.09          
Receivables 19,533.97            -                       -                       
Liabilities -                       -                       -                       
FUND BALANCE (73,097.62)           365,664.61          583,558.09          

AGENCY FUNDS

TRUST AND 
AGENCY (710)

SENIOR 
CITIZENS (720)

GEORGE 
NELSON 

MEMORIAL FUND 
(740)

Cash Balance 16,074.97            6,271.99              2,243.57              
Receivables -                       -                       -                       
Liabilities (16,074.97)           (6,271.99)             (2,243.57)             
FUND BALANCE -                       -                       -                       

TOTAL ALL FUNDS
Cash Balance 23,785,535.21      
Receivables 3,343,861.56       
Fixed Assets, net -                       
Prepaid Expenses -                       
Investment Appreciation -                       
Liabilities (4,271,197.95)      
FUND BALANCE 22,858,198.82      



City of Artesia
Comparison of Cash Balances to Fund Balance

01/31/25

SUCCESSOR AGENCY FUNDS

SUCCESSOR 
AGENCY ADMIN 
PROJECTS (800)

SUCCESSOR 
AGENCY TAX 
INCREMENT 

(810)

REDEVELPMT 
OBLIGATION 
RETIREMENT 
FUND (820)

Cash Balance (25,963.00)           (242,164.04)         1,329,810.84       
Cash with Fiscal Agent -                       442,343.94          -                       
Liabilities -                       -                       -                       
Bonds Payable -                       (12,022,970.00)    -                       
FUND BALANCE (25,963.00)           (11,822,790.10)    1,329,810.84       

TOTAL SUCCESSOR FUNDS
Cash Balance 1,061,683.80       
Cash with Fiscal Agent 442,343.94          
Liabilities -                       
Bonds Payable (12,022,970.00)    
FUND BALANCE (10,518,942.26)    



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT

MEETING DATE:   March 17, 2025  ITEM NO:   9D.

 
TO: Mayor and Members of the City Council

 
SUBJECT: AB 1234 Reporting

 

FROM: Christina Nieto-Linares, Administrative Secretary
 

REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY:
  Abel Avalos, City Manager

 
RECOMMENDATION:
It is recommended that the City Council receive and file the report. 
 
BACKGROUND: 
AB 1234, became effective January 1, 2006. This bill requires a local agency that provides reimbursement for
expenses to members of its legislative body to adopt a written policy on the duties for which legislative body
members may receive compensation, other than meetings of the legislative body or an advisory body or
attendance at a conference or organized educational activity. Resolution No. 24-2970 outlines the City’s Expense
Reimbursement and Travel Policy.
 
STATEMENT OF FACT: 
 

Councilmember Event
Benefit of Expenditure to the
Residents

Ali Sajjad Taj
National League of Cities -
Washington DC Conference. March
9-12th

Participating in regional, state,
national organizations whose
activities benefit or affect the City’s
interest.

 
ABCUSD State of Our Schools -
Luncheon March 14th.

Attending City, community, regional
and other events

Rene Trevino

Soroptimist International of Artesia-
Cerritos Annual Monte Carlo Gala
Fundraiser. Tickets for Gala were
included in sponsorship. February
22nd

Attending City, community, regional
and other events



Melissa Ramoso

Soroptimist International of Artesia-
Cerritos Annual Monte Carlo Gala
Fundraiser. Tickets for Gala were
included in sponsorship. February
22nd

Attending City, community, regional
and other events

 
National League of Cities -
Washington DC Conference. March
9-12th

Participating in regional, state,
national organizations whose
activities benefit or affect the City’s
interest.

Monica Manalo N/A N/A

Zeel Ahir

Soroptimist International of Artesia-
Cerritos Annual Monte Carlo Gala
Fundraiser. Tickets for Gala were
included in sponsorship. February
22nd

Attending City, community, regional
and other events

 

General Membership Meeting with
League of California Cities in
Universal City  – Referenced in last
meeting, the credit from original
January Meeting was transferred to
General Membership Meeting on
March 6th. 

Participating in regional, state,
national organizations whose
activities benefit or affect the City’s
interest

 
ABCUSD State of Our Schools -
Luncheon March 14th.

Attending City, community, regional
and other events

Additionally, Council is provided automobile reimbursement in the amount of a flat $150 per month amount as
authorized in the Resolution 24-2970, which outlines the Expense Reimbursement and Travel Policy 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
The reported expenditures are in compliance with AB 1234, the City travel policy, and have been budgeted.
 
RECOMMENDED COUNCIL ACTION:
It is recommended that the City Council receive and file report.  
 
 
 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT

MEETING DATE:   March 17, 2025  ITEM NO:   9E.

 
TO: Mayor and Members of the City Council

 
SUBJECT: City Council Meeting Minutes

 

FROM: Jennifer Alderete, City Clerk
 

REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY:
  Abel Avalos, City Manager

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
It is recommended that the City Council approve minutes as presented for the following City Council meetings:

January 13, 2025 -  Special Meeting 
January 13, 2025 - Regular Meeting
February 10, 2025 - Regular Meeting
 

BACKGROUND:
The attached action minutes serve as the official record of the City Council meetings, recording the legislative
body’s decisions, recorded in its motions, actions, and votes, as mandated by Government Code 36814 and
40801.
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
There is no fiscal impact associated with approval of this item.

Attachments

MINUTES 1.13.2025 Regular Meeting.pdf
MINUTES 1.13.2025 Special Meeting.pdf
MINUTES 2.10.2025 Regular Meeting.pdf

https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67be097f23108a0054fe3859%2FMINUTES%201.13.2025%20Reg.pdf?alt=media&token=eb5f1a2d-77f1-4f4f-ae8f-6be9503526e9
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67be097f23108a0054fe3859%2FMINUTES%201.13.2025%20Reg.pdf?alt=media&token=eb5f1a2d-77f1-4f4f-ae8f-6be9503526e9
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67be097f23108a0054fe3859%2FMINUTES%201.13.2025%20Reg.pdf?alt=media&token=eb5f1a2d-77f1-4f4f-ae8f-6be9503526e9
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67be097f23108a0054fe3859%2FMINUTES%201.13.2025%20Sp.pdf?alt=media&token=18380133-71fd-438d-b254-cecd30b5ae26
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67be097f23108a0054fe3859%2FMINUTES%201.13.2025%20Sp.pdf?alt=media&token=18380133-71fd-438d-b254-cecd30b5ae26
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67be097f23108a0054fe3859%2FMINUTES%201.13.2025%20Sp.pdf?alt=media&token=18380133-71fd-438d-b254-cecd30b5ae26
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67be097f23108a0054fe3859%2FMINUTES%202.10.2025%20Reg.pdf?alt=media&token=d8828579-3666-419a-be6e-92722a372f6f
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67be097f23108a0054fe3859%2FMINUTES%202.10.2025%20Reg.pdf?alt=media&token=d8828579-3666-419a-be6e-92722a372f6f
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67be097f23108a0054fe3859%2FMINUTES%202.10.2025%20Reg.pdf?alt=media&token=d8828579-3666-419a-be6e-92722a372f6f


 

Artesia City Council Regular Meeting Minutes  

Monday, January 13, 2025 – 7:00 p.m. 

City Council Chambers  

18747 Clarkdale Avenue, Artesia, CA 90701 

 

1. CALL TO ORDER REGULAR MEETING  

Mayor Taj called the meeting to order at 7:37 p.m. 

 

2. ROLL CALL  

Present: Mayor Taj, Mayor Pro Tem Trevino, Councilmembers Ramoso, Manalo, and Ahir. 

 

Staff Present: City Manager Avalos, Deputy City Manager Burke, Finance Manager 

Murguia, City Attorney Nguyen, City Clerk Alderete, Public Works Manager Sanchez, 

Parks and Recreation Manager Guerra. 

 

3. INVOCATION   

Mayor Pro Tem Trevino delivered the invocation. 

 

4. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  

Councilmember Manalo led the pledge of allegiance. 

 

5. PUBLIC COMMENTS   

5A.  Public Comments Public comments could be provided, in person or submitted by 

email to publiccomments@cityofartesia.us by 12:00 p.m. on the date of the meeting. 

Lorelie Bailey and Margaret Saito provided public comments for items not listed on 

the agenda. 

 

6. COUNCILMEMBER COMMENTS  

Mayor Taj, Mayor Pro Tem Trevino, Councilmembers Ahir, Manalo, and Ramoso asked 

questions and/or provided comments. 

 

7. CEREMONIAL PRESENTATIONS  

None 

 

8. BUSINESS PRESENTATIONS  

None 

 

9. CONSENT CALENDAR  

Trevino moved, seconded by Manalo, to approve consent calendar items 9A-9H 

(excluding items 9G and 9H) 

Motion carried, 5-0  

 

9A. Waive Reading of All Ordinance and Resolutions Adoptions on the Agenda and 

mailto:publiccomments@cityofartesia.us


 Read by Title Only  

Recommended Action: Waive Reading, by Title Only, of all Ordinances and Resolutions. 

Said Ordinances and Resolutions Which Appear on the Public Agenda Shall Be 

Determined to Have Been Read by Title and Further Reading Waived.  

 

9B.  City Council Meeting Minutes  

Recommended Action: Approve Minutes as Presented for November 18, 2024 - 

Regular Meeting.  

 

9C.  Accounts Payable Check Register - December 2024 

 Recommended Action: Receive and File.  

 

9D.  City Financial Report - October and November 2024 

Recommended Action: Receive and File.  

 

9E.  Second Reading of an Ordinance Regarding Smoke Shops  

Recommended Action: Adopt Ordinance No. 24-961, Adding Article 47 to Chapter 2 to 

Title 9 Regarding Smoke Shops, and Finding the Ordinance to be Exempt from CEQA 

pursuant to State CEQA Guidelines Sections 15301, 15060(c)(2), 15060(c)(3), and 

15061(b)(3).  

 

9F. Second Reading of an Ordinance Amending the Requirements for Fireworks 

Stand Permits  

Recommended Action: Adopt Ordinance No. 24-965, Amending Sections 103 and 104 

of Chapter 2 of Title 4 of the Artesia Municipal Code Regarding Permits for Fireworks 

Stands; and make a Determination of Exemption from CEQA Guidelines Sections 

15060, subd. (c)(2), (3) and Section 15378. 

 

ITEM(S) PULLED FROM THE CONSENT CALENDAR (9G & 9H) 

9G. Mayor’s 2024 Appointments to Internal and External Committees  

Recommended Action: Receive and File.  

 

Mayor Taj stated that a Legislative Committee would be formed. Mayor Taj appointed 

Mayor Pro Tem Trevino and Councilmember Ramoso to the Legislative Affairs 

Committee. City Manager Avalos provided input. City Manager Avalos informed the 

Council that there was an error in placing Councilmember Ahir as an alternate to the 

Los Angeles County Vector Control Board and that the alternate would be removed. 

Councilmember Ramoso asked questions and/or provided comments.  

 

Ahir moved, seconded by Trevino, to approve agenda item 9G, as recommended.  

Motion carried, 5-0.  

 

9H. Appointments for Beautification and Maintenance, Parks and Recreation, 

Planning, Public Safety Commissions, and Measure M Citizens’ Oversight 



Committee. 

Recommended Action: Receive and file. 

  

Councilmembers Ahir and Manalo made the following appointments and 

Councilmember Manalo informed staff she would be appointing a new Planning 

Commissioner at a future meeting.  

 

 

City Clerk Alderete swore in the new commissioners. 

 

Ahir moved, seconded by Ramoso, to approve agenda item 9H, as recommended.  

Motion carried, 5-0.  

 

10. PUBLIC HEARING   

None 

 

11. DISCUSSION  

11A.  Resolution Approving Revised Fiscal Year 2024-25 Citywide Salary Schedule 

Recommended Action: Adopt Resolution No. 25-3027, Repealing Resolution No. 24-

2894, and Approving and Adopting a City-Wide Salary Schedule as Required by the 

California Public Employees’ Retirement System (CalPERS) For, Respectively, 

Unrepresented Management Employees, Employees of the Managers and Supervisors 

Unit, and Employees of the General Unit 

 

Finance Manager Murguia provided staff report. Councilmember Ramoso asked 

questions and/or provided comments. 

 

Trevino moved, seconded by Ramoso, to approve agenda item 11A, as recommended.  

Motion carried, 5-0.  

 

11B.  Resolution to Amend Unrepresented Management Employees Deferred 

Compensation Benefit 

Recommended Action: Adopt Resolution No. 25-3023, Amending Resolution No. 22-

2902, Regarding Unrepresented Management Employees Deferred Compensation 

Benefits. 

 

City Manager Avalos provided staff report.  

 

Manalo moved, seconded by Ahir, to approve agenda item 11B, as recommended.  

Motion carried, 5-0.  

 
Beautification  Public 

Safety 
Parks & Rec. Planning  Measure 

M        

Councilmember  
Manalo  

Rameshor 
Bhandari 

Aracelly 
Rodriguez 

Stephanie 
Rodriguez 

--   
Skip Vega 

Councilmember  
Ahir 

Ron Phan Pat 
Pacheco 

Maurice 
Pantoja 

Chirag 
Patel 

Ashika 
Patel           



 

12. CITY MANAGER INFORMATIONAL REPORTING  

City Manager Avalos provided updates.  

 

13. COUNCILMEMBER COMMENTS  

Councilmember Manalo attended the California Contract Cities Association Legislative 

tour at public expense. Councilmember Manalo attended the Council of Governments 

meeting. 

 

Councilmember Ahir attended the California Contract Cities Association Legislative tour 

at public expense. 

 

Councilmember Ramoso attended the California Contract Cities Association Legislative 

tour at public expense. Councilmember Ramoso attended the Greater Los Angeles 

County Vector Control District meeting. 

 

Mayor Pro Tem Trevino attended the California Contract Cities Association Legislative 

tour at public expense. Mayor Pro Tem Trevino attended the SELACO meeting, the City 

Selection meeting. 

 

Mayor Taj attended the California Contract Cities Association Legislative tour at public 

expense. Mayor Taj requested the city look into having a lobbyist for Sacramento and 

Washington D.C. 

 

14. ADJOURNMENT  

The meeting was adjourned at 8:55 p.m. in memory of Commissioner Albert Sosa. 

 



Artesia City Council Special Meeting Minutes 

Monday, January 13, 2025 - 6:30 p.m. 

City Council Chambers 

18747 Clarkdale Avenue Artesia, CA 90701 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER SPECIAL MEETING  
    Mayor Taj called the meeting to order at 6:30 p.m. 
 
2. ROLL CALL 

Present: Mayor Taj, Mayor Pro Tem Trevino, Councilmembers Ramoso, Manalo, and Ahir. 
 
Staff Present: City Manager Avalos, Deputy City Manager Burke, Finance Manager Murguia, 
City Attorney Nguyen, City Clerk Alderete 
 

3. ANNOUNCEMENT REGARDING PUBLIC COMMENTS  
Public comments could be provided, in person or submitted by email to 
publiccomments@cityofartesia.us by 12:00 p.m. on the date of the meeting. No public 
comments were provided.  

4. RECESS TO CLOSED SESSION  
The City Council recessed to discuss the closed session items listed on the agenda at 6:37 
p.m. 

The City Council will recess to closed session to discuss the following items: 
 

4A. Liability Claim  
Pursuant to Government Code section 54956.95  
Claimant: William A. Rawlings, Jr.  
Agency claimed against: City of Artesia  
The above-referenced claim is on file with the City Clerk and available for inspection  
upon request. 

 
4B. Conference with Legal Counsel—Anticipated Litigation  

 Significant Exposure to Litigation Pursuant to Paragraph (2) of Subdivision (d) of 

Section 54956.9  

Number of Cases: 1  
 

5. RECONVENE IN OPEN SESSION 
The City Council reconvened in open session. 
 

6. CLOSED SESSION ANNOUNCEMENT 
City Attorney Nguyen reported that there was no reportable action. 

 
7. ADJOURNMENT 

The meeting was adjourned at 7:30 p.m. 
 
  

mailto:publiccomments@cityofartesia.us


 
Artesia City Council Regular Meeting Minutes  

Monday, February 10, 2025 – 7:00 p.m. 

City Council Chambers  

18747 Clarkdale Avenue, Artesia, CA 90701 

 
1. CALL TO ORDER REGULAR MEETING  

Mayor Taj called the meeting to order at 7:01 p.m. 
 

2. ROLL CALL  
Present: Mayor Taj, Mayor Pro Tem Trevino, Councilmembers Ramoso, Manalo, and  
Ahir. 
 

Staff Present: City Manager Avalos, Deputy City Manager Burke, Finance Manager 

Murguia, City Attorney Nguyen, City Clerk Alderete, Public Works Manager Sanchez, 

Parks and Recreation Manager Guerra, and Special Projects Manager Lee. 

 
3. INVOCATION   

Bishop Lary Carlton from the Church of Jesus Christ of Latter-Day Saints delivered the 
invocation. 

 
4. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE  

Sergeant Ramos led the pledge of allegiance. 

 
5. PUBLIC COMMENTS   

5A.  Public Comments Public comments could be provided, in person or submitted by 

email to publiccomments@cityofartesia.us by 12:00 p.m. on the date of the meeting. 

Veronica Bloomfield, Margaret Saito, and Bill Zylstra provided public comments for 

items not listed on the agenda. 

 
6. CEREMONIAL PRESENTATIONS  

6A.  Certificate of Recognition - Los Angeles County Fire Department, Station 30  

 A Certificate of Recognition was accepted by Los Angeles County Fire Department 

Acting Assistant Fire Chief Dao. 

 

6B.  Certificate of Recognition - Los Angeles County Sheriff Artesia Special Assignment 

Officers 

 A Certificate of Recognition was accepted by the Los Angeles County Sheriff 

Lakewood Station Deputies and Sergeant Ramos.  

 

6C.  Certificate of Recognition - California Highway Patrol 

 A Certificate of Recognition was accepted by California Highway Patrol Officer 

Captain Mellissa Hammond. 

 

6D.  Gateway Cities Energy Action Award Presentation 

mailto:publiccomments@cityofartesia.us


 Executive Director of the Gateway City Council of Governments, Hector De La 

Torre, presented the Council with a gold award. 

 

6E.  Black History Month Proclamation 

 A proclamation for Black History Month was presented by the Council 

7. BUSINESS PRESENTATIONS  
7A.  Distinguished Young Women 

 Monica Manni, Erin Cho, Ann Huong, and Gabby provided updates regarding the 

Cerritos - Artesia Distinguished Young Women Program and thanked the Council. 

 
12. COUNCILMEMBER COMMENTS ( Mayor Taj moved Item 12, Councilmember 

Comments, before the Consent Calendar)  
 Mayor Taj, Mayor Pro Tem Trevino, Councilmembers Ramoso, Manalo, and Ahir  asked 

 questions and/or provided comments. 
 

8. CONSENT CALENDAR 
Trevino moved, seconded by Ahir, to approve consent calendar items 8A-8N, (excluding 
items 8G, 8K, 8L, and 8N) 
Motion carried, 5-0  

 

8A.  Waive Reading of All Ordinance and Resolutions Adoptions on the Agenda and 

Read by Title Only 

Recommended Action: Waive Reading, by Title Only, of all Ordinances and Resolutions. 

Said Ordinances and Resolutions Which Appear on the Public Agenda Shall Be 

Determined to Have Been Read by Title and Further Reading Waived.  

 

8B.  Accounts Payable Check Register - January 2025 

Recommended Action: Receive and File.  

 

8C.  City Financial Report - December 2024 

Recommended Action: Receive and File.  

 

8D. AB 1234 Reporting  

Recommended Action: Receive and File.  
 

8E.  City Council Meeting Minutes  

Recommended Action: Approve Minutes as Presented for December 9, 2024 - 

Regular Meeting, December 9, 2024 - Special Meeting, December 16, 2024 - Regular 

Meeting, December 16, 2024 - Special Meeting.  

 

8F.  Addition and Cancellation of Regular March Council Meeting  

Recommended Action: Approve the Addition of March 17, 2025 Regular Meeting at 7 

p.m. and Cancel the March 10, 2025 Meeting.  



 

8H.  Title VI Plan 

Recommended Action: Adopt Resolution No. 25-3029, Approving an Update to the City 

of Artesia Title VI Program, Which Provides for Non-discriminatory Public 

Transportation Services. 

 

8I.  Event Facility Use Permit For Ajit Dudheker to Hold a Holi Festival on   

Saturday, March 16, 2025 at Artesia Park  

Recommended Action: Approve the Issuance of a Large Event Facility Use Permit. 

 

8J.  Contract for Public Health Services Provided by County of Los Angeles 

Recommended Action: Approve Resolution No. 25-3028, Approving the Public Health 

Services Contract between the City of Artesia and the County of Los Angeles, and 

Authorize the City Manager to Sign the Contract on the City Council’s Behalf. 

 

8M. Creation of Artesia Botanical Garden Ad-Hoc Committee 

Recommended Action: Staff recommends the City Council Appoint Mayor Pro Tem 

Trevino and Councilmember Ramoso to an Ad-Hoc Committee Regarding the 

Development of the Artesia Botanical Garden. 

 

ITEM(S) PULLED FROM THE CONSENT CALENDAR (8G, 8K, 8L, and 8N) 

8G. Removal and Appointments for Beautification and Maintenance, Parks and 

Recreation, and Planning Commission  

Recommended Action: Receive and File. 

  

City Clerk Alderete swore in Commissioners Bhandari and Pantoja. 

  

Manalo moved, seconded by Trevino, to approve agenda item 8G, as recommended.  

Motion carried, 5-0.  

 

8K. Agreement with City of Cerritos for a Joint Street Rehabilitation Project on 

Portions of 195th Street and Flora Vista Street  

Approve the Agreement between the City of Artesia and the City of Cerritos for 

a Proposed Joint Street Rehabilitation Project on 195th Street, between Flora Vista 

Street and Ely Avenue, and Flora Vista Street, between Norwalk Boulevard and 195th  

Street and Make a Determination of Exemption from CEQA.  

 

Public Works Manager Sanchez provided staff report. Councilmember Ramoso asked 

questions and/or provided comments. 

 



Ramoso moved, seconded by Manalo, to approve agenda item 8K, as recommended.  

Motion carried, 5-0.  

 

8L. Community Benefit Grant Fund Reallocation for Calendar Year 2025 

Recommended Action: Reallocate Grant Funds from the Community Benefit Grant 

Program from the Chamber of Commerce to the installation of cameras and security 

measures at Artesia Park.   

 

Deputy City Manager Burke provided staff report. Mayor Trevino asked questions 

and/or provided comments. 

 
Trevino moved, seconded by Ahir, to approve agenda item 8L, as recommended.  

Motion carried, 5-0.  

 

8N. Legislative Platform for Calendar Year 2025 

Recommendation: Approve the Legislative Platform for Calendar Year 2025. 

 
Deputy City Manager Burke provided staff report. Councilmember Ramoso asked 

questions and/or provided comments. 

 

Ramoso moved, seconded by Manalo, to approve agenda item 8N, as recommended.  

Motion carried, 5-0.  

 
9. PUBLIC HEARING   

9A.  Introduction of an Ordinance Regarding Dwelling Units 

Recommended Action: Waive Full Reading and Introduce Ordinance No. 25-963, 

Amending Title 9, Chapter 2, Article 45 of the Artesia Municipal Code Relating to 

Accessory Dwelling Units and Junior Accessory Dwelling Units to Comply with Recent  

Changes in State Law, and Finding the Action to Be Statutorily Exempt from the 

California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) under Public Resources Code § 

21080.17.  

 

Acting Planning Manager Art Bashmakian provided staff report. Mayor Taj opened the 
public hearing. No public comments were provided. Mayor Taj closed the public 
hearing. 
 

Trevino moved, seconded by Ramoso, to approve agenda item 9A, as recommended.  

Motion carried, 5-0.  

 
10. DISCUSSION 

10A.  Transmittal of Annual Comprehensive Financial Report for Fiscal Year 2023-24 

Recommended Action: Receive and file. 

 



Finance Manager Murguia provided staff report. Mayor Taj, Mayor Pro Tem Trevino, 

Councilmembers Ramoso, and Manalo asked questions and/or provided comments. 

 
Manalo moved, seconded by Ahir, to approve agenda item 10A, as recommended.  

Motion carried, 5-0.  

 
10B. Fiscal Year 2024-25 Mid-Year Budget 

  Recommended Action: Staff Recommends That the City Council, Adopt Resolution No. 

 25- 3030, Approving a Statement of Investment Policy, and Repealing Resolution No. 

 24-2995; and Approve the Proposed Mid-Year Budget Adjustments.  

 

Finance Manager Murguia provided staff report. Mayor Pro Tem Trevino asked questions 

and/or provided comments. 

 

Ahir moved, seconded by Manalo, to approve agenda item 10B, as recommended.  

Motion carried, 5-0.  

 
10C. League of California Cities 2025 Advocacy Priorities 
Recommended Action: Discuss the League of California Cities Advocacy Priorities and 

 Provide Direction to Staff Regarding Further Action. 
 
Deputy City Manager Burke provided staff report. City Manager Avalos provided input. 

Mayor Taj, Mayor Pro Tem Trevino, Councilmembers Ramoso, Manalo, and Ahir asked 

questions and/or provided comments. 

 

Trevino moved, seconded by Ramoso, to approve agenda item 10C, to write a letter 

advocating and supporting the January 23rd Public Safety Committee Letter advocating 

for public safety to be one of the four priorities this year. 

Motion carried, 4-0-1-0-0. Taj abstained. 

 
11. CITY MANAGER INFORMATIONAL REPORTING                                                       

City Manager Avalos provided updates.  
 

12. COUNCILMEMBER COMMENTS  
Councilmembers Ramoso and Ahir asked questions and/or provided comments. 
 

13. ADJOURNMENT  
The meeting was adjourned at 9:45 p.m. in memory of former Parks and Recreation 

 Manager David Coleman. 

 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT

MEETING DATE:   March 17, 2025  ITEM NO:   9F.

 
TO: Mayor and Members of the City Council

 
SUBJECT: Large Event Facility Use Permit For Noel S.V. Omega to hold a Philippine American

Friendship Day Event on Saturday, July 12, 2025, at Artesia Park
 

FROM: Edith Guerra, Parks and Recreation Manager
 

REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY:
  Melissa Burke, Deputy City Manager

Abel Avalos, City Manager

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the City Council approve the issuance of a Large Event Facility Use Permit.
 
BACKGROUND: 
The City Council adopted Resolution No. 18-2720, approving and adopting amended and updated Facility Use
Regulations and Facility Use Fee Schedule in 2018. Exhibit D of the Facility Use Regulations (Attachment 2)
stipulates that large event Facility Use Permits shall be applied for in the manner set forth in the City's Facility Use
Regulations and require the approval of the City Council. Exhibit D also stipulates that a $1,500 refundable security
deposit (see Section VII.A.11.b. - Security Deposit Fee) and liability insurance bond in the minimum amount of
$5,000,000 with the City of Artesia named as additional insured, must be on file with the Department at least
fourteen (14) days prior to the Festival/Carnival/Circus equipment entering the Facilities.
  
ANALYSIS:
The Parks and Recreation Department received a Facility Use Application from Mr. Omega on January 23, 2025
(Attachment 1) to hold a Philippine American Friendship Day event at Artesia Park utilizing the Picnic Shelter, the
entire Baseball Field (infield and outfield) on Saturday, July 12, 2025, from 5am - 8pm, with the event occurring
from 9am - 6pm. The Facility usage includes set-up and clean-up time. Staff accepted the application fee and a
deposit totaling $1,550 and are recommending the Council approve the application. If the Large Event Facility Use
Permit is approved, the following conditions will be applied to the applicant in accordance with Exhibit D of the
Facility Use Regulations:

1. The Applicant is responsible to provide an operational plan including set up, clean up, event schedule, points
of contact during the event, and a site plan.

2. The applicant is responsible for paying all costs associated with the event, including facility use fees, staffing,
and set-up/clean up. Event costs include the following:

a. Application Processing Fee: $50
b. Security Deposit (refundable): $1500
c. Facility Use fees: $1,125
d. Staffing Fee: Recreation Staff: $490, Maintenance Staff: $1,100
e. Total fee: $4,265

3. The applicant is responsible for providing event liability insurance with a minimum policy amount of
$5,000,000 naming the City, its officers, employees and volunteers as additionally insured. The certificate of



insurance must be received and approved by the City no less than 14 days prior to the event.
4. The event venue will be limited to the following areas at Artesia Park: Picnic Shelter and entire Baseball Field

area (infield and outfield).
  
FISCAL IMPACT:
The collection of the facility use fees would result in revenue to offset park maintenance resulting from the use of
the facilities. All other costs associated with the event will be the responsibility of the applicant and there would be
no negative impact to the City's General Fund.
  
RECOMMENDED COUNCIL ACTION:
Staff recommends the City Council approve the issuance of a Large Event Facility Use Permit.

Attachments

Facility Use Application- Phillipine Friendship Day.pdf
ATT 1 Exhibit C-D- Facility Use Regulations.pdf

https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67aa52fbcffa530054256b48%2FFacility%20Use%20Application-%20Phillipine%20Friendship%20Day.pdf?alt=media&token=2e0e9b3c-8076-42cb-8b03-434c537e07a4
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67aa52fbcffa530054256b48%2FFacility%20Use%20Application-%20Phillipine%20Friendship%20Day.pdf?alt=media&token=2e0e9b3c-8076-42cb-8b03-434c537e07a4
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67aa52fbcffa530054256b48%2FFacility%20Use%20Application-%20Phillipine%20Friendship%20Day.pdf?alt=media&token=2e0e9b3c-8076-42cb-8b03-434c537e07a4
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67aa52fbcffa530054256b48%2FATT%201%20Exhibit%20C-D-%20Facility%20Use%20Regulations.pdf?alt=media&token=bc4eb0b4-7d4d-4a3b-9e45-6a133ccfd8d1
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67aa52fbcffa530054256b48%2FATT%201%20Exhibit%20C-D-%20Facility%20Use%20Regulations.pdf?alt=media&token=bc4eb0b4-7d4d-4a3b-9e45-6a133ccfd8d1
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67aa52fbcffa530054256b48%2FATT%201%20Exhibit%20C-D-%20Facility%20Use%20Regulations.pdf?alt=media&token=bc4eb0b4-7d4d-4a3b-9e45-6a133ccfd8d1




















CITY COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT

MEETING DATE:   March 17, 2025  ITEM NO:   9G.

 
TO: Mayor and Members of the City Council

 
SUBJECT: Production Agreement with Fireworks & Stage FX America for a City-Sponsored 4th of July

Fireworks Show
 

FROM: Edith Guerra, Parks and Recreation Manager
 

REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY:
  Melissa Burke, Deputy City Manager

Abel Avalos, City Manager
HongDao Nguyen, City Attorney
Jamie Murguia, Finance Manager

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the City Council approve and authorize the City Manager to retroactively execute the Production
Agreement with Fireworks & Stage FX America, for the City-Sponsored 4th of July 2025 Fireworks Show, in the
amount of $27,000.
  
BACKGROUND:
The City contracted with Fireworks & Stage FX America for the City’s 4th of July Fireworks Show in 2024.
Fireworks & Stage FX America offers a professional quality firework display and the City was very happy with their
services last year. Fireworks & Stage FX America technicians worked seamlessly with Parks and Recreation
Department staff to coordinate event set-up the day before and the day of the show. No safety or permit issues
occurred with Fireworks & Stage FX America technicians, equipment, or the display from a fire safety standpoint
(Fire Department) or from staff’s standpoint.
 
ANALYSIS:
Fireworks & Stage FX America’s 2025 proposal includes an electronically fired show that will last approximately 15-
18 minutes and includes 3,650 elements fired. Fireworks & Stage FX America will provide licensed pyrotechnic
operators, insurance coverage, and obtain the necessary County Fire Department permits for the show. The City
will be responsible for paying for Fire Department fees, if any are charged, and all necessary security of the display
site, which is provided each year by Sheriff Deputies.
 
The proposal requires a deposit be paid upon execution of the contract, which was completed on February 8, 2025
to ensure the show was confirmed for July 4, 2025. Staff is recommending the City Council to retroactively approve
the 2025 Fireworks Agreement with Fireworks & Stage FX America. 
  
FISCAL IMPACT:
Terms of the proposed agreement require that a 50 percent deposit of $13,500 made upon the execution of the
agreement. The budget includes payment of a $13,500 deposit from the Fiscal Year 2024-25 Budget. The balance
of $13,500 will be due by July 14, 2025, and if approved will be allocated in the Fiscal Year 2025-26 Budget.
  



RECOMMENDED COUNCIL ACTION:
It is recommended that the City Council retroactively approve and authorize the City Manager to execute on the
Council’s behalf, the Production Agreement with Fireworks & Stage FX America for the City-Sponsored 4th of July
2025 Fireworks Show, in the amount of $27,000.
 
 
 

Attachments

Fireworks America- July 4 2025 contract signed.pdf

https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67aa57a3cffa53005425787b%2FFireworks%20America-%20July%204%202025%20contract%20signed.pdf?alt=media&token=1e9b8bc4-615b-4f6d-8599-4ff0c838d88b
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67aa57a3cffa53005425787b%2FFireworks%20America-%20July%204%202025%20contract%20signed.pdf?alt=media&token=1e9b8bc4-615b-4f6d-8599-4ff0c838d88b
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67aa57a3cffa53005425787b%2FFireworks%20America-%20July%204%202025%20contract%20signed.pdf?alt=media&token=1e9b8bc4-615b-4f6d-8599-4ff0c838d88b


City of Artesia

Presents

Independence Day
A Fireworks Extravaganza

7/4/2025

Produced by

"The Difference Is Quality"



City of Artesia
Independence Day

July 4, 2025

Main Show Bombardments

       Program        Program
A A

Color, Multi-Color, Flitter, Glitter, Multiple Shot Barrages provide
Electric Color & Color Changing Shells fabric and texture to your display,

2.5" 150 keeping an excellent and exciting

3" 150 pace. Our high-powered devices
provide an unequalled ground-to-sky
pyrotechic tableau:

Totals
Total Shots 3050

       Program

A
Aerial Grand Finale

Shells

2.5" 300 Titanium Flash Salutes

3" 300 3" 50
Total Shells 600

Color/Multicolor Finale
Total Shots 3050 2.5" 150

3" 100
Grand Totals 3650

Price
Running Time in Minutes
Minimum 15.0 Program A
Maximum 18.0 Total Cost $27,000.00



City of Artesia
Show Concept, Services List,

and Miscellaneous Details

Services List:

Fireworks America to Provide:

1)  Permit Filings as Required 1)  A Suitable Firing Site
2)  Storage and Delivery of fireworks 2)  Adequate Security for Firing Site
3)  All Equipment to produce the display 3)  Permit Fees
4)  Insurance Aggregate amount of 4)  Standby Firefighter Fees
      $6,000,000  (Combined Single Limits) 5)  Sound System and Playback
5)  Worker's Compensation Insurance 6)  Adequate Permit Time as
      (Statute) listed below.
6)  Sound Track 7) Suitable Restroom and Handwash
7)  Choreography facilities for the crew

Minimum Time Required

Fireworks America will provide permitting services on your behalf.  There are
minimum times required to pull these permits.  Contracts and deposits must
be signed and back to us prior to starting these services.  Here are the
minimum permit times.

Land Based Shows based require a minimum of 30 days to permit based
on Local and State Ordinance, FAA and other requirements.

Water based shows require a minimum of 60 days to permit based on
all of the above PLUS Coast Guard requirements.

Please plan your show accordingly.

Operators and Assistants:

Fireworks America will provide the services of a State Licensed Pyrotechnic
Operator and experienced crew to fire your display.  The entire crew will be
covered under Fireworks America's Worker's Compensation Insurance.

Continued

City of Artesia to Provide:



Payment Terms:

Method of Discharge:

Choreography:

50% of the Sum is to be paid to FA at the signing of the Contract,Balance Net 10
Days After Display

The show will be fired electrically.  Each fireworks event will have its own ignitor for
precise timing.  Fireworks America will provide the firing panel, cable, distribution
system and power for the show.

The program will be choreographed utilizing the latest innovation in computerized-
fireworks choreography.  This will allow maximum accuracy in firing and timing of
the display.  The fireworks will follow the music precisely and provide an
exhilarating experience for the viewer.



Fireworks & Stage FX America, LLC
dba:  Fireworks America

PO Box 488
Lakeside, CA  92040

619-938-8277
619-938-8273  Fax

1)  This Contract, entered into this 7th day of February, 2025, by and between
FIREWORKS & STAGE FX AMERICA, LLC., dba FIREWORKS AMERICA,
a California  Corporation, duly licensed by the Federal Bureau of Alcohol, Tobacco, Firearms
and Explosives and the State of California, hereinafter referred to as "FA" and
CITY OF ARTESIA hereinafter referred to as "BUYER".

2)  FA agrees to furnish BUYER, in accordance with the terms and conditions set forth herein,
One (1) fireworks/special effects display(s) as per Program A, submitted, accepted
and made part hereof, and the services of a licensed pyrotechnic operator who will be in  charge of
the execution of said display unless otherwise agreed in writing.  This display is to be performed
on July 4, 2025, located at Artesia Park 18750 Clarkdale Ave, Artesia, CA 90701.
The time of the display is to be at: 9PM

3)  BUYER agrees to pay  FA the sum of: Twenty Seven Thousand  Dollars and No Cents
($27,000.00), per the following terms:

50% of the Sum is to be paid to FA at the signing of the Contract,Balance Net 10 Days After Display

4) Should the BUYER default on these payment terms, a finance charge at a rate of 1.5% per month,
18% annual percentage rate, or the maximum rate permitted by law, whichever is greater, will be
charged and accrued on the unpaid balance of the Contract until the Contract is satisfied.
FA is hereby authorized to receive BUYER's financial information from any person or entity for the
purpose of verifying BUYER's ability to pay.

5)  BUYER, at its expense, agrees to provide FA a suitable DISPLAY SITE in which to
stage, setup and fire the display.  This DISPLAY SITE will incorporate an appropriate fallout zone,
which has to be approved by FA, and that will fulfill any requirements set forth by any governing legal
authority.  Should the proposed site require the involvement of specialized equipment, watercraft or
clean up, BUYER agrees to provide said equipment and labor at BUYER's expense.



Fireworks America Public Display Contract

6)  BUYER, at its expense, agrees to provide adequate security  to prevent any  access to the
DISPLAY SITE by members of the general public or any persons not expressly approved by FA.  Any
claim arising from damage to persons or property caused by any unauthorized access to the
DISPLAY SITE is the sole responsibility of the BUYER.  Should a multiple day setup be required,
BUYER shall provide appropriate security during all the times FA is away from the DISPLAY SITE.

7)  BUYER, at its expense, agrees to pay for any required "standby" Firemen, and/or any
applicable permit costs and fees as required by state and local statutes, ordinances or regulations.
BUYER agrees to indemnify FA for any and all changes or adjustments made to the DISPLAY at the
request of any governing legal authority.

8)  BUYER, at its expense, shall provide FA sufficient parking, all necessary site and event passes and
allow FA sufficient time and available access, as determined by FA, to safely and professionally setup
and discharge the display and subsequently remove the display equipment from the DISPLAY SITE.

9)  Should BUYER fail to comply or prove itself unable to comply with the requirements stated in
paragraphs 5, 6, 7 and 8 herein, FA shall have no obligation to continue with the performance
of the display and the BUYER agrees to  pay the full contract price plus any additional associated
expenses incurred by FA.

10)  BUYER agrees to assume the risk of weather, or any other cause that is  beyond FA’s control,
that may prevent the display from being discharged on the scheduled date and time.  In the event
that FA, at its sole discretion, determines that the weather unsuitable for the discharge of the display,
BUYER shall pay per the cancellation terms contained in paragraph 11 herein.

11)  BUYER shall have the option to cancel this display at any time.  If BUYER decides to cancel,
BUYER agrees to pay to FA 35% of the display contract price and all other associated costs incurred by
FA, including, but not limited to, permits, insurance, pyrotechnic operator's fee, transportation,
choreography, custom design or any other provable expense associated with the execution of the Display.

12) BUYER agrees to hold FA harmless from all claims and penalties made against FA in the event that
the display fails to start on time or is disrupted after commencement as a direct result of equipment or
product malfunction or failure.

13)  FA agrees to provide insurance coverage of Six Million Dollars, Bodily Injury and
Property Damage and statutory limits for Worker's Compensation.  This insurance covers the
operations of FA only and does not extend to any other aspect of the event at which such a
display may be held.  FA’s operations are deemed complete when FA has vacated the
premises.

14)  Should BUYER fail to perform its obligations as set forth herein, BUYER agrees to
indemnify, defend and hold FA harmless from all claims and suits made against FA in
conjunction with the discontinuance or cancellation of the display.





CITY COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT

MEETING DATE:   March 17, 2025  ITEM NO:   9H.

 
TO: Mayor and Members of the City Council

 
SUBJECT: Refurbishments to Outdoor Buildings at Artesia Park

 

FROM: Adrian Fajardo, Management Analyst

REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY:
  Melissa Burke, Deputy City Manager

Jamie Murguia, Finance Manager
HongDao Nguyen, City Attorney
Abel Avalos, City Manager

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends that the City Council, by motion, approve improvements to the exterior buildings at Artesia Park
by:

1. Approving Amendment No. 1 to the Agreement between the City of Artesia and South Coast Painters,
increasing the total contract amount by $19,800 for a revised not-to-exceed total of $75,000 for additional
painting services at Artesia Park; 

2. Approving an Agreement between the City of Artesia and Kilter Termite, to repair and replace sections of
wood at four exterior park buildings at Artesia Artesia Park for a total not-to-exceed, of $39,753;

3. Authorizing the City Manager to execute the agreements on behalf of the Council;
4. Making a determination of exemption under CEQA pursuant to Section 15301 (d); and
5. Approving a budget amendment to the Billboard Fund to provide funding for the Agreements.

BACKGROUND: 
On October 14, 2024, the City Council approved an agreement with South Coast Painters for painting services at
the Albert O. Little Community Center. The purpose of the project was to address deteriorating interior and exterior
paint and ensure the facility’s aesthetics and longevity. As part of the ongoing improvements to Artesia Park and the
surrounding facilities, staff identified the need to repair and repaint additional structures within the Park for
consistent aesthetic and to preserve the aging structures.  
 
ANALYSIS:
Before proceeding with the repainting of these buildings, staff reached out to Kilter Termite to assess the condition
of each building. The assessment identified extensive wood deterioration, including widespread dry rot and
drywood termite infestation. The damage is significant, with a majority of sections of wood that have softened,
cracked, or deteriorated beyond the point of repair. To ensure a stable and lasting surface for the new paint, staff is
recommending an Agreement with Kilter Termite to repair and replace the damaged wood at four exterior park
buildings at Artesia Park.
 
Once the wood replacement is complete, South Coast Painters will proceed with the painting work as specified in
Amendment No. 1. The scope of work includes:



Surface preparation, including pressure washing, sanding, and cleaning
Painting of the three restroom buildings and pump house
Use of high-quality, weather-resistant paint for durability and protection

This project will enhance the overall aesthetic of Artesia Park’s facilities and prolong the life of the facilities while
also complimenting upcoming improvements at the Community Center.  
 
CEQA EXEMPTION: 
Pursuant to CEQA Section 15301(d), this project is categorically exempt as it involves maintenance and minor
alterations to existing public facilities with no expansion of use. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:
The total cost of the renovation project is $59,553, with $19,800 for painting services and $39,753 for wood repair
services. While this project was not budgeted, there are funds available in the Billboard Fund, which can be used
for improvements to the City's park facilities, to fund these improvements. An amended budget page for the
Billboard Fund is attached, which increases the contract services line item to ensure the project may be completed.
Council approval of the budget amendment would serve as approval to utilize these funds for the current fiscal
year. 
 
RECOMMENDED COUNCIL ACTION:
Staff recommends that the City Council, by motion, approve improvements to the exterior buildings at Artesia Park
by:

1. Approving Amendment No. 1 to the Agreement between the City of Artesia and South Coast Painters,
increasing the total contract amount by $19,800 for a revised not-to-exceed total of $75,000 for additional
painting services at Artesia Park; 

2. Approving an Agreement between the City of Artesia and Kilter Termite, to repair and replace sections of
wood at four exterior park buildings at Artesia Artesia Park for a total not-to-exceed, of $39,753;

3. Authorizing the City Manager to execute the agreements on behalf of the Council;
4. Making a determination of exemption under CEQA pursuant to Section 15301 (d); and
5. Approving a budget amendment to the Billboard Fund to provide funding for the projects.

 
 

Attachments

South Coast Painters - Construction Contract
First Amendment - South Coast Painters
Construction Agreement - Kilter Termite - Artesia Park
Billboard Fund - FY 24-25 Budget Revision

https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67ad1549cffa5300542ab4b6%2FSouth%20Coast%20Painters.pdf?alt=media&token=431ea48b-8959-4298-9263-d0191d313252
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67ad1549cffa5300542ab4b6%2FSouth%20Coast%20Painters.pdf?alt=media&token=431ea48b-8959-4298-9263-d0191d313252
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67ad1549cffa5300542ab4b6%2FSouth%20Coast%20Painters.pdf?alt=media&token=431ea48b-8959-4298-9263-d0191d313252
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67ad1549cffa5300542ab4b6%2FFirst%20Amendment%20-%20South%20Coast%20Painters.pdf?alt=media&token=686dd54c-9de0-4c22-b7d0-6788e4533e7d
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67ad1549cffa5300542ab4b6%2FFirst%20Amendment%20-%20South%20Coast%20Painters.pdf?alt=media&token=686dd54c-9de0-4c22-b7d0-6788e4533e7d
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67ad1549cffa5300542ab4b6%2FFirst%20Amendment%20-%20South%20Coast%20Painters.pdf?alt=media&token=686dd54c-9de0-4c22-b7d0-6788e4533e7d
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67ad1549cffa5300542ab4b6%2FConstruction%20Agreement%20-%20Kilter%20Termite%20-%20Artesia%20Park.pdf?alt=media&token=b6765874-87f1-4658-ae57-6d3f1e3fba0e
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67ad1549cffa5300542ab4b6%2FConstruction%20Agreement%20-%20Kilter%20Termite%20-%20Artesia%20Park.pdf?alt=media&token=b6765874-87f1-4658-ae57-6d3f1e3fba0e
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67ad1549cffa5300542ab4b6%2FConstruction%20Agreement%20-%20Kilter%20Termite%20-%20Artesia%20Park.pdf?alt=media&token=b6765874-87f1-4658-ae57-6d3f1e3fba0e
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67ad1549cffa5300542ab4b6%2FBillboard%20Fund.pdf?alt=media&token=f5c6125b-5f48-46d6-96be-08c8e83d230e
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67ad1549cffa5300542ab4b6%2FBillboard%20Fund.pdf?alt=media&token=f5c6125b-5f48-46d6-96be-08c8e83d230e
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67ad1549cffa5300542ab4b6%2FBillboard%20Fund.pdf?alt=media&token=f5c6125b-5f48-46d6-96be-08c8e83d230e


 -1-  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

CONTRACT FOR PAINTING SERVICES FOR THE ALBERT O. LITTLE 
COMMUNITY CENTER PROJECT 

(Public Project under $60,000) 

This Contract for Painting Services for the Albert O. Little Community Center (“Contract”) is 
dated October 14, 2024 (“Effective Date”) and between the City of Artesia, a California municipal 
corporation (“City”) and South Coast Painters (“Contractor”).  Contractor’s license number is 
892130 (Class C33); Contractor’s DIR registration number is 1000577895. 

City and Contractor are referred to herein as the “Parties.” 

In consideration of the Parties’ performance of the promises, covenants, and conditions stated 
herein, the Parties agree as follows: 

1. GENERAL SCOPE OF WORK; TERM; TERMINATION:  Contractor shall procure and 
furnish all necessary labor, tools, materials, and expertise for the Painting Services (the 
“Project”), located at the Albert O. Little Community Center (the “Work”) as more 
particularly described in the Scope of Work attached hereto as Exhibit A.  All Work is to 
be performed in good and workmanlike manner and in accordance with any further written 
instructions, if any, of the City Manager or his or her designated representative.  The term 
of this Contract shall commence upon the Effective Date and, unless terminated as 
provided herein, shall continue until (a) all required work is completed, (b) fully executed 
releases as to any and all lien rights of any and all subcontractors have been received by 
City, and (c) the time within which any liens, stop notices or other claims for payment by 
subcontractors, laborers, and/or materialmen can be asserted against City has expired. 

Contractor shall keep itself fully informed of and in compliance with all local, state and 
federal laws, rules and regulations in any manner affecting the performance of the Contract 
or the Work, including all Cal/OSHA requirements, and shall give all notices required by 
law.  Contractor shall be liable for all violations of such laws and regulations in connection 
with the Work. 

City may terminate this Contract, without cause, at any time by providing Contractor with 
not less than ten days’ prior written notice.  Provided Contractor is not then in breach, 
Contractor will be paid for work satisfactorily completed and for all deliverables received. 

2. TIME OF COMPLETION; LIQUIDATED DAMAGES.  Notwithstanding any other 
provision of this Contract, the completion date for the Work shall be on or before the date 
that is 45 calendar days after the issuance by City of a Notice to Proceed (“Completion 
Date”).  Time is of the essence in this Contract.   

APPLICABLE – or –  NOT APPLICABLE 

Contractor agrees to the assessment of liquidated damages in the amount of $250 for each 
calendar day the work remains incomplete beyond the Completion Date.  City may deduct 
the amount thereof from any monies due or that may become due Contractor under this 
Contract.  Progress payments made after the scheduled Completion Date shall not 
constitute a waiver of liquidated damages.  Liquidated damages are not intended to 



 -2-  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

compensate City for consequential damages which City may incur from other Contractor 
delay claims resulting from Contractor’s delay in the performance of this Contract. 

3. INCORPORATION OF STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS.  The 2021 edition of “Standard 
Specifications for Public Works Construction” (“Standard Specifications”) is incorporated 
herein by this reference.  In the event of any conflict between this Contract and the Standard 
Specifications, the provisions of this Contract shall control. 

4. INCORPORATED DOCUMENTS TO BE CONSIDERED COMPLEMENTARY:  All 
Exhibits attached hereto are incorporated herein by reference.  The documents, payment 
bond, City insurance requirements, together with this written Contract (and all Exhibits, 
documents and laws referenced therein), shall constitute the entire agreement between the 
Parties as to the subject matter of this Contract.  In the event of any conflict between this 
Contract and any Exhibit hereto, the provisions of this Contract shall control. 

5. FEE SCHEDULE:  Terms of payment and other applicable terms and conditions are listed 
in Exhibit B – Fee Schedule.  City shall pay to Contractor for furnishing the material and 
doing the prescribed work according to the unit prices and/or lump sum set forth in Exhibit 
B.  The acceptance of final payment by Contractor shall constitute a release by Contractor 
of all claims against City arising out of this Contract except those claims which (a) have 
been made in writing and identified by Contractor as not having been settled at that time, 
or (b) are based on fraud or misconduct by City. 

6. INSURANCE:  Contractor shall not commence work under this Contract until it has 
obtained insurance with the minimum required limits and coverage as specified in Exhibit 
C – City Insurance Requirements, in a company or companies acceptable to City.  
Contractor shall not allow any subcontractor to commence work on its subcontract until all 
insurance required of the subcontractor has been obtained.  Contractor shall provide 
evidence of the required insurance to City’s Risk Manager as specified in Exhibit C. 

7. PREVAILING WAGES:  Notwithstanding any statement to the contrary in Contractor’s 
proposal or quote, City and Contractor acknowledge that the Project is a public work to 
which prevailing wages apply.  The document titled “Labor Code and Prevailing Wage 
Requirements” is attached hereto as Exhibit D.  Contractor shall comply with all 
provisions of Exhibit D. 

8. BONDS. 

a. PAYMENT BOND: REQUIRED – or –  NOT REQUIRED 

Contractor shall obtain and submit a signed and notarized copy to City of a payment 
bond in an amount that is not less than 100% of the Maximum Compensation, and 
nothing in this Contract shall excuse this requirement.  The required Payment Bond 
(Labor and Materials) form is attached hereto as Exhibit E. 

b. PERFORMANCE BOND:  NOT REQUIRED 



 -3-  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

9. RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES:  In the event that a dispute arises between City and 
Contractor regarding whether the conditions materially differ, or cause a decrease or 
increase in Contractor’s cost of or time required for performance of any part of the Work, 
Contractor shall not be excused from any scheduled completion date provided for by this 
Contract, but shall proceed with all work to be performed under this Contract.  Contractor 
shall retain any and all rights that pertain to the resolution of disputes and protests between 
the Parties.  In the event of any dispute or controversy with City over any matter 
whatsoever, Contractor shall not cause any delay or cessation in or of work, but shall 
proceed with the performance of the work in dispute.  This includes disputed time extension 
requests and prices for changes.  The disputed work will be categorized as an “unresolved 
dispute” and payment, if any, shall be as later determined by mutual agreement or a court 
of law.  Contractor will keep accurate, detailed records of all disputed work, claims and 
other disputed matters. 

All claims arising out of or related to the Contract Documents or this Project, and the 
consideration and payment of such claims, are subject to the Government Claims Act 
(Government Code Section 810 et seq.) with regard to filing claims.   

All such claims are also subject to Public Contract Code Section 9204 and Public Contract 
Code Section 20104 et seq. (Article 1.5), where applicable.  This Contract hereby 
incorporates those provisions as though fully set forth herein.  Thus, the Contractor or any 
Subcontractor must file a claim in accordance with the Government Claims Act as a 
prerequisite to filing a construction claim in compliance with Section 9204 and Article 1.5 
(if applicable), and must then adhere to Article 1.5 and Section 9204, as applicable, 
pursuant to the definition of “claim” as individually defined therein. 

9.1 Intent.  Effective January 1, 1991, Section 20104 et seq., of the 
California Public Contract Code prescribes a process utilizing informal conferences, non-
binding judicial supervised mediation, and judicial arbitration to resolve disputes on 
construction claims of $375,000 or less. Effective January 1, 2017, Section 9204 of the 
Public Contract Code prescribes a process for negotiation and mediation to resolve disputes 
on construction claims. The intent of this Section is to implement Sections 20104 et seq. 
and Section 9204 of the California Public Contract Code. This Section shall be construed 
to be consistent with said statutes. 

9.2 Claims.  For purposes of this Section, “Claim” means a separate 
demand by the Contractor, after a change order duly requested in accordance with the terms 
of this Contract has been denied by the City, for (A) a time extension, (B) payment of 
money or damages arising from Work done by or on behalf of the Contractor pursuant to 
the Contract, or (C) an amount the payment of which is disputed by the City.  A “Claim” 
does not include any demand for payment for which the Contractor has failed to provide 
notice, request a change order, or otherwise failed to follow any procedures contained in 
the Contract Documents. 

9.3 Filing Claims.  Claims governed by this Section may not be filed 
unless and until the Contractor completes all procedures for giving notice of delay or 
change and for the requesting of a time extension or change order, including but not 



 -4-  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

necessarily limited to the change order procedures contained herein, and Contractor’s 
request for a change has been denied in whole or in part.  Claims governed by this Section 
must be filed no later than fourteen (14) days after a request for change has been denied in 
whole or in part or after any other event giving rise to the Claim.  The Claim shall be 
submitted in writing to the City and shall include on its first page the following in 16 point 
capital font: “THIS IS A CLAIM.”  Furthermore, the claim shall include the documents 
necessary to substantiate the claim.  Nothing in this Section is intended to extend the time 
limit or supersede notice requirements otherwise provided by contract for the filing of 
claims, including all requirements pertaining to compensation or payment for extra Work, 
disputed Work, and/or changed conditions.  Failure to follow such contractual requirements 
shall bar any claims or subsequent lawsuits for compensation or payment thereon. 

9.4 Supporting Documentation.  The Contractor shall submit all claims 
in the following format: 

9.4.1 Summary of claim merit and price, reference Contract Document 
provisions pursuant to which the claim is made 

9.4.2 List of documents relating to claim: 

(A) Specifications 

(B) Drawings 

(C) Clarifications (Requests for Information) 

(D) Schedules 

(E) Other 

9.4.3 Chronology of events and correspondence 

9.4.4 Analysis of claim merit 

9.4.5 Analysis of claim cost, including calculations and supporting 
documents 

9.4.6 Time impact analysis in CPM format 

9.5  City’s Response.  Upon receipt of a Claim pursuant to this 
Section, City shall conduct a reasonable review of the Claim and, within a period not to 
exceed 45 days of receipt of the Claim, or as extended by mutual agreement, shall provide 
the Contractor a written statement identifying what portion of the Claim is disputed and 
what portion is undisputed. Any payment due on an undisputed portion of the Claim will 
be processed and made within 60 days after the City issues its written statement. 

9.5.1 If City needs approval from its governing body to provide the 
Contractor a written statement identifying the disputed portion and the undisputed portion 



 -5-  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

of the Claim, and the governing body does not meet within the 45 days or within the 
mutually agreed to extension of time following receipt of a Claim sent by registered mail 
or certified mail, return receipt requested, City shall have up to three (3) days following 
the next duly publicly noticed meeting of the governing body after the 45-day period, or 
extension, expires to provide the Contractor a written statement identifying the disputed 
portion and the undisputed portion.   

9.5.2 Within 30 days of receipt of a Claim, City may request in writing 
additional documentation supporting the Claim or relating to defenses or claims City may 
have against the Contractor. If additional information is thereafter required, it shall be 
requested and provided pursuant to this subdivision, upon mutual agreement of City and 
the Contractor. City’s written response to the Claim, shall be submitted to the Contractor 
within 30 Days (if the Claim is less than $50,000, within 15 Days) after receipt of the 
additional documentation, or within a period of time no greater than that taken by the 
Contractor in producing the additional information or requested documentation, whichever 
is greater. 

9.6 Meet and Confer.  If the Contractor disputes City’s written response, 
or City fails to respond within the time prescribed, the Contractor may so notify City, in 
writing, within 15 Days of receipt of City’s response or the City’s failure to respond, and 
demand an informal conference to meet and confer for settlement of the issues in dispute. 
Upon receipt of a demand, City shall schedule a meet and confer conference within 30 
Days for settlement of the dispute. 

9.7 Mediation.  Within 10 business days following the conclusion of the 
meet and confer conference, if the Claim or any portion of the Claim remains in dispute, 
City shall provide the Contractor a written statement identifying the portion of the Claim 
that remains in dispute and the portion that is undisputed. Any payment due on an 
undisputed portion of the Claim shall be processed and made within 60 Days after City 
issues its written statement. Any disputed portion of the Claim, as identified by the 
Contractor in writing, shall be submitted to nonbinding mediation, with City and the 
Contractor sharing the associated costs equally. City and Contractor shall mutually agree 
to a mediator within 10 business days after the disputed portion of the Claim has been 
identified in writing, unless the Parties agree to select a mediator at a later time. 

9.7.1 If the Parties cannot agree upon a mediator, each Party shall select a 
mediator and those mediators shall select a qualified neutral third party to mediate with 
regard to the disputed portion of the claim. Each Party shall bear the fees and costs charged 
by its respective mediator in connection with the selection of the neutral mediator.  

9.7.2 For purposes of this section, mediation includes any nonbinding 
process, including, but not limited to, neutral evaluation or a dispute review board, in which 
an independent third party or board assists the Parties in dispute resolution through 
negotiation or by issuance of an evaluation. Any mediation utilized shall conform to the 
timeframes in this section. 



 -6-  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

9.7.3 Unless otherwise agreed to by City and the Contractor in writing, 
the mediation conducted pursuant to this section shall excuse any further obligation under 
Section 20104.4 to mediate after litigation has been commenced. 

9.7.4 The mediation shall be held no earlier than the date the Contractor 
completes the Work or the date that the Contractor last performs Work, whichever is 
earlier. All unresolved Claims shall be considered jointly in a single mediation, unless a 
new unrelated Claim arises after mediation is completed. 

9.8 Procedures After Mediation.  If following the mediation, the Claim 
or any portion remains in dispute, the Contractor must file a claim pursuant to Chapter 1 
(commencing with Section 900) and Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 910) of Part 3 
of Division 3.6 of Title 1 of the Government Code.  For purposes of those provisions, the 
running of the period of time within which a claim must be filed shall be tolled from the 
time the Contractor submits his or her written Claim pursuant to subdivision (a) until the 
time the Claim is denied, including any period of time utilized by the meet and confer 
conference or mediation. 

9.9 Civil Actions.  The following procedures are established for all civil 
actions filed to resolve Claims of $375,000 or less: 

9.9.1 Within 60 Days, but no earlier than 30 Days, following the filing or 
responsive pleadings, the court shall submit the matter to non-binding mediation unless 
waived by mutual stipulation of both Parties or unless mediation was held prior to 
commencement of the action in accordance with Public Contract Code section 9204 and 
the terms of these procedures.  The mediation process shall provide for the selection within 
15 Days by both Parties of a disinterested third person as mediator, shall be commenced 
within 30 Days of the submittal, and shall be concluded within 15 Days from the 
commencement of the mediation unless a time requirement is extended upon a good cause 
showing to the court. 

9.9.2 If the matter remains in dispute, the case shall be submitted to 
judicial arbitration pursuant to Chapter 2.5 (commencing with Section 1141.10) of Title 3 
of Part 3 of the Code of Civil Procedure, notwithstanding Section 1114.11 of that code.  
The Civil Discovery Act of 1986 (Article 3 (commencing with Section 2016) of Chapter 3 
of Title 3 of Part 4 of the Code of Civil Procedure) shall apply to any proceeding brought 
under this subdivision consistent with the rules pertaining to judicial arbitration. 

9.9.3 In addition to Chapter 2.5 (commencing with Section 1141.10) of 
Title 3 of Part 3 of the Code of Civil Procedure, (A) arbitrators shall, when possible, be 
experienced in construction law, and (B) any party appealing an arbitration award who 
does not obtain a more favorable judgment shall, in addition to payment of costs and fees 
under that chapter, also pay the attorney’s fees on appeal of the other party. 

9.10 Government Code Claim Procedures.   

9.10.1 This section does not apply to tort claims and nothing in this section 
is intended nor shall be construed to change the time periods for filing tort claims or actions 



 -7-  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

specified by Chapter 1 (commending with Section 900) and Chapter 2 (commencing with 
Section 910) of Part 3 of Division 3.5 of Title 1 of the Government Code.  

9.10.2 In addition to any and all Contract requirements pertaining to notices 
of and requests for adjustments to the Contract Time, Contract Price, or compensation or 
payment for extra work, disputed work, claims and/or changed conditions, Contractor must 
comply with the claim procedures set forth in Government Code sections 900 et seq. prior 
to filing any lawsuit against the City.   

9.10.3 Such Government Code claims and any subsequent lawsuit based 
upon the Government Code claims shall be limited to those matters that remain unresolved 
after all procedures pertaining to adjustment of the Contract Time, Contract Price, or 
compensation or payment for extra work, disputed work, claims, and/or changed conditions 
have been followed by Contractor.  If no such Government Code claim is submitted, or if 
any prerequisite contractual requirements are not otherwise satisfied as specified herein, 
Contractor may not file any action against the City.   

9.10.4 A Government Code claim must be filed no earlier than the date the 
work is completed or the date the Contractor last performs work on the Project, whichever 
occurs first. A Government Code claim shall be inclusive of all unresolved Claims known 
to the Contractor excepting only new unrelated Claims that arise after the Government 
Code claim is submitted.   

9.11 Non-Waiver. City’s failure to respond to a Claim from the 
Contractor within the time periods described in this section or to otherwise meet the time 
requirements of this section shall result in the Claim being deemed rejected in its entirety 
and shall not constitute a waiver of any rights under this section. 

10. INDEMNIFICATION, HOLD HARMLESS, AND DUTY TO DEFEND. 

a. Indemnities for Third Party Claims. 

1) To the fullest extent permitted by law, Contractor shall, at its sole cost and 
expense, defend, hold harmless and indemnify City and its elected officials, 
officers, attorneys, agents, employees, designated volunteers, successors, 
assigns and those City agents serving as independent contractors in the role 
of City officials (collectively “Indemnitees”), from and against any and all 
damages, costs, expenses, liabilities, claims, demands, causes of action, 
proceedings, expenses, judgments, penalties, liens, and losses of any nature 
whatsoever, including fees of accountants, attorneys, or other professionals 
and all costs associated therewith and the payment of all consequential 
damages (collectively “Liabilities”), in law or equity, whether actual, 
alleged or threatened, which arise out of, are claimed to arise out of, pertain 
to, or relate to the acts or omissions of Contractor, its officers, agents, 
servants, employees, subcontractors, materialmen, contractors or their 
officers, agents, servants or employees (or any entity or individual that 
Contractor shall bear the legal liability thereof) in the performance of this 



 -8-  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

Contract, including the Indemnitees’ passive negligence, except for 
Liabilities arising from the active or sole negligence or willful misconduct 
of the Indemnitees, as determined by judicial decision or by the agreement 
of the Parties.  Contractor shall defend the Indemnitees in any action or 
actions filed in connection with any Liabilities with counsel of the 
Indemnitees’ choice, and shall pay all costs and expenses, including all 
attorneys’ fees and experts’ costs actually incurred in connection with such 
defense.  Contractor shall reimburse the Indemnitees for any and all legal 
expenses and costs incurred by Indemnitees in connection therewith. 

2) Contractor shall pay all required taxes on amounts paid to Contractor under 
this Contract, and indemnify and hold City harmless from any and all taxes, 
assessments, penalties, and interest asserted against City by reason of the 
independent contractor relationship created by this Contract.  Contractor 
shall fully comply with the workers’ compensation law regarding 
Contractor and Contractor’s employees.  Contractor shall indemnify and 
hold City harmless from any failure of Contractor to comply with applicable 
workers’ compensation laws.  City may offset against the amount of any 
fees due to Contractor under this Contract any amount due to City from 
Contractor as a result of Contractor’s failure to promptly pay to City any 
reimbursement or indemnification arising under this subparagraph a.2). 

3) Contractor shall obtain executed indemnity agreements with provisions 
identical to those in this Section 10 from each and every subcontractor or 
any other person or entity involved by, for, with or on behalf of Contractor 
in the performance of this Contract.  If Contractor fails to obtain such 
indemnity obligations, Contractor shall be fully responsible and indemnify, 
hold harmless and defend the Indemnitees from and against any and all 
Liabilities at law or in equity, whether actual, alleged or threatened, which 
arise out of, are claimed to arise out of, pertain to, or relate to the acts or 
omissions of Contractor’s subcontractor, its officers, agents, servants, 
employees, subcontractors, materialmen, contractors or their officers, 
agents, servants or employees (or any entity or individual that Contractor’s 
subcontractor shall bear the legal liability thereof) in the performance of this 
Contract, including the Indemnitees’ active or passive negligence, except 
for Liabilities arising from the sole negligence or willful misconduct of the 
Indemnitees, as determined by court decision or by the agreement of the 
Parties. 

b. Workers’ Compensation Acts not Limiting.  Contractor’s indemnifications and 
obligations under this Section 10, or any other provision of this Contract, shall not 
be limited by the provisions of any workers’ compensation act or similar act.  
Contractor expressly waives its statutory immunity under such statutes or laws as 
to City, its officers, agents, employees and volunteers. 

c. Insurance Requirements not Limiting.  City does not, and shall not, waive any rights 
that it may possess against Contractor because of the acceptance by City, or the 



 -9-  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

deposit with City, of any insurance policy or certificate required pursuant to this 
Contract.  The indemnities in this Section 10 shall apply regardless of whether or 
not any insurance policies are determined to be applicable to the Liabilities, tax, 
assessment, penalty or interest asserted against City. 

d. Survival of Terms.  Contractor’s indemnifications and obligations under this 
Section 10 shall survive the expiration or termination of this Contract. 

11. NON-DISCRIMINATION:  No discrimination shall be made in the employment of 
persons upon public works because of race, religious creed, ancestry, age, physical 
disability, mental disability, mental condition, genetic information, marital status, race, 
color, sex, gender, gender identity, gender expression, sexual orientation, national origin, 
or military and veteran status of such persons, and every Contractor for public works 
violating this Section is subject to all the penalties imposed for a violation of Division 2, 
Part 7, Chapter 1 of the Labor Code in accordance with the provisions of Section 1735 of 
that Code. 

12. LICENSES:  Contractor is aware of California Labor Code Sections 1777.1 and 1777.7, 
which prohibit Contractor or any subcontractors who have been found by the Labor 
Commissioner or the Director of Industrial Relations to be in violation of certain provisions 
of the Labor Code, from bidding on, being awarded, or performing work as a contractor or 
subcontractor on a public works project for specified periods of time. 

Pursuant to Public Contract Code Section 6109 and California Business and Professions 
Code Section 7028.15, Contractor shall be licensed as required by the Contractors’ State 
License Board of the State to perform the Work. Pursuant to Public Contract Code Section 
3300 and at all times during the term of this Contract, Contractor shall possess a Class C39 
California contractor’s license. 

Contractor has investigated and will ensure that any subcontractor possesses a valid 
specialty trade license in its trade as required by law. 

13. WARRANTY.  The warranty applicable to the Work pursuant to this Contract shall be as 
set forth in: 

A. Section 3-13.3 of the Standard Specifications. 

B. Exhibit A. 

14. ANTITRUST CLAIMS:  Pursuant to Public Contract Code Section 7103.5, Contractor 
offers and agrees to assign to City all rights, title, and interest in and to all causes of action 
it may have under Section 4 of the Clayton Act (15 U.S.C. Sec. 15) or under the Cartwright 
Act (Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 16700) of Part 2 of Division 7 of the California 
Business and Professions Code) arising from purchases of goods, services, or materials 
pursuant to this Contract.  This assignment shall be made and become effective at the time 
City tenders final payment to Contractor without further acknowledgment by the Parties. 



 -10-  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

15. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS AND WORK PRODUCT:  All documents, plans, 
specifications, reports, photographs, images, video files and media created or developed 
by Contractor pursuant to this Contract (“Written Products”) shall be and remain the 
property of City without restriction or limitation upon its use, duplication or dissemination 
by City.  All Written Products shall be considered “works made for hire,” and all Written 
Products and any and all intellectual property rights arising from their creation, including, 
but not limited to, all copyrights and other proprietary rights, shall be and remain the 
property of City without restriction or limitation upon their use, duplication or 
dissemination by City.  Contractor shall not obtain or attempt to obtain copyright protection 
as to any Written Products. 

Contractor hereby assigns to City all ownership and any and all intellectual property rights 
to the Written Products that are not otherwise vested in City pursuant to the paragraph 
directly above. 

Contractor warrants and represents that it has secured all necessary licenses, consents or 
approvals to use any instrumentality, thing or component as to which any intellectual 
property right exists, including computer software, used in the rendering of the services 
and the production of all Written Products produced under this Contract, and that City has 
full legal title to and the right to reproduce the Written Products.  Contractor shall defend, 
indemnify and hold City, and its elected officials, officers, employees, servants, attorneys, 
designated volunteers, and agents serving as independent contractors in the role of City 
officials, harmless from any loss, claim or liability in any way related to a claim that City’s 
use of any of the Written Products is violating federal, State or local laws, or any 
contractual provisions, or any laws relating to trade names, licenses, franchises, copyrights, 
patents or other means of protecting intellectual property rights and/or interests in products 
or inventions.  Contractor shall bear all costs arising from the use of patented, copyrighted, 
trade secret or trademarked documents, materials, equipment, devices or processes in 
connection with its provision of the services and Written Products produced under this 
Contract.  In the event the use of any of the Written Products or other deliverables 
hereunder by City is held to constitute an infringement and the use of any of the same is 
enjoined, Contractor, at his or her expense, shall:  (a) secure for City the right to continue 
using the Written Products and other deliverables by suspension of any injunction, or by 
procuring a license or licenses for City; or (b) modify the Written Products and other 
deliverables so that they become non-infringing while remaining in compliance with the 
requirements of this Contract.  This covenant shall survive the termination of this Contract. 

Upon termination, abandonment or suspension of the Project, Contractor shall deliver to 
City all Written Products and other deliverables related to the Project.  If Contractor 
prepares a document on a computer, Contractor shall provide City with that document both 
in a printed format and in an acceptable electronic format. 

16. THIRD-PARTY CLAIM:  Pursuant to Public Contract Code Section 9201, City has full 
authority to compromise or otherwise settle any claim relating to this Contract at any time.  
City shall timely notify Contractor of the receipt of any third-party claim relating to this 
Contract.  City shall be entitled to recover its reasonable costs incurred in providing the 
notification required by Public Contract Code Section 9201(b). 



 -11-  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

17. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR:  Contractor is and shall at all times remain, as to City, 
a wholly independent contractor.  The personnel performing the Work under this Contract 
on behalf of Contractor shall at all times be under Contractor’s exclusive direction and 
control.  Neither City nor any of its officers, officials, employees, agents, or volunteers 
shall have control over the conduct of Contractor or any of Contractor’s employees except 
as set forth in this Contract, and Contractor is free to dispose of all portions of its time and 
activities which it is not obligated to devote to City in such a manner and to such persons, 
firms, or corporations as Contractor wishes except as expressly provided in this Contract.  
Contractor shall have no power to incur any debt, obligation, or liability on behalf of City 
or otherwise act on behalf of City as an agent. 

Contractor shall not, at any time or in any manner, represent that it or any of its agents, 
servants or employees are in any manner agents, servants or employees of City. Contractor 
agrees to pay all required taxes on amounts paid to Contractor under this Contract, and to 
indemnify and hold City harmless from any and all taxes, assessments, penalties, and 
interest asserted against City by reason of the independent contractor relationship created 
by this Contract.  Contractor shall fully comply with the workers’ compensation law 
regarding Contractor and its employees, and Contractor further agrees to indemnify and 
hold City harmless from any failure of Contractor to comply with applicable workers’ 
compensation laws.  City shall have the right to offset against the amount of any fees due 
to Contractor under this Contract any amount due to City from Contractor as a result of its 
failure to promptly pay to City any reimbursement or indemnification arising under this 
Section. 

18. ASSIGNMENT:  Contractor shall not assign or transfer any interest in this Contract or any 
part thereof, whether by assignment or novation, without City’s prior written consent. Any 
purported assignment without written consent shall be null and void; and Contractor shall 
hold harmless, defend and indemnify City and its officers, officials, employees, agents and 
representatives with respect to any claim, demand or action arising from any unauthorized 
assignment. 

19. GOVERNING LAW AND VENUE:  Should either party to this Contract bring legal action 
against the other, the validity, interpretation, and performance of this Contract shall be 
controlled by and construed under the laws of the State, excluding California’s choice of 
law rules.  Venue for any such action relating to this Contract shall be in the Los Angeles 
County Superior Court. 

20. ATTORNEYS’ FEES:  If any legal action or other proceeding, including action for 
declaratory relief, is brought for the enforcement of this Contract or because of an alleged 
dispute, breach, default or misrepresentation in connection with this Contract, the 
prevailing party shall be entitled to recover all attorneys’ fees, experts’ fees, and other costs 
actually incurred in connection with such litigation or other proceeding, in addition to any 
other relief to which the party may be entitled. 

21. NOTICES:  Except as otherwise required by law, any notice, request, direction, demand, 
payment, consent, waiver, approval or other communication required or permitted to be 
given hereunder to City shall not be effective unless it is given in writing and shall be 



 -12-  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

delivered (a) in person or (b) by certified mail, postage prepaid, and addressed to City at 
the address stated below, or at such other address as City may hereafter notify Contractor 
in writing as aforementioned: 

To CITY: 

City of Artesia 
Adrian Fajardo, Management Analyst 
18747 Clarkdale Avenue 
Artesia, California, 90701 
Telephone number: (562) 865-6262 

To CONTRACTOR: 

South Coast Painters, Inc.  
28364 S Western Avenue #465 
Rancho Palos Verdes, CA 90275 
Telephone Number: (310) 938-0368 
 
If sent by mail, any notice, tender, demand, delivery or other communication shall be 
deemed effective three business days after it has been deposited in the United States mail.  
For purposes of communicating these time frames, weekends and federal, State, religious, 
County of Los Angeles or City holidays shall be excluded.  No communication via 
facsimile or electronic mail shall be effective to give any such notice or other 
communication hereunder. 

22. EXHIBITS:  All Exhibits constitute a part of this Contract and are incorporated into this 
Contract by this reference.  If any inconsistency exists or arises between a provision of this 
Contract and a provision of any exhibit, or between a provision of this Contract and a 
provision of Contractor’s proposal, the provisions of this Contract shall control. 

23. ENTIRE AGREEMENT:  This Contract, including any other documents incorporated 
herein by reference, represents the entire integrated agreement between City and 
Contractor and supersedes all prior or contemporaneous negotiations, representations, 
agreements, understandings and statements, written or oral.  This Contract may only be 
modified or amended, or provisions or breach may be waived, by written agreement signed 
by both Parties.  The provision of this Contract shall govern over any inconsistent 
provisions contained in any Exhibit. 

24. NON-WAIVER OF TERMS, RIGHTS AND REMEDIES:  Waiver by either party of any 
one or more of the conditions of performance under this Contract shall not be a waiver of 
any other condition of performance under this Contract.  In no event shall the making by 
City of any payment to Contractor constitute or be construed as a waiver by City of any 
breach of covenant, or any default which may then exist on the part of Contractor, and the 
making of any such payment by City shall in no way impair or prejudice any right or 
remedy available to City with regard to such breach or default. 



25. SEVERABILITY: Whenever possible, each provision of this Contract shall be interpreted 
in such a manner as to be valid under applicable law. If any term or portion of this Contract 
is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void, illegal, or 
unenforceable, the remaining provisions of this Contract shall nevertheless continue in full 
force and effect and shall in no way be affected, impaired or invalidated. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused these present to be duly executed with 
all the formalities required by law on the respective dates set forth opposite their signatures. 

CITY OF ARTESIA, 
a California municipal corporation 

Abel Avalos, City Manager 

ATTEST: 

Jennifer Alderete, City Clerk 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

HongDao Nguyen, City Attorney 

A0444-0001\2204777vl .doc 

SOUTH COAST PAINTING 
a California corporation 

~ 
Bobbie Manitkas, Secretary 

-13-

Abel Avalos (Oct 16, 2024 11:10 PDT)
Abel Avalos

Jennifer Alderete (Oct 21, 2024 08:35 PDT)



 

 A -1  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

Exhibit A 

SCOPE OF WORK 

Proposal Submitted 
To 

Primary Contact Email Phone 

City of Artesia Adrian Fajardo afajardo@cityofartesia.us 562-844-7963 

Address: 
18750 Clarksdale 

   

Artesia, CA    

  Project Name and 
Address 
Artesia Park Community 
Center 

Proposal Date: 
9/242024 

    
 
 

 
 

 
          Bonds: Lesron Insurance Agency 



 

 A -2  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

1440 North Harbor Blvd. Suite #610 Fullerton, CA 92835  
License # 0792430 

 
Workers Compensation: BBSI Barrett Business Services Inc. 
330 Golden Shore Suite 170 
Long Beach CA 90802 # 619-665-3677 
2024-06-01 

 
General Liability: Orr & Associates Insurance services  
CA license #OE63493 
Automobile Liability: Orr & Associates Insurance Services  
Department of Industrial Relations Registration No. 1000577895 
 
Federal Tax ID No. 47-272541 

1.0 PRODUCTS AND GENERAL PREP: 
All materials shall be per specifications and delivered to the project in original containers 
bearing the Manufacturers name and code. All materials to comply with current 
requirements of the Environmental agencies or other local, state and federal requirements. 
 

Preparation of various surfaces include: 
Stucco /Cement / Plaster pressure wash as needed to remove loose 

dirt, rust, failing product from surface. 
Surfaces will be allowed to completely dry 
before application of primer and or paint 
products. 
 

Wood removing and dust or foreign matter and 
caulk areas with a greater gap of 1/8 to ¼ 
inch in width.  

Metal loose rust, scale or peeling paint removed 
either by wire brush, scraping, or sanding 
as required. A metal cleaner or degreaser 
will be used to clean surfaces from dirt, 
grease, oils, or salt build up. Surfaces will 
either be rubbed with cloth or scrubbed 
with a stiff wire brush depending on 
condition of surface. All surfaces to be 
rinsed with water and allowed to 
completely dry before application of any 
primer/ rustoleum and or paint. 
Dunn Edwards Aristo-shield urethane or 
Sherwin Williams Pro Industrial urethane 
 



 

 A -3  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

EXCLUSIONS Factory finished surfaces, black metal 
railings 

 
 
1.1 Paint Manufacturer and Color Choice: 

Project to specify paint manufacturer, all paint applications applied per manufacturer 
recommendations. Color choice per owner. 
Number of color choices per this bid: (Two) 
 

1.1 Job Supervision: 
A Project Manager /Crew leader will be on site. They will be responsible to assure all 
equipment and materials needed are present, and that the scope of work is being followed. All 
our employees are in-house, and our crew have worked with us for over fifteen years. 
 

1.2 Change Orders: 
Any changes to this agreement including additional work required, shall be set forth in writing 
and signed by both parties before the changes, or additional work is said to be complete. 

 
 
2.0 GENERAL CONDITIONS 
 
2.1 Job Safety:  

South Coast Painting will take all necessary precautions when it comes to job-safety. South 
Coast Painting will make all necessary protective arrangements to prevent project 
operations from damaging the premises or other operations. 

 
2.2 Storage:  

South Coast Painting will keep all materials and equipment involved for the project stored 
in appropriate containers or adequately marked and secured locations. 

 
2.3 Facilities:  

South Coast Painting will provide portable toilets in a designated area as agreeable by 
Owner, or Owner will make available facilities for the use during said project. 

 
2.4 Utilities: 

Owner of property will make available water and electricity as needed for the completion 
of project described. 

 
2.5 Debris: 

South Coast Painting will perform all work in an orderly fashion as to clear worksite from 
unnecessary debris. All work-related trash or clutter will be managed daily. South Coast 
Painting will also remove all equipment and materials upon completion of project.  

 
 
 
 



 

 A -4  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

2.6 Permits:  
Owner will obtain all necessary licenses and or permits required for all or any portion of 
the work to be completed. South Coast Painting will furnish upon request copies of any 
certificates and or other documents as evidence of compliance with applicable laws, 
ordinances, or other regulations from various agencies or departments as needed.  

 
2.7 Notices:  

When applicable South Coast Painting will post all notices to residents one week prior to 
scheduled work progress. Notices will be placed in common areas, front doors, etc. to 
provide resident adequate time to prepare and remove items from balconies or patios as 
needed. Contractor cannot be held responsible for any items left out by resident.  

 
2.8 Insurance / Liability:  

South Coast Paintings shall provide appropriate worker’s compensation coverage and 
liability insurance to protect against any South Coast Painting negligence. 

 
3.0 SCHEDULE AND WARRANTY 
 
3.1 Project estimated time of completion:  15 Calendar days 

The contractor will not be responsible for delays caused by fire, natural acts, or for any 
delay related to the management that is deemed out of control of the contractor. 

 
3.2 Warranty: 

South Coast Painting shall provide Warranty for all paint and labor against peeling and 
flaking for the term of one year from the agreement date herein. Warranty excludes any 
failure of previous coatings. Warranty does not cover termites, water damage, splitting, or 
warping wood on this project. 

 
4.0 SCOPE OF WORK 
 

• Complete exterior painting of the Community Center Building to include stucco walls, 
block walls, doors, frames, trim and metal A/C wall covers on roof Paint manufacturer 
Sherwin Williams or Dunn Edwards 

• Interior walls and doors Room A. Interior walls and doors Room B. 
• Interior walls and doors West side room 

 
 
 



 

 B -1  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

Exhibit B 

FEE SCHEDULE 

Payment will become due at the completion of the project and the final walk thru has 
been approved. 
 
Service Cost 
Exterior Painting $41,900.00 
Interior Painting $13,300.00 
Total $55,200.00 



 

 C -1  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

Exhibit C 

CITY INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

A. Minimum Scope and Limits of Insurance.  Contractor shall procure and at all times 
during the term of this Contract carry, maintain, and keep in full force and effect, insurance as 
follows: 

1) Commercial General Liability Insurance with a minimum limit of 
Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) per occurrence for bodily injury, personal injury 
and property damage and a general aggregate limit of Five Million Dollars 
($5,000,000) per project or location.  If Contractor is a limited liability company, 
the commercial general liability coverage shall be amended so that Contractor and 
its managers, affiliates, employees, agents and other persons necessary or incidental 
to its operation are insureds. 

2) Automobile Liability Insurance for any owned, non-owned or hired 
vehicle used in connection with the performance of this Contract with a combined 
single limit of Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) per accident for bodily injury and 
property damage.  If Contractor does not use any owned, non-owned or hired 
vehicles in the performance of the Work under this Contract, Contractor shall obtain 
a non-owned auto endorsement to the Commercial General Liability policy 
required under subparagraph A.1) of this Exhibit C. 

3) Workers’ Compensation Insurance as required by the State of 
California and Employer’s Liability Insurance with a minimum limit of One 
Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per accident for bodily injury or disease.  If Contractor 
has no employees while performing the Work under this Contract, workers’ 
compensation policy is not required, but Contractor shall execute a declaration that 
it has no employees. 

B. Acceptability of Insurers.  The insurance policies required under this Exhibit C 
shall be issued by an insurer admitted to write insurance in the State of California with a rating of 
A:VII or better in the latest edition of the A.M. Best Insurance Rating Guide.  Self insurance shall 
not be considered to comply with the insurance requirements under Section 6 of the Contract. 

C. Additional Insured.  The commercial general and automobile liability policies shall 
contain an endorsement naming City, its officers, employees, agents and volunteers as additional 
insureds. 

D. Primary and Non-Contributing.  The insurance policies required under this Contract 
shall apply on a primary non-contributing basis in relation to any other insurance or self-insurance 
available to City.  Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by City, its officers, employees, 
agents or volunteers, shall be in excess of Contractor’s insurance and shall not contribute with it. 

E. Contractor’s Waiver of Subrogation.  The insurance policies required under this 
Contract shall not prohibit Contractor and Contractor’s employees, agents or subcontractors from 



 

 C -2  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

waiving the right of subrogation prior to a loss.  Contractor hereby waives all rights of subrogation 
against City. 

F. Deductibles and Self-Insured Retentions.  Any deductibles or self-insured 
retentions must be declared to and approved by City.  At City’s option, Contractor shall either 
reduce or eliminate the deductibles or self-insured retentions with respect to City, or Contractor 
shall procure a bond guaranteeing payment of losses and expenses. 

G. Cancellations or Modifications to Coverage.  Contractor shall not cancel, reduce or 
otherwise modify the insurance policies required by this Contract during the term of this Contract.  
The commercial general and automobile liability policies required under this Contract shall be 
endorsed to state that should the issuing insurer cancel the policy before the expiration date, the 
issuing insurer will endeavor to mail 30 days’ prior written notice to City.  If any insurance policy 
required under Contract is canceled or reduced in coverage or limits, Contractor shall, within two 
business days of notice from the insurer, phone, fax or notify City via certified mail, return receipt 
requested, of the cancellation of or changes to the policy. 

H. City Remedy for Noncompliance.  If Contractor does not maintain the policies of 
insurance required under this Contract in full force and effect during the term of this Contract, or 
in the event any of Contractor’s policies do not comply with the requirements under this Exhibit 
C, City may either immediately terminate this Contract or, if insurance is available at a reasonable 
cost, City may, but has no duty to, take out the necessary insurance and pay, at Contractor’s 
expense, the premium thereon.  Contractor shall promptly reimburse City for any premium paid 
by City or City may withhold amounts sufficient to pay the premiums from payments due to 
Contractor. 

I. Evidence of Insurance.  Prior to the performance of the Work under this Contract, 
Contractor shall furnish City’s Risk Manager with a certificate or certificates of insurance and all 
original endorsements evidencing and effecting the coverages required under this Contract.  The 
endorsements are subject to City’s approval.  Contractor may provide complete, certified copies 
of all required insurance policies to City.  Contractor shall maintain current endorsements on file 
with City’s Risk Manager.  Contractor shall provide proof to City’s Risk Manager that insurance 
policies expiring during the term of this Contract have been renewed or replaced with other policies 
providing at least the same coverage.  Contractor shall furnish such proof at least two weeks prior 
to the expiration of the coverages. 

J. Indemnity Requirements not Limiting.  Procurement of insurance by Contractor 
shall not be construed as a limitation of Contractor’s liability or as full performance of Contractor’s 
duty to indemnify City under Section 10 of this Contract. 

K. Subcontractor Insurance Requirements.  Contractor shall require each of its 
subcontractors that perform Work under this Contract to maintain insurance coverage that meets 
all of the requirements of this Exhibit C. 

 



 

 D -1  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

Exhibit D 

LABOR CODE AND PREVAILING WAGE REQUIREMENTS 

1. Contractor acknowledges that the Project, as defined in this Contract between 
Contractor and the City, to which this Terms for Compliance with California Labor Law 
Requirements is incorporated by reference, is a “public work” as defined in Division 2, Part 7, 
Chapter 1 (commencing with Section 1720) of the California Labor Code (“Chapter 1”).  Further, 
Contractor acknowledges that this Contract is subject to (a) Chapter 1, including without limitation 
Labor Code Section 1771 and (b) the rules and regulations established by the Director of Industrial 
Relations (“DIR”) implementing such statutes.  Contractor shall perform all Work on the Project 
as a public work.  Contractor shall comply with and be bound by all the terms, rules and regulations 
described in 1(a) and 1(b) as though set forth in full herein. 

2. California law requires the inclusion of specific Labor Code provisions in certain 
contracts.  The inclusion of such specific provisions below, whether or not required by California 
law, does not alter the meaning or scope of Section 1 of this Exhibit D. 

3. Pursuant to Labor Code Section 1773.2, copies of the prevailing rate of per diem 
wages for each craft, classification, or type of worker needed to perform the Contract are on file 
at City Hall and will be made available to any interested party on request.  Contractor 
acknowledges receipt of a copy of the DIR determination of such prevailing rate of per diem 
wages, and Contractor shall post such rates at each job site covered by this Contract. 

4. The Project is subject to compliance monitoring and enforcement by the DIR.  
Contractor shall post job site notices, as prescribed by regulation. 

5. Contractor shall comply with and be bound by the provisions of Labor Code 
Sections 1774 and 1775 concerning the payment of prevailing rates of wages to workers and the 
penalties for failure to pay prevailing wages.  Contractor shall, as a penalty to the City, forfeit two 
hundred dollars ($200) for each calendar day, or portion thereof, for each worker paid less than 
the prevailing rates as determined by the DIR for the work or craft in which the worker is employed 
for any public work done pursuant to this Contract by Contractor or by any subcontractor. 

6. Contractor shall comply with and be bound by the provisions of Labor Code Section 
1776, which requires Contractor and each subcontractor to: keep accurate payroll records and 
verify such records in writing under penalty of perjury, as specified in Section 1776; certify and 
make such payroll records available for inspection as provided by Section 1776; and inform the 
City of the location of the records. 

7. Contractor shall comply with and be bound by the provisions of Labor Code 
Sections 1777.5, 1777.6 and 1777.7 and California Administrative Code Title 8, Section 200 et 
seq. concerning the employment of apprentices on public works projects.  Contractor shall be 
responsible for compliance with these aforementioned sections for all apprenticeable occupations.  
Prior to commencing Work under this Contract, Contractor shall provide City with a copy of the 
information submitted to any applicable apprenticeship program.  Within sixty (60) days after 
concluding work pursuant to this Contract, Contractor and each of its subcontractors shall submit 



 

 D -2  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

to the City a verified statement of the journeyman and apprentice hours performed under this 
Contract. 

8. Contractor acknowledges that eight hours labor constitutes a legal day’s work.  
Contractor shall comply with and be bound by Labor Code Section 1810.  Contractor shall comply 
with and be bound by the provisions of Labor Code Section 1813 concerning penalties for workers 
who work excess hours.  Contractor shall, as a penalty to the City, forfeit twenty-five dollars ($25) 
for each worker employed in the performance of this Contract by Contractor or by any 
subcontractor for each calendar day during which such worker is required or permitted to work 
more than eight hours in any one calendar day and 40 hours in any one calendar week in violation 
of the provisions of Division 2, Part 7, Chapter 1, Article 3 of the Labor Code.  Pursuant to Labor 
Code Section 1815, work performed by employees of Contractor in excess of eight hours per day, 
and 40 hours during any one week shall be permitted upon public work upon compensation for all 
hours worked in excess of eight hours per day at not less than one and one-half times the basic rate 
of pay. 

9. Labor Code Sections 1860 and 3700 provide that every employer will be required 
to secure the payment of compensation to its employees.  In accordance with the provisions of 
California Labor Code Section 1861, Contractor hereby certifies as follows: 

“I am aware of the provisions of Section 3700 of the Labor Code which require every 
employer to be insured against liability for workers’ compensation or to undertake self-
insurance in accordance with the provisions of that code, and I will comply with such 
provisions before commencing the performance of the work of this contract.” 

10. For every subcontractor who will perform work on the Project, Contractor shall be 
responsible for such subcontractor’s compliance with Chapter 1 and Labor Code Sections 1860 
and 3700, and Contractor shall include in the written contract between it and each subcontractor a 
copy of those statutory provisions and a requirement that each subcontractor shall comply with 
those statutory provisions.  Contractor shall be required to take all actions necessary to enforce 
such contractual provisions and ensure subcontractor’s compliance, including without limitation, 
conducting a periodic review of the certified payroll records of the subcontractor and upon 
becoming aware of the failure of the subcontractor to pay his or her workers the specified 
prevailing rate of wages.  Contractor shall diligently take corrective action to halt or rectify any 
failure. 

11. Pursuant to Labor Code sections 1725.5 and 1771.1, the Contractor and its 
subcontractors must be registered with the DIR prior to the execution of a contract to perform 
public works.  By entering into this Contract, Contractor represents that it is aware of the 
registration requirement and is currently registered with the DIR.  Contractor shall maintain a 
current registration for the duration of the project.  Contractor shall further include the 
requirements of Labor Code sections 1725.5 and 1771.1 in any subcontract and ensure that all 
subcontractors are registered at the time this Contract is entered into and maintain registration for 
the duration of the project.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the contractor registration requirements 
mandated by Labor Code Sections 1725.5 and 1771.1 shall not apply to work performed on a 
public works project that is exempt pursuant to the small project exemption specified in Labor 
Code Sections 1725.5 and 1771.1. 



 

 D -3  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

12. To the maximum extent permitted by law, Contractor shall indemnify, hold 
harmless and defend (at Contractor’s expense with counsel reasonably acceptable to City) City, its 
officials, officers, employees, agents and independent contractors serving in the role of City 
officials, and volunteers from and against any demand or claim for damages, compensation, fines, 
penalties or other amounts arising out of or incidental to any acts or omissions listed above by any 
person or entity (including Contractor, its subcontractors, and each of their officials, officers, 
employees and agents) in connection with any work undertaken or in connection with this 
Contract, including without limitation the payment of all consequential damages, attorneys’ fees, 
and other related costs and expenses.  All duties of Contractor under this Section shall survive 
expiration or termination of this Contract.



 

 E-1  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

Exhibit E 

Bond No. _____________ 

PAYMENT BOND 
(LABOR AND MATERIALS) 

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS that: 

WHEREAS the City of Artesia (“Public Agency”), State of California, has awarded to 
___________________ (“Principal”) a contract (the “Contract”) to _______________________. 

WHEREAS, under the terms of the Contract, the Principal is required before entering upon the 
performance of the work, to file a good and sufficient payment bond with the Public Agency to 
secure the claims to which reference is made in Title 3 (commencing with Section 9000) of Part 6 
of Division 4 of the Civil Code. 

NOW, THEREFORE, we, the undersigned Principal, and   
  
  

(Name and address of Surety) 

(“Surety”) a duly admitted surety insurer under the laws of the State of California, as Surety, are 
held and firmly bound unto the Public Agency and all contractors, subcontractors, laborers, 
material suppliers, and other persons employed in the performance of the Contract and referred to 
in Title 3 (commencing with Section 9000) of Part 6 of Division 4 of the Civil Code in the penal 
sum of ___________________ ($___________), for materials furnished or labor thereon of any 
kind, or for amounts due under the Unemployment Insurance Act with respect to this work or 
labor, that the Surety will pay the same in an amount not exceeding the amount hereinabove set 
forth, and also in case suit is brought upon this bond, will pay, in addition to the face amount 
thereof, costs and reasonable expenses and fees, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, incurred by 
Public Agency in successfully enforcing this obligation, to be awarded and fixed by the court, and 
to be taxed as costs and to be included in the judgment therein rendered. 

It is hereby expressly stipulated and agreed that this Bond shall inure to the benefit of any and all 
persons, companies, and corporations entitled to file claims under Title 3 (commencing with 
Section 9000) of Part 6 of Division 4 of the Civil Code, so as to give a right of action to them or 
their assigns in any suit brought upon this Bond. 

Upon expiration of the time within which the California Labor Commissioner may serve a civil 
wage and penalty assessment against the principal, any of its subcontractors, or both the principal 
and its subcontractors pursuant to Labor Code Section 1741, and upon expiration of the time within 
which a joint labor management committee may commence an action against the principal, any of 
its subcontractors, or both the principal and its subcontractors pursuant to Labor Code Section 
1771.2, if the condition of this Bond be fully performed, then this obligation shall become null and 
void, otherwise it shall be and remain in full force and effect. 



 

 E-2  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

The Surety hereby stipulates and agrees that no change, extension of time, alteration, or addition 
to the terms of the Contract or the specifications accompanying the same shall in any manner affect 
its obligations on this Bond, and it does hereby waive notice of any such change, extension, 
alteration, or addition. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, two identical counterparts of this instrument, each of which shall for 
all purposes be deemed an original hereof, have been duly executed by Principal and Surety, on 
the date set forth below, the name of each corporate party being hereto affixed and these presents 
duly signed by its undersigned representative(s) pursuant to authority of its governing body. 

Dated:       

“Principal” 
 
   
   
 
 
By:    
 Its:    

“Surety” 
 
   
   
 
 
By:    
 Its:    

  

  

(Seal) (Seal) 

  

  

  

Note: This Bond must be executed in duplicate and dated, all signatures must be notarized, and 
evidence of the authority of any person signing as attorney-in-fact must be attached.  IF 
CONTRACTOR IS A PARTNERSHIP, ALL PARTNERS MUST EXECUTE BOND.  DATE OF 
BOND MUST NOT BE PRIOR TO DATE OF CONTRACT.  Surety companies executing Bonds 
must appear on the Treasury Department’s most current list (Circular 570 as amended) and be 
authorized to transact business in the State where the project is located. 



FIRST AMENDMENT TO  
CONSTRUCTION AGREEMENT  

BETWEEN THE CITY OF ARTESIA AND SOUTH COAST PAINTERS, INC.  
 

1.  PARTIES AND DATE.  
 
 This First Amendment to the Construction Agreement between the City of Artesia and 
South Coast Painters, Inc. (“Agreement”) is made and entered into on March 17, 2025, by and 
between the City of Artesia, a California municipal corporation (“City”) and South Coast 
Painters, Inc., a California corporation, (“Contractor”). The City and Contractor are collectively 
referred to herein as the “Parties”. 
 
2.  RECITALS 
 

2.1 Agreement. The Parties entered the Agreement dated October 14, 2024 
(“Agreement”)  

 
2.2 First Amendment. The Parties now desire to amend the Agreement in order to 

increase the compensation and scope of work under the Agreement.  
 

3.  TERMS 
 
3.1 Exhibit A. Scope of Work. Section 4.0 of Exhibit A of the Agreement is amended in its 

entirety and restated to read as follows: 
 

• Complete exterior painting of the Community Center Building, three (3) outdoor 
restroom facilities, pump room, and snack bar. Includes stucco walls, block walls, 
doors, frames, trim and metal A/C wall covers on Community Center roof. Paint 
manufacturer Sherwin Williams or Dunn Edwards 

• Interior walls and doors Room A. Interior Walls and Doors Room B.  
• Interior walls and doors, West Side room.   

 
3.2  Exhibit B. Compensation. Exhibit B of the Agreement is amended in its entirety and 

restated to read as follows: 
 

“Payment will become due at the completion of the project and the final walk thru has 
been approved.” 
 
Service Cost 
Exterior Painting $41,900.00 
Interior Painting $13,300.00 
Prep and Painting of Restrooms $12,600.00 
Prep and Painting of Pump Room $2,900.00 
Prep and Painting of Snack Bar $4,300.00 
Total $75,000.00 

 



3.3 Remaining Provisions of Agreement 
 

Except as otherwise specifically set forth in this First Amendment, the remaining 
provisions of the Agreement shall remain in full force and effect.  
 
 

[Signatures on following page] 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 



 
SIGNATURE PAGE TO FIRST AMENDEMENT COSTRUCTION AGREEMENT  

BETWEEN THE CITY OF ARTESIA AND SOUTH COAST PAINTERS, INC.  
 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have entered into this Agreement as of the 17th day of 
March, 2025.  
 
CITY OF ARTESIA,     SOUTH COAST PAINTERS, INC 
a municipal corporation     a California corporation 
 
 
 
By: _____________________________   By: ________________________ 
 Abel Avalos       Bobbie Mantikas 
 City Manager       President   
  
 
ATTEST: 
 
 
 
By: _____________________________   By: ________________________ 
 Jennifer Alderete      Bobbie Mantikas 
 City Clerk       Secretary 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
By: _____________________________ 
 Best Best & Krieger LLP 
 City Attorney 
  



 -1-  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

CONTRACT FOR WOOD REPLACEMENT SERVICES FOR THE ALBERT O. 
LITTLE COMMUNITY CENTER PROJECT 

(Public Project under $60,000) 

This Contract for Wood Replacement Services at Artesia Park (“Contract”) is dated March 17, 
2025 (“Effective Date”) and between the City of Artesia, a California municipal corporation 
(“City”) and Kilter Home Services Inc (“Contractor”).  Contractor’s license number is 937284 
(Class B).  

City and Contractor are referred to herein as the “Parties.” 

In consideration of the Parties’ performance of the promises, covenants, and conditions stated 
herein, the Parties agree as follows: 

1. GENERAL SCOPE OF WORK; TERM; TERMINATION:  Contractor shall procure and 
furnish all necessary labor, tools, materials, and expertise for the Wood Replacement (the 
“Project”), located at Artesia Park (the “Work”) as more particularly described in the 
Scope of Work attached hereto as Exhibit A.  All Work is to be performed in good and 
workmanlike manner and in accordance with any further written instructions, if any, of the 
City Manager or his or her designated representative.  The term of this Contract shall 
commence upon the Effective Date and, unless terminated as provided herein, shall 
continue until (a) all required work is completed, (b) fully executed releases as to any and 
all lien rights of any and all subcontractors have been received by City, and (c) the time 
within which any liens, stop notices or other claims for payment by subcontractors, 
laborers, and/or materialmen can be asserted against City has expired. 

Contractor shall keep itself fully informed of and in compliance with all local, state and 
federal laws, rules and regulations in any manner affecting the performance of the Contract 
or the Work, including all Cal/OSHA requirements, and shall give all notices required by 
law.  Contractor shall be liable for all violations of such laws and regulations in connection 
with the Work. 

City may terminate this Contract, without cause, at any time by providing Contractor with 
not less than ten days’ prior written notice.  Provided Contractor is not then in breach, 
Contractor will be paid for work satisfactorily completed and for all deliverables received. 

2. TIME OF COMPLETION; LIQUIDATED DAMAGES.  Notwithstanding any other 
provision of this Contract, the completion date for the Work shall be on or before the date 
that is 45 calendar days after the issuance by City of a Notice to Proceed (“Completion 
Date”).  Time is of the essence in this Contract.   

APPLICABLE – or –  NOT APPLICABLE 

Contractor agrees to the assessment of liquidated damages in the amount of $250 for each 
calendar day the work remains incomplete beyond the Completion Date.  City may deduct 
the amount thereof from any monies due or that may become due Contractor under this 
Contract.  Progress payments made after the scheduled Completion Date shall not 
constitute a waiver of liquidated damages.  Liquidated damages are not intended to 



 -2-  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

compensate City for consequential damages which City may incur from other Contractor 
delay claims resulting from Contractor’s delay in the performance of this Contract. 

3. INCORPORATION OF STANDARD SPECIFICATIONS.  The 2021 edition of “Standard 
Specifications for Public Works Construction” (“Standard Specifications”) is incorporated 
herein by this reference.  In the event of any conflict between this Contract and the Standard 
Specifications, the provisions of this Contract shall control. 

4. INCORPORATED DOCUMENTS TO BE CONSIDERED COMPLEMENTARY:  All 
Exhibits attached hereto are incorporated herein by reference.  The documents, payment 
bond, City insurance requirements, together with this written Contract (and all Exhibits, 
documents and laws referenced therein), shall constitute the entire agreement between the 
Parties as to the subject matter of this Contract.  In the event of any conflict between this 
Contract and any Exhibit hereto, the provisions of this Contract shall control. 

5. FEE SCHEDULE:  Terms of payment and other applicable terms and conditions are listed 
in Exhibit B – Fee Schedule.  City shall pay to Contractor for furnishing the material and 
doing the prescribed work according to the unit prices and/or lump sum set forth in Exhibit 
B.  The acceptance of final payment by Contractor shall constitute a release by Contractor 
of all claims against City arising out of this Contract except those claims which (a) have 
been made in writing and identified by Contractor as not having been settled at that time, 
or (b) are based on fraud or misconduct by City. 

6. INSURANCE:  Contractor shall not commence work under this Contract until it has 
obtained insurance with the minimum required limits and coverage as specified in Exhibit 
C – City Insurance Requirements, in a company or companies acceptable to City.  
Contractor shall not allow any subcontractor to commence work on its subcontract until all 
insurance required of the subcontractor has been obtained.  Contractor shall provide 
evidence of the required insurance to City’s Risk Manager as specified in Exhibit C. 

7. PREVAILING WAGES:  Notwithstanding any statement to the contrary in Contractor’s 
proposal or quote, City and Contractor acknowledge that the Project is a public work to 
which prevailing wages apply.  The document titled “Labor Code and Prevailing Wage 
Requirements” is attached hereto as Exhibit D.  Contractor shall comply with all 
provisions of Exhibit D. 

8. BONDS. 

a. PAYMENT BOND: REQUIRED – or –  NOT REQUIRED 

Contractor shall obtain and submit a signed and notarized copy to City of a payment 
bond in an amount that is not less than 100% of the Maximum Compensation, and 
nothing in this Contract shall excuse this requirement.  The required Payment Bond 
(Labor and Materials) form is attached hereto as Exhibit E. 

b. PERFORMANCE BOND:  NOT REQUIRED 



 -3-  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

9. RESOLUTION OF DISPUTES:  In the event that a dispute arises between City and 
Contractor regarding whether the conditions materially differ, or cause a decrease or 
increase in Contractor’s cost of or time required for performance of any part of the Work, 
Contractor shall not be excused from any scheduled completion date provided for by this 
Contract, but shall proceed with all work to be performed under this Contract.  Contractor 
shall retain any and all rights that pertain to the resolution of disputes and protests between 
the Parties.  In the event of any dispute or controversy with City over any matter 
whatsoever, Contractor shall not cause any delay or cessation in or of work, but shall 
proceed with the performance of the work in dispute.  This includes disputed time extension 
requests and prices for changes.  The disputed work will be categorized as an “unresolved 
dispute” and payment, if any, shall be as later determined by mutual agreement or a court 
of law.  Contractor will keep accurate, detailed records of all disputed work, claims and 
other disputed matters. 

All claims arising out of or related to the Contract Documents or this Project, and the 
consideration and payment of such claims, are subject to the Government Claims Act 
(Government Code Section 810 et seq.) with regard to filing claims.   

All such claims are also subject to Public Contract Code Section 9204 and Public Contract 
Code Section 20104 et seq. (Article 1.5), where applicable.  This Contract hereby 
incorporates those provisions as though fully set forth herein.  Thus, the Contractor or any 
Subcontractor must file a claim in accordance with the Government Claims Act as a 
prerequisite to filing a construction claim in compliance with Section 9204 and Article 1.5 
(if applicable), and must then adhere to Article 1.5 and Section 9204, as applicable, 
pursuant to the definition of “claim” as individually defined therein. 

9.1 Intent.  Effective January 1, 1991, Section 20104 et seq., of the 
California Public Contract Code prescribes a process utilizing informal conferences, non-
binding judicial supervised mediation, and judicial arbitration to resolve disputes on 
construction claims of $375,000 or less. Effective January 1, 2017, Section 9204 of the 
Public Contract Code prescribes a process for negotiation and mediation to resolve disputes 
on construction claims. The intent of this Section is to implement Sections 20104 et seq. 
and Section 9204 of the California Public Contract Code. This Section shall be construed 
to be consistent with said statutes. 

9.2 Claims.  For purposes of this Section, “Claim” means a separate 
demand by the Contractor, after a change order duly requested in accordance with the terms 
of this Contract has been denied by the City, for (A) a time extension, (B) payment of 
money or damages arising from Work done by or on behalf of the Contractor pursuant to 
the Contract, or (C) an amount the payment of which is disputed by the City.  A “Claim” 
does not include any demand for payment for which the Contractor has failed to provide 
notice, request a change order, or otherwise failed to follow any procedures contained in 
the Contract Documents. 

9.3 Filing Claims.  Claims governed by this Section may not be filed 
unless and until the Contractor completes all procedures for giving notice of delay or 
change and for the requesting of a time extension or change order, including but not 



 -4-  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

necessarily limited to the change order procedures contained herein, and Contractor’s 
request for a change has been denied in whole or in part.  Claims governed by this Section 
must be filed no later than fourteen (14) days after a request for change has been denied in 
whole or in part or after any other event giving rise to the Claim.  The Claim shall be 
submitted in writing to the City and shall include on its first page the following in 16 point 
capital font: “THIS IS A CLAIM.”  Furthermore, the claim shall include the documents 
necessary to substantiate the claim.  Nothing in this Section is intended to extend the time 
limit or supersede notice requirements otherwise provided by contract for the filing of 
claims, including all requirements pertaining to compensation or payment for extra Work, 
disputed Work, and/or changed conditions.  Failure to follow such contractual requirements 
shall bar any claims or subsequent lawsuits for compensation or payment thereon. 

9.4 Supporting Documentation.  The Contractor shall submit all claims 
in the following format: 

9.4.1 Summary of claim merit and price, reference Contract Document 
provisions pursuant to which the claim is made 

9.4.2 List of documents relating to claim: 

(A) Specifications 

(B) Drawings 

(C) Clarifications (Requests for Information) 

(D) Schedules 

(E) Other 

9.4.3 Chronology of events and correspondence 

9.4.4 Analysis of claim merit 

9.4.5 Analysis of claim cost, including calculations and supporting 
documents 

9.4.6 Time impact analysis in CPM format 

9.5  City’s Response.  Upon receipt of a Claim pursuant to this 
Section, City shall conduct a reasonable review of the Claim and, within a period not to 
exceed 45 days of receipt of the Claim, or as extended by mutual agreement, shall provide 
the Contractor a written statement identifying what portion of the Claim is disputed and 
what portion is undisputed. Any payment due on an undisputed portion of the Claim will 
be processed and made within 60 days after the City issues its written statement. 

9.5.1 If City needs approval from its governing body to provide the 
Contractor a written statement identifying the disputed portion and the undisputed portion 



 -5-  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

of the Claim, and the governing body does not meet within the 45 days or within the 
mutually agreed to extension of time following receipt of a Claim sent by registered mail 
or certified mail, return receipt requested, City shall have up to three (3) days following 
the next duly publicly noticed meeting of the governing body after the 45-day period, or 
extension, expires to provide the Contractor a written statement identifying the disputed 
portion and the undisputed portion.   

9.5.2 Within 30 days of receipt of a Claim, City may request in writing 
additional documentation supporting the Claim or relating to defenses or claims City may 
have against the Contractor. If additional information is thereafter required, it shall be 
requested and provided pursuant to this subdivision, upon mutual agreement of City and 
the Contractor. City’s written response to the Claim, shall be submitted to the Contractor 
within 30 Days (if the Claim is less than $50,000, within 15 Days) after receipt of the 
additional documentation, or within a period of time no greater than that taken by the 
Contractor in producing the additional information or requested documentation, whichever 
is greater. 

9.6 Meet and Confer.  If the Contractor disputes City’s written response, 
or City fails to respond within the time prescribed, the Contractor may so notify City, in 
writing, within 15 Days of receipt of City’s response or the City’s failure to respond, and 
demand an informal conference to meet and confer for settlement of the issues in dispute. 
Upon receipt of a demand, City shall schedule a meet and confer conference within 30 
Days for settlement of the dispute. 

9.7 Mediation.  Within 10 business days following the conclusion of the 
meet and confer conference, if the Claim or any portion of the Claim remains in dispute, 
City shall provide the Contractor a written statement identifying the portion of the Claim 
that remains in dispute and the portion that is undisputed. Any payment due on an 
undisputed portion of the Claim shall be processed and made within 60 Days after City 
issues its written statement. Any disputed portion of the Claim, as identified by the 
Contractor in writing, shall be submitted to nonbinding mediation, with City and the 
Contractor sharing the associated costs equally. City and Contractor shall mutually agree 
to a mediator within 10 business days after the disputed portion of the Claim has been 
identified in writing, unless the Parties agree to select a mediator at a later time. 

9.7.1 If the Parties cannot agree upon a mediator, each Party shall select a 
mediator and those mediators shall select a qualified neutral third party to mediate with 
regard to the disputed portion of the claim. Each Party shall bear the fees and costs charged 
by its respective mediator in connection with the selection of the neutral mediator.  

9.7.2 For purposes of this section, mediation includes any nonbinding 
process, including, but not limited to, neutral evaluation or a dispute review board, in which 
an independent third party or board assists the Parties in dispute resolution through 
negotiation or by issuance of an evaluation. Any mediation utilized shall conform to the 
timeframes in this section. 



 -6-  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

9.7.3 Unless otherwise agreed to by City and the Contractor in writing, 
the mediation conducted pursuant to this section shall excuse any further obligation under 
Section 20104.4 to mediate after litigation has been commenced. 

9.7.4 The mediation shall be held no earlier than the date the Contractor 
completes the Work or the date that the Contractor last performs Work, whichever is 
earlier. All unresolved Claims shall be considered jointly in a single mediation, unless a 
new unrelated Claim arises after mediation is completed. 

9.8 Procedures After Mediation.  If following the mediation, the Claim 
or any portion remains in dispute, the Contractor must file a claim pursuant to Chapter 1 
(commencing with Section 900) and Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 910) of Part 3 
of Division 3.6 of Title 1 of the Government Code.  For purposes of those provisions, the 
running of the period of time within which a claim must be filed shall be tolled from the 
time the Contractor submits his or her written Claim pursuant to subdivision (a) until the 
time the Claim is denied, including any period of time utilized by the meet and confer 
conference or mediation. 

9.9 Civil Actions.  The following procedures are established for all civil 
actions filed to resolve Claims of $375,000 or less: 

9.9.1 Within 60 Days, but no earlier than 30 Days, following the filing or 
responsive pleadings, the court shall submit the matter to non-binding mediation unless 
waived by mutual stipulation of both Parties or unless mediation was held prior to 
commencement of the action in accordance with Public Contract Code section 9204 and 
the terms of these procedures.  The mediation process shall provide for the selection within 
15 Days by both Parties of a disinterested third person as mediator, shall be commenced 
within 30 Days of the submittal, and shall be concluded within 15 Days from the 
commencement of the mediation unless a time requirement is extended upon a good cause 
showing to the court. 

9.9.2 If the matter remains in dispute, the case shall be submitted to 
judicial arbitration pursuant to Chapter 2.5 (commencing with Section 1141.10) of Title 3 
of Part 3 of the Code of Civil Procedure, notwithstanding Section 1114.11 of that code.  
The Civil Discovery Act of 1986 (Article 3 (commencing with Section 2016) of Chapter 3 
of Title 3 of Part 4 of the Code of Civil Procedure) shall apply to any proceeding brought 
under this subdivision consistent with the rules pertaining to judicial arbitration. 

9.9.3 In addition to Chapter 2.5 (commencing with Section 1141.10) of 
Title 3 of Part 3 of the Code of Civil Procedure, (A) arbitrators shall, when possible, be 
experienced in construction law, and (B) any party appealing an arbitration award who 
does not obtain a more favorable judgment shall, in addition to payment of costs and fees 
under that chapter, also pay the attorney’s fees on appeal of the other party. 

9.10 Government Code Claim Procedures.   

9.10.1 This section does not apply to tort claims and nothing in this section 
is intended nor shall be construed to change the time periods for filing tort claims or actions 



 -7-  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

specified by Chapter 1 (commending with Section 900) and Chapter 2 (commencing with 
Section 910) of Part 3 of Division 3.5 of Title 1 of the Government Code.  

9.10.2 In addition to any and all Contract requirements pertaining to notices 
of and requests for adjustments to the Contract Time, Contract Price, or compensation or 
payment for extra work, disputed work, claims and/or changed conditions, Contractor must 
comply with the claim procedures set forth in Government Code sections 900 et seq. prior 
to filing any lawsuit against the City.   

9.10.3 Such Government Code claims and any subsequent lawsuit based 
upon the Government Code claims shall be limited to those matters that remain unresolved 
after all procedures pertaining to adjustment of the Contract Time, Contract Price, or 
compensation or payment for extra work, disputed work, claims, and/or changed conditions 
have been followed by Contractor.  If no such Government Code claim is submitted, or if 
any prerequisite contractual requirements are not otherwise satisfied as specified herein, 
Contractor may not file any action against the City.   

9.10.4 A Government Code claim must be filed no earlier than the date the 
work is completed or the date the Contractor last performs work on the Project, whichever 
occurs first. A Government Code claim shall be inclusive of all unresolved Claims known 
to the Contractor excepting only new unrelated Claims that arise after the Government 
Code claim is submitted.   

9.11 Non-Waiver. City’s failure to respond to a Claim from the 
Contractor within the time periods described in this section or to otherwise meet the time 
requirements of this section shall result in the Claim being deemed rejected in its entirety 
and shall not constitute a waiver of any rights under this section. 

10. INDEMNIFICATION, HOLD HARMLESS, AND DUTY TO DEFEND. 

a. Indemnities for Third Party Claims. 

1) To the fullest extent permitted by law, Contractor shall, at its sole cost and 
expense, defend, hold harmless and indemnify City and its elected officials, 
officers, attorneys, agents, employees, designated volunteers, successors, 
assigns and those City agents serving as independent contractors in the role 
of City officials (collectively “Indemnitees”), from and against any and all 
damages, costs, expenses, liabilities, claims, demands, causes of action, 
proceedings, expenses, judgments, penalties, liens, and losses of any nature 
whatsoever, including fees of accountants, attorneys, or other professionals 
and all costs associated therewith and the payment of all consequential 
damages (collectively “Liabilities”), in law or equity, whether actual, 
alleged or threatened, which arise out of, are claimed to arise out of, pertain 
to, or relate to the acts or omissions of Contractor, its officers, agents, 
servants, employees, subcontractors, materialmen, contractors or their 
officers, agents, servants or employees (or any entity or individual that 
Contractor shall bear the legal liability thereof) in the performance of this 



 -8-  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

Contract, including the Indemnitees’ passive negligence, except for 
Liabilities arising from the active or sole negligence or willful misconduct 
of the Indemnitees, as determined by judicial decision or by the agreement 
of the Parties.  Contractor shall defend the Indemnitees in any action or 
actions filed in connection with any Liabilities with counsel of the 
Indemnitees’ choice, and shall pay all costs and expenses, including all 
attorneys’ fees and experts’ costs actually incurred in connection with such 
defense.  Contractor shall reimburse the Indemnitees for any and all legal 
expenses and costs incurred by Indemnitees in connection therewith. 

2) Contractor shall pay all required taxes on amounts paid to Contractor under 
this Contract, and indemnify and hold City harmless from any and all taxes, 
assessments, penalties, and interest asserted against City by reason of the 
independent contractor relationship created by this Contract.  Contractor 
shall fully comply with the workers’ compensation law regarding 
Contractor and Contractor’s employees.  Contractor shall indemnify and 
hold City harmless from any failure of Contractor to comply with applicable 
workers’ compensation laws.  City may offset against the amount of any 
fees due to Contractor under this Contract any amount due to City from 
Contractor as a result of Contractor’s failure to promptly pay to City any 
reimbursement or indemnification arising under this subparagraph a.2). 

3) Contractor shall obtain executed indemnity agreements with provisions 
identical to those in this Section 10 from each and every subcontractor or 
any other person or entity involved by, for, with or on behalf of Contractor 
in the performance of this Contract.  If Contractor fails to obtain such 
indemnity obligations, Contractor shall be fully responsible and indemnify, 
hold harmless and defend the Indemnitees from and against any and all 
Liabilities at law or in equity, whether actual, alleged or threatened, which 
arise out of, are claimed to arise out of, pertain to, or relate to the acts or 
omissions of Contractor’s subcontractor, its officers, agents, servants, 
employees, subcontractors, materialmen, contractors or their officers, 
agents, servants or employees (or any entity or individual that Contractor’s 
subcontractor shall bear the legal liability thereof) in the performance of this 
Contract, including the Indemnitees’ active or passive negligence, except 
for Liabilities arising from the sole negligence or willful misconduct of the 
Indemnitees, as determined by court decision or by the agreement of the 
Parties. 

b. Workers’ Compensation Acts not Limiting.  Contractor’s indemnifications and 
obligations under this Section 10, or any other provision of this Contract, shall not 
be limited by the provisions of any workers’ compensation act or similar act.  
Contractor expressly waives its statutory immunity under such statutes or laws as 
to City, its officers, agents, employees and volunteers. 

c. Insurance Requirements not Limiting.  City does not, and shall not, waive any rights 
that it may possess against Contractor because of the acceptance by City, or the 



 -9-  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

deposit with City, of any insurance policy or certificate required pursuant to this 
Contract.  The indemnities in this Section 10 shall apply regardless of whether or 
not any insurance policies are determined to be applicable to the Liabilities, tax, 
assessment, penalty or interest asserted against City. 

d. Survival of Terms.  Contractor’s indemnifications and obligations under this 
Section 10 shall survive the expiration or termination of this Contract. 

11. NON-DISCRIMINATION:  No discrimination shall be made in the employment of 
persons upon public works because of race, religious creed, ancestry, age, physical 
disability, mental disability, mental condition, genetic information, marital status, race, 
color, sex, gender, gender identity, gender expression, sexual orientation, national origin, 
or military and veteran status of such persons, and every Contractor for public works 
violating this Section is subject to all the penalties imposed for a violation of Division 2, 
Part 7, Chapter 1 of the Labor Code in accordance with the provisions of Section 1735 of 
that Code. 

12. LICENSES:  Contractor is aware of California Labor Code Sections 1777.1 and 1777.7, 
which prohibit Contractor or any subcontractors who have been found by the Labor 
Commissioner or the Director of Industrial Relations to be in violation of certain provisions 
of the Labor Code, from bidding on, being awarded, or performing work as a contractor or 
subcontractor on a public works project for specified periods of time. 

Pursuant to Public Contract Code Section 6109 and California Business and Professions 
Code Section 7028.15, Contractor shall be licensed as required by the Contractors’ State 
License Board of the State to perform the Work. Pursuant to Public Contract Code Section 
3300 and at all times during the term of this Contract, Contractor shall possess a Class C39 
California contractor’s license. 

Contractor has investigated and will ensure that any subcontractor possesses a valid 
specialty trade license in its trade as required by law. 

13. WARRANTY.  The warranty applicable to the Work pursuant to this Contract shall be as 
set forth in: 

A. Section 3-13.3 of the Standard Specifications. 

B. Exhibit A. 

14. ANTITRUST CLAIMS:  Pursuant to Public Contract Code Section 7103.5, Contractor 
offers and agrees to assign to City all rights, title, and interest in and to all causes of action 
it may have under Section 4 of the Clayton Act (15 U.S.C. Sec. 15) or under the Cartwright 
Act (Chapter 2 (commencing with Section 16700) of Part 2 of Division 7 of the California 
Business and Professions Code) arising from purchases of goods, services, or materials 
pursuant to this Contract.  This assignment shall be made and become effective at the time 
City tenders final payment to Contractor without further acknowledgment by the Parties. 



 -10-  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

15. OWNERSHIP OF DOCUMENTS AND WORK PRODUCT:  All documents, plans, 
specifications, reports, photographs, images, video files and media created or developed 
by Contractor pursuant to this Contract (“Written Products”) shall be and remain the 
property of City without restriction or limitation upon its use, duplication or dissemination 
by City.  All Written Products shall be considered “works made for hire,” and all Written 
Products and any and all intellectual property rights arising from their creation, including, 
but not limited to, all copyrights and other proprietary rights, shall be and remain the 
property of City without restriction or limitation upon their use, duplication or 
dissemination by City.  Contractor shall not obtain or attempt to obtain copyright protection 
as to any Written Products. 

Contractor hereby assigns to City all ownership and any and all intellectual property rights 
to the Written Products that are not otherwise vested in City pursuant to the paragraph 
directly above. 

Contractor warrants and represents that it has secured all necessary licenses, consents or 
approvals to use any instrumentality, thing or component as to which any intellectual 
property right exists, including computer software, used in the rendering of the services 
and the production of all Written Products produced under this Contract, and that City has 
full legal title to and the right to reproduce the Written Products.  Contractor shall defend, 
indemnify and hold City, and its elected officials, officers, employees, servants, attorneys, 
designated volunteers, and agents serving as independent contractors in the role of City 
officials, harmless from any loss, claim or liability in any way related to a claim that City’s 
use of any of the Written Products is violating federal, State or local laws, or any 
contractual provisions, or any laws relating to trade names, licenses, franchises, copyrights, 
patents or other means of protecting intellectual property rights and/or interests in products 
or inventions.  Contractor shall bear all costs arising from the use of patented, copyrighted, 
trade secret or trademarked documents, materials, equipment, devices or processes in 
connection with its provision of the services and Written Products produced under this 
Contract.  In the event the use of any of the Written Products or other deliverables 
hereunder by City is held to constitute an infringement and the use of any of the same is 
enjoined, Contractor, at his or her expense, shall:  (a) secure for City the right to continue 
using the Written Products and other deliverables by suspension of any injunction, or by 
procuring a license or licenses for City; or (b) modify the Written Products and other 
deliverables so that they become non-infringing while remaining in compliance with the 
requirements of this Contract.  This covenant shall survive the termination of this Contract. 

Upon termination, abandonment or suspension of the Project, Contractor shall deliver to 
City all Written Products and other deliverables related to the Project.  If Contractor 
prepares a document on a computer, Contractor shall provide City with that document both 
in a printed format and in an acceptable electronic format. 

16. THIRD-PARTY CLAIM:  Pursuant to Public Contract Code Section 9201, City has full 
authority to compromise or otherwise settle any claim relating to this Contract at any time.  
City shall timely notify Contractor of the receipt of any third-party claim relating to this 
Contract.  City shall be entitled to recover its reasonable costs incurred in providing the 
notification required by Public Contract Code Section 9201(b). 



 -11-  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

17. INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR:  Contractor is and shall at all times remain, as to City, 
a wholly independent contractor.  The personnel performing the Work under this Contract 
on behalf of Contractor shall at all times be under Contractor’s exclusive direction and 
control.  Neither City nor any of its officers, officials, employees, agents, or volunteers 
shall have control over the conduct of Contractor or any of Contractor’s employees except 
as set forth in this Contract, and Contractor is free to dispose of all portions of its time and 
activities which it is not obligated to devote to City in such a manner and to such persons, 
firms, or corporations as Contractor wishes except as expressly provided in this Contract.  
Contractor shall have no power to incur any debt, obligation, or liability on behalf of City 
or otherwise act on behalf of City as an agent. 

Contractor shall not, at any time or in any manner, represent that it or any of its agents, 
servants or employees are in any manner agents, servants or employees of City. Contractor 
agrees to pay all required taxes on amounts paid to Contractor under this Contract, and to 
indemnify and hold City harmless from any and all taxes, assessments, penalties, and 
interest asserted against City by reason of the independent contractor relationship created 
by this Contract.  Contractor shall fully comply with the workers’ compensation law 
regarding Contractor and its employees, and Contractor further agrees to indemnify and 
hold City harmless from any failure of Contractor to comply with applicable workers’ 
compensation laws.  City shall have the right to offset against the amount of any fees due 
to Contractor under this Contract any amount due to City from Contractor as a result of its 
failure to promptly pay to City any reimbursement or indemnification arising under this 
Section. 

18. ASSIGNMENT:  Contractor shall not assign or transfer any interest in this Contract or any 
part thereof, whether by assignment or novation, without City’s prior written consent. Any 
purported assignment without written consent shall be null and void; and Contractor shall 
hold harmless, defend and indemnify City and its officers, officials, employees, agents and 
representatives with respect to any claim, demand or action arising from any unauthorized 
assignment. 

19. GOVERNING LAW AND VENUE:  Should either party to this Contract bring legal action 
against the other, the validity, interpretation, and performance of this Contract shall be 
controlled by and construed under the laws of the State, excluding California’s choice of 
law rules.  Venue for any such action relating to this Contract shall be in the Los Angeles 
County Superior Court. 

20. ATTORNEYS’ FEES:  If any legal action or other proceeding, including action for 
declaratory relief, is brought for the enforcement of this Contract or because of an alleged 
dispute, breach, default or misrepresentation in connection with this Contract, the 
prevailing party shall be entitled to recover all attorneys’ fees, experts’ fees, and other costs 
actually incurred in connection with such litigation or other proceeding, in addition to any 
other relief to which the party may be entitled. 

21. NOTICES:  Except as otherwise required by law, any notice, request, direction, demand, 
payment, consent, waiver, approval or other communication required or permitted to be 
given hereunder to City shall not be effective unless it is given in writing and shall be 



 -12-  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

delivered (a) in person or (b) by certified mail, postage prepaid, and addressed to City at 
the address stated below, or at such other address as City may hereafter notify Contractor 
in writing as aforementioned: 

To CITY: 

City of Artesia 
Adrian Fajardo, Management Analyst 
18747 Clarkdale Avenue 
Artesia, California, 90701 
Telephone number: (562) 865-6262 

To CONTRACTOR: 

Kilter Home Services, Inc.  
381 West Grove Ave 
Orange, CA 92865 
Attention: James Stewart 
 
If sent by mail, any notice, tender, demand, delivery or other communication shall be 
deemed effective three business days after it has been deposited in the United States mail.  
For purposes of communicating these time frames, weekends and federal, State, religious, 
County of Los Angeles or City holidays shall be excluded.  No communication via 
facsimile or electronic mail shall be effective to give any such notice or other 
communication hereunder. 

22. EXHIBITS:  All Exhibits constitute a part of this Contract and are incorporated into this 
Contract by this reference.  If any inconsistency exists or arises between a provision of this 
Contract and a provision of any exhibit, or between a provision of this Contract and a 
provision of Contractor’s proposal, the provisions of this Contract shall control. 

23. ENTIRE AGREEMENT:  This Contract, including any other documents incorporated 
herein by reference, represents the entire integrated agreement between City and 
Contractor and supersedes all prior or contemporaneous negotiations, representations, 
agreements, understandings and statements, written or oral.  This Contract may only be 
modified or amended, or provisions or breach may be waived, by written agreement signed 
by both Parties.  The provision of this Contract shall govern over any inconsistent 
provisions contained in any Exhibit. 

24. NON-WAIVER OF TERMS, RIGHTS AND REMEDIES:  Waiver by either party of any 
one or more of the conditions of performance under this Contract shall not be a waiver of 
any other condition of performance under this Contract.  In no event shall the making by 
City of any payment to Contractor constitute or be construed as a waiver by City of any 
breach of covenant, or any default which may then exist on the part of Contractor, and the 
making of any such payment by City shall in no way impair or prejudice any right or 
remedy available to City with regard to such breach or default. 



 -13-  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

25. SEVERABILITY:  Whenever possible, each provision of this Contract shall be interpreted 
in such a manner as to be valid under applicable law.  If any term or portion of this Contract 
is determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid, void, illegal, or 
unenforceable, the remaining provisions of this Contract shall nevertheless continue in full 
force and effect and shall in no way be affected, impaired or invalidated. 

 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties hereto have caused these present to be duly executed with 
all the formalities required by law on the respective dates set forth opposite their signatures. 

CITY OF ARTESIA, 
a California municipal corporation 
 
 
 
________________________________ 
Abel Avalos, City Manager 

ATTEST: 
 
 
____________________________________ 
Jennifer Alderete, City Clerk 

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
____________________________________ 
HongDao Nguyen, City Attorney 

KILTER TERMITE HOME SERVICES 
a California corporation 
 
 
 
__________________________________ 
Greg McKendall, President 
 
 
 
 __________________________________ 
Gregg McKendall, Secretary 
 
 

 



 

 A -1  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

Exhibit A 

SCOPE OF WORK (attached)



Wood Repair Proposal
381 West Grove, Orange, CA 92865
License #: PR2272

Wood Repair Proposal
Proposal valid until May. 18th, 2025

Prepared For

Adrain Fajardo
Snack Bar 18750 Clarkdale Ave, Artesia, CA 90701

Prepared By

Kilter Termite and Pest Control
James Stewart
Date and Time: 2/18/2025, 09:15:32 AM

About Kilter Termite and Pest Control
Kilter Termite & Pest Control has been trusted to solve Southern CA homeowner's termite, rodent and pest control problems for over 
30 years. Our top rated Stay in Your Home termite treatments, Master level wood repair and replacement teams, rodent proofing 
and insulation services are all guaranteed by our 2 year "No Problem" warranty. Our in-office teams are well trained, long time staff 
that focus on solving our customer's pest problems in the most effective, long term way possible.

Kilter Termite & Pest Control = Problem Solved!

Sheathing

-uestionsQ Call us at (800) 454-58-3 7 |cstomerservi|eu@iltertermitek|om 1 of 5

tel:8004545837


Sheathing is the board directly below the roof and above the rafter tails. Our Service includes: 
1. Removing the damaged Sheathing. 
2. ?nstalling a new wood member. 
3. Caulking all seams. 
I. Priming new board prior to installation. 

Fascia
 
Fascia is the board installed to the face of the roof rafters and our service includes: 

1. Removing the damaged fascia. 
2. ?nstalling a new dried spruce fascia. 
3. Stucco repair around replaced fascia if necessary 
I. Caulk all seams. 
5. Priming new board prior to installation. 

 

Siding
Siding is an e4terior finish of a building it can come in many forms, including sheet goods and liner material our service includes: 

1. Removing the damaged siding. 
2. ?nstalling a new wood member. 
3. Caulk all seams. 
I. Repairing stucco, at the replaced siding, if necessary. 
5. Priming new board prior to installation. 

Rafter tail cutbacks
Our tecbnicians will cut back e4isting raftertails behind the roof line, patch the end if necessary and prime the e4posed wood. This 
can also be done in preperation for a new Fascia installation. 

Pricing

.ood WeRpir ProRospl anitiplI/ne-Time We|crrinO

SgeptginO

SgeptginO h 2 x T&6 xI,988.00 -

Gps|ip

SinOle StorF Gps|ip h 2 4-y0
Priced per Linear foot 

x1I,000.00 -

42 x-8 Gps|ip x10,080.00 -

SidinO

Ty-yy SidinO x2,705.00 -

Wp1ter tpil |ctbp|@s

-uestionsQ Call us at (800) 454-58-3 7 |cstomerservi|eu@iltertermitek|om 2 of 5

tel:8004545837


h2 4-yh Wp1ertpil Cctbp|@ x7,980.00 -

Totpl x39,753.00

Service Agreement
Due to the changes in wood dimensions over the years, wood installed on your home may not be an e4act match to the e4isting 
materials.  

Sheathing

Fascia

Siding

Rafter tail cutbacks

Agreement Terms: Wood Replacement
h fepr .ood WeRlp|ement .prrpntF
Warranty for all wood replacement completed by Kilter Termite and Pest Control for material and workmanship.  

PpintinO
Kilter primes all e4terior material. We offer painting to replaced members prior to installation at an additional fee $listed below in 
your agreement(. We recommend that you have a professional painting contractor complete painting for larger or multiple areas .
?f you choose to add painting: Rlepse Rrovide |olor mpt|ged Rpint pt tge stprt o1 tge servi|e Yitg Kilterk
We paint the wood to be replaced prior to installation. ?f the paint is not available we will install the material primed and remove the 
painting fee.

6ctter Welepse
Due to the age and types of gutters Kilter assumes no responsibility for gutters that need to be disturbed during repairs. Kilter will 
take the utmost care in removal and replacement of gutters removed during repairs. )ou may need to hire a gutter company to 
adjust/install gutters after our repairs.

Woo1 Welepse
The roof surface may need to be disturbed during some repairs, Although the utmost care will be taken, damage to the roof shingles, 
tile, metal or other roof coverings will/may occur. Kilter Termite and Pest Control will not assume liability or responsibility for such 
damage or conseYuential damage that will/may occur. Kilter Yill reRlp|e pnF tiles Ye brp@e Yitg tge reRlp|ement tile(s) i1 
Rrovided pt tge RroRertF pt tge time o1 servi|ek 

.ood wimensions
Due to the changes in wood dimensions over the years, wood installed on your home may not be an e4act match to the e4isting 
materials. Kilter will replace the e4isting boards with the current eYuivalent material. ?f you would like an e4act match, we can have 
the new wood milled to match e4isting material, there will be an additional milling fee.

Ddditionpl wpmpOes

-uestionsQ Call us at (800) 454-58-3 7 |cstomerservi|eu@iltertermitek|om 3 of 5

tel:8004545837


?f additional damages are discovered during the replacement the technician will show you the additional damages and will need to 
get you approval for the additional repairs prior to replacement.

Sheathing

Fascia

Siding

Rafter tail cutbacks

Agreement Terms: All Agreements
Dctompti| AillinO
?f ? have elected to be billed by Credit Card ot ACq transfer , ? agree that ? will automatically be biled at the completion of each service 
under thhis agreement. ? understand that i am not bound to pay bills electronically and may elect at any time to make payments 
and the completion of service under this agreemtent by alternative mean by infoing Kilter staff prior to completion of the serice
Boti|e /1 Cpn|ellption 
)ou may cancel this transaction, without penalty or obligation, within three business days of the date of agreement. ?f you cancel, 
any payments made by you under this contract or sale, and any negotiable instrument e4ecuted by you will be returned to you within 
30 business days following receipt by the seller of your cancellation notice, and any security interest arising out of the transaction 
will be cancelled. ?f you cancel, you must make available to the seller at your residence in substantially as good condition as when 
received, any goods delivered to you under this contract or sale, or you may, if you wish, comply with the instructions of the seller 
regarding the return shipment of the goods at the sellerHs e4pense and risk. ?f you do make the goods available to the seller and the 
seller does not pick them up within 20 days of the date of your notice of cancellation, you may retain or dispose of the goods without 
any further obligation. ?f you fail to make the goods available to the seller, or if you agree to return the goods to the seller and fail 
to do so, then you remain liable for performance of all obligations under the contract. To cancel this transaction, call, email, mail or 
deliver a signed and dated copy of this cancellation notice or any other written notice to 381 W Grove Ave. Orange CA 92865 or 
any Kilter location 
 
 
CgpnOe an NpY 
Kilter performs its services in accordance with the reYuirements of federal, state, and local law. ?n event of change in e4isting law as 
it pertains to the services promised herein, Kilter reserves the right to revise the annual service charge or terminate this Agreement. 
 
Lntire DOreement 
The terms and conditions listed in this agreement constitute the entire agreement between the parties and no other representations 
or statements will be binding upon the parties. All agreements are subject to approval by Kilter management. 
 
Bon-RpFmentE we1pclt 
?n case of non-payment or default by Purchaser, Kilter has the right to terminate this ’stimate and work AuthoriEation Agreement 
and reasonable attorneyHs fee and costs of collection shall be paid by purchaser, whether suit is filed or not. ?n addition, interest at 
the highest legal rate allowed will be assessed for the period of delinYuency. 
 
Cgemi|pl an1ormption 
zirtually all pesticides have some odor that may be present for a short time after application. ?f you, a member of your family, a 
member of your staff, tenant or guest believes that you or they may have sensitivity to chemicals or chemical odor, we recommend 
that you not have an initial or a subseYuent service performed at your premises without consulting with a physician. At your reYuest, 
we will provide information about the products to be used in the areas to be treated. Purchaser releases Kilter Termite and Pest 
Control., its successors and/or assigns from any and all liability for sickness or injury caused by chemical odor or sensitivity. 

-uestionsQ Call us at (800) 454-58-3 7 |cstomerservi|eu@iltertermitek|om I of 5

tel:8004545837


 
.prninO!! Pesticides can be harmful. Keep children and pets away from pesticide applications until dry, dissipated, or aerated. For 
more information, please contact Kilter Termite and Pest Control PR2272 at 1-800-I5I-5831 

Pending Acceptance From

Adrain Fajardo
?P Address: Pending
Date and Time: Pending

Prepared By

James Stewart

Kilter Termite and Pest Control
James Stewart
Date and Time: 2/18/2025, 09:15:32 AM

-uestionsQ Call us at (800) 454-58-3 7 |cstomerservi|eu@iltertermitek|om 5 of 5

tel:8004545837


 

 B -1  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

Exhibit B 

FEE SCHEDULE 

Payment will become due at the completion of the project and the final walk thru has 
been approved. 
 
Service Cost 
Sheathing 2 x 6 T&G $4,988.00 
Single Story Fascia 2 x 4-10 $14,000.00 
4x 6-8 Fascia $10,080.00 
T1-11 Siding $2,705.00 
2x 4-12 Rafertail Cutback $7,980.00 
Total $39,753.00 



 

 C -1  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

Exhibit C 

CITY INSURANCE REQUIREMENTS 

A. Minimum Scope and Limits of Insurance.  Contractor shall procure and at all times 
during the term of this Contract carry, maintain, and keep in full force and effect, insurance as 
follows: 

1) Commercial General Liability Insurance with a minimum limit of 
Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) per occurrence for bodily injury, personal injury 
and property damage and a general aggregate limit of Five Million Dollars 
($5,000,000) per project or location.  If Contractor is a limited liability company, 
the commercial general liability coverage shall be amended so that Contractor and 
its managers, affiliates, employees, agents and other persons necessary or incidental 
to its operation are insureds. 

2) Automobile Liability Insurance for any owned, non-owned or hired 
vehicle used in connection with the performance of this Contract with a combined 
single limit of Two Million Dollars ($2,000,000) per accident for bodily injury and 
property damage.  If Contractor does not use any owned, non-owned or hired 
vehicles in the performance of the Work under this Contract, Contractor shall obtain 
a non-owned auto endorsement to the Commercial General Liability policy 
required under subparagraph A.1) of this Exhibit C. 

3) Workers’ Compensation Insurance as required by the State of 
California and Employer’s Liability Insurance with a minimum limit of One 
Million Dollars ($1,000,000) per accident for bodily injury or disease.  If Contractor 
has no employees while performing the Work under this Contract, workers’ 
compensation policy is not required, but Contractor shall execute a declaration that 
it has no employees. 

B. Acceptability of Insurers.  The insurance policies required under this Exhibit C 
shall be issued by an insurer admitted to write insurance in the State of California with a rating of 
A:VII or better in the latest edition of the A.M. Best Insurance Rating Guide.  Self insurance shall 
not be considered to comply with the insurance requirements under Section 6 of the Contract. 

C. Additional Insured.  The commercial general and automobile liability policies shall 
contain an endorsement naming City, its officers, employees, agents and volunteers as additional 
insureds. 

D. Primary and Non-Contributing.  The insurance policies required under this Contract 
shall apply on a primary non-contributing basis in relation to any other insurance or self-insurance 
available to City.  Any insurance or self-insurance maintained by City, its officers, employees, 
agents or volunteers, shall be in excess of Contractor’s insurance and shall not contribute with it. 

E. Contractor’s Waiver of Subrogation.  The insurance policies required under this 
Contract shall not prohibit Contractor and Contractor’s employees, agents or subcontractors from 



 

 C -2  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

waiving the right of subrogation prior to a loss.  Contractor hereby waives all rights of subrogation 
against City. 

F. Deductibles and Self-Insured Retentions.  Any deductibles or self-insured 
retentions must be declared to and approved by City.  At City’s option, Contractor shall either 
reduce or eliminate the deductibles or self-insured retentions with respect to City, or Contractor 
shall procure a bond guaranteeing payment of losses and expenses. 

G. Cancellations or Modifications to Coverage.  Contractor shall not cancel, reduce or 
otherwise modify the insurance policies required by this Contract during the term of this Contract.  
The commercial general and automobile liability policies required under this Contract shall be 
endorsed to state that should the issuing insurer cancel the policy before the expiration date, the 
issuing insurer will endeavor to mail 30 days’ prior written notice to City.  If any insurance policy 
required under Contract is canceled or reduced in coverage or limits, Contractor shall, within two 
business days of notice from the insurer, phone, fax or notify City via certified mail, return receipt 
requested, of the cancellation of or changes to the policy. 

H. City Remedy for Noncompliance.  If Contractor does not maintain the policies of 
insurance required under this Contract in full force and effect during the term of this Contract, or 
in the event any of Contractor’s policies do not comply with the requirements under this Exhibit 
C, City may either immediately terminate this Contract or, if insurance is available at a reasonable 
cost, City may, but has no duty to, take out the necessary insurance and pay, at Contractor’s 
expense, the premium thereon.  Contractor shall promptly reimburse City for any premium paid 
by City or City may withhold amounts sufficient to pay the premiums from payments due to 
Contractor. 

I. Evidence of Insurance.  Prior to the performance of the Work under this Contract, 
Contractor shall furnish City’s Risk Manager with a certificate or certificates of insurance and all 
original endorsements evidencing and effecting the coverages required under this Contract.  The 
endorsements are subject to City’s approval.  Contractor may provide complete, certified copies 
of all required insurance policies to City.  Contractor shall maintain current endorsements on file 
with City’s Risk Manager.  Contractor shall provide proof to City’s Risk Manager that insurance 
policies expiring during the term of this Contract have been renewed or replaced with other policies 
providing at least the same coverage.  Contractor shall furnish such proof at least two weeks prior 
to the expiration of the coverages. 

J. Indemnity Requirements not Limiting.  Procurement of insurance by Contractor 
shall not be construed as a limitation of Contractor’s liability or as full performance of Contractor’s 
duty to indemnify City under Section 10 of this Contract. 

K. Subcontractor Insurance Requirements.  Contractor shall require each of its 
subcontractors that perform Work under this Contract to maintain insurance coverage that meets 
all of the requirements of this Exhibit C. 

 



 

 D -1  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

Exhibit D 

LABOR CODE AND PREVAILING WAGE REQUIREMENTS 

1. Contractor acknowledges that the Project, as defined in this Contract between 
Contractor and the City, to which this Terms for Compliance with California Labor Law 
Requirements is incorporated by reference, is a “public work” as defined in Division 2, Part 7, 
Chapter 1 (commencing with Section 1720) of the California Labor Code (“Chapter 1”).  Further, 
Contractor acknowledges that this Contract is subject to (a) Chapter 1, including without limitation 
Labor Code Section 1771 and (b) the rules and regulations established by the Director of Industrial 
Relations (“DIR”) implementing such statutes.  Contractor shall perform all Work on the Project 
as a public work.  Contractor shall comply with and be bound by all the terms, rules and regulations 
described in 1(a) and 1(b) as though set forth in full herein. 

2. California law requires the inclusion of specific Labor Code provisions in certain 
contracts.  The inclusion of such specific provisions below, whether or not required by California 
law, does not alter the meaning or scope of Section 1 of this Exhibit D. 

3. Pursuant to Labor Code Section 1773.2, copies of the prevailing rate of per diem 
wages for each craft, classification, or type of worker needed to perform the Contract are on file 
at City Hall and will be made available to any interested party on request.  Contractor 
acknowledges receipt of a copy of the DIR determination of such prevailing rate of per diem 
wages, and Contractor shall post such rates at each job site covered by this Contract. 

4. The Project is subject to compliance monitoring and enforcement by the DIR.  
Contractor shall post job site notices, as prescribed by regulation. 

5. Contractor shall comply with and be bound by the provisions of Labor Code 
Sections 1774 and 1775 concerning the payment of prevailing rates of wages to workers and the 
penalties for failure to pay prevailing wages.  Contractor shall, as a penalty to the City, forfeit two 
hundred dollars ($200) for each calendar day, or portion thereof, for each worker paid less than 
the prevailing rates as determined by the DIR for the work or craft in which the worker is employed 
for any public work done pursuant to this Contract by Contractor or by any subcontractor. 

6. Contractor shall comply with and be bound by the provisions of Labor Code Section 
1776, which requires Contractor and each subcontractor to: keep accurate payroll records and 
verify such records in writing under penalty of perjury, as specified in Section 1776; certify and 
make such payroll records available for inspection as provided by Section 1776; and inform the 
City of the location of the records. 

7. Contractor shall comply with and be bound by the provisions of Labor Code 
Sections 1777.5, 1777.6 and 1777.7 and California Administrative Code Title 8, Section 200 et 
seq. concerning the employment of apprentices on public works projects.  Contractor shall be 
responsible for compliance with these aforementioned sections for all apprenticeable occupations.  
Prior to commencing Work under this Contract, Contractor shall provide City with a copy of the 
information submitted to any applicable apprenticeship program.  Within sixty (60) days after 
concluding work pursuant to this Contract, Contractor and each of its subcontractors shall submit 



 

 D -2  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

to the City a verified statement of the journeyman and apprentice hours performed under this 
Contract. 

8. Contractor acknowledges that eight hours labor constitutes a legal day’s work.  
Contractor shall comply with and be bound by Labor Code Section 1810.  Contractor shall comply 
with and be bound by the provisions of Labor Code Section 1813 concerning penalties for workers 
who work excess hours.  Contractor shall, as a penalty to the City, forfeit twenty-five dollars ($25) 
for each worker employed in the performance of this Contract by Contractor or by any 
subcontractor for each calendar day during which such worker is required or permitted to work 
more than eight hours in any one calendar day and 40 hours in any one calendar week in violation 
of the provisions of Division 2, Part 7, Chapter 1, Article 3 of the Labor Code.  Pursuant to Labor 
Code Section 1815, work performed by employees of Contractor in excess of eight hours per day, 
and 40 hours during any one week shall be permitted upon public work upon compensation for all 
hours worked in excess of eight hours per day at not less than one and one-half times the basic rate 
of pay. 

9. Labor Code Sections 1860 and 3700 provide that every employer will be required 
to secure the payment of compensation to its employees.  In accordance with the provisions of 
California Labor Code Section 1861, Contractor hereby certifies as follows: 

“I am aware of the provisions of Section 3700 of the Labor Code which require every 
employer to be insured against liability for workers’ compensation or to undertake self-
insurance in accordance with the provisions of that code, and I will comply with such 
provisions before commencing the performance of the work of this contract.” 

10. For every subcontractor who will perform work on the Project, Contractor shall be 
responsible for such subcontractor’s compliance with Chapter 1 and Labor Code Sections 1860 
and 3700, and Contractor shall include in the written contract between it and each subcontractor a 
copy of those statutory provisions and a requirement that each subcontractor shall comply with 
those statutory provisions.  Contractor shall be required to take all actions necessary to enforce 
such contractual provisions and ensure subcontractor’s compliance, including without limitation, 
conducting a periodic review of the certified payroll records of the subcontractor and upon 
becoming aware of the failure of the subcontractor to pay his or her workers the specified 
prevailing rate of wages.  Contractor shall diligently take corrective action to halt or rectify any 
failure. 

11. Pursuant to Labor Code sections 1725.5 and 1771.1, the Contractor and its 
subcontractors must be registered with the DIR prior to the execution of a contract to perform 
public works.  By entering into this Contract, Contractor represents that it is aware of the 
registration requirement and is currently registered with the DIR.  Contractor shall maintain a 
current registration for the duration of the project.  Contractor shall further include the 
requirements of Labor Code sections 1725.5 and 1771.1 in any subcontract and ensure that all 
subcontractors are registered at the time this Contract is entered into and maintain registration for 
the duration of the project.  Notwithstanding the foregoing, the contractor registration requirements 
mandated by Labor Code Sections 1725.5 and 1771.1 shall not apply to work performed on a 
public works project that is exempt pursuant to the small project exemption specified in Labor 
Code Sections 1725.5 and 1771.1. 



 

 D -3  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

12. To the maximum extent permitted by law, Contractor shall indemnify, hold 
harmless and defend (at Contractor’s expense with counsel reasonably acceptable to City) City, its 
officials, officers, employees, agents and independent contractors serving in the role of City 
officials, and volunteers from and against any demand or claim for damages, compensation, fines, 
penalties or other amounts arising out of or incidental to any acts or omissions listed above by any 
person or entity (including Contractor, its subcontractors, and each of their officials, officers, 
employees and agents) in connection with any work undertaken or in connection with this 
Contract, including without limitation the payment of all consequential damages, attorneys’ fees, 
and other related costs and expenses.  All duties of Contractor under this Section shall survive 
expiration or termination of this Contract.



 

 E-1  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

Exhibit E 

Bond No. _____________ 

PAYMENT BOND 
(LABOR AND MATERIALS) 

KNOW ALL PERSONS BY THESE PRESENTS that: 

WHEREAS the City of Artesia (“Public Agency”), State of California, has awarded to 
___________________ (“Principal”) a contract (the “Contract”) to _______________________. 

WHEREAS, under the terms of the Contract, the Principal is required before entering upon the 
performance of the work, to file a good and sufficient payment bond with the Public Agency to 
secure the claims to which reference is made in Title 3 (commencing with Section 9000) of Part 6 
of Division 4 of the Civil Code. 

NOW, THEREFORE, we, the undersigned Principal, and   
  
  

(Name and address of Surety) 

(“Surety”) a duly admitted surety insurer under the laws of the State of California, as Surety, are 
held and firmly bound unto the Public Agency and all contractors, subcontractors, laborers, 
material suppliers, and other persons employed in the performance of the Contract and referred to 
in Title 3 (commencing with Section 9000) of Part 6 of Division 4 of the Civil Code in the penal 
sum of ___________________ ($___________), for materials furnished or labor thereon of any 
kind, or for amounts due under the Unemployment Insurance Act with respect to this work or 
labor, that the Surety will pay the same in an amount not exceeding the amount hereinabove set 
forth, and also in case suit is brought upon this bond, will pay, in addition to the face amount 
thereof, costs and reasonable expenses and fees, including reasonable attorneys’ fees, incurred by 
Public Agency in successfully enforcing this obligation, to be awarded and fixed by the court, and 
to be taxed as costs and to be included in the judgment therein rendered. 

It is hereby expressly stipulated and agreed that this Bond shall inure to the benefit of any and all 
persons, companies, and corporations entitled to file claims under Title 3 (commencing with 
Section 9000) of Part 6 of Division 4 of the Civil Code, so as to give a right of action to them or 
their assigns in any suit brought upon this Bond. 

Upon expiration of the time within which the California Labor Commissioner may serve a civil 
wage and penalty assessment against the principal, any of its subcontractors, or both the principal 
and its subcontractors pursuant to Labor Code Section 1741, and upon expiration of the time within 
which a joint labor management committee may commence an action against the principal, any of 
its subcontractors, or both the principal and its subcontractors pursuant to Labor Code Section 
1771.2, if the condition of this Bond be fully performed, then this obligation shall become null and 
void, otherwise it shall be and remain in full force and effect. 



 

 E-2  

A0444-0001\2204777v1.doc 

The Surety hereby stipulates and agrees that no change, extension of time, alteration, or addition 
to the terms of the Contract or the specifications accompanying the same shall in any manner affect 
its obligations on this Bond, and it does hereby waive notice of any such change, extension, 
alteration, or addition. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, two identical counterparts of this instrument, each of which shall for 
all purposes be deemed an original hereof, have been duly executed by Principal and Surety, on 
the date set forth below, the name of each corporate party being hereto affixed and these presents 
duly signed by its undersigned representative(s) pursuant to authority of its governing body. 

Dated:       

“Principal” 
 
   
   
 
 
By:    
 Its:    

“Surety” 
 
   
   
 
 
By:    
 Its:    

  

  

(Seal) (Seal) 

  

  

  

Note: This Bond must be executed in duplicate and dated, all signatures must be notarized, and 
evidence of the authority of any person signing as attorney-in-fact must be attached.  IF 
CONTRACTOR IS A PARTNERSHIP, ALL PARTNERS MUST EXECUTE BOND.  DATE OF 
BOND MUST NOT BE PRIOR TO DATE OF CONTRACT.  Surety companies executing Bonds 
must appear on the Treasury Department’s most current list (Circular 570 as amended) and be 
authorized to transact business in the State where the project is located. 



Billboard

FY 2022
Actual

FY 2023
Actual

FY 2024
Budget

FY 2024
Estimate

FY 2025
Mid-Year

Budget
%▲

Budget
$▲

Staffing Summary
 No positions allocated 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 N/A 0.00

Total FTE 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 N/A 0.00

Revenues
4710 Interest Income 2,219$                  12,692$                15,000$                15,000$                 15,000$                 0% -$                        
4237 Billboard Revenues 150,000$             155,000$             150,000$             150,000$              165,000$              10% 15,000$                

Total Revenue 152,219$             167,692$             165,000$             165,000$              180,000$              9% 15,000$                

Expenses
6110 Lobbyist  $                54,000  $                28,800  $                28,800  $                             -    $                             -   N/A -$                        
6035 Contract Services  $                             -    $                 59,553 59,553$                
6155 Special Contract Services  $                    5,000  $                 18,300 
6700 Publicity  $                           -    $                           -    $                           -    $                             -   N/A -$                        
7250 Equipment Maintenance  $                 11,500 
8011 Capital Equipment  $                 79,000 
6065 Engineering/Architectural  $                   9,794  $                   1,500  $                           -    $                             -   N/A -$                        

Transfer to GF  $                           -    $             138,892  $             136,000  $               160,000  $               250,000 56% 90,000$                
Total Expenses 63,794$                169,192$             164,800$             255,500$               $               327,853 28% 72,353$                

Net surplus/(deficit) 88,425$                (1,500)$                 200$                      (90,500)$               (147,853)$             63% (57,353)$              

Ending Fund Balance 546,095$             544,595$             544,795$             454,295$              306,442$              -33% (147,853)$           

Billboard revenue is collected by the City through lease agreements of billboards in various locations. 

Fund 220

Billboard does not require General Funds Revenue for Expense Activity.

1



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT

MEETING DATE:   March 17, 2025  ITEM NO:   9I.

 
TO: Mayor and Members of the City Council

 
SUBJECT: Grant Funding Update

 

FROM: Adrian Fajardo, Management Analyst
 

REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY:
 Melissa Burke, Deputy City Manager

Abel Avalos, City Manager

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
It is recommended that the City Council receive and file this report, which provides an update on the grants
awarded to the City. 
 
BACKGROUND:
At the February 10, 2025, City Council meeting, Mayor Taj requested an update on the grants the City has received
in recent months. The City has secured funding from federal, state, and local sources to support infrastructure,
emergency preparedness, and community programs. 
 
ANALYSIS: 
The City has successfully secured multiple grants from federal, state, and local sources, providing funding for key
projects and programs. These grants help support important projects while reducing the financial burden on the
City’s General Fund.  Staff continues to pursue additional grant opportunities to fund critical projects and improve
services for residents. Below is a summary of the grants awarded, including their funding amounts and intended
uses. 

CalTrans - Climate Action & Adaptation Planning Grant - $343,036                                                             
                                                            This grant will fund the development of the City’s first Climate Action &
Adaptation Plan, which will identify strategies to reduce greenhouse gas emissions, improve climate
resilience, and enhance emergency preparedness. Staff has signed the agreement and is awaiting final
execution from CalTrans. Once the contract is fully executed, the City will initiate the procurement process to
select a consultant who will guide the plan’s development. The project's timeline will be determined in
coordination with the selected consultant. 

CalOES - Local Hazard Mitigation Plan (LHMP) Update - $156,093   
The Local Hazard Mitigation Plan (LHMP) serves as a critical framework for identifying potential natural and
human-caused hazards and developing strategies to mitigate risks, enhance resilience, and safeguard the
community. The City’s current LHMP, adopted in 2020, is set to expire later this year. This grant provides
funding to update the plan, ensuring continued compliance with state and federal requirements and
strengthening the City’s ability to prepare for and respond to disasters. A key objective of the update is to
expand mitigation strategies to include additional infrastructure projects that enhance the City’s resilience to
future hazards. Staff has received the fully executed contract and is working with CalOES to develop the



request for proposals (RFP) to procure a consultant. The consultant will conduct a comprehensive hazard
assessment and facilitate the development of updated mitigation strategies.

Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) - Citywide Sidewalk Replacement Project - $272,472 
This grant provides funding for the replacement of approximately 4,700 square feet of hazardous sidewalks at
39 locations citywide. These locations were identified through a citywide assessment. The project includes
ADA-compliant improvements, specifically upgrades to curb ramps to enhance accessibility. This project
aligns with the goals of the Community Development Block Grant (CDBG) program by improving public
infrastructure to enhance safety and accessibility for residents. Construction is expected to begin this summer
and take less than three months to complete.

California Natural Resources Act (CNRA) - Artesia Park Facilities Improvement Project - $1,200,000
This grant has funded several facility upgrades at Artesia Park, including roof and flooring replacements at
the Community Center and improvements to the Snack Bar and Baseball Fields. The design for the new
Public Service Center is ongoing and is expected to take approximately three months to reach 90%
completion and develop construction documents. The next phase of the project will focus on exterior painting
of the Community Center, which is scheduled to begin in late March or early April and take approximately two
weeks to complete.

JJCPA - Youth Activities League - $300,000
Last summer, the City received $300,000 to develop a Youth Activities League, a program that provides
recreational activities, mentorship, and life skills development for youth. The City is still awaiting a contract
from the County’s Probation Department, as processing has been delayed due to staffing shortages and
departmental restructuring. While awaiting the contract, staff has engaged potential partners, including the
Sheriff's Youth Foundation, to support program development. Once the contract is finalized, staff will move
forward with program planning, hiring staff, and conducting outreach to youth participants.

Artesia Botanical Garden Project:
Overall, this project is in the design phase. An initial conceptual design was shared with the Botanical Garden
Ad-Hoc Committee and a joint Commission meeting to receive feedback from the community and
commissioners. A revised design which addresses keeping costs within budget, addressing fire safety and
utility access and placement was then shared with the Ad-Hoc Committee and the joint Commission. The
revised plans were well received and the schematic design is being presented to the City Council for approval
later this evening.  Once approved, development of the planning, specifications and engineering package will
be developed. This project has multiple grants funding its progress:

Department of Housing and Urban Development Community Project Funding (HUD-CPF) -
$3,000,000

The grant has funded staff and administration costs and consultants for environmental studies, a
topographic survey, demolition plans and assistance with developing the botanical garden design
request for proposal (RFP). It will fund the project’s construction costs going forward.

California Natural Resources Agency (CNRA) Specified Grant - $2,000,000
This grant has funded pre-construction planning, site preparation, demolition and clean up of the
project site.

LA County Regional Park and Open Space District Technical Assistance Planning (RPOSD-TAP)
Grants - $185,000 

The City allocated the funds (only available for planning and technical assistance costs) to the
Artesia Botanical Garden Project. The grant has funded environmental studies and planning and
design costs.

State Parks Department Office of Grants and Local Services (OGALS) Specified Grant - AJ Padelford
Park Expansion Project - $4,850,000



Currently, $3,283,715 of the State grant has been utilized to purchase four properties and develop the first
three of these properties into open space. The balance of the grant, $1,566,285, will pay for acquisition costs
of additional properties and development costs.

LA County RPOSD Measure A Acquisition Only Competitive Grant - $585,000
This grant is contributing toward the AJ Padelford Park Expansion Project. The City opened escrow with the
property owners of 11936 169th St., earlier this year, which was the property submitted for the grant
program. 

CAL FIRE Urban Forest Maintenance Grant - $252,780
CAL FIRE advanced $252,780 for tree maintenance to the City at the close of the grant in March 2023. The
City is in the second year of its three year required maintenance period of the 421 trees planted by the grant.

California State Parks Per Capita Grants - $88,000 Artesia Park/ $100,500 AJ Padelford Park
The City is currently wrapping up two grants for improvements at Artesia Park and AJ Padelford Park. At
Artesia Park the completed improvements include the mini pitch and related electrical work. At AJ Padelford
Park the improvements included removing the handball wall, purchasing outdoor exercise equipment and
replacing playground components, security upgrades and resurfacing the basketball court. Resurfacing the
court will occur by the end of  March, weather permitting, and following the resurfacing, the outdoor exercise
equipment will be installed. 

Federal Road Grant (Congresswoman Steel) - $6,000,000
The City was notified in the fall that our request for funding to complete road rehabilitation in the amount of
$6,000,000 was allocated in the federal budget. The City has submitted the application for the funds to the
California Department of Transportation and is awaiting a grant agreement for execution. 

RECOMMENDED COUNCIL ACTION:
It is recommended that the City Council receive and file this report, which provides an update on the grants
awarded to the City. 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT

MEETING DATE:   March 17, 2025  ITEM NO:   9J.

 
TO: Mayor and Members of the City Council

 
SUBJECT: Amendment No. 1 to Professional Service Agreement for Professional Planning Services

With Willdan
 

FROM: Carmen Zambrano, Management Analyst
 

REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY:
  Melissa Burke, Deputy City Manager  

Jamie Murguia, Finance Manager  
HongDao Nguyen, City Attorney  
Abel Avalos, City Manager 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends that the City Council, by motion: 

1. Approve, and authorize the City Manager to execute on their behalf, Amendment No. 1 to the Professional
Services Agreement with Willdan Engineering to complete the Housing Element and Mixed-Use Overlay
projects and provide staff augmentation services, for a not-to-exceed amount of $450,000.

2. Approve a budget amendment to the Housing Authority Fund.

BACKGROUND: 
On October 14, 2024 the City Council approved an agreement with Willdan Engineering for $215,000 to provide 
planning services related to the Housing Element and Mixed-Use Overlay Project from July 1, 2023 through June 
30, 2025. The consultant has been assisting with finalizing the Sites Inventory, reviewing and responding to edits 
from City staff and the State, and preparing necessary documents for Planning Commission and City Council 
presentations. 
 
ANALYSIS: 
In order to meet California Department of Housing and Community Development (HCD) timelines for the 
completion of the Housing Element, the City requested additional support from Willdan on the project. A portion of 
the contract increase is the result of bringing a second planner on board to assist the City with the Housing 
Element. This increase can be funded through the City's Housing Authority following approval of a budget 
amendment for this fund.
 
In addition, following the vacancy of the Community Development Director, an Interim Planning Manager was 
brought on to temporarily run the department until positions can be filled. As a result, the Agreement has been 
amended to include staff augmentation services in the scope of work to provide flexibility in meeting the City’s 
planning needs during the extended term of the agreement. 
 
The proposed amendment extends the consultant’s contract to March 31, 2026, adding staff augmentation services 
to support the Planning Department's workload and ensure compliance with state planning requirements. The 
amendment also increases the contract amount to $450,000 to cover the extended term and expanded scope of 
work. The consultant, under the supervision of the City Manager, will provide both remote and in-person support as 
needed. 
 



Key tasks include finalizing the Mixed-Use Overlay Ordinance and completing the Housing Element, ensuring 
consistency between the two. The Amendment calls for the Mixed-Use Overlay Project to be complete by June 30, 
2025 and the Housing Element to be approved by HCD by March 31, 2026. This amendment will help the City 
meet critical HCD deadlines while providing essential temporary staffing and oversight for successful project 
completion. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
The City Council approved the the Fiscal Year 2024-25 Mid-Year Budget on February 10, 2025, which accounted 
for increased contracts costs for the Planning Department of $384,777, about $140,000 of this increase was 
budgeted to fund the staff augmentation in this Amendment No. 1. 
 
Staff is recommending the City Council approve the budget amendment to the Housing Authority Fund to provide 
the additional support brought on to complete the Housing Element. The budget amendment includes funding for 
this Agreement for $50,000 along with an additional $60,000 for other consultants assisting with the completion of 
the project. 
 

 
RECOMMENDED COUNCIL ACTION:
Staff recommends that the City Council, by motion: 

1. Approve, and authorize the City Manager to execute on their behalf, Amendment No. 1 to the Professional
Services Agreement with Willdan Engineering to complete the Housing Element and Mixed-Use Overlay
projects and provide staff augmentation services, for a not-to-exceed amount of $450,000.

2. Approve a budget amendment to the Housing Authority Fund. 

 
 

Attachments

Willdan Professional Service Agreement 10-22-24.pdf
Wildan Amendment No. 1
Housing Authority Budget Update.pdf

Amendment No. 1 includes a total not-to-exceed amount of $450,000 from July 1, 2023 through March 31, 2025. 
Costs incurred in the next fiscal year will be included in the proposed Fiscal Year 2025-26 Budget. 

https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67c89d584e7b11006b8e1b40%2FWilldan%20PSA%20HE%20and%20MUO%2010-22-24%20-%20%5BSIGNED%5D.pdf?alt=media&token=230dae4f-4ea1-4a29-9f65-2f50f17bae2e
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67c89d584e7b11006b8e1b40%2FWilldan%20PSA%20HE%20and%20MUO%2010-22-24%20-%20%5BSIGNED%5D.pdf?alt=media&token=230dae4f-4ea1-4a29-9f65-2f50f17bae2e
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67c89d584e7b11006b8e1b40%2FWilldan%20PSA%20HE%20and%20MUO%2010-22-24%20-%20%5BSIGNED%5D.pdf?alt=media&token=230dae4f-4ea1-4a29-9f65-2f50f17bae2e
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67c89d584e7b11006b8e1b40%2FWildan%20Amendment%203-6-25%20Final.pdf?alt=media&token=89df0020-2274-48bb-9007-a0cbad6913eb
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67c89d584e7b11006b8e1b40%2FWildan%20Amendment%203-6-25%20Final.pdf?alt=media&token=89df0020-2274-48bb-9007-a0cbad6913eb
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67c89d584e7b11006b8e1b40%2FWildan%20Amendment%203-6-25%20Final.pdf?alt=media&token=89df0020-2274-48bb-9007-a0cbad6913eb
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67c89d584e7b11006b8e1b40%2FMY%20Housing%20Authority.pdf?alt=media&token=2efec64d-34e6-4a63-ba22-169551f6ad60
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67c89d584e7b11006b8e1b40%2FMY%20Housing%20Authority.pdf?alt=media&token=2efec64d-34e6-4a63-ba22-169551f6ad60
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67c89d584e7b11006b8e1b40%2FMY%20Housing%20Authority.pdf?alt=media&token=2efec64d-34e6-4a63-ba22-169551f6ad60


 
-1-  

 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  
BETWEEN THE CITY OF ARTESIA AND WILLDAN ENGINEERING 

 
1. PARTIES AND DATE. 

This Agreement is made and entered into this 14TH day of OCTOBER  2024, by and 
between the City of Artesia, a municipal corporation, organized under the laws of the State of 
California ("City") and WILLDAN ENGINEERING a CALIFORNIA CORPORATION with its 
principal place of business at 13191 CROSSROADS PARKWAY NORTH, SUITE 405, 
INDUSTRY, CA, 91746-3443 ("Consultant").  City and Consultant are sometimes individually 
referred to herein as "Party" and collectively as "Parties." 

2. RECITALS. 

2.1 Consultant. 

Consultant desires to perform and assume responsibility for the provision of certain 
professional services required by the City on the terms and conditions set forth in this Agreement.  
Consultant represents that it is experienced in providing Planning Services related to Housing 
Elements and Mixed-Use Overlay projects to public clients, is licensed in the State of California, 
and is familiar with the plans of City. 

2.2 Project. 

City desires to engage Consultant to render such professional services for the Housing 
Element and Mixed-Use Overlay project ("Project") as set forth in this Agreement. 

3. TERMS. 

3.1 Scope of Services and Term. 

3.1.1 General Scope of Services.  Consultant promises and agrees to furnish to 
the City all labor, materials, tools, equipment, services, and incidental and customary work 
necessary to fully and adequately supply the professional Planning consulting services 
necessary for the Project ("Services").  The Services are more particularly described in Exhibit 
"A" attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.  All Services shall be subject to, and 
performed in accordance with, this Agreement, the exhibits attached hereto and incorporated 
herein by reference, and all applicable local, state and federal laws, rules and regulations.  

3.1.2 Term.  The term of this Agreement shall be from July 1, 2023, to June 30, 
2025, unless earlier terminated as provided herein. Consultant shall complete the Services within 
the term of this Agreement and shall meet any other established schedules and deadlines. The 
Parties may, by mutual, written consent, extend the term of this Agreement if necessary to 
complete the Services. 

3.2 Responsibilities of Consultant. 

3.2.1 Independent Contractor; Control and Payment of Subordinates.  The 
Services shall be performed by Consultant or under its supervision.  Consultant will determine the 
means, methods and details of performing the Services subject to the requirements of this 



 
-2-  

 

Agreement.  City retains Consultant on an independent contractor basis and not as an employee.  
Any personnel performing the Services on behalf of Consultant shall not be employees of City 
and shall at all times be under Consultant's exclusive direction and control.  Consultant shall pay 
all wages, salaries, and other amounts due such personnel in connection with their performance 
of Services under this Agreement and as required by law.  Consultant shall be responsible for all 
reports and obligations respecting such additional personnel, including, but not limited to: social 
security taxes, income tax withholding, unemployment insurance, disability insurance, and 
workers' compensation insurance. 

3.2.2 Schedule of Services.  Consultant shall perform the Services in a prompt 
and timely manner and in accordance with the Schedule of Services set forth in Exhibit "B" 
attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.  Consultant represents that it has the 
professional and technical personnel required to perform the Services expeditiously.  Upon 
request of City, Consultant shall provide a more detailed schedule of anticipated performance to 
meet the Schedule of Services. 

3.2.3 Conformance to Applicable Requirements.  All work prepared by 
Consultant shall be subject to the approval of City. 

3.2.4 Substitution of Key Personnel.  Consultant has represented to City that 
certain key personnel will perform and coordinate the Services under this Agreement.  Should 
one or more of such personnel become unavailable, Consultant may substitute other personnel 
of at least equal competence upon written approval of City.  In the event that City and Consultant 
cannot agree as to the substitution of key personnel, City shall be entitled to terminate this 
Agreement for cause.  The key personnel for performance of this Agreement are as follows: 
Christine Kudija, Principal Planner for the Mixed-Use Overlay and Chad Brown, Associate 
Planner for the Housing Element.  

3.2.5 City's Representative.  The City hereby designates Abel Avalos, City 
Manager, or his/her designee, to act as its representative in all matters pertaining to the 
administration and performance of this Agreement ("City's Representative").  City's 
Representative shall have the power to act on behalf of the City for review and approval of all 
products submitted by Consultant but not the authority to enlarge the Scope of Services or change 
the total compensation due to Consultant under this Agreement.  The City Manager shall be 
authorized to act on City's behalf and to execute all necessary documents which enlarge the 
Scope of Services or change the Consultant's total compensation subject to the provisions 
contained in Section 3.3 of this Agreement.  Consultant shall not accept direction or orders from 
any person other than the City Manager, City's Representative or his/her designee. 

3.2.6 Consultant's Representative.  Consultant hereby designates Salvador 
Lopez, Director of Planning, , or his/her designee, to act as its representative for the 
performance of this Agreement ("Consultant's Representative").  Consultant's Representative 
shall have full authority to represent and act on behalf of the Consultant for all purposes under 
this Agreement.  The Consultant's Representative shall supervise and direct the Services, using 
his/her best skill and attention, and shall be responsible for all means, methods, techniques, 
sequences, and procedures and for the satisfactory coordination of all portions of the Services 
under this Agreement. 

3.2.7 Coordination of Services.  Consultant agrees to work closely with City staff 
in the performance of Services and shall be available to City's staff, consultants and other staff at 



 
-3-  

 

all reasonable times. 

3.2.8 Standard of Care; Performance of Employees.  Consultant shall perform all 
Services under this Agreement in a skillful and competent manner, consistent with the standards 
generally recognized as being employed by professionals in the same discipline in the State of 
California.  Consultant represents and maintains that it is skilled in the professional calling 
necessary to perform the Services.  Consultant warrants that all employees and subconsultants 
shall have sufficient skill and experience to perform the Services assigned to them.  Consultant 
represents that it, its employees and subconsultants have all licenses, permits, qualifications and 
approvals of whatever nature that are legally required to perform the Services, and that such 
licenses and approvals shall be maintained throughout the term of this Agreement.  Consultant 
shall perform, at its own cost and expense and without reimbursement from the City, any services 
necessary to correct errors or omissions which are caused by the Consultant's failure to comply 
with the standard of care provided for herein.  Any employee of the Consultant or its sub-
consultants who is determined by the City to be uncooperative, incompetent, a threat to the 
adequate or timely completion of the Project, a threat to the safety of persons or property, or any 
employee who fails or refuses to perform the Services in a manner acceptable to the City, shall 
be promptly removed from the Project by the Consultant and shall not be re-employed to perform 
any of the Services or to work on the Project. 

3.2.9 Period of Performance. Consultant shall perform and complete all Services 
under this Agreement within the term set forth in Section 3.1.2 above (“Performance Time”). 
Consultant shall also perform the Services in strict accordance with any completion schedule or 
Project milestones described in Exhibits “A” or “B” attached hereto, or which may be separately 
agreed upon in writing by the City and Consultant (“Performance Milestones”).  Consultant agrees 
that if the Services are not completed within the aforementioned Performance Time and/or 
pursuant to any such Performance Milestones developed pursuant to provisions of this 
Agreement, it is understood, acknowledged and agreed that the City will suffer damage. 

3.2.10 Laws and Regulations; Employee/Labor Certification.  Consultant shall 
keep itself fully informed of and in compliance with all local, state and federal laws, rules and 
regulations in any manner affecting the performance of the Project or the Services, including all 
Cal/OSHA requirements, and shall give all notices required by law.  Consultant shall be liable for 
all violations of such laws and regulations in connection with the Services and this Agreement.  
All violations of such laws and regulations shall be grounds for the City to terminate the Agreement 
for cause.   

3.2.10.1 Employment Eligibility; Consultant.  Consultant certifies that it 
fully complies with all requirements and restrictions of state and federal law respecting the 
employment of undocumented aliens, including, but not limited to, the Immigration Reform and 
Control Act of 1986, as may be amended from time to time and shall require all subconsultants 
and sub-subconsultants to comply with the same.  Consultant certifies that it has not committed 
a violation of any such law within the five (5) years immediately preceding the date of execution 
of this Agreement and shall not violate any such law at any time during the term of the Agreement. 

3.2.10.2 Equal Opportunity Employment.  Consultant represents that it is 
an equal opportunity employer and it shall not discriminate against any subconsultant, employee 
or applicant for employment because of race, religion, color, national origin, handicap, ancestry, 
sex or age.  Such non-discrimination shall include, but not be limited to, all activities related to 
initial employment, upgrading, demotion, transfer, recruitment or recruitment advertising, layoff or 



 
-4-  

 

termination.  Consultant shall also comply with all relevant provisions of City's Minority Business 
Enterprise program, Affirmative Action Plan or other related programs or guidelines currently in 
effect or hereinafter enacted. 

3.2.10.3 Air Quality.  To the extent applicable, Consultant must fully 
comply with all applicable laws, rules and regulations in furnishing or using equipment and/or 
providing services, including, but not limited to, emissions limits and permitting requirements 
imposed by the South Coast Air Quality Management District (SCAQMD) and/or California Air 
Resources Board (CARB).  Consultant shall indemnify City against any fines or penalties imposed 
by SCAQMD, CARB, or any other governmental or regulatory agency for violations of applicable 
laws, rules and/or regulations by Consultant, its subconsultants, or others for whom Consultant is 
responsible under its indemnity obligations provided for in this Agreement. 

3.2.10.4 Safety.  Consultant shall execute and maintain its work so as to 
avoid injury or damage to any person or property.  In carrying out its Services, the Consultant 
shall at all times be in compliance with all applicable local, state and federal laws, rules and 
regulations, and shall exercise all necessary precautions for the safety of employees appropriate 
to the nature of the work and the conditions under which the work is to be performed. 

3.2.11 Insurance.  

3.2.11.1 Time for Compliance.  Consultant shall not commence work 
under this Agreement until it has provided evidence satisfactory to the City that it has secured all 
insurance required under this section.  In addition, Consultant shall not allow any subconsultant 
to commence work on any subcontract until it has provided evidence satisfactory to the City that 
the subconsultant has secured all insurance required under this section.  Failure to provide and 
maintain all required insurance shall be grounds for the City to terminate this Agreement for cause. 

3.2.11.2 Types of Insurance Required.  As a condition precedent to the 
effectiveness of this Agreement for work to be performed hereunder, and without limiting the 
indemnity provisions of the Agreement, the Consultant, in partial performance of its obligations 
under such Agreement, shall procure and maintain in full force and effect during the term of the 
Agreement the following policies of insurance.  If the existing policies do not meet the insurance 
requirements set forth herein, Consultant agrees to amend, supplement or endorse the policies 
to do so. 

(A) Commercial General Liability:  Commercial General Liability 
Insurance which affords coverage at least as broad as Insurance Services Office "occurrence" 
form CG 0001, or the exact equivalent, with limits of not less than $1,000,000 per occurrence and 
no less than $2,000,000 in the general aggregate.  Defense costs shall be paid in addition to the 
limits.  The policy shall contain no endorsements or provisions (1) limiting coverage for contractual 
liability; (2) excluding coverage for claims or suits by one insured against another (cross-liability); 
(3) products/completed operations liability; or (4) containing any other exclusion(s) contrary to the 
terms or purposes of this Agreement. 

(B) Automobile Liability Insurance:  Automobile Liability 
Insurance with coverage at least as broad as Insurance Services Office Form CA 0001 covering 
"Any Auto" (Symbol 1), or the exact equivalent, covering bodily injury and property damage for all 
activities with limits of not less than $1,000,000 combined limit for each occurrence.   



 
-5-  

 

(C) Workers' Compensation:  Workers' Compensation 
Insurance, as required by the State of California and Employer's Liability Insurance with a limit of 
not less than $1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury and disease. 

(D) Professional Liability (Errors & Omissions): Professional 
Liability insurance or Errors & Omissions insurance appropriate to Consultant’s profession with 
limits of not less than $1,000,000.  Covered professional services shall specifically include all 
work to be performed under the Agreement and delete any exclusions that may potentially affect 
the work to be performed (for example, any exclusions relating to lead, asbestos, pollution, 
testing, underground storage tanks, laboratory analysis, soil work, etc.).  If coverage is written on 
a claims-made basis, the retroactive date shall precede the effective date of the initial Agreement 
and continuous coverage will be maintained or an extended reporting period will be exercised for 
a period of at least five (5) years from termination or expiration of this Agreement.  

3.2.11.3 Insurance Endorsements.  Required insurance policies shall 
contain the following provisions, or Consultant shall provide endorsements on forms approved by 
the City to add the following provisions to the insurance policies: 

(A) Commercial General Liability: (1) Additional Insured:  The 
City, its officials, officers, employees, agents, and volunteers shall be additional insureds with 
regard to liability and defense of suits or claims arising out of the performance of the Agreement.  
Additional Insured Endorsements shall not (1) be restricted to "ongoing operations"; (2) exclude 
"contractual liability"; (3) restrict coverage to "sole" liability of Consultant; or (4) contain any other 
exclusions contrary to the terms or purposes of this Agreement.  For all policies of Commercial 
General Liability insurance, Consultant shall provide endorsements in the form of ISO CG 20 10 
10 01 and 20 37 10 01 (or endorsements providing the exact same coverage) to effectuate this 
requirement. (2) Cancellation:  Required insurance policies shall not be canceled, or the coverage 
reduced until a thirty (30) day written notice of cancellation has been served upon the City except 
ten (10) days shall be allowed for non-payment of premium. 

(B) Automobile Liability.  (1) Cancellation:  Required insurance 
policies shall not be canceled, or the coverage reduced until a thirty (30) day written notice of 
cancellation has been served upon the City except ten (10) days shall be allowed for non-payment 
of premium.  

(C) Professional Liability (Errors & Omissions): (1) Cancellation:  
Required insurance policies shall not be canceled or the coverage reduced until a thirty (30) day 
written notice of cancellation has been served upon the City except ten (10) days shall be allowed 
for non-payment of premium.  (2) Contractual Liability Exclusion Deleted:  This insurance shall 
include contractual liability applicable to this Agreement.  The policy must “pay on behalf of” the 
insured and include a provision establishing the insurer’s duty to defend. 

(D) Workers' Compensation: (1) Cancellation:  Required 
insurance policies shall not be canceled, or the coverage reduced until a thirty (30) day written 
notice of cancellation has been served upon the City except ten (10) days shall be allowed for 
non-payment of premium.  (2) Waiver of Subrogation:  A waiver of subrogation stating that the 
insurer waives all rights of subrogation against the City, its officials, officers, employees, agents, 
and volunteers. 



 
-6-  

 

3.2.11.4 Primary and Non-Contributing Insurance.  All policies of 
Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability insurance shall be primary and any other 
insurance, deductible, or self-insurance maintained by the City, its officials, officers, employees, 
agents, or volunteers shall not contribute with this primary insurance.  Policies shall contain or be 
endorsed to contain such provisions. 

3.2.11.5 Waiver of Subrogation.  All required insurance coverages, 
except for the professional liability coverage, shall contain or be endorsed to waiver of subrogation 
in favor of the City, its officials, officers, employees, agents, and volunteers or shall specifically 
allow Consultant or others providing insurance evidence in compliance with these specifications 
to waive their right of recovery prior to a loss. Consultant hereby waives its own right of recovery 
against City and shall require similar written express waivers and insurance clauses from each of 
its subconsultants. 

3.2.11.6 Deductibles and Self-Insured Retentions.  Any deductible or self-
insured retention must be approved in writing by the City and shall protect the City, its officials, 
officers, employees, agents, and volunteers in the same manner and to the same extent as they 
would have been protected had the policy or policies not contained a deductible or self-insured 
retention. 

3.2.11.7 Evidence of Insurance.  The Consultant, concurrently with the 
execution of the Agreement, and as a condition precedent to the effectiveness thereof, shall 
deliver either certified copies of the required policies, or original certificates on forms approved by 
the City, together with all endorsements affecting each policy.  Required insurance policies shall 
not be in compliance if they include any limiting provision or endorsement that has not been 
submitted to the City for approval.  The certificates and endorsements for each insurance policy 
shall be signed by a person authorized by that insurer to bind coverage on its behalf.  At least 
fifteen (15 days) prior to the expiration of any such policy, evidence of insurance showing that 
such insurance coverage has been renewed or extended shall be filed with the City.  If such 
coverage is cancelled or reduced and not replaced immediately so as to avoid a lapse in the 
required coverage, Consultant shall, within ten (10) days after receipt of written notice of such 
cancellation or reduction of coverage, file with the City evidence of insurance showing that the 
required insurance has been reinstated or has been provided through another insurance company 
or companies. 

3.2.11.8 Acceptability of Insurers.  Each such policy shall be from a 
company or companies with a current A.M. Best's rating of no less than A:VII and authorized to 
transact business of insurance in the State of California, or otherwise allowed to place insurance 
through surplus line brokers under applicable provisions of the California Insurance Code or any 
federal law. 

3.2.11.9 Enforcement of Agreement Provisions (non estoppel).  
Consultant acknowledges and agrees that actual or alleged failure on the part of the City to inform 
Consultant of non-compliance with any requirement imposes no additional obligation on the City 
nor does it waive any rights hereunder. 

3.2.11.10 Requirements Not Limiting.  Requirement of specific coverage 
or minimum limits contained in this Section are not intended as a limitation on coverage, limits, or 
other requirement, or a waiver of any coverage normally provided by any insurance. 



 
-7-  

 

3.2.11.11 Additional Insurance Provisions 

(A) The foregoing requirements as to the types and limits of 
insurance coverage to be maintained by Consultant, and any approval of said insurance by the 
City, is not intended to and shall not in any manner limit or qualify the liabilities and obligations 
otherwise assumed by the Consultant pursuant to this Agreement, including but not limited to, the 
provisions concerning indemnification. 

(B) If at any time during the life of the Agreement, any policy of 
insurance required under this Agreement does not comply with these specifications or is canceled 
and not replaced, City has the right but not the duty to obtain the insurance it deems necessary 
and any premium paid by City will be promptly reimbursed by Consultant or City will withhold 
amounts sufficient to pay premium from Consultant payments. In the alternative, City may cancel 
this Agreement. 

(C) The City may require the Consultant to provide complete 
copies of all insurance policies in effect for the duration of the Project. 

(D) Neither the City nor any of its officials, officers, employees, 
agents or volunteers shall be personally responsible for any liability arising under or by virtue of 
this Agreement. 

(E) The limits set forth herein shall apply separately to each 
insured against whom claims are made or suits are brought, except with respect to the limits of 
liability.  Further the limits set forth herein shall not be construed to relieve the Consultant from 
liability in excess of such coverage, nor shall it limit the Consultant’s indemnification obligations 
to the City and shall not preclude the City from taking such other actions available to the City 
under other provisions of the Agreement or law. 

(F) Consultant shall report to the City, in addition to Consultant’s 
insurer, any and all insurance claims submitted by Consultant in connection with the Services 
under this Agreement. 

3.2.11.12 Insurance for Subconsultants.  Consultant shall include all 
subconsultants engaged in any work for Consultant relating to this Agreement as additional 
insureds under the Consultant's policies, or the Consultant shall be responsible for causing 
subconsultants to purchase the appropriate insurance in compliance with the terms of these 
Insurance Requirements, including adding the City, its officials, officers, employees, agents, and 
volunteers as additional insureds to the subconsultant's policies.  All policies of Commercial 
General Liability insurance provided by Consultant’s subconsultants performing work relating to 
this Agreement shall be endorsed to name the City, its officials, officers, employees, agents and 
volunteers as additional insureds using endorsement form ISO CG 20 38 04 13 or an 
endorsement providing equivalent coverage.  Consultant shall not allow any subconsultant to 
commence work on any subcontract relating to this Agreement until it has received satisfactory 
evidence of subconsultant’s compliance with all insurance requirements under this Agreement, to 
the extent applicable.  The Consultant shall provide satisfactory evidence of compliance with this 
section upon request of the City. 

3.2.12 Water Quality Management and Compliance.  Consultant shall keep itself 
and all subcontractors, staff, and employees fully informed of and in compliance with all local, 



 
-8-  

 

state and federal laws, rules and regulations that may impact, or be implicated by the performance 
of the Services including, without limitation, all applicable provisions of the City’s ordinances 
regulating water quality and storm water; the Federal Water Pollution Control Act (33 U.S.C. 
§ 1251, et seq.); the California Porter-Cologne Water Quality Control Act (Water Code § 13000 
et seq.); and any and all regulations, policies, or permits issued pursuant to any such authority.  
Consultant must additionally comply with the lawful requirements of the City, and any other 
municipality, drainage district, or other local agency with jurisdiction over the location where the 
Services are to be conducted, regulating water quality and storm water discharges.  City may 
seek damages from Consultant for delay in completing the Services caused by Consultant’s 
failure to comply with the laws, regulations and policies described in this Section, or any other 
relevant water quality law, regulation, or policy. 

3.3 Fees and Payments. 

3.3.1 Compensation.  Consultant shall receive compensation, including 
authorized reimbursements, for all Services rendered under this Agreement at the rates set forth 
in Exhibit "C" attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.  The total compensation shall 
not exceed TWO HUNDRED AND FIFTEEN THOUSAND DOLLARS ($215,000) without written 
approval of the City Council or City Manager as applicable.  Extra Work may be authorized, as 
described below, and if authorized, will be compensated at the rates and manner set forth in this 
Agreement. The City Manager will have authority to approve Extra Work within 10% of the total 
compensation. 

3.3.2 Payment of Compensation.  Consultant shall submit to City a monthly 
invoice, no later than the fifteenth (15th) calendar day of each month, which indicates work 
completed and hours of Services rendered by Consultant during the prior month.  The invoice 
shall describe the amount of Services provided since the initial commencement date, or since the 
start of the subsequent billing periods, as appropriate, through the date of the invoice.  City shall, 
within 30 days of receiving such invoice, review the invoice and pay all non-disputed and approved 
charges.  If the City disputes any of Consultant's fees, the City shall give written notice to 
Consultant within thirty (30) days of receipt of an invoice of any disputed fees set forth therein.  
Payment shall not constitute acceptance of any Services completed by Consultant.  The making 
of final payment shall not constitute a waiver of any claims by the City for any reason whatsoever. 

3.3.3 Reimbursement for Expenses.  Consultant shall not be reimbursed for any 
expenses unless authorized in writing by City, or included in Exhibit "C" of this Agreement. 

3.3.4 Extra Work.  At any time during the term of this Agreement, City may 
request that Consultant perform Extra Work.  As used herein, "Extra Work" means any work which 
is determined by City to be necessary for the proper completion of the Project, but which the 
Parties did not reasonably anticipate would be necessary at the execution of this Agreement.  
Consultant shall not perform, nor be compensated for, Extra Work without written authorization 
from the City.   

3.3.5 Rate Increases.  In the event that this Agreement is renewed pursuant to 
Section 3.1.2, the rate set forth in Exhibit “C” may be adjusted at the time of renewal as set forth 
in Exhibit “C.” 



 
-9-  

 

3.4 Labor Code Requirements. 

3.4.1 Prevailing Wages.  Consultant is aware of the requirements of California 
Labor Code Section 1720, et seq., and 1770, et seq., as well as California Code of Regulations, 
Title 8, Section 16000, et seq., ("Prevailing Wage Laws"), which require the payment of prevailing 
wage rates and the performance of other requirements on "public works" and "maintenance" 
projects.  If the Services are being performed as part of an applicable "public works" or 
"maintenance" project, as defined by the Prevailing Wage Laws, and if the total compensation is 
$1,000 or more, Consultant agrees to fully comply with such Prevailing Wage Laws.  City shall 
provide Consultant with a copy of the prevailing rates of per diem wages in effect at the 
commencement of this Agreement.  Consultant shall make copies of the prevailing rates of per 
diem wages for each craft, classification or type of worker needed to execute the Services 
available to interested parties upon request, and shall post copies at the Consultant's principal 
place of business and at the project site.  It is the intent of the parties to effectuate the 
requirements of sections 1771, 1774, 1775, 1776, 1777.5, 1813, and 1815 of the Labor Code 
within this Agreement, and Consultant shall therefore comply with such Labor Code sections to 
the fullest extent required by law.  Consultant shall defend, indemnify and hold the City, its 
officials, officers, employees, agents, and volunteers free and harmless from any claim or liability 
arising out of any failure or alleged failure to comply with the Prevailing Wage Laws. 

3.4.2 Registration/DIR Compliance.  If the Services are being performed on a 
public works project of over $25,000 when the project is for construction, alteration, demolition, 
installation, or repair work, or a public works project of over $15,000 when the project is for 
maintenance work, in addition to the foregoing, then pursuant to Labor Code sections 1725.5 and 
1771.1, the Consultant and all subconsultants must be registered with the Department of 
Industrial Relations (“DIR”).  Consultant shall maintain registration for the duration of the project 
and require the same of any subconsultants.  This project may also be subject to compliance 
monitoring and enforcement by the DIR.  It shall be Consultant’s sole responsibility to comply with 
all applicable registration and labor compliance requirements, including the submission of payroll 
records directly to the DIR.  Any stop orders issued by the DIR against Consultant or any 
subconsultant that affect Consultant’s performance of services, including any delay, shall be 
Consultant’s sole responsibility.  Any delay arising out of or resulting from such stop orders shall 
be considered Consultant caused delay and shall not be compensable by the City.  Consultant 
shall defend, indemnify and hold the City, its officials, officers, employees and agents free and 
harmless from any claim or liability arising out of stop orders issued by the DIR against Consultant 
or any subconsultant. 

3.4.3 Labor Certification.  By its signature hereunder, Consultant certifies that it 
is aware of the provisions of Section 3700 of the California Labor Code which require every 
employer to be insured against liability for Worker's Compensation or to undertake self-insurance 
in accordance with the provisions of that Code, and agrees to comply with such provisions before 
commencing the performance of the Services. 

3.5 Accounting Records. 

3.5.1 Maintenance and Inspection.  Consultant shall maintain complete and 
accurate records with respect to all costs and expenses incurred under this Agreement.  All such 
records shall be clearly identifiable.  Consultant shall allow a representative of City during normal 
business hours to examine, audit, and make transcripts or copies of such records and any other 
documents created pursuant to this Agreement. Consultant shall allow inspection of all work, data, 



 
-10-  

 

documents, proceedings, and activities related to the Agreement for a period of three (3) years 
from the date of final payment under this Agreement. 

3.6 General Provisions. 

3.6.1 Termination of Agreement. 

3.6.1.1 Grounds for Termination.  City may, by written notice to 
Consultant, terminate the whole or any part of this Agreement at any time and without cause by 
giving written notice to Consultant of such termination, and specifying the effective date thereof, 
at least seven (7) days before the effective date of such termination.  Upon termination, Consultant 
shall be compensated only for those services which have been adequately rendered to City, and 
Consultant shall be entitled to no further compensation.  Consultant may not terminate this 
Agreement except for cause. 

3.6.1.2 Effect of Termination.  If this Agreement is terminated as 
provided herein, City may require Consultant to provide all finished or unfinished Documents and 
Data and other information of any kind prepared by Consultant in connection with the performance 
of Services under this Agreement.  Consultant shall be required to provide such document and 
other information within fifteen (15) days of the request. 

3.6.1.3 Additional Services.  In the event this Agreement is terminated 
in whole or in part as provided herein, City may procure, upon such terms and in such manner as 
it may determine appropriate, services similar to those terminated. 

3.6.2 Delivery of Notices.  All notices permitted or required under this Agreement 
shall be given to the respective parties at the following address, or at such other address as the 
respective parties may provide in writing for this purpose: 

Consultant: Willdan Engineering 
13191 Crossroads Parkway North, Suite 405  
Industry, CA 91746 
ATTN:  Salvador Lopez Jr., Director of Planning 

City: City of Artesia  
18747 Clarkdale Avenue 
Artesia, California 90701 
ATTN:  Abel Avalos, City Manager 
 

Such notice shall be deemed made when personally delivered or when mailed, forty-eight (48) 
hours after deposit in the U.S.  Mail, first class postage prepaid and addressed to the party at its 
applicable address.  Actual notice shall be deemed adequate notice on the date actual notice 
occurred, regardless of the method of service. 

3.6.3 Ownership of Materials and Confidentiality. 

3.6.3.1 Documents & Data; Licensing of Intellectual Property.  This 
Agreement creates a non-exclusive and perpetual license for City to copy, use, modify, reuse, or 
sublicense any and all copyrights, designs, and other intellectual property embodied in plans, 
specifications, studies, drawings, estimates, and other documents or works of authorship fixed in 



 
-11-  

 

any tangible medium of expression, including but not limited to, physical drawings or data 
magnetically or otherwise recorded on computer diskettes, which are prepared or caused to be 
prepared by Consultant under this Agreement ("Documents & Data").  All Documents & Data shall 
be and remain the property of City, and shall not be used in whole or in substantial part by 
Consultant on other projects without the City’s express written permission.  Within thirty (30) days 
following the completion, suspension, abandonment or termination of this Agreement, Consultant 
shall provide to City reproducible copies of all Documents & Data, in a form and amount required 
by City.  City reserves the right to select the method of document reproduction and to establish 
where the reproduction will be accomplished.  The reproduction expense shall be borne by City 
at the actual cost of duplication.  In the event of a dispute regarding the amount of compensation 
to which the Consultant is entitled under the termination provisions of this Agreement, Consultant 
shall provide all Documents & Data to City upon payment of the undisputed amount.  Consultant 
shall have no right to retain or fail to provide to City any such documents pending resolution of 
the dispute.  In addition, Consultant shall retain copies of all Documents & Data on file for a 
minimum of fifteen (15) years following completion of the Project, and shall make copies available 
to City upon the payment of actual reasonable duplication costs.  Before destroying the 
Documents & Data following this retention period, Consultant shall make a reasonable effort to 
notify City and provide City with the opportunity to obtain the documents. 

3.6.3.2 Subconsultants.  Consultant shall require all subconsultants to 
agree in writing that City is granted a non-exclusive and perpetual license for any Documents & 
Data the subconsultant prepares under this Agreement.  Consultant represents and warrants that 
Consultant has the legal right to license any and all Documents & Data.  Consultant makes no 
such representation and warranty in regard to Documents & Data which were prepared by design 
professionals other than Consultant or its subconsultants, or those provided to Consultant by the 
City. 

3.6.3.3 Right to Use.  City shall not be limited in any way in its use or 
reuse of the Documents and Data or any part of them at any time for purposes of this Project or 
another project, provided that any such use not within the purposes intended by this Agreement 
or on a project other than this Project without employing the services of Consultant shall be at 
City’s sole risk. If City uses or reuses the Documents & Data on any project other than this Project, 
it shall remove the Consultant’s seal from the Documents & Data and indemnify and hold harmless 
Consultant and its officers, directors, agents and employees from claims arising out of the 
negligent use or re-use of the Documents & Data on such other project.  Consultant shall be 
responsible and liable for its Documents & Data, pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, only 
with respect to the condition of the Documents & Data at the time they are provided to the City 
upon completion, suspension, abandonment or termination.  Consultant shall not be responsible 
or liable for any revisions to the Documents & Data made by any party other than Consultant, a 
party for whom the Consultant is legally responsible or liable, or anyone approved by the 
Consultant. 

3.6.3.4 Indemnification.  Consultant shall defend, indemnify and hold the 
City, its directors, officials, officers, employees, volunteers and agents free and harmless, 
pursuant to the indemnification provisions of this Agreement, for any alleged infringement of any 
patent, copyright, trade secret, trade name, trademark, or any other proprietary right of any person 
or entity in consequence of the use on the Project by City of the Documents & Data, including any 
method, process, product, or concept specified or depicted. 



 
-12-  

 

3.6.3.5 Confidentiality.  All ideas, memoranda, specifications, plans, 
procedures, drawings, descriptions, computer program data, input record data, written 
information, and other Documents & Data either created by or provided to Consultant in 
connection with the performance of this Agreement shall be held confidential by Consultant.  Such 
materials shall not, without the prior written consent of City, be used by Consultant for any 
purposes other than the performance of the Services.  Nor shall such materials be disclosed to 
any person or entity not connected with the performance of the Services or the Project.  Nothing 
furnished to Consultant which is otherwise known to Consultant or is generally known, or has 
become known, to the related industry shall be deemed confidential.  Consultant shall not use 
City's name or insignia, photographs of the Project, or any publicity pertaining to the Services or 
the Project in any magazine, trade paper, newspaper, television or radio production or other 
similar medium without the prior written consent of City. 

3.6.3.6 Confidential Information.  The City shall refrain from releasing 
Consultant’s proprietary information ("Proprietary Information") unless the City's legal counsel 
determines that the release of the Proprietary Information is required by the California Public 
Records Act or other applicable state or federal law, or order of a court of competent jurisdiction, 
in which case the City shall notify Consultant of its intention to release Proprietary Information.  
Consultant shall have five (5) working days after receipt of the Release Notice to give City written 
notice of Consultant's objection to the City's release of Proprietary Information.  Consultant shall 
indemnify, defend and hold harmless the City, and its officers, directors, employees, and agents 
from and against all liability, loss, cost or expense (including attorney’s fees) arising out of a legal 
action brought to compel the release of Proprietary Information.  City shall not release the 
Proprietary Information after receipt of the Objection Notice unless either:  (1) Consultant fails to 
fully indemnify, defend (with City's choice of legal counsel), and hold City harmless from any legal 
action brought to compel such release; and/or (2) a final and non-appealable order by a court of 
competent jurisdiction requires that City release such information. 

3.6.4 Cooperation; Further Acts.  The Parties shall fully cooperate with one 
another, and shall take any additional acts or sign any additional documents as may be necessary, 
appropriate or convenient to attain the purposes of this Agreement. 

3.6.5 Indemnification.   

3.6.5.1 To the fullest extent permitted by law, Consultant shall defend 
(with counsel of City’s choosing), indemnify and hold the City, its officials, officers, employees, 
volunteers, and agents free and harmless from any and all claims, demands, causes of action, 
costs, expenses, liability, loss, damage or injury of any kind, in law or equity, to property or 
persons, including wrongful death,  in any manner arising out of, pertaining to, or incident to any 
acts, errors or omissions, or willful misconduct of Consultant, its officials, officers, employees, 
subcontractors, consultants or agents in connection with the performance of the Consultant’s 
Services, the Project or this Agreement, including without limitation the payment of all damages, 
expert witness fees and attorney’s fees and other related costs and expenses except such loss 
or damage caused by the sole negligence or willful misconduct of the City.  Consultant's obligation 
to indemnify shall survive expiration or termination of this Agreement and shall not be restricted 
to insurance proceeds, if any, received by Consultant, the City, its officials, officers, employees, 
agents, or volunteers. 

3.6.5.2 If Consultant’s obligation to defend, indemnify, and/or hold 
harmless arises out of Consultant’s performance as a “design professional” (as that term is 



 
-13-  

 

defined under Civil Code section 2782.8), then, and only to the extent required by Civil Code 
section 2782.8, which is fully incorporated herein, Consultant’s indemnification obligation shall be 
limited to claims that arise out of, pertain to, or relate to the negligence, recklessness, or willful 
misconduct of the Consultant, and, upon Consultant obtaining a final adjudication by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, Consultant’s liability for such claim, including the cost to defend, shall not 
exceed the Consultant’s proportionate percentage of fault. 

3.6.6 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement contains the entire Agreement of the 
parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all prior negotiations, 
understandings or agreements.   

3.6.7 Governing Law; Government Code Claim Compliance.  This Agreement 
shall be governed by the laws of the State of California.  Venue shall be in Los Angeles County.  
In addition to any and all contract requirements pertaining to notices of and requests for 
compensation or payment for extra work, disputed work, claims and/or changed conditions, 
Consultant must comply with the claim procedures set forth in Government Code sections 900 et 
seq. prior to filing any lawsuit against the City.  Such Government Code claims and any 
subsequent lawsuit based upon the Government Code claims shall be limited to those matters 
that remain unresolved after all procedures pertaining to extra work, disputed work, claims, and/or 
changed conditions have been followed by Consultant.  If no such Government Code claim is 
submitted, or if any prerequisite contractual requirements are not otherwise satisfied as specified 
herein, Consultant shall be barred from bringing and maintaining a valid lawsuit against the City. 

3.6.8 Attorney’s Fees.  If either party commences an action against the other 
party, either legal, administrative or otherwise, arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, 
the prevailing party in such litigation shall be entitled to have and recover from the losing party 
reasonable attorney’s fees and all other costs of such action. 

3.6.9 Time of Essence.  Time is of the essence for each and every provision of 
this Agreement. 

3.6.10 City's Right to Employ Other Consultants.  City reserves right to employ 
other consultants in connection with this Project. 

3.6.11 Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall be binding on the 
successors and assigns of the parties. 

3.6.12 Assignment; Subcontracting.  Consultant shall not assign, sublet, or 
transfer this Agreement or any rights under or interest in this Agreement without the written 
consent of the City, which may be withheld for any reason.  Any attempt to so assign or so transfer 
without such consent shall be void and without legal effect and shall constitute grounds for 
termination.  Consultant shall not subcontract any portion of the Services required by this 
Agreement, except as expressly stated herein, without prior written approval of City.  
Subcontracts, if any, shall contain a provision making them subject to all provisions stipulated in 
this Agreement. 

3.6.13 Construction; References; Captions.  Since the Parties or their agents have 
participated fully in the preparation of this Agreement, the language of this Agreement shall be 
construed simply, according to its fair meaning, and not strictly for or against any Party.  Any term 
referencing time, days or period for performance shall be deemed calendar days and not work 



 
-14-  

 

days.  All references to Consultant include all personnel, employees, agents, and subconsultants 
of Consultant, except as otherwise specified in this Agreement.  All references to City include its 
elected officials, officers, employees, agents, and volunteers except as otherwise specified in this 
Agreement.  The captions of the various articles and paragraphs are for convenience and ease 
of reference only, and do not define, limit, augment, or describe the scope, content, or intent of 
this Agreement. 

3.6.14 Amendment; Modification.  No supplement, modification, or amendment of 
this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing and signed by both Parties. The City 
Manager shall have the authority to authorize changes to the Agreement that do not change the 
compensation of the Agreement.  

3.6.15 Waiver.  No waiver of any default shall constitute a waiver of any other 
default or breach, whether of the same or other covenant or condition.  No waiver, benefit, 
privilege, or service voluntarily given or performed by a Party shall give the other Party any 
contractual rights by custom, estoppel, or otherwise. 

3.6.16 No Third-Party Beneficiaries.  There are no intended third party 
beneficiaries of any right or obligation assumed by the Parties. 

3.6.17 Invalidity; Severability.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared invalid, 
illegal, or otherwise unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining provisions 
shall continue in full force and effect. 

3.6.18 Prohibited Interests.  Consultant maintains and warrants that it has not 
employed nor retained any company or person, other than a bona fide employee working solely 
for Consultant, to solicit or secure this Agreement.  Consultant warrants that it has not paid nor 
has it agreed to pay any company or person, other than a bona fide employee working solely for 
Consultant, any fee, commission, percentage, brokerage fee, gift or other consideration 
contingent upon or resulting from the award or making of this Agreement.  Consultant further 
agrees to file, or shall cause its employees or subconsultants to file, a Statement of Economic 
Interest with the City’s Filing Officer as required under state law in the performance of the 
Services.  For breach or violation of this warranty, City shall have the right to rescind this 
Agreement without liability.  For the term of this Agreement, no member, officer or employee of 
City, during the term of his or her service with City, shall have any direct interest in this Agreement, 
or obtain any present or anticipated material benefit arising therefrom. 

3.6.19 Authority to Enter Agreement.  Consultant has all requisite power and 
authority to conduct its business and to execute, deliver, and perform the Agreement.  Each Party 
warrants that the individuals who have signed this Agreement have the legal power, right, and 
authority to make this Agreement and bind each respective Party. 

3.6.20 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be signed in counterparts, each of 
which shall constitute an original. 

3.6.21 Survival.  All rights and obligations hereunder that by their nature are to 
continue after any expiration or termination of this Agreement, including, but not limited to, the 
indemnification obligations, shall survive any such expiration or termination. 

 



 
-15-  

 

 
SIGNATURE PAGE TO 

 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT BY AND 
BETWEEN THE CITY OF ARTESIA AND WILLDAN 
ENGINEERING 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first 

written above. 
 

 
CITY OF ARTESIA     WILLDAN ENGINEERING 
        
 
 
 
By:  ____________________________ By: ______________________________ 

Abel Avalos     Vanessa Munoz  
City Manager     President 

 
 
 
Attest: 

 
 
                                                    By:  _____________________________ 
Jennifer Alderete    Kate Nguyen   
City Clerk     Secretary   

 
 
 
Approved as to Form: 

 
 
 
______________________________ 
HongDao Nguyen 
City Attorney 

 
 

Vanessa Munoz (Oct 15, 2024 17:24 PDT)
Vanessa Munoz

Kate Nguyen (Oct 17, 2024 09:17 PDT)

Abel Avalos (Oct 19, 2024 11:19 PDT)

Jennifer Alderete (Oct 21, 2024 08:34 PDT)



 
Exhibit “A”-1  

 

EXHIBIT "A" 
SCOPE OF SERVICES 

Consultant will serve as a Planning Consultant and will work under the City Manager’s 
supervision. The consultant will work online with communication through emails and digital 
meetings, and in person for any needed meetings and presentations with regards to the 
Housing Element and Mixed-Use Overlay Project during the adoption process.  
 
Consultant will assist with the completion of the following: 
 Wrap up Mixed-Use Overlay Project  
 Finalize Sites Inventory write up and updates 
 Continued development/review/finalization of MUO Ordinance (this overlaps both 

projects in some sections on section) 
 Complete Community Benefit outlines 
 Consolidate all the components of the Housing Element and complete final editing 

o Programs for the current Housing Cycle 
o Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing section 
o Meaningful Actions section 
o Constraints review 
o Sites Inventory 
o Mapping 

 Review and respond to City Staff edits  
 Review of another round of edits from the State 
 Complete Programs Implementation Action Plan  

Prepare for and present the Housing Element to the Planning Commission and City 
Council 



 

 
Exhibit “B-1”  

 

EXHIBIT "B" 
SCHEDULE OF SERVICES 

Consultant shall complete services between July 1, 2023, and June 30, 2025.  

Housing Element Resubmission shall be completed and submitted to the California Housing and 
Community Development Department HCD by December 31, 2024.  

The Mixed-Use Overlay Project will be completed by June 30, 2025.  

 
 



 
Exhibit “C”-1  

 

EXHIBIT "C" 
COMPENSATION 

The billing rate for Consultant’s services is $176.00/hour for the Associate Planner and 
$208.00/hour for the Principal Planner. The total compensation shall not exceed TWO HUNDRED 
AND FIFTEEN THOUSAND ($215,000). 



Willdan PSA HE and MUO 10-9-24
Final Audit Report 2024-10-22

Created: 2024-10-15

By: Carmen Zambrano (czambrano@cityofartesia.us)

Status: Signed

Transaction ID: CBJCHBCAABAAnoSIRZZqveFGealxv3deYlyXiX-YDlMf

"Willdan PSA HE and MUO 10-9-24" History
Document created by Carmen Zambrano (czambrano@cityofartesia.us)
2024-10-15 - 9:42:28 PM GMT

Document emailed to Vanessa Munoz (vmunoz@willdan.com) for signature
2024-10-15 - 9:42:34 PM GMT

Email viewed by Vanessa Munoz (vmunoz@willdan.com)
2024-10-16 - 0:23:40 AM GMT

Document e-signed by Vanessa Munoz (vmunoz@willdan.com)
Signature Date: 2024-10-16 - 0:24:12 AM GMT - Time Source: server

Document emailed to Kate Nguyen (knguyen@willdan.com) for signature
2024-10-16 - 0:24:14 AM GMT

Email viewed by Kate Nguyen (knguyen@willdan.com)
2024-10-17 - 4:16:30 PM GMT

Document e-signed by Kate Nguyen (knguyen@willdan.com)
Signature Date: 2024-10-17 - 4:17:19 PM GMT - Time Source: server

Document emailed to Abel Avalos (aavalos@cityofartesia.us) for signature
2024-10-17 - 4:18:25 PM GMT

Email viewed by Abel Avalos (aavalos@cityofartesia.us)
2024-10-19 - 6:18:39 PM GMT

Document e-signed by Abel Avalos (aavalos@cityofartesia.us)
Signature Date: 2024-10-19 - 6:19:10 PM GMT - Time Source: server

Document emailed to Jennifer Alderete (jalderete@cityofartesia.us) for signature
2024-10-19 - 6:19:11 PM GMT



Email viewed by Jennifer Alderete (jalderete@cityofartesia.us)
2024-10-21 - 3:33:39 PM GMT

Document e-signed by Jennifer Alderete (jalderete@cityofartesia.us)
Signature Date: 2024-10-21 - 3:34:05 PM GMT - Time Source: server

Document emailed to Hong Dao Nguyen (hongdao.nguyen@bbklaw.com) for signature
2024-10-21 - 3:34:08 PM GMT

Email viewed by Hong Dao Nguyen (hongdao.nguyen@bbklaw.com)
2024-10-22 - 5:16:44 PM GMT

Signer Hong Dao Nguyen (hongdao.nguyen@bbklaw.com) entered name at signing as HongDao Nguyen
2024-10-22 - 5:18:04 PM GMT

Document e-signed by HongDao Nguyen (hongdao.nguyen@bbklaw.com)
Signature Date: 2024-10-22 - 5:18:06 PM GMT - Time Source: server

Agreement completed.
2024-10-22 - 5:18:06 PM GMT



   

 

 
-1-  

 

CITY OF ARTESIA 
 

AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO  
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

BETWEEN THE CITY OF ARTESIA AND WILLDAN ENGINEERING 
 

1. PARTIES AND DATE. 

This First Amendment to the Agreement is entered into on this 17th day of March, 2025, 
by and between the City of Artesia, a municipal corporation, organized under the laws of the State 
of California ("City") and WILLDAN ENGINEERING a CALIFORNIA CORPORATION with its 
principal place of business at 13191 CROSSROADS PARKWAY NORTH, SUITE 405, 
INDUSTRY, CA, 91746-3443 ("Consultant"). City and Consultant are sometimes individually 
referred to herein as "Party" and collectively as "Parties." 

2. RECITALS. 

2.1 Project. 

The parties desire to amend the Agreement, dated October 14, 2024, in order to extend 
the term, expand the scope of services, and increase the total compensation under the Agreement 
for the Housing Element, Mixed-Use Overlay, and Staff Augmentation project ("Project") as 
set forth in this First Amendment. 

3. TERMS. 

3.1 Scope of Services and Term. 

Term. Section 3.1.2 “Term” of the Agreement is amended in its entirety to read as 
follows: 

“The term of this Agreement shall be from July 1, 2023, to March 31, 2026 (“Amended Term”) 
unless earlier terminated as provided herein. Consultant shall complete the Services within the 
term of this Agreement and shall meet any other established schedules and deadlines. The 
Parties may, by mutual, written consent, extend the term of this Agreement if necessary to 
complete the Services.” 

3.2 Fees and Payments. 

Compensation.  Section 3.3.1 “Compensation” of the Agreement is amended in its 
entirety to read as follows: 

“Consultant shall receive compensation, including authorized reimbursements, for all Services 
rendered under this Agreement at the rates set forth in Exhibit "C" attached hereto and 
incorporated herein by reference. The total compensation shall not exceed FOUR HUNDRED 
FIFTY THOUSAND DOLLARS ($450,000) without written approval of the City Council or City 
Manager as applicable. Extra Work may be authorized, as described below, and if authorized, will 
be compensated at the rates and manner set forth in this Agreement. The City Manager will have 
authority to approve Extra Work within 10% of the total compensation.” 



   

 

 
-2-  

 

3.3 Exhibit “A” - Scope of Services.   

“Exhibit A – Scope of Services," is hereby amended in its entirety and replaced 
with the attached "Exhibit A – Scope of Services (Revised March 17, 2025)." 

3.4 Exhibit “B” - Schedule of Services. 

“Exhibit B – Schedule of Services,” is hereby amended and in its entirety and 
replaced with the attached "Exhibit B – Schedule of Services (Revised March 17, 2025)."  

3.5. Exhibit “C” – Compensation. 

 “Exhibit C – Compensation,” is hereby amended in its entirety and replaced with 
the attached “Exhibit C – Compensation (Revised March 17, 2025). 

Exhibits “A,” “B,” and “C” are hereby incorporated by reference.”  

3.6  General Provisions.  

Except as otherwise specifically set forth in this First Amendment, the remaining 
provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. 

 

 

 

[SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE] 

 

  



   

 

 
-3-  

 

SIGNATURE PAGE TO AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

BETWEEN THE CITY OF ARTESIA AND WILLDAN ENGINEERING 
 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this First Amendment to 
Agreement on this 17TH day of March, 2025. 

 
 

CITY OF ARTESIA    WILLDAN ENGINEERING 
     
        
 
By:  ____________________________ By: ______________________________ 

Abel Avalos                          Vanessa Munoz 

City Manager               President 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST:                _____________________________ 
       Kate Nguyen 
 ____________________________ Secretary 
 Jennifer Alderete 
 City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 

 
______________________________ 
HongDao Nguyen 
City Attorney 

 
 



   

 

 
Exhibit “A”- 1    

 

EXHIBIT "A"  
SCOPE OF SERVICES (REVISED MARCH 17, 2025) 

 

Consultant will serve as a Planning Consultant. The consultant will provide staff augmentation 
services as needed to support the City’s planning functions. Consultant will work online with 
communication through emails and digital meetings, and in person for any needed meetings 
and presentations with regard to the Housing Element and Mixed-Use Overlay Project during 
the adoption process. 

Consultant will assist with the completion of the following: 

• Wrap up Mixed-Use Overlay Project 

• Finalize Sites Inventory write-up and updates 

• Continued development/review/finalization of MUO Ordinance (this overlaps both 
projects in some sections) 

• Complete Community Benefit outlines 

• Consolidate all the components of the Housing Element and complete final editing: 
o Programs for the current Housing Cycle 
o Affirmatively Furthering Fair Housing section 
o Meaningful Actions section 
o Constraints review 
o Sites Inventory 
o Mapping 

• Review and respond to City Staff edits 

• Review another round of edits from the State 

• Complete Programs Implementation Action Plan 

• Prepare for and present the Housing Element to the Planning Commission and City 
Council 

• Provide staff augmentation services to support planning functions as needed 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



   

 

 
Exhibit “B”- 1    

 

 

EXHIBIT “B” 
SCHEDULE OF SERVICES (REVISED MARCH 17, 2025) 

 
Consultant shall complete the services between July 1, 2023 and March 31, 2026 
 
Housing Element Resubmission shall be completed and approved by the California Department 
of Housing and Community Development Department (HCD) by March 31, 2026. 
 
The Mixed Use Overlay Project shall be complete by June 30, 2025.  



   

 

 
Exhibit “C”- 1    

 

EXHIBIT "C"  
COMPENSATION (REVISED MARCH 17, 2025) 

The billing rate for Consultant’s services is:  

• $176.00/hour for the Associate Planner 

• $208.00/hour for the Principal Planner 

• $224.00/hour for the Planning Director 
 

The total compensation shall not exceed Four Hundred Fifty Thousand Dollars ($450,000). 



Artesia Housing Authority Fund

FY 2022
Actual

FY 2023
Actual

FY 2024
Budget

FY 2024
Estimate

FY 2025
Mid-Year

Budget
%▲

Budget
$▲

Staffing Summary
Community Development Director 0.00 0.05 0.00 0.05 0.05 0% 0.00
Housing Projects Manager 0.75 0.00 0.75 0.00 0.00 N/A 0.00
Management Analyst 0.75 0.25 0.75 0.25 0.15 -40% -0.10

Total FTE 1.50 0.30 1.50 0.30 0.20 -33% -0.10

Revenues
4710 Interest 3,236$                   16,254$                20,000$                20,000$                18,000$                -10% (2,000)$                 
4720 Rental Income 78,507$                78,507$                78,500$                78,500$                86,358$                10% 7,858$                   

Total Revenue 81,743$                94,761$                98,500$                98,500$                104,358$             6% 5,858$                   

Expenses
Personnel

Salaries and Wages -$                        28,448$                30,468$                30,468$                17,872$                -41% (12,596)$              
Other Pay -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        1,700$                   N/A 1,700$                   
Benefits, and Payroll Expenses -$                        6,002$                   7,383$                   6,949$                   6,977$                   0% 28$                          

Total Personnel -$                        34,450$                37,851$                37,417$                26,549$                -29% (10,868)$              

Salaries & Wages
5010 Full Time -$                        28,448$                30,468$                30,468$                17,872$                -41% (12,596)$              

Total Salaries & Wages -$                        28,448$                30,468$                30,468$                17,872$                -41% (12,596)$              

Other Pay
5012 Retention Bonus 700$                       N/A 700$                       
5140 Accrued Leave Buy Back -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        1,000$                   N/A 1,000$                   

Total Other Pay -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        1,700$                   N/A 1,700$                   

Benefits
5225 Retirement - Employer Contr. 272$                       842$                       1,702$                   1,506$                   -12% (196)$                     
5235 PERS - Unfunded Liability 2,355$                   N/A 2,355$                   
5250 Medicare/FICA Tax -$                        595$                       442$                       442$                       259$                       -41% (183)$                     
5315 Health Insurance -$                        4,808$                   5,409$                   4,115$                   1,934$                   -53% (2,181)$                 
5320 457 Match -$                        171$                       176$                       176$                       536$                       205% 360$                       
5325 FSA Contribution -$                        -$                        207$                       207$                       237$                       14% 30$                          
5410 Auto Allowance 156$                       210$                       210$                       150$                       -29% (60)$                        
5415 Cell Phone -$                        -$                        97$                          97$                          -$                        N/A (97)$                        

Medicare Tax -$                        6,002$                   7,383$                   6,949$                   6,977$                   0% 28$                          

Total Personnel -$                        34,450$                37,851$                37,417$                26,549$                -29% (10,868)$              

Other Expenses
5900 Administrative Cost Allowance -$                        -$                        10,000$                10,000$                -$                        N/A (10,000)$              
6035 Contract Services -$                        -$                        -$                        59,500$                110,000$             85% 50,500$                
6490 Dues/Subscriptions/Training 7,500$                   N/A 7,500$                   
7205 Property Maintenance 425$                       400$                       5,000$                   5,000$                   2,000$                   -60% (3,000)$                 

Total Other Expenses 425$                       400$                       15,000$                74,500$                119,500$             60% 45,000$                

Total Expenses 425$                       34,850$                52,851$                111,917$             146,049$             30% 34,132$                

Net surplus/(deficit) 81,318$                59,911$                45,649$                (13,417)$              (41,691)$              211% (28,274)$              

Ending Fund Balance 775,959$             835,870$             881,519$             845,479$             803,788$             -5% (41,691)$              

The Artesia Housing Authority serves as a foundation to build affordable housing units.

Fund 200

Artesia Housing Authority Fund does not require General Funds Revenue for Expense Activity.

1



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT

MEETING DATE:   March 17, 2025  ITEM NO:   9K.

 
TO: Mayor and Members of the City Council

 
SUBJECT: Amendment No. 1 to Professional Service Agreement for Professional Planning Services 

With Sagecrest Planning and Environmental Services  
 

FROM: Carmen Zambrano, Management Analyst
 

REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY:
  Melissa Burke, Deputy City Manager  

Jamie Murguia, Finance Manager  
HongDao Nguyen, City Attorney  
Abel Avalos, City Manager 

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends that the City Council approve and authorize the City Manager to execute on their behalf, 
Amendment No 1. to Professional Services Agreement for professional planning services with Sagecrest Planning 
and Environmental Services for a not-to-exceed amount of $541,500. 
 
BACKGROUND:
On October 14, 2024, the Artesia City Council approved a Professional Services Agreement with Sagecrest 
Planning and Environmental Services (Sagecrest) for a not-to-exceed amount of $280,000 through June 30, 2025. 
The consultant has been providing staff augmentation services and project based planning services since 
September 2024. 
 
ANALYSIS: 
Sagecrest was originally brought for staff augmentation for the Planing Manager to allow for a recruitment to occur 
however, a replacement has not yet been found to fill the position and continued staff augmentation is necessary. 
Additionally, a vacancy occurred in the Assistant Planner position in February 2025, and additional staff 
augmentation is necessary until this position is filled. Sagecrest is currently providing staff augmentation for the 
Planning Manager and the Assistant Planner to ensure consistent services are provided to the community during 
the transition. The consultant is continuing to provide support for project based planning services and large scale 
developments. In addition to the above, Sagecrest is now assisting with the completion of the Housing Element to 
ensure the City meets the California Department of Housing and Community Development timelines, the cost of 
which is accounted for in the budget amendment to the Housing Authority Fund. 
 
 
The proposed amendment extends the consultants contract to December 31, 2025 and increases the contract 
amount to $541,500 to cover the expanded services and extended term. The consultant, under the supervision of 
the City Manager, will provide both remote and in-person support as needed. 
 
Key tasks include:

General planning services such as business operations, planning commission, counter hours, and general 
Planning Division services;
Special projects including the Downtown Specific Plan and Housing Element; and



Applicant based project work on large development projects, environmental analysis, and other related tasks 
which are funded by applicant fees and deposits.

FISCAL IMPACT: 
The City Council approved the the Fiscal Year 2024-25 Mid-Year Budget on February 10, 2025, which accounted 
for increased contracts costs for the Planning Department of $384,777, about $200,000 of this increase was 
budgeted to fund the staff augmentation in this Amendment No. 1. 
 
The approval of the budget amendment to the Housing Authority Fund provided for additional support to be brought 
on to complete the Housing Element. The budget amendment includes funding for this Agreement for $60,000 
along with an additional $50,000 for other consultants assisting with the completion of the project. 
 

 
RECOMMENDED COUNCIL ACTION:
Staff recommends that the City Council approve and authorize the City Manager to execute on their behalf, 
Amendment No 1. to Professional Services Agreement for professional planning services with Sagecrest Planning 
and Environmental Services for a not-to-exceed amount of $541,500. 
 

Attachments

Sagecrest Amendment 3-6-25.pdf
Sagecrest Professional Service Agreement 9-30-2024.pdf

Amendment No. 1 includes a total not-to-exceed amount of $541,500 from October 14, 2024 through December 
31, 2025. Applicant-based projects are funded through fees and deposits, and do not effect the General Fund. 
Costs incurred in the next fiscal year will be included in the proposed Fiscal Year 2025-26 Budget. 
 

https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67c89ed34e7b11006b8e20d2%2FSagecrest%20Amendment%203-6-25%20Final.pdf?alt=media&token=46f6e212-fa1b-42c6-a26a-5a89a2e8b289
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67c89ed34e7b11006b8e20d2%2FSagecrest%20Amendment%203-6-25%20Final.pdf?alt=media&token=46f6e212-fa1b-42c6-a26a-5a89a2e8b289
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67c89ed34e7b11006b8e20d2%2FSagecrest%20Amendment%203-6-25%20Final.pdf?alt=media&token=46f6e212-fa1b-42c6-a26a-5a89a2e8b289
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67c89ed34e7b11006b8e20d2%2FSagecrest%20PSA%2010-2024%20-%20signed.pdf?alt=media&token=d3a30280-ae4a-48e8-b21e-ecf836a2de59
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67c89ed34e7b11006b8e20d2%2FSagecrest%20PSA%2010-2024%20-%20signed.pdf?alt=media&token=d3a30280-ae4a-48e8-b21e-ecf836a2de59
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67c89ed34e7b11006b8e20d2%2FSagecrest%20PSA%2010-2024%20-%20signed.pdf?alt=media&token=d3a30280-ae4a-48e8-b21e-ecf836a2de59


   

 

 
-1-   

 

CITY OF ARTESIA 
 

AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO  
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

BETWEEN THE CITY OF ARTESIA AND SAGECREST PLANNNG AND ENVIRONMENTAL 
SERVICES 

 
1. PARTIES AND DATE. 

This First Amendment to the Agreement is entered into on this 17th day of March, 2025, 
by and between the City of Artesia, a municipal corporation, organized under the laws of the State 
of California ("City") and Sagecrest Planning and Environmental Services, a California 
Corporation, with its principal place of business at 27128 Paseo Espada, Suite 1524, San Juan 
Capistrano, California, 92675 ("Consultant"). City and Consultant are sometimes individually 
referred to herein as "Party" and collectively as "Parties." 

2. RECITALS. 

2.1 Project. 

The parties desire to amend the Agreement, dated October 14th, 2024, in order to extend 
the term, expand the scope of work, and increase the total compensation under the Agreement 
for staff augmentation for the position of interim planning manager and assistant planner 
as well as general project management support on large-scale projects, collectively, 
“Planning Services” ("Project") as set forth in this First Amendment. 

3. TERMS. 

3.1 Scope of Services and Term. 

Term. Section 3.1.2 “Term” of the agreement is amended in its entirety to read as follows: 

“The term of this Agreement shall be from September 30, 2024, to December 31, 
2025 unless earlier terminated as provided herein. The City shall have the unilateral 
option, at its sole discretion, to renew this Agreement automatically for no more than two 
additional one-year terms.” 

3.2 Fees and Payments. 

Compensation.  Section 3.3.1 “Compensation” of the Agreement is amended in its entirety 
to read as follows: 

“Consultant shall receive compensation, including authorized reimbursements, for all 
Services rendered under this Agreement at the rates set forth in Exhibit "C" as amended, 
attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference. The total compensation amount 
shall not exceed Five Hundred Forty-One Thousand Five Hundred Dollars ($541,500) 
without written approval from the City Council or City Manager as applicable. Extra Work 
may be authorized, as described below, and if authorized, will be compensated at the 
rates and manner set forth in this Agreement. The City Manager will have authority to 
approve Extra Work within 10% of the total compensation.” 



   

 

 
-2-   

 

3.3 Exhibit “A” – Scope of Services. 

“Exhibit A – Scope of Services,” is hereby amended in its entirety and replaced with the 
attached “Exhibit A – Scope of Services (Revised March 17, 2025).  

3.4 Exhibit “B” - Payment Rates and Schedule. 

“Exhibit B – Payment Rates and Schedule,” is hereby amended in its entirety and replaced 
with the attached “Exhibit B – Payments Rates and Schedule (Revised March 17, 2025).  

3.5  General Provisions.   

Except as otherwise specifically set forth in this First Amendment, the remaining 
provisions of this Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. 

 

 

[SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE] 

 

  



   

 

 
-3-   

 

SIGNATURE PAGE TO AMENDMENT NO. 1 TO 
PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  

BETWEEN THE CITY OF ARTESIA AND SAGECREST PLANNNG AND ENVIRONMENTAL 
SERVICES 

 
IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this First Amendment to 

Agreement on this 17TH day of March, 2025. 
 

 
CITY OF ARTESIA     SAGECREST PLANNING AND   
       ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES 
     
        
 
By:  ____________________________ By: ______________________________ 

Abel Avalos                          Amy Vazquez 

City Manager               President 
 
 
 
 
ATTEST:                _____________________________ 
       Name 
 ____________________________ Secretary 
 Jennifer Alderete 
 City Clerk 
 
 
 
 
Approved as to Form: 
 

 
______________________________ 
HongDao Nguyen 
City Attorney 

 
 
 



   

 

Exhibit “A”-1 

 

EXHIBIT "A" 
SCOPE OF SERVICES (Revised March 17, 2025) 

Sagecrest Planning and Environmental Services will support the City with staff augmentation 
services to fill the planning manager and assistant planner position and will provide project 
management support for large-scale projects.   
Staff Augmentation Services will include:  

• Planning counter staffing at City Hall for general public, residents, and permit applicants. 
Tasks include high-quality customer service and responsiveness, answering planning and 
zoning questions, reviewing and approving over-the-counter permits, handling general 
inquiries, and conducting follow-up research as needed. 

• Processing zoning verifications and various ministerial permits such as business event 
permits, sign permits, home occupation certificates, and other planning applications. 

• Performing plan check functions for various projects, reviewing building permit applications 
for compliance with applicable zoning standards, regulations, policies, approved development 
plans, and conditions of approval. 

• Preparation of technical planning staff reports, ordinances/resolutions, legal notices, CEQA 
documents, and presentations. 

• Participation in public hearings and presentations, including preparation and presentation of 
written and oral reports to community groups, Planning Commission, and City Council. This 
includes developing recommendations and resolutions, and attendance at evening and 
weekend meetings. 

• Conducting field evaluations and assessments to ensure projects comply with zoning codes, 
design regulations, and approved plans. 

• Plan check and permit-related expenses will be offset by user fees. 
Project Management Services will be assigned by City based on application submission, and may 
include:  

• Project management for discretionary applications (e.g., site development permits, use 
permits, variances, zone text amendments, zone changes, general plan amendments, and 
general municipal code amendments). This involves application and plan review, coordination 
with other City departments and outside agencies, correspondence with applicants, 
background research, ensuring compliance with CEQA, and monitoring project 
implementation to verify substantial conformance with approved plans, conditions of approval, 
and mitigation measures. 

• Coordination with qualified subconsultants to prepare technical studies and environmental 
documents in compliance with CEQA for City projects and private developments. This 
includes preparation of Notices of Exemption, Negative Declarations, Mitigated Negative 
Declarations, and Environmental Impact Reports. 

• Facilitation of special projects and long-range planning initiatives, including surveys, study 
sessions on regulations under consideration, text amendments to adopt or modify regulations, 
general plan amendments, zone changes, and Housing Element implementation. 

• Technical review and assessment of historic resources. 

• The Consultant is to inform the City when work completed on a project constitutes 90% of the 
deposit amount retained by the City. The Consultant is not to continue work beyond the 
deposit amount retained by the City. The Consultant is not to commence or recommence work 
until a copy of a new deposit receipt for funds to undertake the project has been received by 
the Consultant. The City is not responsible for payment of invoices in an amount exceeding 
the deposit retained by the City for a project.  

EXHIBIT "B" 
PAYMENT RATES AND SCHEDULE  

(Revised March 17, 2025) 
 



   

 

Exhibit “B”-1 

 

Billing for consulting services will be based on the time and materials needed to perform such 
services. Sagecrest will perform consulting services based on the following breakdown of 
classification of hourly rates for key personnel as identified below:  

Hourly Billing Rates: 

Position  Hourly Rate  

President  $240.00  

Vice President/Planning Director  $220.00  

Planning Manager  $200.00  

Principal Planner  $160.00  

Senior Planner  $140.00  

Associate Planner  $120.00  

Assistant Planner  $90.00  

Planning Aide  $80.00  

Minutes Clerk/Planning Administration  $60.00  

Projects will be completed within the term of the Agreement.  



 
-1-  

 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT  
BETWEEN THE CITY OF ARTESIA AND SAGECREST PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL 

SERVICES 
 

1. PARTIES AND DATE. 

This Agreement is made and entered into this 14th day of October 2024, by and between 
the City of Artesia, a municipal corporation, organized under the laws of the State of California 
("City") and Sagecrest Planning and Environmental Services, a California Corporation, with its 
principal place of business at 27128 Paseo Espada, Suite 1524, San Juan Capistrano, California, 
92675 ("Consultant"). City and Consultant are sometimes individually referred to herein as "Party" 
and collectively as "Parties." 

2. RECITALS. 

2.1 City and Consultant. 

2.1.1 The City requires Consultant services for staff augmentation for the position 
of planning manager as well as general project management support on large-scale projects, 
collectively, “Planning Services.” 

2.1.2 Consultant desires to perform and assume responsibility for the provision 
of certain professional services required by the City on the terms and conditions set forth in this 
Agreement. Consultant represents that it is experienced in providing planning services to public 
clients and is familiar with the plans of City. 

2.2 Services. 

Consultant shall perform the Planning Services, as more particularly described in Exhibit 
A, attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, as directed by the City Manager or their 
designee. 

3. TERMS. 

3.1 Scope of Services and Term. 

3.1.1 General Scope of Services.  Consultant promises and agrees to furnish to 
the City all labor, materials, tools, equipment, services, and incidental and customary work 
necessary to fully and adequately supply the professional planning services. The services are 
more particularly described in Exhibit "A" attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference.  
All Services shall be subject to, and performed in accordance with, this Agreement, the exhibits 
attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference, and all applicable local, state and federal 
laws, rules and regulations.   

3.1.2 Term.  The term of this Agreement shall be from September 30, 2024, to 
June 30, 2025, unless earlier terminated as provided herein. The City shall have the unilateral 
option, at its sole discretion, to renew this Agreement automatically for no more than two (2) 
additional one-year terms. 



 
-2-  

 

3.2 Responsibilities of Consultant. 

3.2.1 Independent Contractor; Control and Payment of Subordinates.  The 
Services shall be performed by Consultant or under its supervision. Consultant will determine the 
means, methods and details of performing the Services subject to the requirements of this 
Agreement.  City retains Consultant on an independent contractor basis and not as an employee.  
Any personnel performing the Services on behalf of Consultant shall not be employees of City 
and shall at all times be under Consultant's exclusive direction and control.  Consultant shall pay 
all wages, salaries, and other amounts due such personnel in connection with their performance 
of Services under this Agreement and as required by law.  Consultant shall be responsible for all 
reports and obligations respecting such additional personnel, including, but not limited to: social 
security taxes, income tax withholding, unemployment insurance, disability insurance, and 
workers' compensation insurance. 

3.2.2 Schedule of Services. Consultant shall perform the Services in a prompt 
and timely manner and in accordance with any deadlines set forth by the City. Consultant 
represents that it has the professional and technical personnel required to perform the Services 
expeditiously.  Upon request of City, Consultant shall provide a more detailed schedule of 
anticipated performance to meet the Schedule of Services. 

3.2.3 Conformance to Applicable Requirements. All work prepared by Consultant 
shall be subject to the approval of City. 

3.2.4 Substitution of Key Personnel. Consultant has represented to City that 
certain key personnel will perform and coordinate the Services under this Agreement.  Should 
one or more of such personnel become unavailable, Consultant may substitute other personnel 
of at least equal competence upon written approval of City.  In the event that City and Consultant 
cannot agree as to the substitution of key personnel, City shall be entitled to terminate this 
Agreement for cause.  The key personnel for performance of this Agreement are as follows: Art 
Bashmakian, AICP, Senior Project Manager.   

3.2.5 City's Representative.  The City hereby designates Abel Avalos, City 
Manager, or his designee, to act as its representative in all matters pertaining to the administration 
and performance of this Agreement ("City's Representative").  City's Representative shall have 
the power to act on behalf of the City for review and approval of all products submitted by 
Consultant but not the authority to enlarge the Scope of Services or change the total 
compensation due to Consultant under this Agreement. The City Manager shall be authorized to 
act on City's behalf and to execute all necessary documents which enlarge the Scope of Services 
or change the Consultant's total compensation subject to the provisions contained in Section 3.3 
of this Agreement.  Consultant shall not accept direction or orders from any person other than the 
City Manager, City's Representative or his/her designee. Consultant's Representative shall 
supervise and direct the Services, using his/her best skill and attention, and shall be responsible 
for all means, methods, techniques, sequences, and procedures and for the satisfactory 
coordination of all portions of the Services under this Agreement. 

3.2.6 Coordination of Services.  Consultant agrees to work closely with City staff 
in the performance of Services and shall be available to City's staff, consultants and other staff at 
all reasonable times. 

3.2.7 Standard of Care; Performance of Employees.  Consultant shall perform all 



 
-3-  

 

Services under this Agreement in a skillful and competent manner, consistent with the standards 
generally recognized as being employed by professionals in the same discipline in the State of 
California. Consultant represents and maintains that it is skilled in the professional calling 
necessary to perform the Services. Consultant warrants that all employees and subconsultants 
shall have sufficient skill and experience to perform the Services assigned to them. Consultant 
represents that it, its employees and subconsultants have all licenses, permits, qualifications and 
approvals of whatever nature that are legally required to perform the Services, and that such 
licenses and approvals shall be maintained throughout the term of this Agreement. Consultant 
shall perform, at its own cost and expense and without reimbursement from the City, any services 
necessary to correct errors or omissions which are caused by the Consultant's failure to comply 
with the standard of care provided for herein. Any employee of the Consultant or its sub-
consultants who is determined by the City to be uncooperative, incompetent, a threat to the 
adequate or timely completion of the Project, a threat to the safety of persons or property, or any 
employee who fails or refuses to perform the Services in a manner acceptable to the City, shall 
be promptly removed from the Project by the Consultant and shall not be re-employed to perform 
any of the Services or to work on the Project. 

3.2.8 Laws and Regulations; Employee/Labor Certification. Consultant shall 
keep itself fully informed of and in compliance with all local, state and federal laws, rules and 
regulations in any manner affecting the performance of the Project or the Services, including all 
Cal/OSHA requirements, and shall give all notices required by law.  Consultant shall be liable for 
all violations of such laws and regulations in connection with the Services and this Agreement.  
All violations of such laws and regulations shall be grounds for the City to terminate the Agreement 
for cause.   

3.2.8.1 Employment Eligibility; Consultant. Consultant certifies that it 
fully complies with all requirements and restrictions of state and federal law respecting the 
employment of undocumented aliens, including, but not limited to, the Immigration Reform and 
Control Act of 1986, as may be amended from time to time and shall require all subconsultants 
and sub-subconsultants to comply with the same.  Consultant certifies that it has not committed 
a violation of any such law within the five (5) years immediately preceding the date of execution 
of this Agreement, and shall not violate any such law at any time during the term of the Agreement. 

3.2.8.2 Equal Opportunity Employment. Consultant represents that it is 
an equal opportunity employer and it shall not discriminate against any subconsultant, employee 
or applicant for employment because of race, religion, color, national origin, handicap, ancestry, 
sex or age.  Such non-discrimination shall include, but not be limited to, all activities related to 
initial employment, upgrading, demotion, transfer, recruitment or recruitment advertising, layoff or 
termination.  Consultant shall also comply with all relevant provisions of City's Minority Business 
Enterprise program, Affirmative Action Plan or other related programs or guidelines currently in 
effect or hereinafter enacted. 

3.2.8.3 Air Quality. To the extent applicable, Consultant must fully 
comply with all applicable laws, rules and regulations in furnishing or using equipment and/or 
providing services, including, but not limited to, emissions limits and permitting requirements 
imposed by the South Coast Air Quality Management District (SCAQMD) and/or California Air 
Resources Board (CARB).  Consultant shall indemnify City against any fines or penalties imposed 
by SCAQMD, CARB, or any other governmental or regulatory agency for violations of applicable 
laws, rules and/or regulations by Consultant, its subconsultants, or others for whom Consultant is 
responsible under its indemnity obligations provided for in this Agreement. 



 
-4-  

 

3.2.8.4 Safety. Consultant shall execute and maintain its work so as to 
avoid injury or damage to any person or property. In carrying out its Services, the Consultant shall 
at all times be in compliance with all applicable local, state and federal laws, rules and regulations, 
and shall exercise all necessary precautions for the safety of employees appropriate to the nature 
of the work and the conditions under which the work is to be performed. 

3.2.9 Insurance. 

3.2.9.1 Time for Compliance. Consultant shall not commence work 
under this Agreement until it has provided evidence satisfactory to the City that it has secured all 
insurance required under this section.  In addition, Consultant shall not allow any subconsultant 
to commence work on any subcontract until it has provided evidence satisfactory to the City that 
the subconsultant has secured all insurance required under this section.  Failure to provide and 
maintain all required insurance shall be grounds for the City to terminate this Agreement for cause. 

3.2.9.2 Types of Insurance Required. As a condition precedent to the 
effectiveness of this Agreement for work to be performed hereunder, and without limiting the 
indemnity provisions of the Agreement, the Consultant, in partial performance of its obligations 
under such Agreement, shall procure and maintain in full force and effect during the term of the 
Agreement the following policies of insurance.  If the existing policies do not meet the insurance 
requirements set forth herein, Consultant agrees to amend, supplement or endorse the policies 
to do so. 

(A) Commercial General Liability: Commercial General Liability 
Insurance which affords coverage at least as broad as Insurance Services Office "occurrence" 
form CG 0001, or the exact equivalent, with limits of not less than $2,000,000 per occurrence and 
no less than $3,000,000 in the general aggregate. Defense costs shall be paid in addition to the 
limits.  The policy shall contain no endorsements or provisions (1) limiting coverage for contractual 
liability; (2) excluding coverage for claims or suits by one insured against another (cross-liability); 
(3) products/completed operations liability; or (4) containing any other exclusion(s) contrary to the 
terms or purposes of this Agreement. 

(B) Automobile Liability Insurance: Automobile Liability 
Insurance with coverage at least as broad as Insurance Services Office Form CA 0001 covering 
"Any Auto" (Symbol 1), or the exact equivalent, covering bodily injury and property damage for all 
activities with limits of not less than $600,000 combined limit for each occurrence.  

(C) Workers' Compensation: Workers' Compensation 
Insurance, as required by the State of California and Employer's Liability Insurance with a limit of 
not less than $1,000,000 per accident for bodily injury and disease. If Consultant has no 
employees while performing under this Agreement, worker’s compensation insurance is not 
required, but Consultant shall execute declaration that it has no employees.  

(D) Professional Liability (Errors & Omissions): Professional 
Liability insurance or Errors & Omissions insurance appropriate to Consultant’s profession with 
limits of not less than $1,000,000.  Covered professional services shall specifically include all 
work to be performed under the Agreement and delete any exclusions that may potentially affect 
the work to be performed (for example, any exclusions relating to lead, asbestos, pollution, 
testing, underground storage tanks, laboratory analysis, soil work, etc.).  If coverage is written on 
a claims-made basis, the retroactive date shall precede the effective date of the initial Agreement 



 
-5-  

 

and continuous coverage will be maintained or an extended reporting period will be exercised for 
a period of at least five (5) years from termination or expiration of this Agreement.  

3.2.9.3 Insurance Endorsements. Required insurance policies shall 
contain the following provisions, or Consultant shall provide endorsements on forms approved by 
the City to add the following provisions to the insurance policies: 

(A) Commercial General Liability: (1) Additional Insured:  The 
City, its officials, officers, employees, agents, and volunteers shall be additional insureds with 
regard to liability and defense of suits or claims arising out of the performance of the Agreement.  
Additional Insured Endorsements shall not (1) be restricted to "ongoing operations"; (2) exclude 
"contractual liability"; (3) restrict coverage to "sole" liability of Consultant; or (4) contain any other 
exclusions contrary to the terms or purposes of this Agreement.  For all policies of Commercial 
General Liability insurance, Consultant shall provide endorsements in the form of ISO CG 20 10 
10 01 and 20 37 10 01 (or endorsements providing the exact same coverage) to effectuate this 
requirement. (2) Cancellation:  Required insurance policies shall not be canceled or the coverage 
reduced until a thirty (30) day written notice of cancellation has been served upon the City except 
ten (10) days shall be allowed for non-payment of premium. 

(B) Automobile Liability. (1) Cancellation:  Required insurance 
policies shall not be canceled or the coverage reduced until a thirty (30) day written notice of 
cancellation has been served upon the City except ten (10) days shall be allowed for non-payment 
of premium.  

(C) Professional Liability (Errors & Omissions): 1) Cancellation:  
Required insurance policies shall not be canceled or the coverage reduced until a thirty (30) day 
written notice of cancellation has been served upon the City except ten (10) days shall be allowed 
for non-payment of premium.  (2) Contractual Liability Exclusion Deleted:  This insurance shall 
include contractual liability applicable to this Agreement.  The policy must “pay on behalf of” the 
insured and include a provision establishing the insurer’s duty to defend. 

(D) Workers' Compensation: (1) Cancellation: Required 
insurance policies shall not be canceled, or the coverage reduced until a thirty (30) day written 
notice of cancellation has been served upon the City except ten (10) days shall be allowed for 
non-payment of premium.  (2) Waiver of Subrogation: A waiver of subrogation stating that the 
insurer waives all rights of subrogation against the City, its officials, officers, employees, agents, 
and volunteers. 

3.2.9.4 Primary and Non-Contributing Insurance. All policies of 
Commercial General Liability and Automobile Liability insurance shall be primary and any other 
insurance, deductible, or self-insurance maintained by the City, its officials, officers, employees, 
agents, or volunteers shall not contribute with this primary insurance.  Policies shall contain or be 
endorsed to contain such provisions. 

3.2.9.5 Waiver of Subrogation. All required insurance coverages, except 
for the professional liability coverage, shall contain or be endorsed to waiver of subrogation in 
favor of the City, its officials, officers, employees, agents, and volunteers or shall specifically allow 
Consultant or others providing insurance evidence in compliance with these specifications to 
waive their right of recovery prior to a loss. Consultant hereby waives its own right of recovery 



 
-6-  

 

against City and shall require similar written express waivers and insurance clauses from each of 
its subconsultants. 

3.2.9.6 Deductibles and Self-Insured Retentions. Any deductible or self-
insured retention must be approved in writing by the City and shall protect the City, its officials, 
officers, employees, agents, and volunteers in the same manner and to the same extent as they 
would have been protected had the policy or policies not contained a deductible or self-insured 
retention. 

3.2.9.7 Evidence of Insurance. The Consultant, concurrently with the 
execution of the Agreement, and as a condition precedent to the effectiveness thereof, shall 
deliver either certified copies of the required policies, or original certificates on forms approved by 
the City, together with all endorsements affecting each policy.  Required insurance policies shall 
not be in compliance if they include any limiting provision or endorsement that has not been 
submitted to the City for approval.  The certificates and endorsements for each insurance policy 
shall be signed by a person authorized by that insurer to bind coverage on its behalf.  At least 
fifteen (15 days) prior to the expiration of any such policy, evidence of insurance showing that 
such insurance coverage has been renewed or extended shall be filed with the City.  If such 
coverage is cancelled or reduced and not replaced immediately so as to avoid a lapse in the 
required coverage, Consultant shall, within ten (10) days after receipt of written notice of such 
cancellation or reduction of coverage, file with the City evidence of insurance showing that the 
required insurance has been reinstated or has been provided through another insurance company 
or companies. 

3.2.9.8 Acceptability of Insurers. Each such policy shall be from a 
company or companies with a current A.M. Best's rating of no less than A:VII and authorized to 
transact business of insurance in the State of California, or otherwise allowed to place insurance 
through surplus line brokers under applicable provisions of the California Insurance Code or any 
federal law. 

3.2.9.9 Enforcement of Agreement Provisions (non estoppel).  
Consultant acknowledges and agrees that actual or alleged failure on the part of the City to inform 
Consultant of non-compliance with any requirement imposes no additional obligation on the City 
nor does it waive any rights hereunder. 

3.2.9.10 Requirements Not Limiting. Requirement of specific coverage or 
minimum limits contained in this Section are not intended as a limitation on coverage, limits, or 
other requirement, or a waiver of any coverage normally provided by any insurance. 

3.2.9.11 Additional Insurance Provisions 

(A) The foregoing requirements as to the types and limits of 
insurance coverage to be maintained by Consultant, and any approval of said insurance by the 
City, is not intended to and shall not in any manner limit or qualify the liabilities and obligations 
otherwise assumed by the Consultant pursuant to this Agreement, including but not limited to, the 
provisions concerning indemnification. 

(B) If at any time during the life of the Agreement, any policy of 
insurance required under this Agreement does not comply with these specifications or is canceled 
and not replaced, City has the right but not the duty to obtain the insurance it deems necessary 



 
-7-  

 

and any premium paid by City will be promptly reimbursed by Consultant or City will withhold 
amounts sufficient to pay premium from Consultant payments. In the alternative, City may cancel 
this Agreement. 

(C) The City may require the Consultant to provide complete 
copies of all insurance policies in effect for the duration of the Project. 

(D) Neither the City nor any of its officials, officers, employees, 
agents or volunteers shall be personally responsible for any liability arising under or by virtue of 
this Agreement. 

(E) The limits set forth herein shall apply separately to each 
insured against whom claims are made or suits are brought, except with respect to the limits of 
liability.  Further the limits set forth herein shall not be construed to relieve the Consultant from 
liability in excess of such coverage, nor shall it limit the Consultant’s indemnification obligations 
to the City and shall not preclude the City from taking such other actions available to the City 
under other provisions of the Agreement or law. 

(F) Consultant shall report to the City, in addition to Consultant’s 
insurer, any and all insurance claims submitted by Consultant in connection with the Services 
under this Agreement. 

3.2.9.12 Insurance for Subconsultants. Consultant shall include all 
subconsultants engaged in any work for Consultant relating to this Agreement as additional 
insureds under the Consultant's policies, or the Consultant shall be responsible for causing 
subconsultants to purchase the appropriate insurance in compliance with the terms of these 
Insurance Requirements, including adding the City, its officials, officers, employees, agents, and 
volunteers as additional insureds to the subconsultant's policies.  All policies of Commercial 
General Liability insurance provided by Consultant’s subconsultants performing work relating to 
this Agreement shall be endorsed to name the City, its officials, officers, employees, agents and 
volunteers as additional insureds using endorsement form ISO CG 20 38 04 13 or an 
endorsement providing equivalent coverage.  Consultant shall not allow any subconsultant to 
commence work on any subcontract relating to this Agreement until it has received satisfactory 
evidence of subconsultant’s compliance with all insurance requirements under this Agreement, to 
the extent applicable.  The Consultant shall provide satisfactory evidence of compliance with this 
section upon request of the City. 

3.2.10 Water Quality Management and Compliance. Consultant shall keep itself 
and all subcontractors, staff, and employees fully informed of and in compliance with all local, 
state and federal laws, rules and regulations that may impact, or be implicated by the performance 
of the Services including, without limitation, all applicable provisions of the City’s ordinances 
regulating water quality and storm water; the Federal Water Pollution Control Act (33 U.S.C. 
§ 1251, et seq.); the California Porter-Cologne Water Quality Control Act (Water Code § 13000 
et seq.); and any and all regulations, policies, or permits issued pursuant to any such authority.  
Consultant must additionally comply with the lawful requirements of the City, and any other 
municipality, drainage district, or other local agency with jurisdiction over the location where the 
Services are to be conducted, regulating water quality and storm water discharges.  City may 
seek damages from Consultant for delay in completing the Services caused by Consultant’s 
failure to comply with the laws, regulations and policies described in this Section, or any other 
relevant water quality law, regulation, or policy. 



 
-8-  

 

3.3 Fees and Payments. 

3.3.1 Compensation. Consultant shall receive compensation, including 
authorized reimbursements, for all Services rendered under this Agreement at the rates set forth 
in Exhibit "B" attached hereto and incorporated herein by reference. The total compensation 
amount shall not exceed Two Hundred Eighty Thousand Dollars ($280,000) without written 
approval from the City Council or City Manager as applicable. Extra Work may be authorized, as 
described below, and if authorized, will be compensated at the rates and manner set forth in this 
Agreement. The City Manager will have authority to approve Extra Work within 10% of the total 
compensation.  

3.3.2 Payment of Compensation. Consultant shall submit to City a monthly 
invoice, no later than the fifteenth (15th) calendar day of each month, which indicates work 
completed and hours of Services rendered by Consultant during the prior month.  The invoice 
shall describe the amount of Services provided since the initial commencement date, or since the 
start of the subsequent billing periods, as appropriate, through the date of the invoice.  City shall, 
within 30 days of receiving such invoice, review the invoice and pay all non-disputed and approved 
charges.  If the City disputes any of Consultant's fees, the City shall give written notice to 
Consultant within thirty (30) days of receipt of an invoice of any disputed fees set forth therein.  
Payment shall not constitute acceptance of any Services completed by Consultant.  The making 
of final payment shall not constitute a waiver of any claims by the City for any reason whatsoever. 

3.3.3 Reimbursement for Expenses. Consultant shall not be reimbursed for any 
expenses unless authorized in writing by City, or included in Exhibit "B" of this Agreement. 

3.3.4 Extra Work.  At any time during the term of this Agreement, City may 
request that Consultant perform Extra Work.  As used herein, “Extra Work” means any work which 
is determined by City to be necessary for the proper completion of the Planning Services, but 
which the Parties did not reasonably anticipate would be necessary at the execution of this 
Agreement. Consultant shall not perform, nor be compensated for, Extra Work without prior 
written authorization from the City.  

3.3.5 Rate Increases. In the event that this Agreement is renewed pursuant to 
Section 3.1.2, the rate set forth in Exhibit “B” may be adjusted at the time of renewal as set forth 
in Exhibit “B.” 

3.4 Accounting Records. 

3.4.1 Maintenance and Inspection. Consultant shall maintain complete and 
accurate records with respect to all costs and expenses incurred under this Agreement.  All such 
records shall be clearly identifiable.  Consultant shall allow a representative of City during normal 
business hours to examine, audit, and make transcripts or copies of such records and any other 
documents created pursuant to this Agreement. Consultant shall allow inspection of all work, data, 
documents, proceedings, and activities related to the Agreement for a period of three (3) years 
from the date of final payment under this Agreement. 

3.5 General Provisions. 

3.5.1 Termination of Agreement. 



 
-9-  

 

3.5.1.1 Grounds for Termination. City may, by written notice to 
Consultant, terminate the whole or any part of this Agreement at any time and without cause by 
giving written notice to Consultant of such termination, and specifying the effective date thereof, 
at least seven (7) days before the effective date of such termination.  Upon termination, Consultant 
shall be compensated only for those services which have been adequately rendered to City, and 
Consultant shall be entitled to no further compensation. Consultant may not terminate this 
Agreement except for cause. 

3.5.1.2 Effect of Termination. If this Agreement is terminated as 
provided herein, City may require Consultant to provide all finished or unfinished Documents and 
Data and other information of any kind prepared by Consultant in connection with the performance 
of Services under this Agreement.  Consultant shall be required to provide such document and 
other information within fifteen (15) days of the request. 

3.5.1.3 Additional Services. In the event this Agreement is terminated in 
whole or in part as provided herein, City may procure, upon such terms and in such manner as it 
may determine appropriate, services similar to those terminated. 

3.5.2 Delivery of Notices. All notices permitted or required under this Agreement 
shall be given to the respective parties at the following address, or at such other address as the 
respective parties may provide in writing for this purpose: 

Consultant: Sagecrest Planning and Environmental Services  
27128 Paseo Espada, Suite 1524 
San Juan Capistrano, California 92675 
ATTN:  Amy Vazquez, President  

 
City: City of Artesia  

18747 Clarkdale Avenue 
Artesia, California 90701 
ATTN:  Abel Avalos, City Manager 
 

Such notice shall be deemed made when personally delivered or when mailed, forty-eight (48) 
hours after deposit in the U.S.  Mail, first class postage prepaid and addressed to the party at its 
applicable address.  Actual notice shall be deemed adequate notice on the date actual notice 
occurred, regardless of the method of service. 

3.5.3 Ownership of Materials and Confidentiality. 

3.5.3.1 Documents & Data; Licensing of Intellectual Property. This 
Agreement creates a non-exclusive and perpetual license for City to copy, use, modify, reuse, or 
sublicense any and all copyrights, designs, and other intellectual property embodied in plans, 
specifications, studies, drawings, estimates, and other documents or works of authorship fixed in 
any tangible medium of expression, including but not limited to, physical drawings or data 
magnetically or otherwise recorded on computer diskettes, which are prepared or caused to be 
prepared by Consultant under this Agreement ("Documents & Data").  All Documents & Data shall 
be and remain the property of City, and shall not be used in whole or in substantial part by 
Consultant on other projects without the City’s express written permission.  Within thirty (30) days 
following the completion, suspension, abandonment or termination of this Agreement, Consultant 
shall provide to City reproducible copies of all Documents & Data, in a form and amount required 



 
-10-  

 

by City.  City reserves the right to select the method of document reproduction and to establish 
where the reproduction will be accomplished.  The reproduction expense shall be borne by City 
at the actual cost of duplication.  In the event of a dispute regarding the amount of compensation 
to which the Consultant is entitled under the termination provisions of this Agreement, Consultant 
shall provide all Documents & Data to City upon payment of the undisputed amount.  Consultant 
shall have no right to retain or fail to provide to City any such documents pending resolution of 
the dispute.  In addition, Consultant shall retain copies of all Documents & Data on file for a 
minimum of fifteen (15) years following completion of the Project, and shall make copies available 
to City upon the payment of actual reasonable duplication costs. Before destroying the 
Documents & Data following this retention period, Consultant shall make a reasonable effort to 
notify City and provide City with the opportunity to obtain the documents. 

3.5.3.2 Subconsultants. Consultant shall require all subconsultants to 
agree in writing that City is granted a non-exclusive and perpetual license for any Documents & 
Data the subconsultant prepares under this Agreement.  Consultant represents and warrants that 
Consultant has the legal right to license any and all Documents & Data.  Consultant makes no 
such representation and warranty in regard to Documents & Data which were prepared by design 
professionals other than Consultant or its subconsultants, or those provided to Consultant by the 
City. 

3.5.3.3 Right to Use. City shall not be limited in any way in its use or 
reuse of the Documents and Data or any part of them at any time for purposes of this Project or 
another project, provided that any such use not within the purposes intended by this Agreement 
or on a project other than this Project without employing the services of Consultant shall be at 
City’s sole risk. If City uses or reuses the Documents & Data on any project other than this Project, 
it shall remove the Consultant’s seal from the Documents & Data and indemnify and hold harmless 
Consultant and its officers, directors, agents and employees from claims arising out of the 
negligent use or re-use of the Documents & Data on such other project.  Consultant shall be 
responsible and liable for its Documents & Data, pursuant to the terms of this Agreement, only 
with respect to the condition of the Documents & Data at the time they are provided to the City 
upon completion, suspension, abandonment or termination.  Consultant shall not be responsible 
or liable for any revisions to the Documents & Data made by any party other than Consultant, a 
party for whom the Consultant is legally responsible or liable, or anyone approved by the 
Consultant. 

3.5.3.4 Indemnification. Consultant shall defend, indemnify and hold the 
City, its directors, officials, officers, employees, volunteers and agents free and harmless, 
pursuant to the indemnification provisions of this Agreement, for any alleged infringement of any 
patent, copyright, trade secret, trade name, trademark, or any other proprietary right of any person 
or entity in consequence of the use on the Project by City of the Documents & Data, including any 
method, process, product, or concept specified or depicted. 

3.5.3.5 Confidentiality.  All ideas, memoranda, specifications, plans, 
procedures, drawings, descriptions, computer program data, input record data, written 
information, and other Documents & Data either created by or provided to Consultant in 
connection with the performance of this Agreement shall be held confidential by Consultant.  Such 
materials shall not, without the prior written consent of City, be used by Consultant for any 
purposes other than the performance of the Services.  Nor shall such materials be disclosed to 
any person or entity not connected with the performance of the Services or the Project.  Nothing 
furnished to Consultant which is otherwise known to Consultant or is generally known, or has 



 
-11-  

 

become known, to the related industry shall be deemed confidential.  Consultant shall not use 
City's name or insignia, photographs of the Project, or any publicity pertaining to the Services or 
the Project in any magazine, trade paper, newspaper, television or radio production or other 
similar medium without the prior written consent of City. 

3.5.3.6 Confidential Information.  The City shall refrain from releasing 
Consultant’s proprietary information ("Proprietary Information") unless the City's legal counsel 
determines that the release of the Proprietary Information is required by the California Public 
Records Act or other applicable state or federal law, or order of a court of competent jurisdiction, 
in which case the City shall notify Consultant of its intention to release Proprietary Information.  
Consultant shall have five (5) working days after receipt of the Release Notice to give City written 
notice of Consultant's objection to the City's release of Proprietary Information.  Consultant shall 
indemnify, defend and hold harmless the City, and its officers, directors, employees, and agents 
from and against all liability, loss, cost or expense (including attorney’s fees) arising out of a legal 
action brought to compel the release of Proprietary Information.  City shall not release the 
Proprietary Information after receipt of the Objection Notice unless either:  (1) Consultant fails to 
fully indemnify, defend (with City's choice of legal counsel), and hold City harmless from any legal 
action brought to compel such release; and/or (2) a final and non-appealable order by a court of 
competent jurisdiction requires that City release such information. 

3.5.4 Cooperation; Further Acts.  The Parties shall fully cooperate with one 
another, and shall take any additional acts or sign any additional documents as may be necessary, 
appropriate or convenient to attain the purposes of this Agreement. 

3.5.5 Indemnification.   

3.5.5.1 To the fullest extent permitted by law, Consultant shall defend 
(with counsel of City’s choosing), indemnify and hold the City, its officials, officers, employees, 
volunteers, and agents free and harmless from any and all claims, demands, causes of action, 
costs, expenses, liability, loss, damage or injury of any kind, in law or equity, to property or 
persons, including wrongful death,  in any manner arising out of, pertaining to, or incident to any 
acts, errors or omissions, or willful misconduct of Consultant, its officials, officers, employees, 
subcontractors, consultants or agents in connection with the performance of the Consultant’s 
Services, the Project or this Agreement, including without limitation the payment of all damages, 
expert witness fees and attorney’s fees and other related costs and expenses except such loss 
or damage caused by the sole negligence or willful misconduct of the City.  Consultant's obligation 
to indemnify shall survive expiration or termination of this Agreement and shall not be restricted 
to insurance proceeds, if any, received by Consultant, the City, its officials, officers, employees, 
agents, or volunteers. 

3.5.5.2 If Consultant’s obligation to defend, indemnify, and/or hold 
harmless arises out of Consultant’s performance as a “design professional” (as that term is 
defined under Civil Code section 2782.8), then, and only to the extent required by Civil Code 
section 2782.8, which is fully incorporated herein, Consultant’s indemnification obligation shall be 
limited to claims that arise out of, pertain to, or relate to the negligence, recklessness, or willful 
misconduct of the Consultant, and, upon Consultant obtaining a final adjudication by a court of 
competent jurisdiction, Consultant’s liability for such claim, including the cost to defend, shall not 
exceed the Consultant’s proportionate percentage of fault. 

3.5.6 Entire Agreement.  This Agreement contains the entire Agreement of the 



 
-12-  

 

parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all prior negotiations, 
understandings or agreements.   

3.5.7 Governing Law; Government Code Claim Compliance.  This Agreement 
shall be governed by the laws of the State of California.  Venue shall be in Los Angeles County.  
In addition to any and all contract requirements pertaining to notices of and requests for 
compensation or payment for extra work, disputed work, claims and/or changed conditions, 
Consultant must comply with the claim procedures set forth in Government Code sections 900 et 
seq. prior to filing any lawsuit against the City.  Such Government Code claims and any 
subsequent lawsuit based upon the Government Code claims shall be limited to those matters 
that remain unresolved after all procedures pertaining to extra work, disputed work, claims, and/or 
changed conditions have been followed by Consultant.  If no such Government Code claim is 
submitted, or if any prerequisite contractual requirements are not otherwise satisfied as specified 
herein, Consultant shall be barred from bringing and maintaining a valid lawsuit against the City. 

3.5.8 Attorney’s Fees.  If either party commences an action against the other 
party, either legal, administrative or otherwise, arising out of or in connection with this Agreement, 
the prevailing party in such litigation shall be entitled to have and recover from the losing party 
reasonable attorney’s fees and all other costs of such action. 

3.5.9 Time of Essence.  Time is of the essence for each and every provision of 
this Agreement. 

3.5.10 City's Right to Employ Other Consultants.  City reserves right to employ 
other consultants in connection with this Project. 

3.5.11 Successors and Assigns.  This Agreement shall be binding on the 
successors and assigns of the parties. 

3.5.12 Assignment; Subcontracting.  Consultant shall not assign, sublet, or 
transfer this Agreement or any rights under or interest in this Agreement without the written 
consent of the City, which may be withheld for any reason.  Any attempt to so assign or so transfer 
without such consent shall be void and without legal effect and shall constitute grounds for 
termination.  Consultant shall not subcontract any portion of the Services required by this 
Agreement, except as expressly stated herein, without prior written approval of City.  
Subcontracts, if any, shall contain a provision making them subject to all provisions stipulated in 
this Agreement. 

3.5.13 Construction; References; Captions.  Since the Parties or their agents have 
participated fully in the preparation of this Agreement, the language of this Agreement shall be 
construed simply, according to its fair meaning, and not strictly for or against any Party.  Any term 
referencing time, days or period for performance shall be deemed calendar days and not work 
days.  All references to Consultant include all personnel, employees, agents, and subconsultants 
of Consultant, except as otherwise specified in this Agreement.  All references to City include its 
elected officials, officers, employees, agents, and volunteers except as otherwise specified in this 
Agreement.  The captions of the various articles and paragraphs are for convenience and ease 
of reference only, and do not define, limit, augment, or describe the scope, content, or intent of 
this Agreement. 

3.5.14 Amendment; Modification.  No supplement, modification, or amendment of 



 
-13-  

 

this Agreement shall be binding unless executed in writing and signed by both Parties. The City 
Manager shall have the authority to authorize changes to the Agreement that do not change the 
term or compensation of the Agreement.  

3.5.15 Waiver.  No waiver of any default shall constitute a waiver of any other 
default or breach, whether of the same or other covenant or condition.  No waiver, benefit, 
privilege, or service voluntarily given or performed by a Party shall give the other Party any 
contractual rights by custom, estoppel, or otherwise. 

3.5.16 No Third-Party Beneficiaries.  There are no intended third-party 
beneficiaries of any right or obligation assumed by the Parties. 

3.5.17 Invalidity; Severability.  If any portion of this Agreement is declared invalid, 
illegal, or otherwise unenforceable by a court of competent jurisdiction, the remaining provisions 
shall continue in full force and effect. 

3.5.18 Prohibited Interests.  Consultant maintains and warrants that it has not 
employed nor retained any company or person, other than a bona fide employee working solely 
for Consultant, to solicit or secure this Agreement.  Consultant warrants that it has not paid nor 
has it agreed to pay any company or person, other than a bona fide employee working solely for 
Consultant, any fee, commission, percentage, brokerage fee, gift or other consideration 
contingent upon or resulting from the award or making of this Agreement.  Consultant further 
agrees to file, or shall cause its employees or subconsultants to file, a Statement of Economic 
Interest with the City’s Filing Officer as required under state law in the performance of the 
Services.  For breach or violation of this warranty, City shall have the right to rescind this 
Agreement without liability.  For the term of this Agreement, no member, officer or employee of 
City, during the term of his or her service with City, shall have any direct interest in this Agreement, 
or obtain any present or anticipated material benefit arising therefrom. 

3.5.19 Authority to Enter Agreement.  Consultant has all requisite power and 
authority to conduct its business and to execute, deliver, and perform the Agreement.  Each Party 
warrants that the individuals who have signed this Agreement have the legal power, right, and 
authority to make this Agreement and bind each respective Party. 

3.5.20 Counterparts.  This Agreement may be signed in counterparts, each of 
which shall constitute an original. 

3.5.21 Survival.  All rights and obligations hereunder that by their nature are to 
continue after any expiration or termination of this Agreement, including, but not limited to, the 
indemnification obligations, shall survive any such expiration or termination. 

 

 

 

[SIGNATURES ON NEXT PAGE] 

 



-14-

SIGNATURE PAGE TO 

PROFESSIONAL SERVICES AGREEMENT BY AND 
BETWEEN THE CITY OF ARTESIA AND SAGECREST 
PLANNING AND ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the Parties have executed this Agreement as of the date first 
written above. 

CITY OF ARTESIA SAGECREST PLANNING AND 
ENVIRONMENTAL SERVICES 

By:  ____________________________   By: 
Abel Avalos   Amy Vazquez 
City Manager     President 

Attest: 

By:  ____________________________   By: 
Jennifer Alderete    Name 
City Clerk Title 

Approved as to Form: 

______________________________ 
HongDao Nguyen 
City Attorney 

Amy Vazquez, Secretary

Abel Avalos (Oct 15, 2024 20:47 PDT)

Jennifer Alderete (Oct 16, 2024 08:40 PDT)



 
Exhibit “A” - 1   

 

EXHIBIT "A" 
 

SCOPE OF SERVICES 

Sagecrest Planning and Environmental Services will support the City with staff augmentation 
services to fill the planning manager position and will provide project management support for 
large-scale projects.   
 
Staff Augmentation Services will include:  
 

• Planning counter staffing at City Hall for general public, residents, and permit applicants. 
Tasks include high-quality customer service and responsiveness, answering planning and 
zoning questions, reviewing and approving over-the-counter permits, handling general 
inquiries, and conducting follow-up research as needed. 

• Processing zoning verifications and various ministerial permits such as business event 
permits, sign permits, home occupation certificates, and other planning applications. 

• Performing plan check functions for various projects, reviewing building permit 
applications for compliance with applicable zoning standards, regulations, policies, 
approved development plans, and conditions of approval. 

• Preparation of technical planning staff reports, ordinances/resolutions, legal notices, 
CEQA documents, and presentations. 

• Participation in public hearings and presentations, including preparation and presentation 
of written and oral reports to community groups, Planning Commission, and City Council. 
This includes developing recommendations and resolutions, and attendance at evening 
and weekend meetings. 

• Conducting field evaluations and assessments to ensure projects comply with zoning 
codes, design regulations, and approved plans. 

• Plan check and permit-related expenses will be offset by user fees. 
 
Project Management Services will be assigned by City based on application submission, and may 
include:  
 

• Project management for discretionary applications (e.g., site development permits, use 
permits, variances, zone text amendments, zone changes, general plan amendments, and 
general municipal code amendments). This involves application and plan review, 
coordination with other City departments and outside agencies, correspondence with 
applicants, background research, ensuring compliance with CEQA, and monitoring project 
implementation to verify substantial conformance with approved plans, conditions of 
approval, and mitigation measures. 

• Coordination with qualified subconsultants to prepare technical studies and environmental 
documents in compliance with CEQA for City projects and private developments. This 
includes preparation of Notices of Exemption, Negative Declarations, Mitigated Negative 
Declarations, and Environmental Impact Reports. 

• Facilitation of special projects and long-range planning initiatives, including surveys, study 
sessions on regulations under consideration, text amendments to adopt or modify 
regulations, general plan amendments, zone changes, and Housing Element 
implementation. 

• Technical review and assessment of historic resources. 
• The Consultant is to inform the City when work completed on a project constitutes 90% of 

the deposit amount retained by the City. The Consultant is not to continue work beyond 
the deposit amount retained by the City. The Consultant is not to commence or 



 
Exhibit “A” - 2   

 

recommence work until a copy of a new deposit receipt for funds to undertake the project 
has been received by the Consultant. The City is not responsible for payment of invoices 
in an amount exceeding the deposit retained by the City for a project. 



 
  

Exhibit “B” - 1 

EXHIBIT "B" 
PAYMENT RATES AND SCHEDULE 

Billing for consulting services will be based on the time and materials needed to perform such 
services. Sagecrest will perform consulting services based on the following breakdown of 
classification of hourly rates for key personnel as identified below: 

Hourly Billing Rates: 
 

 

Position Hourly Rate 
President $240.00 
Vice President/Planning Director $220.00 
Planning Manager $200.00 
Principal Planner $160.00 
Senior Planner $140.00 
Associate Planner $120.00 
Assistant Planner $90.00 
Planning Aide $80.00 
Minutes Clerk/Planning Administration $60.00 

 
Staff Augmentation Services, as described in Exhibit A, shall not exceed Eighty Thousand 
Dollars ($80,000).   
 
Project Management Services, as described in Exhibit A, shall not exceed Two Hundred 
Thousand Dollars ($200,000). 



Sagecrest Professional Services Agreement
[FINAL]
Final Audit Report 2024-10-17

Created: 2024-10-15

By: Carmen Zambrano (czambrano@cityofartesia.us)

Status: Signed

Transaction ID: CBJCHBCAABAAECFyoDnwovGvBn1FB1MjuBYjCiq_Zc_D

"Sagecrest Professional Services Agreement [FINAL]" History
Document created by Carmen Zambrano (czambrano@cityofartesia.us)
2024-10-15 - 9:36:42 PM GMT

Document emailed to Amy Vazquez (avazquez@sagecrestplanning.com) for signature
2024-10-15 - 9:36:48 PM GMT

Email viewed by Amy Vazquez (avazquez@sagecrestplanning.com)
2024-10-15 - 9:42:47 PM GMT

Document e-signed by Amy Vazquez (avazquez@sagecrestplanning.com)
Signature Date: 2024-10-15 - 9:44:32 PM GMT - Time Source: server

Document emailed to Abel Avalos (aavalos@cityofartesia.us) for signature
2024-10-15 - 9:44:33 PM GMT

Email viewed by Abel Avalos (aavalos@cityofartesia.us)
2024-10-16 - 3:46:58 AM GMT

Document e-signed by Abel Avalos (aavalos@cityofartesia.us)
Signature Date: 2024-10-16 - 3:47:26 AM GMT - Time Source: server

Document emailed to Jennifer Alderete (jalderete@cityofartesia.us) for signature
2024-10-16 - 3:47:28 AM GMT

Email viewed by Jennifer Alderete (jalderete@cityofartesia.us)
2024-10-16 - 3:39:31 PM GMT

Document e-signed by Jennifer Alderete (jalderete@cityofartesia.us)
Signature Date: 2024-10-16 - 3:40:02 PM GMT - Time Source: server



Document emailed to Hong Dao Nguyen (hongdao.nguyen@bbklaw.com) for signature
2024-10-16 - 3:40:04 PM GMT

Email viewed by Hong Dao Nguyen (hongdao.nguyen@bbklaw.com)
2024-10-17 - 7:04:08 PM GMT

Document e-signed by Hong Dao Nguyen (hongdao.nguyen@bbklaw.com)
Signature Date: 2024-10-17 - 7:05:56 PM GMT - Time Source: server

Agreement completed.
2024-10-17 - 7:05:56 PM GMT



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT

MEETING DATE:   March 17, 2025  ITEM NO:   9L.

 
TO: Mayor and Members of the City Council

 
SUBJECT: Allocation of Available Local Return Funds for the Completion of the Historical District Trails

Project - Phase III Landscaping
 

FROM: Ernesto Sanchez, Public Works Manager
 

REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY:
  Jamie Murguia, Finance Manager

HongDao Nguyen, City Attorney
Melissa Burke, Deputy City Manager
Abel Avalos, City Manager

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends that the City Council, by motion:

1. Authorize Staff to complete the Historical District Trails Project - Phase III Landscaping using the City’s
available resources, and not a new third-party contractor and make a determination of exemption from CEQA;

2. Approve a budget amendment to allocate not to exceed amounts of $38,000 in available Measure R Funds
and $250,000 in available Measure M Funds to complete the project; and 

3. Authorize the City Manager to execute purchase orders that exceed his $40,909.27 spending authority and
make purchases to implement the landscape maintenance plan for the Historical District Trails Project -
Phase III Landscaping in amounts that do not exceed the allocation and budget described herein.

BACKGROUND:
On June 8, 2015, the City Council approved the Historical District Recreational Trails Project as part of a grant
application to the Los Angeles County Regional Parks and Open Space District. The project plans were approved
by the City Council on May 13, 2019 and the project was divided into three phases, Phase I: Grading, Phase II:
Hardscape and Amenities, and Phase III: Landscaping. Phase I and Phase II are complete and the trail was
opened to the public in December of 2020. Phase III of the project includes the installation of retaining walls where
grade differences were present, irrigation installation, ground cover, and installation of plants. Construction
on Phase III of the project began on June 3, 2022 and the installation of retaining walls and irrigation were partially
completed. The work was suspended in order to revise the project plans to address concerns from residents
adjacent to the Historical District Recreational Trails.
 
On January 17, 2024, the City Council approved revised landscape plans that utilize drought tolerant trees and
shrubs, and provide more screening for privacy. Additionally, the City Council directed Staff to install a wrought iron
fence adjacent to 185th Street to provide screening and a barrier between the trail and the residential neighborhood
adjacent to 185th street. The City Engineer subsequently developed plans for the construction of a six-foot wrought
iron fence at this location, as well as other fencing improvements and the modification of existing retaining walls.
This work was completed in early February of 2025.
 



On February 20, 2025, Staff released a Notice Inviting Informal Bids to complete Phase III of the project, which
included repairs to the existing irrigation system and the installation of all landscaping. Staff held a mandatory pre-
bid meeting on March 3, 2025 with interested contractors, but subsequently determined that the City would not
receive viable bids as part of this bid solicitation. Therefore, Staff canceled the bid solicitation on March 7, 2025. In
an effort to avoid further time delays associated with soliciting bids, and in order to complete this project more cost
effectively, Staff proposes to complete the project using other available resources, and not a third-party contractor.
 
ANALYSIS:
The Historical District Trails Project - Phase III Landscaping scope of work includes irrigation system repairs and
the installation of landscaping. Section 3-4.19(3) of the Artesia Municipal Code provides that a “Public project does
not include maintenance work.” Maintenance Work is defined as “Landscape maintenance, including mowing,
watering, trimming, pruning, planting, replacement of plants and servicing of irrigation and sprinkler systems.”
Therefore, the City is not obligated to solicit public bids, and may elect to complete the project using the City’s
available resources and not a new third-party contractor.
 
Staff proposes to complete the project using a combination of available resources, including the utilization of
Mariposa Landscaping, Public Works Staff, and the mobilization of volunteers from organizations that the City has
successfully worked with in the past. The City has a current maintenance agreement with Mariposa Landscaping
that can be primarily utilized to perform specialized irrigation system repairs, and install the large and mature plants
in accordance with the landscaping plans approved by the City Council on January 17, 2024. All remaining plants
that do not have special requirements can be installed primarily by volunteer groups and the City’s Public Works
Department through various volunteer planting events organized by the City’s Public Works Department and the
Parks and Recreation Department.
 
Staff requests that the City Council allocate, via budget amendment, $38,000 in available Measure R Funds and
$250,000 in available Measure M Funds to complete this project. Measure R Funds would be used for irrigation
repairs and Measure M Funds would be used for costs related to the purchase and installation of landscaping. If
allocated, these funds would be available to Staff for use to complete this project.
 
CEQA COMPLIANCE:
The Public Works Department has determined that the Project is statutorily and categorically exempt from the
requirements of the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) and the City’s CEQA Guidelines. The Project is
exempt under Public Resources Code Section 21080.19 and State CEQA Guidelines Section 15282(j), and is
categorically exempt under the Class 1(c) exemption of State CEQA Guidelines Section 15301 because it consists
of the operation, repair, maintenance, or minor alteration of an existing public facility, involving negligible or no
expansion of use beyond that existing at the time of the lead agency’s determination, including existing bicycle and
pedestrian trails.
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
There is no negative impact to the City's General Fund associated with approving this item. Staff requests that the
City Council allocate not to exceed amounts of $38,000 in available Measure R Funds and $250,000 in available
Measure M Funds to complete the Historical District Trails Project - Phase III Landscaping.
 
RECOMMENDED COUNCIL ACTION:
Staff recommends that the City Council, by motion:

1.  Authorize Staff to complete the Historical District Trails Project - Phase III Landscaping using the City’s
available resources, and not a new third-party contractor and make a determination of exemption from CEQA;

2. Approve a budget amendment to allocate not to exceed amounts of $38,000 in available Measure R Funds
and $250,000 in available Measure M Funds to complete the project; and 



3. Authorize the City Manager to execute purchase orders that exceed his $40,909.27 spending authority and
make purchases to implement the landscape maintenance plan for the Historical District Trails Project -
Phase III Landscaping in amounts that do not exceed the allocation and budget described herein.

Attachments

Historical Trail Planting Plans_IFB-2025.02.19.pdf
March 2025 changes to Measure M and Measure R.pdf

https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67d1d2496ff146006c3da6d6%2FHistorical%20Trail%20Planting%20Plans_IFB-2025.02.19.pdf?alt=media&token=1a8611ba-3aa4-4e24-9d7f-8d8eaa7feac8
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67d1d2496ff146006c3da6d6%2FHistorical%20Trail%20Planting%20Plans_IFB-2025.02.19.pdf?alt=media&token=1a8611ba-3aa4-4e24-9d7f-8d8eaa7feac8
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67d1d2496ff146006c3da6d6%2FHistorical%20Trail%20Planting%20Plans_IFB-2025.02.19.pdf?alt=media&token=1a8611ba-3aa4-4e24-9d7f-8d8eaa7feac8
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67d1d2496ff146006c3da6d6%2FMarch%202025%20changes%20to%20Measure%20M%20and%20Measure%20R.pdf?alt=media&token=9bf66384-733d-4929-a134-9beec24e6a7c
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67d1d2496ff146006c3da6d6%2FMarch%202025%20changes%20to%20Measure%20M%20and%20Measure%20R.pdf?alt=media&token=9bf66384-733d-4929-a134-9beec24e6a7c
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67d1d2496ff146006c3da6d6%2FMarch%202025%20changes%20to%20Measure%20M%20and%20Measure%20R.pdf?alt=media&token=9bf66384-733d-4929-a134-9beec24e6a7c










WROUGHT
IRON FENCE

NOTE: SCREENING 
PLANTS N THIS SHEET
SHALL BE MATURE

INSTALL PLANTS AND
EXTEND IRRIGATION HERE
(MAGENTA SHADE)

RED LINE INDICATE
THE LAYOUT OF NEW
WROUGHT IRON
FENCE

DODONAEA VISCOSA 
'PURPUREA"

DV DV DV DVDV DV DV



NOTE: SCREENING 
PLANTS N THIS SHEET
SHALL BE MATURE











Measure M Fund

FY 2022
Actual

FY 2023
Actual

FY 2024
Budget

FY 2024
Estimate

FY 2025
Mid-Year

Budget
%▲

Budget
$▲

Staffing Summary
 No positions allocated 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 N/A 0.00

Total FTE 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 N/A 0.00

Revenues
4000 LACMTA Sales Tax 293,109$          304,823$            330,600$              330,600$             319,136$             -3% (11,464)$              
4710 Interest 3,782$                23,769$              25,000$                 25,000$                23,000$                -8% (2,000)$                 

Total Revenue 296,892$          328,592$            355,600$              355,600$             342,136$             -4% (13,464)$              

Expenses
5900 Administrative Cost Allowance 890$                    83$                        61,100$                 61,100$                61,100$                0% -$                        
6035 Contract Services -$                     -$                       -$                        -$                        N/A -$                        
7355 Traffic Median Maintenance 5,450$                5,500$                    5,500$                   5,500$                   0% -$                        

Traffic Signal Maintenance -$                     -$                       -$                         -$                        20,000$                N/A 20,000$                
8080 Street Projects -$                     300,000$              514,848$             300,000$             -42% (214,848)$           
8090 Trails Project -$                     4,500$                 -$                        250,000$             N/A 250,000$             
8125 Alley Improvement Study 1,920$                -$                       -$                         -$                        -$                        N/A -$                        

Total Expenses 8,260$                4,583$                 366,600$              581,448$             636,600$             9% 55,152$                

Net surplus/(deficit) 288,631$          324,009$            (11,000)$                (225,848)$           (294,464)$           30% (68,616)$              

Ending Fund Balance 1,005,869$      1,329,878$       1,318,878$          1,135,881$         841,417$             -26% (294,464)$           

Measure M funds are intended to ease traffic congestion, repave streets, repair potholes, synchronize signals, improve neighborhood streets and intersections, and 
enhance bike and pedestrian connections.

Fund 320

Measure M Fund does not require General Funds Revenue for Expense Activity.

1



Measure R Fund

FY 2022
Actual

FY 2023
Actual

FY 2024
Budget

FY 2024
Estimate

FY 2025
Mid-Year

Budget
%▲

Budget
$▲

Staffing Summary
 No positions allocated 0.00 0.00 0.00 N/A 0.00

Total FTE 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 0.00 N/A 0.00

Revenues
4000 LACMTA Sales Tax 259,018$             308,490$             291,700$             291,700$             281,591$             -3% (10,109)$              
4710 Interest 2,121$                   11,728$                10,000$                10,000$                10,000$                0% -$                        

Total Revenue 261,139$             320,217$             301,700$             301,700$             291,591$             -3% (10,109)$              

Expenses
5900 Administrative Cost Allowances 2,330$                   1,533$                   50,000$                50,000$                50,000$                0% -$                        
6035 Contract Services 319$                       32,100$                -$                        -$                        38,000$                N/A 38,000$                

Trail Maintenance
6490 Dues and Subscriptions 8,063$                   8,628$                   -$                        -$                        -$                        N/A -$                        
7230 ATP Cycle 3 36,197$                15,176$                -$                        -$                        -$                        N/A -$                        
7300 Street Projects -$                        3,280$                   250,000$             250,000$             350,000$             40% 100,000$             
8065 Pioneer Blvd. Improvement -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        -$                        N/A -$                        
8090 Trails Project 7,557$                   295,030$             -$                        -$                        -$                        N/A -$                        

Total Expenses 54,466$                355,748$             300,000$             300,000$             438,000$             46% 138,000$             

Net surplus/(deficit) 206,673$             (35,531)$              1,700$                   1,700$                   (146,409)$           -8712% (148,109)$           

Ending Fund Balance 638,842$             603,311$             605,011$             440,653$             294,244$             -33% (146,409)$           

Measure R is a fund to account for the engineering, administrative, traffic median, and parking overflow improvements of transportation services.

Fund 330

Measure R Fund does not require General Funds Revenue for Expense Activity.

2



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT

MEETING DATE:   March 17, 2025  ITEM NO:   9M.

 
TO: Mayor and Members of the City Council

 
SUBJECT: 2024 General Plan Annual Progress Report and Annual Housing Element Progress Report

 

FROM: Sal Lopez, Interim Community Development Director
 

REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY:
  Melissa Burke, Deputy City Manager

HongDao Nguyen, City Attorney
Abel Avalos, City Manager

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends that the City Council, by motion, approve the General Plan Annual Progress Report Inclusive of
the Annual Housing Element Progress Report for Calendar Year 2024, and direct staff to file the reports with the
State of California Office of Planning and Research (OPR) and the California Department of Housing and
Community Development (HCD).
 
BACKGROUND:
The City of Artesia’s current General Plan was adopted by the City Council and certified by HCD in 2010. The
current General Plan covers the planning period from November 2010 through November 2030. The City of
Artesia’s last Housing Element was adopted by the City Council and certified by HCD in 2013 which covers the
planning period from 2013 through 2021. The City is in the process of adopting a Housing Element covering the
planning period from 2021 to 2029.
 
California Government Code Section 65400 requires that every city prepare an General Plan Annual Progress
Report. The annual report provides a means to review the General Plan, determine if changes need to be made in
the plan or its implementation, and provides information on the measurable outcomes and actions associated with
the implementation of the plan. The report must be approved by the City Council and filed with OPR and HCD each
year by April 1st.  The State of California uses the information submitted by the City to identify statewide trends in
the land use decision making process, and analyzes how local planning and development activities relate to
statewide planning goals and policies. California Government Code Section 65400 requires that the City Council
consider the General Plan Annual Progress Reports at a public meeting where members of the public can provide
oral testimony and written comments prior to filing the reports with OPR and HCD.
 
ANALYSIS: 
In order to comply with Government Code Section 65400, staff has prepared a General Plan Annual Progress
Report for calendar year 2024. The Report complies with current progress report guidelines from OPR. The draft
General Plan Annual Progress Report for Calendar Year 2024 highlights the City’s advancements in achieving the
goals and objectives described in the City of Artesia General Plan 2030. Some notable achievements included in
the draft report are:



 
1. Continue to monitor maintenance standards in neighborhoods to maintain high standards of appearance and

stability in the neighborhood (Policy Action LU 2.2.1).
During Calendar Year 2024, the City continued to monitor required maintenance standards as outlined by
the Artesia Municipal Code. The City opened 295 Code Enforcement cases and successfully abated 253
cases. The City continues to proactively utilize the Artesia Housing Conditions Survey as the basis for
identifying target areas that require priority attention. Additionally, the City continues to respond to reports of
Municipal Code violations and health and safety hazards.
 

2. Encourage alternate modes of transportation, including rail, vanpooling, carpooling, pedestrian walkways,
bicycling and Transportation Demand Management plans and programs (Policy Action CIR 4.2.4).
During Calendar Year 2024, the City purchased and installed fourteen (14) new bus shelters throughout the
City. The previous bus shelters were dilapidated and had reached the end of their service life. The new bus
shelters encourage the use of public transportation by facilitating travel on bus lines operated by Los
Angeles County Metropolitan Transportation Agency, Orange County Transportation Authority, Long Beach
Transit Authority, Norwalk Transit System, Cerritos on Wheels, and Artesia Transit.
 

3. Improved aesthetic quality and maintenance of arterial highways and local roadways (Community Goal CIR
2).  
During Calendar Year 2024, the City completed street rehabilitation in accordance with the 2021 Pavement
Management Plan which amounted to 380,769 square feet of street resurfacing on nine (9) local roads in the
City of Artesia. The rehabilitation project also included the reconstruction of damaged or dilapidated curb
and gutters, curb ramps and sidewalk panels in the project area. The local roads that were improved include
186th Street, Alburtis Avenue, Arline Avenue, 185th Street, Corby Avenue, 184th Street, 167th Street, Dena
Avenue and a service alley between Ibex Avenue and Norwalk Boulevard. The rehabilitation encouraged
alternate modes of transportation by improving pedestrian walkways in the project area. The project scope
of work included eliminating major sidewalk hazards, installing enhanced crosswalks, and constructing ADA
compliant curb ramps. Furthermore, the City continued to operate a free electric bus shuttle service along a
fixed route for residents and visitors and expanded its service from Thursday through Saturday to Tuesday
through Saturday.
 

4. Encourage new development and redevelopment to provide parks, plazas or open space areas (Policy Action
OS 1.2.2) 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City continued improvements on the Historical District Recreational Trails.
Improvements included the installation of security fencing at select locations. The trails were opened for
public use during Calendar Year 2020, and additional improvements to the Historical District Recreational
Trails will continue in Calendar Year 2025. During Calendar Year 2024, the City received $2,000,000 in grant
funding from the State of California to develop a new Botanical Garden in the City. In 2024 the City procured
a consultant to prepare the designs for the Botanical Garden and hosted one Community Meeting to present
design options and solicit community input. The City demolished the vacant structures on the property,
completed a tree inventory and all necessary environmental analyses.  Pre-construction efforts will continue
in Calendar Year 2025.  
 

5. Encourage cooperative agreements between the Sheriff’s Department and local organizations such as
schools and business groups. (Policy Action SAF 1.1.3) 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City co-sponsored with Los Angeles County Department of Animal Care and
Control its first Vet in the Park event at Artesia Park. This event provided free services such as pet exams,
vaccines, microchipping, and deworming medications. Also, spay and neuter services were provided to
qualified animals, and pet licensing. This event promoted the health, safety, and welfare of people and
animals.   



 
6. Explore opportunities to encourage growth in sectors that provide fiscal revenue (Policy Action ED 2.1.2). 

During Calendar Year 2023, the City permitted three cannabis retail shops and two of the three opened for
business during Calendar Year 2024. This represents a new sector of revenue opportunities that is a
consumer-based tax and is not a direct tax on the City’s businesses and residents.  
 

7. Promote the benefits of a healthy lifestyle and education and develop an education program for the
community on the benefits of eating locally grown, organic foods. (Policy Action SUS 6.1.4). 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City developed and implemented the Artesia 65th Anniversary 5K Run and
Wellness Fair with the assistance of local organizations and businesses. This was the first time the City ever
implemented such an event. The event promoted the benefits of an active and healthy lifestyle as it
celebrated the City’s 65th anniversary. 
 

8. Maintain and replace street trees as needed to achieve their aesthetic purpose and avoid damage to streets
and sidewalks (Policy Action CIR 2.1.5). 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City, under contract with West Coast Arborists, pruned and maintained 980
mature trees City-Wide as part of regularly scheduled maintenance. The City’s Maintenance Department
pruned and maintained approximately 65 younger trees that were not covered under contract with West
Coast Arborists. A total of 25 trees were removed in Calendar Year 2024 either because they posed an
immediate threat to public safety or to avoid further significant damage to streets and sidewalks.  
 

9. Consider alternative work schedules for City employees to reduce employee driving (Policy Action QA 2.1.3). 
During the 2024 Calendar Year, the City adopted a voluntary Hybrid and Remote Work Policy which allows
eligible employees the opportunity to work from home for a maximum of two days per week, thereby
reducing the need to drive to work everyday.   
 

10. Continue to contract with the Los Angeles County Sheriff’s Department to provide quality police protection for
the City’s population and regularly communicate to ensure needs are met (Policy Action SAF 5.1.1). 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City continued to contract with the Los Angeles County Sheriff’s Department
to provide quality police protection for the City’s population. In 2024, the City Council continued funding the
Sheriff’s contract to include a dedicated Sergeant to serve Artesia’s residents and increase police protection
for the City’s residents. Additionally, the City purchased and installed eleven (11) license plate readers
throughout the City to support crime investigations and crime prevention.

 
Annual Housing Element Progress Report
Staff is currently working with HCD’s Team on the submission of Housing Element Update. We have bi-monthly
meetings and will be submitting the updated draft to HCD for their review by the end of April 2025.
 
In compliance with with Government Code Section 65400, staff has prepared the Annual Housing Element
Progress Report for calendar year 2024 which is included as part of the General Plan Progress Report.  Staff
prepared the Report using forms and tables prepared and required by HCD. The draft Annual Housing Element
Progress Report includes information related to the construction of affordable housing, rehabilitated homes, and
the Regional Housing Needs Assessment (RHNA) requirements. RHNA prescribes the number of additional
housing units that will need to be constructed at different income levels in the City to accommodate anticipated
population growth. The 2021-2029 RHNA obligations, as prepared by the Southern California Association of
Governments (SCAG), sets forth the planning period goal of 1,069 units for the City, as divided into the following
four household categories:
 
            Very-Low Income                              312 units
            Low Income                                      168 units



            Moderate Income                             128 units
            Above-Moderate Income                  461 units

Total                                                   1,069 units
 
During 2024, the City finaled one (1) new residential units at the above-moderate income level in the single family
zone. Thirty (30) new residential units were finaled in the multiple-family dwellings. However, the City has not
issued any building permits for new residential construction of very-low, low, or moderate income units during this
planning period. The City continues to encourage and promote the development of affordable housing in order to
meet the goals of the Housing Sub-Element and SCAG.
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
There is no financial impact associated with the approval and submission of this Report.  By filing the Report with
OPR and HCD, the City will be in compliance with Government Code Section 65400.
 
RECOMMENDED COUNCIL ACTION:
Staff recommends that the City Council, by motion, approve the General Plan Annual Progress Report Inclusive of
the Annual Housing Element Progress Report for Calendar Year 2024, and direct staff to file the reports with the
State of California Office of Planning and Research (OPR) and the California Department of Housing and
Community Development (HCD).
 
 
 

Attachments

2024 General Plan Annual Report.pdf
Housing Element Annual Progress Report 3-17-25.pdf

https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67d22ada6ff146006c3ec688%2F2024%20General%20Plan%20Annual%20Report.pdf?alt=media&token=f395eb82-de7b-417b-9b66-c8a20e4d9a39
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67d22ada6ff146006c3ec688%2F2024%20General%20Plan%20Annual%20Report.pdf?alt=media&token=f395eb82-de7b-417b-9b66-c8a20e4d9a39
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67d22ada6ff146006c3ec688%2F2024%20General%20Plan%20Annual%20Report.pdf?alt=media&token=f395eb82-de7b-417b-9b66-c8a20e4d9a39
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67d22ada6ff146006c3ec688%2F3-17-25%20Housing%20Element%20Annual%20Progress%20Report.pdf?alt=media&token=39e23d69-9c71-416c-a2ac-96827de89656
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67d22ada6ff146006c3ec688%2F3-17-25%20Housing%20Element%20Annual%20Progress%20Report.pdf?alt=media&token=39e23d69-9c71-416c-a2ac-96827de89656
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67d22ada6ff146006c3ec688%2F3-17-25%20Housing%20Element%20Annual%20Progress%20Report.pdf?alt=media&token=39e23d69-9c71-416c-a2ac-96827de89656


   

 

1 
 

CITY OF ARTESIA 

GENERAL PLAN ANNUAL PROGRESS REPORT    

CALENDAR YEAR 2024 

 
Prepared by: 

Artesia’s Community Development Department 
 
 
Date of Annual Report 

 
The Artesia City Council review date of the 2024 General Plan Annual Report is March 
17, 2024. 
 
Purpose of the Annual Report 

 
California Government Code Section 65400 requires the City of Artesia to file an annual 
report addressing the status of the General Plan and its progress toward goals and 
objectives. The annual report will be provided to the City Council, the Governor’s Office 
of Planning and Research (OPR), and the California Department of Housing and 
Community Development (HCD). The annual report provides a means to review the 
General Plan, it determines if changes need to be made in the plan or its implementation, 
and provides information on the measurable outcomes and actions associated with the 
implementation of the plan. This annual report addresses Calendar Year 2024. 
 
Purpose of the General Plan  

 
The Artesia General Plan was adopted by the City Council on November 8, 2010. The 
purpose of the Plan is to guide the growth and development of Artesia through 2030. The 
document provides goals and policies which will assist the City in achieving its economic 
and community development objectives. The General Plan is comprised of four (4) 
elements, which include Community Development and Design; Community Resources 
and Wellness; Community Culture and Economy; and Sustainability. Using the guidelines 
established in these elements, the City Council, Planning Commission, and other 
organizations can take a series of steps toward achieving the larger goals of the City. The 
development decisions of the City are focused through implementation programs 
contained in the General Plan.  
 
The Artesia General Plan is a public document and is available for the pubic to view. 
Copies are available for review at the Artesia Library and Artesia City Hall. Additionally, 
a digital copy is available on the official City website at the following location: 
http://www.cityofartesia.us/258/General-Plan-Update 
 
 
Status of the General Plan – Community Development and Design Element 

 

http://www.cityofartesia.us/258/General-Plan-Update


   

 

2 
 

The Community Development and Design Element within the Artesia General Plan 
contains the following sub-elements: (1) Land Use; (2) Housing; (3) Circulation and 
Mobility; and (4) Community Facilities and Infrastructure. 
 

1. Land Use Sub-Element 
The Land Use Sub-Element establishes the policies for determining where certain 
land uses, such as residential, commercial, industrial are most desirable. This sub-
element defines the physical areas in the City serving the needs of residents, 
business, and visitors.  

 
A. Maintain standards for circulation, noise, setbacks, buffer areas, 

landscaping and architecture to ensure compatibility between different uses 
(Policy Action LU 2.1.1) 
 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City continued to enforce standards and 
requirements for noise, setbacks, landscaping and architecture as outlined 
in the Artesia Municipal Code.  
 

B. Continue to monitor maintenance standards in neighborhoods to maintain 

high standards of appearance and stability in the neighborhood (Policy 

Action LU 2.2.1). 

 

During Calendar Year 2024, the City continued to monitor required 

maintenance standards as outlined by Artesia Municipal Code. The City 

opened 295 Code Enforcement cases and successfully abated 253 cases. 

The City continues to proactively utilize the Artesia Housing Conditions 

Survey as the basis for identifying target areas that require priority attention. 

Additionally, the City continues to respond to reports of Municipal Code 

violations and health and safety hazards.  

 

2. Housing Sub-Element 
Pursuant to Government Code Section 65400, the City is required to prepare an 
annual report on the status and progress in implementing the City’s Housing 
Element using forms and definitions adopted by the California Department of 
Housing and Community Development. The completed forms for Calendar Year 
2024 are attached as “Attachment 1” to this report.  
 
The Housing Sub-Element identifies goals, objectives, policies and action 
programs that address the housing needs of Artesia. There are a number of City 
plans and programs which work to implement the goals and policies of the Housing 
Sub-Element. 
 

A. Mortgage Credit Certificate Program (Action HE 1.1a) 
 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City continued to promote the County of 
Los Angeles Mortgage Credit Certificate Program to assist first-time 
homebuyers through handouts available at City Hall. 



   

 

3 
 

 
B. Second Units (Action HE 1.2d) 

 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City continued to encourage second units 
on R-1 lots as an opportunity to provide additional housing while still 
maintaining the character of single-family neighborhoods. In 2024, twenty-
two (22) accessory dwelling units (ADU) were finaled in residential zones.  

 
C. Fair Housing Referrals (Action HE 4.1a) 

 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City continued to refer inquiries related to 
housing discrimination and fair housing practices to Fair Housing 
Foundation. 
 

D. Section 8 Housing Choice Vouchers (Action HE 4.3a) 
 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City continued to assist low-income 
households receiving Section 8 rental assistance through the County of Los 
Angeles Housing Authority. The City’s vouchers continue to be 
administered through the County of Los Angeles.  

 
Included in “Attachment 1” is information related to the construction of affordable 
housing, rehabilitated homes, and the Regional Housing Needs Assessment 
(RHNA) requirements.  RHNA prescribes the number of additional housing units 
that will need to be constructed at different income levels in the City to 
accommodate anticipated population growth. The 2021-2029 RHNA obligations, 
as prepared by the Southern California Association of Governments (SCAG), sets 
forth the planning period goal of 1,069 units for the City, as divided into the 
following four household categories: 
 
 Very-Low Income   312 units 
 Low Income    168 units 
 Moderate Income   128 units 
 Above-Moderate Income  461 units 
 Total     1,069 units 
 
During 2024, the City finaled one (1) new residential units at the above-moderate 
income level in the single-family zone  and thirty (30) new residential units in the 
multiple-family dwelling zone. The City did not issue any building permits for new 
residential construction of very-low, low, or moderate income units during this 
period. The City continues to encourage and promote the development of 
affordable housing in order to meet the goals of the Housing Sub-Element and 
SCAG.  
 

3. Circulation and Mobility Sub-Element 
The Circulation and Mobility Sub-Element addresses the physical transportation 
system, such as streets, highways, bicycle routes, and sidewalks; as well as 



   

 

4 
 

various modes of transportation, including cars, buses, trucks, rail, bicycles, 
rideshare and walking.  

 
A. Actively pursue Federal, State, and regional funds for local and regional 

roadway, bikeway, pedestrian walkway and other transportation 
improvements (Policy Action CIR 1.1.4). 
 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City pursued grants from multiple funding 
sources, including Safe Streets for All and the United States Department of 
Transportation. In 2024, the City was awarded grant funding from two (2) 
sources to be used on improvements to the City’s roadways and pedestrian 
walkways.  The first grant is in the amount of $209,430 from the California 
State Highway Safety Improvement Program to fund roadway surface 
improvements and the installation of enhanced crosswalks. The second 
grant is in the amount of $6,000,000 from Former Congresswoman Michelle 
Steel and the California State Community Project Funded Congressional 
Directed Spending Program to fund roadway improvements throughout the 
City. The grants will be administered by the California Transportation Office 
of Local Assistance. 
 

B. Encourage mixed use developments that combine residential and/or 

commercial or recreational uses, thereby improving convenience and 

reducing trip generation.  (Policy Action CIR 4.1.1) 

 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City continued developing the Artesia 
Downtown Specific Plan that will set land-use and development standards 
consistent with the goals of transit-oriented development. Downtown 
Artesia will be the terminus location for the future Southeast Gateway Line 
(SGL) light-rail train operated by the Los Angeles County Metropolitan 
Transportation Authority. The SGL will connect the City to the greater LA 
County light-rail transportation system, which will promote tourism to the 
City and allow residents to access regional education, employment, and 
service centers. 
 

C. Encourage alternate modes of transportation, including rail, vanpooling, 

carpooling, pedestrian walkways, bicycling and Transportation Demand 

Management plans and programs (Policy Action CIR 4.2.4). 

 

During Calendar Year 2024, the City purchased and installed fourteen (14) 

new bus shelters throughout the City. The previous bus shelters were 

dilapidated and had reached the end of their service life. The new bus 

shelters encourage the use of public transportation by facilitating travel on 

bus lines operated by Los Angeles County Metropolitan Transportation 

Agency, Orange County Transportation Authority, Long Beach Transit 

Authority, Norwalk Transit System, Cerritos on Wheels, and Artesia Transit.  

 



   

 

5 
 

During Calendar Year 2024, the City, under contract with Precision 

Concrete, remediated a total of 1,675 trip hazards on the City’s sidewalk 

network caused by panel uplifting. The improvements bring sidewalks into 

ADA compliance, reduce liability along pedestrian walkways, and 

encourage walking a safe mode of transportation.  

 

During Calendar Year 2024, the City hosted the utilities relocation 
groundbreaking ceremony for the Southeast Gateway Line light-rail project. 
The groundbreaking marked a historic milestone for the construction of the 
future light-rail project whose terminus station will be located in Downtown. 
Utilities relocation construction work began towards the end of Calendar 
Year 2024. The light rail line is anticipated to go into service in 2035. 
 

D. Improved aesthetic quality and maintenance of arterial highways and local 

roadways (Community Goal CIR 2).  

 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City completed street rehabilitations in 
accordance with the 2021 Pavement Management Plan which amounted to 
380,769 square feet of street resurfacing on nine (9) local roads in the City 
of Artesia. The rehabilitation project also included the reconstruction of 
damaged or dilapidated curb and gutters, curb ramps and sidewalk panels 
in the project area. The local roads that were improved include 186th Street, 
Alburtis Avenue, Arline Avenue, 185th Street, Corby Avenue, 184th Street, 
167th Street, Dena Avenue and a service alley between Ibex Avenue and 
Norwalk Boulevard. The rehabilitations encouraged alternate modes of 
transportation by improving pedestrian walkways in the project area. The 
project scope of work included eliminating major sidewalk hazards, 
installing enhanced crosswalks, and constructing ADA compliant curb 
ramps.  
 

E. Maintain and replace street trees as needed to achieve their aesthetic 

purpose and avoid damage to streets and sidewalks (Policy Action CIR 

2.1.5). 

 

During Calendar Year 2024, the City, under contract with West Coast 
Arborists, pruned and maintained 980 mature trees City-Wide as part of 
regularly scheduled maintenance. The City’s Maintenance Department 
pruned and maintained approximately 65 younger trees that were not 
covered under contract with West Coast Arborists. A total of 25 trees were 
removed in Calendar Year 2024 either because they posed an immediate 
threat to public safety or to avoid further significant damage to streets and 
sidewalks.  
 

F. Explore development of City shuttle system using fuel-efficient/alternative 
fuel vehicles (Policy Action CIR 5.1.1). 
 



   

 

6 
 

During Calendar Year 2024, the City continued operating a free electric bus 
service, which runs on a fixed route within the City and is free for Artesia 
residents and visitors to the City. The City expanded this operational service 
of the bus from Thursday-Saturday to Tuesday-Saturday. The total ridership 
in 2024 was 4,176 riders.  

 
G. Work with Caltrans to review, monitor and improve as necessary on-/off- 

ramps at the 91 freeway (Policy Action CIR 6.1.1). 
 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City continued to work with Caltrans and 
Metro on their efforts to expand State Route 91 within the City limits. 
Caltrans proposes major improvements to on-/off- ramps located at Pioneer 
Boulevard and State Route 91. The expansion project is in the final planning 
phase.  
 

4. Community Facilities and Infrastructure Sub-Element 
The Community Facilities and Infrastructure Sub-Element provides policy direction 
for the use, maintenance and location of general sanitary sewer, solid waste, 
drainage, potable water facilities and natural groundwater recharge areas in 
conformance with the General Plan’s Land Use Sub-Element.  
 

A. Conduct a community needs assessment to determine where service gaps 
exist in community facilities and where particular types of programs could 
best meet neighborhood needs. (Policy Action CFI 1.2.1). 
 

During Calendar Year 2024, the City completed an Americans with 
Disabilities Act (ADA) self evaluation in order to comply with Title 2 of ADA. 
The evaluation identified needed improvements and will inform future 
investments in accessibility upgrades. 

 
B. Support sustainable wastewater services that respect and improve the 

natural environment (Policy Action CFI 3.1.3). 
 
During the 2024 Calendar Year, the City continued to support sustainable 
wastewater services by the implementation of programs such as the 
National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System permit program, the Lower 
San Gabriel River Watershed Management Program, LID Ordinance 
(Municipal Code Title 6 Section 7.10), and Los Angeles County’s Safe 
Clean Water Program. The City continues to search for opportunities to 
support stormwater reuse and improvements to the natural environment.  
 

C. Continue to participate in the National Pollutant Discharge Elimination 
System permit program (Policy Action CFI 3.1.4). 

 
During the 2024 Calendar Year, the City continued to implement the 
National Pollutant Discharge Elimination System permit program. 
 



   

 

7 
 

D. Review the use of natural features such as bioswales, wildlife ponds, and 
wetlands for flood control and water quality treatment in conjunction with 
new development or redevelopment projects (Policy Action CFI 3.1.5). 
 
During the 2024 Calendar Year, the City continued to actively review the 
use of natural features for flood control and water quality treatment in 
conjunction with new development or redevelopment projects. This review 
is mandated by the City’s implementation of the Lower San Gabriel River 
Watershed Management Program, LID Ordinance, and Los Angeles 
County’s Safe Clean Water Program. The City will continue to conduct 
these reviews and administer the aforementioned programs.  
 

E. Provide public education information and outreach materials regarding 
proper materials handling practices to assist residents and businesses in 
complying with surface water quality regulations and to increase awareness 
of potential impacts to the environment resulting from improper containment 
for disposal practices (Policy Action CFI 3.1.6). 
 
During the 2024 Calendar Year, the City provided public information and 
outreach materials regarding safe materials handling and the potential 
impacts to the environment resulting from improper disposal practices. This 
information is available to both residents and business owners, and is 
provided through the City’s National Pollutant Discharge Elimination 
System Program. Additionally, the City received Measure W funds which 
were used to increase awareness and improve the efficiency of City 
programs. 
 

 
Status of the General Plan – Community Resources and Wellness Element 

 
The Community Resources and Wellness Element within the Artesia General Plan 
contains the following sub-elements: (1) Air Quality and Climate Change; (2) Open Space 
and Conservation; (3) Community Safety; and (4) Noise. 
 

1. Air Quality and Climate Change Sub-Element 
The Air Quality and Climate Change Sub-Element is intended to protect the 
public’s health and welfare by implementing the measures that allow the South 
Coast Air Basin to attain Federal and State air quality standards.  
 

A. Promote and participate in cooperative efforts with agencies and 
communities in the South Coast Air Basin to achieve clean air (Policy Action 
AQ 1.1.1).  

 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City continued to cooperate in efforts with 
agencies and communities in the South Coast Air Basin to achieve cleaner 
air in the region.  

 



   

 

8 
 

B. Support programs that reduce emissions from building materials and 
methods that generate excessive pollutants through incentives and/or 
regulations (Policy Action AQ 1.3.2). 
 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City continued to implement the 
Construction and Demolition Debris Program. The Program requires that 
sixty-five percent (65%) of nonhazardous construction and demolition waste 
be recycled and/or salvaged for reuse. The City continues to support 
programs that reduce emissions and waste from building materials.  
 

C. Explore options for a city-wide compost program for food waste (Policy 
Action SUS 2.2.2.).  
 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City implemented SB 1383 mandatory 
organics recycling. The City held several educational programs in 2024 
following program implementation. The City also distributed countertop 
composting pails to residents to assist with program compliance. 
 

D. Continue preventative maintenance and repair of City Vehicles and 
equipment, and investigate the possibility of converting vehicle fleet to clean 
fuel vehicles (Policy Action AQ 2.1.7) 

 
During the 2024 Calendar Year, the City began utilizing Enterprise Fleet 
Management to provide preventative maintenance and management 
services for all City-owned vehicles. Additionally, the City replaced four (4) 
aging vehicles in the Code Enforcement and Parking Enforcement 
Departments with new electric vehicles.  

 
E. Consider alternative work schedules for City employees to reduce 

employee driving (Policy Action QA 2.1.3). 
 
During the 2024 Calendar Year, the City adopted a voluntary Hybrid and 
Remote Work Policy which allows eligible employees the opportunity to 
work from home for a maximum of two days per week, thereby reducing the 
need to drive to work everyday.   
 

2. Open Space and Conservation Sub-Element 
The Open Space and Conservation Sub-Element provides direction regarding the 
conservation and utilization of natural resources in the City. It also outlines 
strategies and actions to preserve and enhance open space areas in the City and 
meet the recreational needs of its residents.  
 

A. Encourage new development and redevelopment to provide parks, plazas 
or open space areas (Policy Action OS 1.2.2) 
 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City continued improvements on the 
Historical District Recreational Trails. Improvements included the 
installation of security fencing at select locations. The trails were opened for 



   

 

9 
 

public use during Calendar Year 2020, and additional improvements to the 
Historical District Recreational Trails will continue in Calendar Year 2025.  
 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City received $2,000,000 in grant funding 
from the State of California to develop a new Botanical Garden in the City. 
In 2024 the City procured a consultant to prepare the designs for the garden 
and hosted a Community Meeting to present design options and solicit 
community input. The City demolished the vacant structures on the 
property, completed a tree inventory and completed all necessary 
environmental analyses.  Pre-construction efforts will continue in Calendar 
Year 2025.  
 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City refurbished the baseball fields at 
Artesia Park to ensure their continued use for the community. Along with 
this project, the affiliated Snack Bar was also refurbished so it could be 
reopened for the enjoyment of the community during youth sports activities 
at Artesia Park.  
 

B. Consider land acquisition of vacant lots, abandoned properties, and unused 
rail right of way for neighborhood parks, pocket parks, and linear parks 
within existing neighborhoods (Policy Action OS 1.2.3). 
 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City acquired one additional parcel to 
expand A.J. Padelford Park and applied for additional grant funds to acquire 
more parcels. The City developed the previously acquired property by 
installing irrigation and grass and opened to the public in 2024.  

 
3. Community Safety Sub-Element 

The Community Safety Sub-Element provides comprehensive policies to prepare 
for and protect against fires, floods, and other major disasters. Its aim is to reduce 
the potential risk of loss of life, injuries, property damage, and economic and social 
dislocation resulting from hazards such as fires, floods, earthquakes, and 
landslides.  

 
A. Encourage cooperative agreements between the Sheriff’s Department and 

local organizations such as schools and business groups. (Policy Action 
SAF 1.1.3) 
 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City co-sponsored with Los Angeles 
County Department of Animal Care and Control its first Vet in the Park Day 
event at Artesia Park. This event provided free services such as pet exams, 
vaccines, microchipping, and deworming medications. Also, spay and 
neuter services were provided to qualified animals, and pet licensing. This 
event promoted the health, safety, and welfare of people and animals.   
 

B. Adopt and require compliance with the most current versions of State or 
County building codes, or other relevant codes (Policy Action SAF 2.1.2). 
 



   

 

10 
 

During Calendar Year 2024, the City continued to utilize the current Los 
Angeles County Building codes, which incorporated the new 2022 California 
Building Code. The City of Artesia continues to require compliance with the 
current versions of State and County building codes. 

 
C. Continue to contract with the Los Angeles County Sheriff’s Department to 

provide quality police protection for the City’s population and regularly 
communicate to ensure needs are met (Policy Action SAF 5.1.1). 
 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City continued to contract with the Los 
Angeles County Sheriff’s Department to provide quality police protection for 
the City’s population. In 2024, the City Council continued funding the 
Sheriff’s contract to include a dedicated Sergeant to serve Artesia’s 
residents and increase police protection for the City’s residents. 
Additionally, the City purchased and installed eleven (11) license plate 
readers throughout the City to support crime investigations and crime 
prevention.  
 

D. Continue to contract with the County of Los Angeles Public Works 
Department for building safety review services (Policy Action SAF 6.2.2). 
 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City continued to contract with the County 
of Los Angeles Public Works Department for building safety review 
services. 
 

E. Ensure that adequately trained staff is available to provide essential 
emergency public services (Policy Action SAF 7.1.1). 
 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City continued to adhere to the City’s Local 
Hazard Mitigation Plan and Emergency Operations Plan. The plans were 
reviewed and approved by the California Office of Emergency Services 
(CalOES) and the Federal Emergency Management Agency (FEMA) in 
early 2020. Also, the City continued implementation of a Safety Committee 
with staff representation from all departments.  The Committee hosted a 
training event by participating in the statewide Great Shake Out in October 
2024, which runs staff and the public through a mock earthquake. In 2024 
the Committee also completed  a successful test of the emergency alert 
system for the City to ensure all systems were working properly and staff 
was familiar with how to provide vital information to the public in the case of 
an emergency.  

 
4. Noise Sub-Element 

The Noise Sub-Element identifies noise sources in the City, evaluates the potential 
for noise conflicts and problems, and identifies ways to reduce existing and 
potential noise impacts.  
 

A. Enforce noise standards, as contained in the City’s Noise Ordinance (Policy 
Action N 1.1.1).  



   

 

11 
 

 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City continued to enforce noise standards 
through the City’s Code Enforcement Department. Violators of the City’s 
Noise Ordinance were cited and required to adhere to the City’s permissible 
exterior sound limits. The City will continue to enforce noise standards 
through the City’s Code Enforcement Department. 
 

B. Implement noise mitigation by placing conditions of approval on 
development projects, and require a clear description of mitigation on 
subdivision maps, site plans, and building plans for inspection purposes 
(Policy Action N 1.1.3).  

 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City continued to implement conditions of 
approval on restaurant development projects that include outdoor seating. 
The condition limits the noise levels allowed for any outdoor music at the 
restaurant in order to maintain a safe and healthy environment for the 
community. The City continues to work towards implementing additional 
noise mitigation measures.  
 

 
Status of the General Plan – Community Culture and Economy Element 

 
The Community Culture and Economy Element within the Artesia General Plan contains 
the following sub-elements: (1) Cultural and Historical Sub-Element; (2) Economic 
Development. 
 

1. Cultural and Historical Sub-Element 
The Cultural and Historical Sub-Element provides comprehensive policies to guide 
the preservation, protection, restoration and rehabilitation of cultural and historic 
resources in the City. 

 
A. Promote events and activities highlighting cultural and historic resources, 

and integrate cultural and historic aspects into City-sponsored events and 
programs (Policy Action CHR 2.1.1). 

 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City sponsored celebrations and activities 
as part of its annual events program.  The City’s largest annual event, the 
International Street Fair and Diversity Festival showcased the cultural 
diversity of the City with live performances, arts and craft vendors, and 
international food vendors. Other annual significant cultural event includes 
the Mariachi Festival.  
 

2. Economic Development Sub-Element 
The Economic Development Sub-Element presents policies to support a diverse, 
innovative, competitive, entrepreneurial, and sustainable local economy. These 
policies are designed to achieve a rising standard of living in the City.  

 



   

 

12 
 

A. Support a business friendly environment for businesses to locate in Artesia 
and existing businesses to flourish (Policy Action ED 1.2.3). 

 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City continued to utilize webpages, in 
cooperation with the Artesia Chamber of Commerce and other local 
business groups, in order to share information about resources available to 
businesses owners.  
 
Also, during Calendar Year 2024 the City continued to participate in the 
Gateway Cities Regional Fiber Network project. This project will install 120-
miles of high-speed broadband fiber throughout the Gateway Cities region. 
This network will provide larger data capacity than what is currently 
commercially available, thereby providing businesses, residents, and 
educational institutions internet access that is faster and can support more 
complex processes.        
 

B. Continue to promote resident access to job training, skill enhancement and 
educational excellence (Policy Action ED 1.3.2). 

 

During Calendar Year 2024, the City continued to work with the Southeast 
Los Angeles County Workforce Development Board the Artesia to provide 
services including resume assistance, job training, business development, 
and skills enhancement. These services are free to the community.  
 
Additionally, in Calendar Year 2024, the City implemented a Youth At Work 
Program with the Southeast Los Angeles County Workforce Development 
Board to provide job training at City facilities to youth workers.   
 

C. Maintain a responsible balance of revenue and expenditures (Community 
Policy Action ED 2.1). 
 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City closed the 2023-2024 Fiscal Year with 
a balanced budget that included a surplus of $1,569,611.  
 

D. Monitor fiscal health of the community and prioritize capital improvement 
investments based on the anticipated revenue stream (Community Policy 
Action ED 2.1.1). 
 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City adopted its first 5-Year Capital 
Improvement Plan as part of the City’s annual budget process. This Plan 
identifies revenue and ties it to community priorities for infrastructure 
projects.  
 

E. Explore opportunities to encourage growth in sectors that provide fiscal 
revenue (Policy Action ED 2.1.2). 

 

During Calendar Year 2023, the City permitted three cannabis retail shops 
and two of the three opened for business during Calendar Year 2024. This 



   

 

13 
 

represents a new sector of revenue opportunities that is a consumer-based 
tax and is not a direct tax on the City’s businesses and residents.  
 

Status of the General Plan – Sustainability Element 

 
The Sustainability Element defines “sustainability” as development that meets the needs 
of the present without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own 
needs. Sustainability requires that the social and economic decisions made by the City, 
its residents and business owners allow our economy and community to thrive without 
destroying the natural resources that support our way of life. The Sustainability Element 
charts the City’s course for progress towards this objective. 

 
A. Prioritize the reduction of the amount of paper waste in municipal operations 

wherever possible (Policy Action SUS 2.1.4). 
 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City continued to utilize case management 
software that facilitates electronic filing, submittal, note-taking, and client 
correspondence. The Planning Department and Code Enforcement 
Department have experienced a significant reduction of paper waste since 
the software’s implementation.  
 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City implemented a digital agenda software 
called AgendaLink for the production of the City Council, City Commissions, 
and other appointed bodies agendas.  The distribution of Commission 
agendas are now electronic. The City Clerks Office has experienced a 
significant reduction of paper waste this the software’s implementation.  
 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City completed the digitization of all 
employee files. This initiative streamlines record-keeping, enhances data 
accessibility and ensures compliance with retention and privacy regulations, 
as well as reducing paper waste and physical storage needs. 
 

B. Explore options for a city-wide compost program for food waste (Policy 
Action SUS 2.2.2.). 
 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City continued to be in compliance with 
California Assembly Bill 341 and 1826 which require the City to administer 
a commercial solid waste recycling program and a commercial organic 
waste recycling program. The City continued to implement SB 1383 
mandatory organics recycling. The City continued to provide educational 
programs and countertop composting pails in 2024 to assist with program 
compliance.  
 

C. Prioritize the creation and implementation of a Construction and Demolition 
Debris ordinance to divert a minimum of 65% of waste, and monitor 
construction projects to ensure compliance. Develop a protocol to monitor 
progress and continuously improve diversion rate requirement (Policy 
Action SUS 2.3.1). 



   

 

14 
 

 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City continued to implement the 
Construction and Demolition Debris Program. The Program requires that 
sixty-five percent (65%) of nonhazardous construction and demolition waste 
be recycled and/or salvaged for reuse. The City continues to support 
programs that reduce emissions and waste from building materials.  
 

D. Promote access to food for a healthy diet, locally and organically grown, if 
possible, in City facilities and schools. (Policy Action 6.1.2) 
 
During Calendar Year 2024, the City provided 879 meals to income qualified 
students as part of its Summer Food Program. This program provides free 
meals during the summer months when school is not in session and school 
breakfasts and lunches are not available.  
 

E. Promote the benefits of a healthy lifestyle and education and develop an 
education program for the community on the benefits of eating locally 
grown, organic foods. (Policy Action SUS 6.1.4). 
 

During Calendar Year 2024, the City developed and implemented the 
Artesia 65th Anniversary 5K Run and Wellness Fair with the assistance of 
local organizations and businesses. This was the first time the City ever 
implemented such an event. The event promoted the benefits of an active 
and healthy lifestyle as it celebrated the City’s 65th anniversary. 
 
 

 
 
 

  



   

 

15 
 

Attachment 1 
 

Annual Housing Element Progress Report for Calendar Year 2024 
 
 
 

 



Jurisidiction Name

Reporting Calendar Year

First Name
Last Name
Title Click here to download APR Instructions

Email
Phone

Street Address
City
Zipcode

v_03_03_25

Please Start Here

General Information 

2024

Artesia

Contact Information

Optional: Click here to import last year's data. This is 
best used when the workbook is new and empty. You 
will be prompted to pick an old workbook to import 
from.  Project and program data will be copied exactly 
how it was entered in last year's form and must be 
updated. If a project is no longer has any reportable 
activity, you may delete the project by selecting a cell in 
the row and typing ctrl + d.

Click here to add rows to a table. If you add too many 
rows, you may select a cell in the row you wish to 
remove and type ctrl + d.

18747 Clarkdale Avenue

Artesia

90701

Sal
Lopez

Interim Community Development Director

interimcddirector@cityofartesia.us
5628656262

Mailing Address

Annual Progress Report  January 2020

https://www.hcd.ca.gov/sites/default/files/docs/planning-and-community/housing-element-annual-progress-report-instructions.pdf


Optional: This runs a macro which checks to ensure all required fields are filled out. The macro 
will create two files saved in the same directory this APR file is saved in. One file will be a copy 
of the APR with highlighted cells which require information. The other file will be list of the 
problematic  cells, along with a description of the nature of the error.

Optional: Save before running. This copies data on Table A2, and creates another workbook 
with the table split across 4 tabs, each of which can fit onto a single page for easier printing. 
Running this macro will remove the comments on the column headers, which contain the 
instructions. Do not save the APR file after running in order to preserve comments once it is 

Optional: This macro identifies dates entered that occurred outside of the reporting year. 
RHNA credit is only given for building permits issued during the reporting year.

Link to the online system: https://hcd.my.site.com/hcdconnect

Toggles formatting that turns cells green/yellow/red based on data validation rules.

Submittal Instructions

Please save your file as Jurisdictionname2024 (no spaces). Example: the 
city of San Luis Obispo would save their file as SanLuisObispo2024

Housing Element Annual Progress Reports (APRs) forms and tables must be 
submitted to HCD and the Governor's Office of Planning and Research (OPR) 
on or before April 1 of each year for the prior calendar year; submit separate 
reports directly to both HCD and OPR pursuant to Government Code section 
65400.  There are two options for submitting APRs: 

1. Online Annual Progress Reporting System -  Please see the link to the 
online system to the left. This allows you to upload the completed APR form 
into directly into HCD’s database limiting the risk of errors. If you would like to 
use the online system, email APR@hcd.ca.gov and HCD will send you the 
login information for your jurisdiction. Please note: Using the online system 
only provides the information to HCD.  The APR must still be submitted to 
OPR. Their email address is opr.apr@opr.ca.gov.

2. Email - If you prefer to submit via email, you can complete the excel Annual 
Progress Report forms and submit to HCD at APR@hcd.ca.gov and to OPR 
at opr.apr@opr.ca.gov.  Please send the Excel workbook, not a scanned or 
PDF copy of the tables.

https://hcd.my.site.com/hcdconnect


Jurisdiction Artesia
Reporting Year 2024

Housing Element Planning Period 6th Cycle

Current Year
Deed 
Restricted 0

Non-Deed 
Restricted 0

Deed 
Restricted 0

Non-Deed 
Restricted 0

Deed 
Restricted 0

Non-Deed 
Restricted 21

64

85

Units by Structure Type Entitled Permitted Completed
Single-family Attached 0 0 0
Single-family Detached 0 1 1
2 to 4 units per structure 0 0 0
5+ units per structure 0 63 30
Accessory Dwelling Unit 0 21 22
Mobile/Manufactured Home 0 0 0
Total 0 85 53

Infill Housing Developments and Infill Units Permitted # of Projects Units
30 85

0 0

13
0
0
0

0
0

Income Rental Ownership Total
Very Low 0 0 0
Low 0 0 0
Moderate 0 0 0
Above Moderate 0 0 0
Total 0 0 0

Streamlining Provisions Used - Permitted Units # of Projects Units
SB 9 (2021) - Duplex in SF Zone 0 0
SB 9 (2021) - Residential Lot Split 0 0
AB 2011 (2022) 0 0
SB 6 (2022) 0 0
SB 423 (2023) 0 0

Ministerial and Discretionary Applications # of Units
Ministerial 13 0
Discretionary 0 0

Density Bonus Applications and Units Permitted
Number of Applications Submitted Requesting a Density Bonus 0
Number of Units in Applications Submitted Requesting a Density Bonus 0
Number of Projects Permitted with a Density Bonus 0
Number of Units in Projects Permitted with a Density Bonus 0

Housing Element Programs Implemented and Sites Rezoned Count
20

0

Cells in grey contain auto-calculation formulas

Data is auto-populated based on data entered in Tables A, A2, C, and D

Total Housing Applications Submitted:
Number of Proposed Units in All Applications Received:
Total Housing Units Approved:
Total Housing Units Disapproved:

Total Units

Housing Applications Summary

Use of SB 423 Streamlining Provisions - Applications

Note: Units serving extremely low-income households are included in the very low-income 

Number of SB 423 Streamlining Applications

Above Moderate

Indicated as Infill
Not Indicated as Infill

Building Permits Issued by Affordability Summary
Income Level

Programs Implemented
Sites Rezoned to Accommodate the RHNA

(Jan. 1 - Dec. 31)

10/15/2021 - 10/15/2029

Units Constructed - SB 423 Streamlining Permits

Number of SB 423 Streamlining Applications Approved

Very Low

Low

Moderate



Jurisdiction Artesia ANNUAL ELEMENT PROGRESS REPORT Note: "+" indicates an optional field

Reporting Year 2024
(Jan. 1 - Dec. 

31) Housing Element Implementation
Planning 
Period 6th Cycle 10/15/2021 - 10/15/2029

Date 
Application 
Submitted

Total 
Approved 
Units by 
Project

Total 
Disapproved 

Units by 
Project

Streamlining Application 
Status Project Type Notes

2 3 4 6 7 8 9 11 12 13

Prior APN+ Current APN Street Address Project Name+
Local 

Jurisdiction 
Tracking ID

Unit Category
(SFA,SFD,2 to 
4,5+,ADU,MH)

Tenure

R=Renter
O=Owner

Date 
Application 
Submitted

(see 
instructions)

Very Low-
Income 
Deed 

Restricted

Very Low-
Income 

Non Deed 
Restricted

Low-
Income 
Deed 

Restricted

Low-Income 
Non Deed 
Restricted

Moderate-
Income Deed 

Restricted

Moderate- 
Income   Non 

Deed 
Restricted

Above
Moderate-

Income

Total 
PROPOSED 

Units by 
Project

Total 
APPROVED 

Units by 
project

Total 
DISAPPROVE

D Units by 
Project

Please select 
state 

streamlining 
provision/s the 
application was 

submitted 
pursuant to.

Did the 
housing 

development 
application 

seek 
incentives or 
concessions 
pursuant to 
Government 
Code section 

65915?

Were 
incentives or 
concessions 

requested 
pursuant to 
Government 
Code section 

65915 
approved?

Please 
indicate the 
status of the 
application.

Is the project 
considered a 

ministerial 
project or 

discretionary 
project?

Notes+

Summary Row: Start Data Entry Below 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

7035006074 11461 178TH                      ARTESIA                   ADU R 3/18/2024 0 0 NONE No No Pending Ministerial
7040003012 18319 IBEX                       ARTESIA                   ADU R 4/16/2024 0 NONE No No Pending Ministerial
7040003012 17929 HORST                      ARTESIA                   ADU R 4/24/2024 0 NONE No No Pending Ministerial
7033027027 18616 

GRIDLEY                   ARTESIA ADU R
5/23/2024

0 NONE No No Pending Ministerial

7033014018 18103 ARLINE                    ARTESIA ADU R 8/29/2024 0 NONE No No Pending Ministerial
17902 

THORNLAKE ARTESIA ADU R
9/25/2024

0 NONE No No Pending Ministerial

7040007003 17424 Elaine ARTESIA ADU R 10/31/2024 0 NONE No No Pending Ministerial
7040014002 17506 Elaine ARTESIA ADU R 10/31/2024 0 NONE No No Pending Ministerial
7033024028 17623 

Thornlake ARTESIA ADU R
11/4/2024

0 NONE No No Pending Ministerial

7039018040 18522 Pioneer ARTESIA ADU R 11/27/2024 0 NONE No No Pending Ministerial
17523 Pioneer ARTESIA ADU R 12/5/2024 0 NONE No No Pending Ministerial

7033026001 ARTESIA ADU R 12/12/2024 0 NONE No No Pending Ministerial
7025007035 ARTESIA SFD O 12/17/2024 0 NONE No No Pending Ministerial

Table A

Cells in grey contain auto-calculation formulas

51

Project Identifier Unit Types Proposed Units - Affordability by Household Incomes Density Bonus Law 
Applications

10

Housing Development Applications Submitted



Jurisdiction Artesia ANNUAL ELEMENT PROGRESS REPORT
Reporting Year 2024

(Jan. 1 - Dec. 
31) Housing Element Implementation Cells in grey contain auto-calculation formulas

Planning 
Period 6th Cycle 10/15/2021 - 10/15/2029

Table A2

2 3 5 6 8 9

Prior APN+ Current APN Street Address Project Name+
Local 

Jurisdiction 
Tracking ID

Unit Category               
(SFA,SFD,2 to 
4,5+,ADU,MH)

Tenure

R=Renter
O=Owner

Very Low- 
Income Deed 

Restricted

Very Low- 
Income   Non 

Deed 
Restricted

Low- Income 
Deed 

Restricted

Low- Income   
Non Deed 
Restricted

Moderate- 
Income 
Deed 

Restricted

Moderate- 
Income Non 

Deed 
Restricted

Above
Moderate-

Income

Entitlement
Date Approved

# of Units 
issued 

Entitlements

Very Low- 
Income 
Deed 

Restricted

Very Low- 
Income   Non 

Deed 
Restricted

Low- 
Income 
Deed 

Restricted

Low- 
Income   

Non Deed 
Restricted

Moderate- 
Income 
Deed 

Restricted

Moderate- 
Income Non 

Deed 
Restricted

Above
Moderate-

Income

Building 
Permits Date 

Issued

# of Units Issued 
Building Permits 

Summary Row: Start Data Entry Below 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 21 64 85
7033013012 17522 HORST                      ARTESIA                   ADU R 0 1 8/15/2024 1

12046 Rendova ARTESIA SFD O 0 1 1/3/2024 1
7035002034 11457 Hart ARTESIA ADU R 0 1 4/25/2024 1
7039011025 18626 CORBY                     ARTESIA ADU R 0 2 4/25/2024 2
7040031013 18620 HORST ARTESIA ADU R 0 1 5/17/2024 1
7039025001 11543 186TH ARTESIA ADU R 0 1 7/30/2024 1

7014003025 11704 ARKANSAS ARTESIA 5+ O 0 6 10/8/2024 6

7014003025 11706 ARKANSAS ARTESIA 5+ O 0 8 10/8/2024 8

7014003025 11710 ARKANSAS                  ARTESIA 5+ O 0 6 10/8/2024 6

7014003025 11712 ARKANSAS ARTESIA 5+ O 0 5 10/8/2024 5

7014003025 11716 ARKANSAS                  ARTESIA 5+ O 0 5 8/1/2024 5

7014003025 11718 ARKANSAS                  ARTESIA 5+ O 0 9 8/1/2024 9

7014003025 11718 ARKANSAS                  ARTESIA 5+ O 0 9 8/1/2024 9

7014003025 11720 ARKANSAS                  ARTESIA 5+ O 0 5 8/1/2024 5

7014003025 11722 ARKANSAS ARTESIA 5+ O 0 5 8/1/2024 5

7014003025 11550 183RD                     ARTESIA 5+ O 0 5 8/1/2024 5

7040029076 18917 GRAYLAND                  ARTESIA ADU R 0 1 9/4/2024 1

7054010001 19402 NORWALK                   ARTESIA ADU R 0 1 12/3/2024 1
7054010001 19402 NORWALK                   ARTESIA ADU R 0 1 12/3/2024 1

7033027028 11959 
ASHWORTH ARTESIA ADU R 0 1 7/23/2024 1

7033016018 11959 
ASHWORTH                  ARTESIA ADU R 0 1 9/23/2024 1

7035015026 17602 ROSETON                   ARTESIA ADU R 0 1 2/12/2024 1
7040031013 18620 HORST                     ARTESIA ADU R 0 1 5/17/2024 1
7040002013 18501 NORWALK ARTESIA ADU R 0 1 7/23/2024 1
7039011025 11980 187TH                     ARTESIA ADU R 0 2 5/30/2024 2

7011017063 11972 ARKANSAS ARTESIA ADU R 0 1 10/29/2024 1

7054026027 12048 HIBBING ARTESIA ADU R 0 1 11/19/2024 1

7025026056 18325 GRAYLAND ARTESIA ADU R 0 1 8/1/2024 1

7025026056 18325 GRAYLAND ARTESIA ADU R 0 1 9/26/2024 1

7054008022 12326 MEADOW ARTESIA ADU R 0 1 12/27/2024 1
7054009028 19012 HORST                     ARTESIA ADU R 0 0
7054006025 12219 CAMBRIAN                  ARTESIA ADU R 0 0

7033012007 17422 GRAYLAND                  ARTESIA ADU R 0 0

7033021010 12139 175TH                     ARTESIA ADU R 0 0
7040010005 18420 DEVLIN                    ARTESIA ADU R 0 0

7033009020 17423 GRAYLAND                  ARTESIA ADU R 0 0

7035005042 11504 ARTESIA                   ARTESIA 5+ O 0 0
7035005042 11504 ARTESIA                   ARTESIA 5+ O 0 0

11727 168TH                     ARTESIA ADU R 0 0
7039016010 18744 JERSEY                    ARTESIA ADU R 0 0
7054011002 17022 ROSETON                   ARTESIA ADU R 0 0
7035008019 17811 ROSETON                   ARTESIA SFD O 0 0

7025026056 18002 
THORNLAKE                 ARTESIA ADU R 0 0

7039003010 18504 ALBURTIS                  ARTESIA ADU R 0 0
7040026009 11938 186TH                     ARTESIA ADU R 0 0
7035005042 11504 ARTESIA                   ARTESIA 5+ O 0 0
7035005042 17601 PIONEER                   ARTESIA 5+ O 0 0
7054007048 12233 MEADOW                    ARTESIA ADU R 0 0
7040022027 18316 SEINE                     ARTESIA ADU R 0 0
7040011013 18316 SEINE                     ARTESIA ADU R 0 0
7035005042 11504 ARTESIA                   ARTESIA 5+ O 0 0
7035005042 17127 PIONEER                   ARTESIA 5+ O 0 0
7039003027 18501 CORBY                     ARTESIA ADU R 0 0
7033022028 11919 183RD                     ARTESIA ADU R 0 0
7033013001 17402 HORST                     ARTESIA ADU R 0 0
7033013001 17127 PIONEER                   ARTESIA ADU R 0 0
7054010026 12231 BINGHAM                   ARTESIA ADU R 0 0
7054010026 12231 BINGHAM                   ARTESIA ADU R 0 0
7040022021 18712 ARLINE                    ARTESIA ADU R 0 0

Note: "+" indicates an optional field

Project Identifier

Annual Building Activity Report Summary - New Construction, Entitled, Permits and Completed Units

1

Unit Types Affordability by Household Incomes - Completed Entitlement Affordability by Household Incomes - Building Permits

4 7



Streamlining Infill
Housing without 

Financial Assistance or 
Deed Restrictions

Term of 
Affordability or 

Deed Restriction
11 12 13 14 15 16 17 18 19 20 21 22 23

Very Low- 
Income 
Deed 

Restricted

Very Low- 
Income   

Non Deed 
Restricted

Low- 
Income 
Deed 

Restricted

Low- 
Income   

Non Deed 
Restricted

Moderate- 
Income 
Deed 

Restricted

Moderate- 
Income Non 

Deed 
Restricted

Above
Moderate-

Income

Certificates of 
Occupancy or other 
forms of readiness          
(see instructions)    

Date Issued

# of  Units 
issued 

Certificates of 
Occupancy or 
other forms of 

readiness

How many of 
the units 

were 
Extremely 

Low Income?

Please select the 
state 

streamlining 
provision the 
project was 
APPROVED 
pursuant to. 
(may select 

multiple)

Infill Units?
Y/N+

Assistance 
Programs for Each 

Development
(may select multiple 
- see instructions)

Deed Restriction 
Type

(may select 
multiple - see 
instructions)

For units affordable 
without financial 

assistance or deed 
restrictions, explain how 

the locality determined the 
units were affordable

(see instructions)

Term of Affordability 
or Deed Restriction 

(years) (if affordable in 
perpetuity enter 1000)+ 

Number of 
Demolished/Destroy

ed Units

Demolished 
or Destroyed 

Units

Demolished/
Destroyed 

Units    
Owner or 

Renter

Total Density Bonus 
Applied to the Project 

(Percentage Increase in 
Total Allowable Units or 

Total Maximum Allowable 
Residential Gross Floor 

Area)

Number of Other 
Incentives, 

Concessions, 
Waivers, or Other 

Modifications Given 
to the Project 

(Excluding Parking 
Waivers or Parking 

Reductions)

List the 
incentives, 

concessions, 
waivers, and 
modifications 

(Excluding 
Parking Waivers 

or Parking 
Modifications)

0 0 0 0 0 22 31 53 0 0
0 0 NONE Y
0 NONE Y
0 NONE Y
0 NONE Y
0 NONE Y
0 NONE Y

0 NONE Y

0 NONE Y

0 NONE Y

0 NONE Y

0 NONE Y

0 NONE Y

0 NONE Y

0 NONE Y

0 NONE Y

0 NONE Y

0 NONE Y

0 NONE Y
0 NONE Y

0 NONE Y

0 NONE Y

0 NONE Y
0 NONE Y
0 NONE Y
0 NONE Y

0 NONE Y

0 NONE Y

0 NONE Y

0 NONE Y

0 NONE Y
1 4/19/2024 1 NONE Y
1 4/25/2024 1 NONE Y

1 8/6/2024 1 NONE Y

1 5/31/2024 1 NONE Y
1 11/25/2024 1 NONE Y

1 5/29/2024 1 NONE Y

5 6/24/2024 5 NONE Y
5 6/24/2024 5 NONE Y

1 9/10/2024 1 NONE Y
1 3/18/2024 1 NONE Y
1 10/22/2024 1 NONE Y

1 3/21/2024 1 NONE Y

1 3/28/2024 1 NONE Y

1 5/2/2024 1 NONE Y
1 12/10/2024 1 NONE Y

5 6/24/2024 5 NONE Y
5 6/24/2024 5 NONE Y

1 3/22/2024 1 NONE Y
1 2/8/2024 1 NONE Y
1 5/15/2024 1 NONE Y

5 6/24/2024 5 NONE Y
5 6/24/2024 5 NONE Y

1 9/12/2024 1 NONE Y
1 7/24/2024 1 NONE Y
1 12/30/2024 1 NONE Y
1 12/30/2024 1 NONE Y
1 10/22/2024 1 NONE Y
1 10/22/2024 1 NONE Y
1 12/23/2024 1 NONE Y

Housing with Financial Assistance 
and/or Deed Restrictions Demolished/Destroyed Units Density BonusAffordability by Household Incomes - Certificates of Occupancy

10



Notes

24 25

Did the project 
receive a reduction or 

waiver of parking 
standards? (Y/N)

Notes+

 



Jurisdiction Artesia ANNUAL ELEMENT PROGRESS REPORT
Reporting Year 2024 (Jan. 1 - Dec. 31) Housing Element Implementation

Planning Period 6th Cycle 10/15/2021 - 10/15/2029

1
Projection 

Period 3 4

RHNA Allocation 
by Income Level

Projection 
Period - 

06/30/2021-
10/14/2021

2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029
Total Units to 

Date (all 
years)

Total Remaining 
RHNA by 

Income Level

Deed Restricted                        -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   
Non-Deed Restricted                        -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   
Deed Restricted                        -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   
Non-Deed Restricted                        -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   
Deed Restricted                        -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -   
Non-Deed Restricted                        -                       -                       -                       -                      21                     -                       -                       -                       -                       -   

Above Moderate                              461                         8                      3                      6                     -                      64                     -                       -                       -                       -                       -                      81                         380 
                          1,069 

                        8                      3                      6                     -                      85                     -                       -                       -                       -                       -                    102                         967 

5 6 7
Extremely low-
Income Need 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 2027 2028 2029 Total Units to 

Date
Total Units 
Remaining

                             156                     -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                       -                           156 

VLI Deed Restricted
VLI Non Deed Restricted
LI Deed Restricted
LI Non Deed Restricted
MI Deed Restricted
MI Non Deed Restricted
Above Mod Income

                        168 

Please note: For the last year of the 5th cycle, Table B will only include units that were permitted during the portion of the year that was in the 5th cycle. For the first year of the 6th cycle, Table B will only include units that 
were permitted since the start of the planning period. Projection Period units are in a separate column.

Total RHNA
Total Units

Income Level

Very Low

Low

Extremely Low-Income Units*

Note: units serving extremely low-income households are included in the very low-income RHNA progress and must be reported as very low-income units in section 7 of Table A2. They must also be reported in the extremely low-income category (section 13) in Table A2 to 
be counted as progress toward meeting the extremely low-income housing need determined pursuant to Government Code 65583(a)(1).

*Extremely low-income housing need determined pursuant to Government Code 65583(a)(1). Value in Section 5 is default value, assumed to be half of the very low-income RHNA. May be overwritten. 

Progress toward extremely low-income housing need, as determined pursuant to Government Code 65583(a)(1).

Please Note: Table B does not currently contain data from Table F or Table F2 for prior years. You may login to the APR system to see Table B that contains this data.

Please note: The APR form can only display data for one planning period. To view progress for a different planning period, you may login to HCD's online APR system, or contact HCD staff at apr@hcd.ca.gov.

                        107 

                    -   

This table is auto-populated once you enter your jurisdiction name and current 
year data. Past year information comes from previous APRs.

                   21 Moderate

                             312 

                             168 

                             128 

Please contact HCD if your data is different than the material supplied here

                    -   

2

Table B
Regional Housing Needs Allocation Progress

Permitted Units Issued by Affordability

                        312 



Jurisdiction Artesia ANNUAL ELEMENT PROGRESS REPORT

Reporting Year 2024 (Jan. 1 - Dec. 31) Housing Element Implementation

Planning Period 6th Cycle 10/15/2021 - 10/15/2029

Date of 
Rezone Rezone Type

2 4 5 6 7 9 10 11

APN Street Address Project Name+
Local 

Jurisdiction 
Tracking ID+

Date of 
Rezone

Very Low-
Income Low-Income Moderate-

Income

Above 
Moderate-

Income

Rezone Type Parcel Size
(Acres)

General Plan 
Designation Zoning

Minimum    
Density 
Allowed 

Maximum    
Density 
Allowed

Realistic 
Capacity Vacant/Nonvacant Description of 

Existing Uses

Note: "+" indicates an optional field

Cells in grey contain auto-calculation formulas

Summary Row: Start Data Entry Below

83

Project Identifier RHNA Shortfall by Household Income Category Sites Description

1

Sites Identified or Rezoned to Accommodate Shortfall Housing Need and No Net-Loss Law
Table C



Jurisdiction Artesia
Reporting Year 2024 (Jan. 1 - Dec. 31)

1 2 3 4
Name of Program Objective Timeframe in H.E Status of Program Implementation

Mortgage Credit Certificate 
Pgogram MCC Program Participation Ongoing Program in effect

Maximize External Funding ReFunding for affordable housing construction r    Ongoing Program in effect
Participation in Gateway 
cities COG Participation in Gateway Cities COG Ongoing Program in effect

Housing for lower income 
households Housing for lower income households annual basis Program in effect

Mixed Use overlay adopt mixed use overlay by end of 2023 program in effect

Expedited processing for 
special needs housing expedited processing ongoing Program in effect

 technical assistance for 
special needs housing 
development

technical assistance Ongoing Program in effect

adequate sites for 
transitional and supportive 
housing

compliance with sb2 within 1 year of housing 
element adoption Program in effect

Green building practices 
and energy conservation

encourage energey conservation in 
residential development Ongoing Program in effect

Priority code enforcement identify and prioritize target areas for 
proactive code enforcement Ongoing Program in effect

land inventory vacant and underutilized land inventory annual update Program in effect

Provide adequate sites for 
housing development adequate sites for housing

rezone parcels by within 1 
year of housing element 
adoption

Program in effect

Fair housing referrals fair housing referrals Ongoing Program in effect
reasonable 
accommodation reasonable accommodation procedures Ongoing Program in effect

Section 8 Housing 
vouchers Section 8 vouchers annually Program in effect

Informational manuals and 
handouts informational manuals and handouts ongoing Program in effect

annual housing report annual report to hcd annually Program in effect
development review 
process handouts development review process handouts ongoing Program in effect

preapplication 
coordination with 
developers

preapplication meeting with developers Ongoing Program in effect

expedited processing and 
fee waivers

expedited processing/fee waivers for 
affordable housing Ongoing Program in effect

ANNUAL ELEMENT PROGRESS REPORT
Housing Element Implementation

Housing Programs Progress Report  
Describe progress of all programs including local efforts to remove governmental constraints to the maintenance, improvement, and development of housing 

as identified in the housing element.

Table D
Program Implementation Status pursuant to GC Section 65583



Jurisdiction Artesia ANNUAL ELEMENT PROGRESS REPORT
Reporting 
Period 2024

(Jan. 1 - Dec. 
31) Housing Element Implementation

Planning 6th Cycle 10/15/2021 - 10/15/2029

Description of 
Commercial 

Development Bonus

Commercial Development Bonus 
Date Approved

3 4

APN Street Address Project Name+
Local 

Jurisdiction 
Tracking ID+

Very Low
Income

Low
Income

Moderate
Income

Above Moderate
Income

Description of 
Commercial 

Development Bonus

Commercial Development Bonus 
Date Approved

Summary Row: Start Data Entry Below

Units Constructed as Part of Agreement

 Commercial Development Bonus Approved pursuant to GC Section 65915.7
Table E

Note: "+" indicates an optional field

Project Identifier

1 2

Cells in grey contain auto-calculation 
formulas

(CCR Title 25 §6202)

Annual Progress Report  January 2020



Jurisdiction Artesia ANNUAL ELEMENT PROGRESS REPORT Note: "+" indicates an optional field

Reporting Period 2024
(     

31) Housing Element Implementation Cells in grey contain auto-calculation formulas
Planning Period 6th Cycle 10/15/2021 - 10/15/2029

The description should adequately document 
how each unit complies with subsection (c) of 
Government Code Section 65583.1+. 
For detailed reporting requirements, see the 
chcklist here: 

Extremely Low-
Income+

Very Low-
Income+ Low-Income+ TOTAL UNITS+

Extremely Low-
Income+

Very Low-
Income+ Low-Income+

TOTAL 
UNITS+

https://www.hcd.ca.gov/community-
development/docs/adequate-sites-checklist.pdf

Rehabilitation Activity

Preservation of Units At-Risk

Acquisition of Units

Mobilehome Park Preservation

Total Units by Income

Table F 

Please note this table is optional: The jurisdiction can use this table to report units that have been substantially rehabilitated, converted from non-affordable to affordable by acquisition, and preserved, 
including mobilehome park preservation, consistent with the standards set forth in Government Code section 65583.1, subdivision (c). Please note, motel, hotel, hostel rooms or other structures that 

are converted from non-residential to residential units pursuant to Government Code section 65583.1(c)(1)(D) are considered net-new housing units and must be reported in Table A2 and not reported 
in Table F.

Activity Type

Units that Do Not Count Towards RHNA+

Listed for Informational Purposes Only

Units that Count Towards RHNA +
Note - Because the statutory requirements severely limit what 
can be counted, please contact HCD at apr@hcd.ca.gov and 
we will unlock the form which enable you to populate these 

fields.

Units Rehabilitated, Preserved and Acquired for Alternative Adequate Sites pursuant to Government Code section 65583.1(c) 

Annual Progress Report  January 2020

https://www.hcd.ca.gov/community-development/docs/adequate-sites-checklist.pdf
https://www.hcd.ca.gov/community-development/docs/adequate-sites-checklist.pdf


Jurisdiction Artesia ANNUAL ELEMENT PROGRESS REPORT
Note: "+" indicates an 
optional field

Reporting 
Period 2024 (Jan. 1 - Dec. 31) Housing Element Implementation Cells in grey contain auto-calculation formulas
Planning 
Period 6th Cycle 10/15/2021 - 10/15/2029

Notes

2 3 6

Prior APN+ Current APN Street Address Project Name+
Local 

Jurisdiction 
Tracking ID

Unit 
Category               
(2 to 4,5+)

Tenure

R=Renter

Very Low- 
Income 
Deed 

Restricted

Very Low- 
Income   

Non Deed 
Restricted

Low- Income Deed 
Restricted

Low- Income   
Non Deed 
Restricted

Moderate- 
Income Deed 

Restricted

Moderate- 
Income Non 

Deed 
Restricted

Above
Moderate-

Income

Total Moderate Income 
Units Converted from 

Above Moderate

Date 
Converted Notes

Summary Row: Start Data Entry Below 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Table F2 
Above Moderate Income Units Converted to Moderate Income Pursuant to Government Code section 65400.2

For up to 25 percent of a jurisdiction’s moderate-income regional housing need allocation, the planning agency may include the number of units in an existing multifamily building that were converted to deed-restricted rental housing for moderate-income households by the imposition of affordability covenants and 
restrictions for the unit. Before adding information to this table, please ensure housing developments meet the requirements described in Government Code 65400.2(b).

5

Project Identifier Unit Types
1 4

Affordability by Household Incomes After Conversion Units credited toward Moderate 
Income RHNA



Jurisdiction Artesia
Reporting Year 2024 (Jan. 1 - Dec. 31)

Total Award Amount Total award amount is auto-populated based on amounts entered in rows 15-26.

Task  $ Amount Awarded $ Cumulative Reimbursement Requested Other 
Funding Notes

Summary of entitlements, building permits, and certificates of occupancy (auto-populated from Table A2)

Current Year
Deed Restricted 0
Non-Deed Restricted 0
Deed Restricted 0
Non-Deed Restricted 0
Deed Restricted 0
Non-Deed Restricted 0

0
0

Current Year
Deed Restricted 0
Non-Deed Restricted 0
Deed Restricted 0
Non-Deed Restricted 0
Deed Restricted 0
Non-Deed Restricted 21

64
85

Current Year
Deed Restricted 0
Non-Deed Restricted 0
Deed Restricted 0
Non-Deed Restricted 0
Deed Restricted 0
Non-Deed Restricted 22

31
53

Moderate

Above Moderate
Total Units

Completed Entitlement Issued by Affordability Summary
Income Level

Very Low

Low

Moderate

Above Moderate
Total Units

Building Permits Issued by Affordability Summary
Income Level

Very Low

Low

Total Units

Certificate of Occupancy Issued by Affordability Summary
Income Level

Very Low

Low

Moderate

Above Moderate

ANNUAL ELEMENT PROGRESS REPORT
Local Early Action Planning (LEAP) Reporting

(CCR Title 25 §6202)

Please update the status of the proposed uses listed in the entity’s application for funding and the corresponding impact on housing within the region or jurisdiction, as applicable, categorized based on the eligible uses specified in Section 50515.02 or 50515.03, as applicable.

-$                                                                                                                                                                                                           

Task Status



Jurisdiction Artesia
Reporting 
Period 2024

(Jan. 1 - Dec. 
31) 

Period 6th Cycle 10/15/2021 - 10/15/2029 ANNUAL ELEMENT PROGRESS REPORT
Housing Element Implementation

2 3 4

APN Street Address Project Name+
Local 

Jurisdiction 
Tracking ID+

Realistic 
Capacity 

Identified in the 
Housing 
Element

Entity to whom the site 
transferred Intended Use for Site

1

Summary Row: Start Data Entry Below

Note: "+" indicates an optional field

Cells in grey contain auto-calculation formulas

Table G
Locally Owned Lands Included in the Housing Element Sites Inventory that have been sold, leased, or otherwise disposed of

Project Identifier

NOTE: This table must only be filled out if the housing 
element sites inventory contains a site which is or was 
owned by the reporting jurisdiction, and has been sold, 
leased, or otherwise disposed of during the reporting 



Jurisdiction Artesia Note: "+" indicates an optional field
Reporting 
Period 2024

(Jan. 1 - Dec. 
31)

Cells in grey contain auto-calculation 
formulas

Designation Size Notes

1 2 3 4 5 6 7

APN Street Address/Intersection Existing Use Number of 
Units

Surplus 
Designation

Parcel Size (in 
acres) Notes

NOTE: This table must contain an invenory of 
ALL surplus/excess lands the reporting 
jurisdiction owns

Summary Row: Start Data Entry Below

Parcel Identifier

ANNUAL ELEMENT PROGRESS REPORT
Housing Element Implementation

Table H
Locally Owned Surplus Sites

For Los Angeles County jurisdictions, please format the APN's as follows:9999-999-999



Jurisdiction Artesia ANNUAL ELEMENT PROGRESS REPORT
Reporting 
Period 2024

(Jan. 1 - Dec. 
31) Housing Element Implementation

Planning 
Period 6th Cycle 10/15/2021 - 10/15/2029

Project Type Date
Units 

(Beds/Student 
Capacity) Granted 

Notes

2 3 5 6

APN Street Address Project Name+
Local 

Jurisdiction 
Tracking ID+

Unit Category
(SH - Student 

Housing)
Date

Very Low- 
Income Deed 

Restricted

Very Low- 
Income   Non 

Deed 
Restricted

Low- Income 
Deed 

Restricted

Low- Income   
Non Deed 
Restricted

Moderate- 
Income Deed 

Restricted

Moderate- 
Income Non 

Deed 
Restricted

Above
Moderate-

Income

Total Additional 
Beds Created Due 
to Density Bonus

Notes

Summary Row: Start Data Entry Below

Note: "+" indicates an optional field

Cells in grey contain auto-calculation formulas

Table J
Student housing development for lower income students for which was granted a density bonus pursuant to subparagraph (F) of paragraph (1) of subdivision (b) of Section 65915

Project Identifier Units (Beds/Student Capacity) Approved

1 4

NOTE: STUDENT HOUSING WITH DENSITY BONUS 
ONLY. This table only needs to be completed if there 
were student housing projects WITH a density bonus 
approved pursuant to Government Code65915(b)(1)(F)

Annual Progress Report  January 2020



Jurisdiction Artesia ANNUAL ELEMENT PROGRESS REPORT
Reporting Period 2024 (Jan. 1 - Dec. 31)

Planning Period 6th Cycle 10/15/2021 - 10/15/2029

Does the Jurisdiction have a local tenant preference policy? 

If the jurisdiction has a local tenant preference policy, 
provide a link to the jurisdiction's webpage containing 
authorizing local ordinance and supporting materials.

Notes

Table K
Tenant Preference Policy

Local governments are required to inform HCD about any local tenant preference ordinance the local government maintains when the jurisdiction submits their annual progress report on housing approvals and production, per Government Code 
7061 (SB 649, 2022, Cortese). Effective January 1, 2023, local governments adopting a tenant preference are required to create a webpage on their internet website containing authorizing local ordinance and supporting materials, no more than 

90 days after the ordinance becomes operational.



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT

MEETING DATE:   March 17, 2025  ITEM NO:   11A.

 
TO: Mayor and Members of the City Council

 
SUBJECT: Late-Night/Early-Morning Permit for Starbucks at 11732 Artesia Boulevard

 

FROM: Bill Rodrigues, Acting Planning Manager
Sal Lopez, Interim Community Development Director
 

REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY:
  Melissa Burke, Deputy City Manager

HongDao Nguyen, City Attorney
Abel Avalos, City Manager

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends that the City Council open the hearing, receive testimony, close the hearing, and, by motion,
adopt Resolution No. 25-3032, A Resolution of the City Council of the City of Artesia, California Granting a Late-
Night/Early-Morning Permit Pursuant to Artesia Municipal Code Section 3-2.209 to Starbucks Restaurant Located
at 11732 Artesia Boulevard and Finding that the Request is Exempt from CEQA Pursuant to Section 15301
(Existing Facilities) of the CEQA Guidelines.
 
BACKGROUND:
The subject site is located at 11732 Artesia Boulevard, which is an approximate 0.81-acre rectangular parcel with
frontage on both Artesia Boulevard to the north and 175th Street to the south.  The subject site is part of the Artesia
Boulevard Corridor Specific Plan.
 
The subject site is developed with an approximate 2,314-squaref foot, fast-food restaurant building that was last
occupied by Naugles Tacos & Burgers. On August 20, 2024, by a vote of 4 ayes and 0 noes with one
Commissioner absent, the Planning Commission approved Design Review 2024-19 for site improvements and a
comprehensive sign program for a new Starbucks.
 
As described in the attached Design Review staff report, the Starbucks restaurant would consist of a café, with
drive-through lane and outdoor patio. Subject to the City Council’s approval of a Late-Night/Early-Morning permit,
Starbucks would like the option to operate 24 hours a day 7 days a week. The restaurant would employee
approximately 20 employees in multiple shifts consisting of up to 6 employees per shift. Forty-five parking spaces
would be provided on-site to satisfy the City’s parking requirement.
 
Starbucks is considered a coffee restaurant with ancillary retail and is a permitted land use in the Artesia Boulevard
Corridor Specific Plan. Improvements to the Naugles building to convert it to a Starbucks include modifying the roof
line but retaining the main building parapet height at 17 feet 2 inches, removing the “tower” elements, adding
rooftop mechanical screens, and changing building colors and materials to be consistent with Starbucks’ corporate
identity. Additionally the drive-thru lane will be extended, the trash enclosure will be relocated, and landscape
enhancements will be made to the property.



 
The area adjacent near the subject site contains an eclectic mix of land uses that include detached single family
uses to the south (across 175th Street); single and multiple-family residential to the west (fronting on 175th Street);
residential, commercial, and automotive uses to the west (fronting on Artesia Blvd.); a concrete batch plant and
Shell service station to the north (across Artesia Blvd.); and a commercial retail center (Artesia Plaza) to the west
(fronting on both Artesia Boulevard, Pioneer Boulevard, and 175th Street).
  
ANALYSIS:
Starbucks request is to have the opportunity to operate 24 hours a day, 7 days a week, 365 days per year.
 

Pursuant to Artesia Municipal Code Section 3-2.209, City Council approval of a Late-Night/Early-Morning permit is
required for business hours occurring between midnight and 6:00 AM. The City Council has discretion to determine
if the requested late-night/early-morning hours should be granted as requested, reduced, or denied.   
 

When determining whether or not to grant, conditionally grant, or deny the Late-Night/Early-Morning Permit, the
City Council is required to (1) evaluate the issuance criteria specified in Section 3-2.106 (General Business
Licenses/Permits); and (2) evaluate the additional criteria set forth in Section 3-2.209, which is specific to late night
and early morning permits. 
 

More specifically, in accordance with Section 3-2.106(c), the City Council must find that none of the following apply
to the business operations:
 

1. The granting of the permit would result in the establishment of a use or occupancy of land in violation of the
zoning laws or zoning map of the City;

 
2. The granting of the permit would result in an occupancy or use in violation of any other provision or regulation

of the Municipal Code;
 

3. The granting of the permit would be contrary to any other standards or provisions of Chapter 2 of Title 3 of the
Municipal Code applicable thereto;

 
4. The granting of the permit, or occupancy or use pursuant thereto, would result in the creation or maintenance

of a public nuisance;
 

5. The granting of the permit by reason of special or unusual circumstances would be detrimental to the public
interest or endanger the public health, safety, morals, or welfare;

 
6. The applicant therefore is a person unfit to be trusted with the privileges granted by such permit, and it is in

the public interests that he or she not be granted such permit; or
 

7. The applicant therefore has knowingly made a false statement on a material matter in his or her application or
in his or her testimony before the Council and it is, therefore, in the public interests that he or she not be
granted such permit.

 
Additionally, in accordance with Section 3-2.209, the Council must consider the following criteria, which is specific
to late-night/early-morning permits:
 

1. The proximity of the proposed late night and early morning operation to surrounding residential zoned
property, schools, churches, parks and public buildings and the effect the proposed operation would likely
have on such surrounding properties and uses; and

 



2. The proximity of the proposed late night and early morning operation to other establishments that are
authorized to operate after 12:00 AM midnight or before 6:00 AM.

 
Should the Council grant or conditionally grant the Late-Night/Early-Morning Permit, Section 3-2.209 provides that
“Any permit issued pursuant to this section shall be valid for an initial duration of five (5) years from the date of
issuance and shall be automatically renewed, at the end of the fifth year, for additional one (1) year terms.” This
automatic renewal can be prevented if, prior to the expiration of the-then current term, the City takes both of the
following actions:
 

Provides notice to the permit holder at least ninety (90) days prior to the expiration of the current term of the
intent of the City to consider not extending the permit beyond the current term; and

 
The City Council, following a noticed public hearing, determines not to extend the permit beyond the then
current term.

 
Regarding Section 3-2.106, staff finds that none of the criteria contained in subsection (c) apply to this request. The
granting of a Late-Night/Early-Morning Permit would not violate the Municipal Code and would not be detrimental to
the public interest or endanger the public health, safety, morals, or welfare. Additionally, there were also no false
statements detected in the project application nor are there any concerns related to the applicant being unfit.
 
The Late-Night/Early-Morning Permit is consistent with the underlying project, which is a Starbucks fast food
restaurant. The project is designed to be compatible, complementary and harmonious with surrounding buildings.
The building and site is designed to orient towards Artesia Boulevard, which is an east-west trending arterial street.
In fact, that portion of Artesia Boulevard located west of Pioneer Boulevard is subject to the Artesia Boulevard
Corridor Specific Plan. The specific plan seeks to re-envision, redevelop, and reinvigorate Artesia Boulevard as a
mixed-use of area consisting of food, retail, and residential uses.
 
The project is also consistent with the City’s General Plan as the project will be located within the Gateway
Community Commercial land use designation area, an area that encourages the development of a complementary
mix of commercial retail, and office uses to expand economic vibrancy and livability in the City's core commercial
area.
 
The site for the proposed use is adequate in size and shape to accommodate the yards, walls, fences, parking and
loading facilities, landscaping, volumes of traffic, traffic levels of service, and other development features as
required by the Zoning Code in order to integrate the proposed use with the uses in Commercial General Zone. As
part of the project, Starbucks will be replacing parking spaces that are located along the southerly property line with
an approximate 14.5-foot-deep landscape planter and approximate 5 foot tall wall. The combination of wall and
landscaping will push Starbuck’s drive-through lane operations farther back from the residential uses located
across 175th Street.  And with the drive-through located on the easterly side of the parcel, it will be on the opposite
side of the multi-family residential uses located on the adjacent westerly parcel.  Because of these design
considerations, staff is comfortable that overnight operations will be compatible with nearby land uses. Generally,
business activity will be less active during overnight hours as compared to Starbucks typical morning and late
evening peak hours. Additionally, in the very early morning hours, staff further expects to see drive-through volume
drop only increasing in the lead up before 6 AM commensurate with local commuting patterns. And to further
ensure neighborhood compatibility, staff is recommending that approval of this request be conditioned such that
parking lot light levels are reduced and incorporate light shields, that order board light levels are similarly reduced
to avoid glare, that order board speaker volume levels be lowered, and that delivery hours be limited to daytime
through early-evening hours so that nearby residents will continue to have the quiet enjoyment of their properties
while Starbucks can benefit from a twenty-four hour operation.   
 



For the reasons described above, the proposed Late-Night/Early-Morning Permit complies with the criteria
established in Section 3-2.209(b) of the Artesia Municipal Code based on the following:
 

1.    The proximity of the proposed late night and early operation to surrounding residential zoned property,
schools, churches, park and public buildings and the effect the proposed operation would likely have on
such surrounding properties and uses.

 
a. The project will not have a negative effect on the surrounding properties and uses. The adjacent

development includes residential uses to the west and south and commercial uses to the east and north.
The project site is located within the Artesia Boulevard Corridor Specific Plan and nearby Pioneer
Boulevard (the City’s primary north-south commercial corridor) and is one block removed from the 91
Freeway. While most other businesses in this area don’t operate during overnight hours, staff believes that
the project’s design and recommended conditions of approval will ensure that Starbucks is a good
neighbor.
 

b. The proximity between the residential units and any potential source of noise from the project are
sufficient that any noise coming from the drive-through or parking lot during the late night hours would be
minimal to the residences.
 

c. Starbucks is an international corporation with thousands of global location. There is no reason to believe
that their operation of this location will be drastically different than any other location such that protesting
the issuance of this permit is justified.
 

d. There are conditions of approval that would require the project operations, including any noise coming
from the drive through and parking lot, to be in compliance with the City’s Noise Ordinance. Additionally,
conditions of approval have been added that would give the Council the ability to bring applicant before it
for a hearing should there be any persistent issues relating to noise, security, or the general health and
safety of the public.

 
2.  The proximity of the proposed Late-Night/Early-Morning Permit operation to other establishments that are

authorized to operate after 12:00 AM midnight or before 6:00 AM.
 

a. According to City records, there are no abutting businesses operating with a Late-Night/Early-Morning
Permit. Therefore, the proposed late-night/early-morning permit for the Starbucks restaurant will not result
in a cumulative impact to adjacent residential uses.

 
ENVIRONMENTAL: 
Pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), the Planning Department Staff has determined that
the Late-Night/Early-Morning Permit in conjunction with the approved project is categorically exempt from the
provisions of CEQA and the City’s CEQA Guidelines pursuant to Section 15301 (Class 1) as an existing facility. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:
There is no cost to the General Fund with approval of this item.  The City will receive nominal sales tax benefit to
the General Fund once Starbucks is open from sales of non-food related items for the life of the use.
 
RECOMMENDED COUNCIL ACTION:
Staff recommends that the City Council open the hearing, receive testimony, close the hearing, and, by motion,
adopt Resolution No. 25-3032, A Resolution of the City Council of the City of Artesia, California Granting a Late-
Night/Early-Morning Permit Pursuant to Artesia Municipal Code Section 3-2.209 to Starbucks Restaurant Located
at 11732 Artesia Boulevard and Finding that the Request is Exempt from CEQA Pursuant to Section 15301
(Existing Facilities) of the CEQA Guidelines.
 
 
 



Attachments

Resolution No. 25-3032.pdf

https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67ca09c94e7b11006b90f5c3%2FDRAFT%20Starbucks%20CC%20Resolution%20No.%2025-3032.pdf?alt=media&token=5b7dd393-6724-4338-8ab2-42925b385cc4
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67ca09c94e7b11006b90f5c3%2FDRAFT%20Starbucks%20CC%20Resolution%20No.%2025-3032.pdf?alt=media&token=5b7dd393-6724-4338-8ab2-42925b385cc4
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67ca09c94e7b11006b90f5c3%2FDRAFT%20Starbucks%20CC%20Resolution%20No.%2025-3032.pdf?alt=media&token=5b7dd393-6724-4338-8ab2-42925b385cc4


 1 

RESOLUTION NO. 25-3032 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ARTESIA, CALIFORNIA GRANTING A LATE-NIGHT/ 
EARLY-MORNING PERMIT PURSUANT TO ARTESIA 
MUNICIPAL CODE SECTION 3-2.209 TO STARBUCKS 
RESTAURANT LOCATED AT 11732 ARTESIA 
BOULEVARD AND MAKING A DETERMINATION OF A 
CLASS 1 CATEGORICAL EXEMPTION FROM CEQA 
PURSUANT TO SECTION 15331 (EXISTING FACILITIES) 
OF THE CEQA GUIDELINES 

THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ARTESIA DOES HEREBY FIND, ORDER     
AND RESOLVE AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1: Recitals. 

A. Section 3-2.209 of the Artesia Municipal Code requires all service or commercial 
establishments in the City that intend to conduct retail operations between the hours of 
12:00 AM and 6:00 AM to obtain a permit for late-night and early-morning commercial 
operations (hereinafter a “Late-Night/Early-Morning Permit”). 

B. An application for a Late-Night/Early-Morning Permit was filed by Starbucks 
(hereinafter the “applicant”) in conjunction with their proposal to operate a one-story, 
2,314 square foot restaurant with a drive through located at 11732 Artesia Boulevard, 
Artesia, CA 90701, in the Artesia Boulevard Corridor Specific Plan. The applicant is 
proposing to operate the restaurant from twenty-four hours a day, seven days a week.   

C. The Planning Commission approved the project and adopted Resolution No. 2024-
11P, which, in Section 7, included Condition of Approval No. 8 requiring that the applicant 
meet all requirements on the Artesia Municipal Code, which includes obtaining a Late-
Night/Early-Morning Permit to operate between the hours of 12:00 am (midnight) to 6:00 
am, seven days a week. 

D. The City gave notice of the public hearing for this Late-Night/Early-Morning Permit 
as required by the Municipal Code. 

E. The application for the Late-Night/Early-Morning Permit was reviewed by City Staff 
and the Los Angeles County Sheriff’s Department for purposes of evaluating the 
applicant’s compliance with the criteria for issuance of the permit per Section 3-2.209 of 
the Artesia Municipal Code. 

F. A public hearing was held by the City Council on March 17, 2025 to consider the 
applicant’s request for the Late-Night/Early-Morning Permit.  During the consideration of 
this item, a Staff Report was presented, followed by an opportunity for the applicant and 
the public to provide comment on the matter. Following the receipt of all testimony, the 
public hearing was closed. 



 2 

NOW THEREFORE, THE CITY OF ARTESIA CITY COUNCIL HEREBY FINDS, 
DETERMINES AND RESOLVES AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 2: The City Council hereby finds that each of the recitals and findings of fact 
set forth above is true and correct and is incorporated herein by this reference as part of 
the decision. 

SECTION 3: Pursuant to the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA), the City 
Council has determined that the Late-Night/Early-Morning Permit in conjunction with the 
project is categorically exempt from the requirements of CEQA and the City’s CEQA 
Guidelines pursuant to CEQA Guidelines Section15301 (Class1) as an existing facility.  

SECTION 4: Based upon the consideration of the entire record before it, the City Council 
makes the following findings in connection with the application pursuant to Section 3-
2.209 of the Artesia Municipal Code: 

1. The proximity of the proposed late night and early operation to 
surrounding residential zoned property, schools, churches, park and 
public buildings and the effect the proposed operation would likely have 
on such surrounding properties and uses. 

 
a) The project will not have a negative effect on the surrounding properties 

and uses. The adjacent development includes residential uses to the 
west and south and commercial uses to the east and north. The project 
site is located within the Artesia Boulevard Corridor Specific Plan and 
nearby Pioneer Boulevard (the City’s primary north-south commercial 
corridor) and is one block removed from the 91 Freeway. While most 
other businesses in this area don’t operate during overnight hours, staff 
believes that the project’s design and recommended conditions of 
approval will ensure that Starbucks is a good neighbor.  
 

b) The proximity between the residential units and any potential source of 
noise from the project are sufficient that any noise coming from the drive-
through or parking lot during the late night hours would be minimal to the 
residences.  
 

c) Starbucks is an international corporation with thousands of global 
location. There is no reason to believe that their operation of this location 
will be drastically different than any other location such that protesting 
the issuance of this permit is justified. 
 

d) There are conditions of approval that would require the project 
operations, including any noise coming from the drive through and 



 3 

parking lot, to be in compliance with the City’s Noise Ordinance. 
Additionally, conditions of approval have been added that would give the 
Council the ability to bring applicant before it for a hearing should there 
be any persistent issues relating to noise, security, or the general health 
and safety of the public. 

2. The proximity of the proposed late night and early morning operation to 
other establishments that are authorized to operate after 12:00 AM 
midnight or before 6:00 AM.  

 
a) According to City records, there are no abutting businesses operating with 

a Late-Night/Early-Morning Permit. Therefore, the proposed late-
night/early-morning permit for the Starbucks restaurant will not result in a 
cumulative impact to adjacent residential uses. 

 
SECTION 5: Based upon the consideration of the entire record before it, the City Council 
makes the following findings in connection with the application pursuant to Section 3-
2.106 of the Artesia Municipal Code: 
 

1. The granting of the permit would result in the establishment of a use or 
occupancy of land in violation of the zoning laws or zoning map of the 
City; 
 

a) The granting of a Late-Night/Early-Morning Permit does not violate the 
Municipal Code. The Late-Night/Early-Morning Permit is consistent with 
the underlying project, which is a fast food Starbucks restaurant. The 
project is designed to be compatible, complementary and harmonious 
with surrounding buildings. The Project will be required to comply with 
all conditions of approval, including addressing the various operational 
activities on the property and reducing potential nuisance impacts 
between the Project and neighboring properties, and all Building & 
Safety, Engineering/Public Works and County Fire Department 
requirements. The permit and inspection process will ensure that the 
proposed Project complies with local regulations and development 
codes. 
 

b) The project is also consistent with the City’s General Plan as the project 
will be located within the Gateway Community Commercial land use 
designation area, an area that encourages the development of a 
complementary mix of commercial retail, and office uses to expand 
economic vibrancy and livability in the City’s core commercial area. 
 



 4 

2. The granting of the permit would result in an occupancy or use in 
violation of any other provision or regulation of the Municipal Code; 

Granting the Late-Night/Early-Morning Permit does not violate any provision of 
the Municipal Code.  

3. The granting of the permit would be contrary to any other standards or 
provisions of Chapter 2 of Title 3 of the Municipal Code applicable 
thereto; 

The Late-Night/Early-Morning Permit and the underlying project promote the 
health and well-being of the City’s business community. Neither are in 
substantial conflict with the General Plan 2030. The proposed use will be 
located within the Gateway Community Commercial land use designation area, 
an area that encourages the development of a complimentary mix of 
commercial retail, and office uses to expand economic vibrancy and livability in 
the City's core commercial area. The proposed use will be consistent with 
Community Policy LU 1.2 that "encourage(s) a wide variety of retail and 
commercial services in appropriate locations," as well as Community Policy LU 
3.1 that "encourage[s] a mix of retail shops and services along the commercial 
corridors and in centers that better meet the needs of the area's present and 
future customers." The establishment of the proposed use at the proposed 
location will contribute to the diversification of the services and products that 
the commercial area can offer to its customers. 
 

4. The granting of the permit, or occupancy or use pursuant thereto, would 
result in the creation or maintenance of a public nuisance; 
 

a) The proposed Starbucks is a corporate run business and will abide by 
all corporate policies for health and safety and being a good neighbor. 
As a corporate store, there is no reason to believe that the use will 
create and maintenance problem or become a public nuisance. 
 

b) The Late-Night/Early-Morning Permit and the underlying project have 
been sufficiently conditioned to address persistent problems involving 
noise, security, and the general health and safety of the public. 
 

5. The granting of the permit by reason of special or unusual circumstances 
would be detrimental to the public interest or endanger the public health, 
safety, morals, or welfare; 

 
a) The granting of a Late-Night/Early-Morning Permit will not be detrimental 

to the public interest or endanger the public health, safety, morals, or 
welfare. The Late-Night/Early-Morning Permit is consistent with the 



 5 

underlying project, which is a Starbucks fast food restaurant. The project 
is designed to be compatible, complementary and harmonious with 
surrounding buildings. The Project will be required to comply with all 
conditions of approval, including addressing the various operational 
activities on the property and reducing potential nuisance impacts 
between the Project and neighboring properties, and all Building & 
Safety, Engineering/Public Works and County Fire Department 
requirements. The permit and inspection process will ensure that the 
proposed Project complies with local regulations and development 
codes. 
 

b) The project is also consistent with the City’s General Plan as the project 
will be located within the Gateway Community Commercial land use 
designation area, an area that encourages the development of a 
complimentary mix of commercial retail, and office uses to expand 
economic vibrancy and livability in the City's core commercial area. The 
site for the proposed use is adequate in size and shape to accommodate 
the yards, walls, fences, parking and loading facilities, landscaping, 
volumes of traffic, traffic levels of service, and other development 
features as required by the Zoning Code in order to integrate the 
proposed use with the uses in Artesia Boulevard Corridor Specific Plan. 
 

6. The applicant therefore is a person unfit to be trusted with the privileges 
granted by such permit, and it is in the public interests that he or she not 
be granted such permit; or 

As a corporate store operating thousands of locations globally, there is no 
reason to believe that Starbucks is unfit to be trusted with the privileges 
granted by the Late-Night/Early-Morning Permit. 

7. The applicant therefore has knowingly made a false statement on a 
material matter in his or her application or in or her  testimony before the 
Council and it is, therefore, in the public interests that he or she not be 
granted such permit. 

No evidence has been presented that the applicant has knowingly made any 
false statements on a material matter in the application or before the City 
Council. 

 
SECTION 6: Based on the findings set forth above and on all the evidence in the record, 
the City Council hereby approves the Late-Night/Early-Morning Permit, subject to the 
following conditions: 



 6 

 
1. The late-night/early-morning operations proposed in this permit shall be 

valid for an initial duration of five (5) years from the date of issuance and 
shall be automatically renewed at the end of the fifth (5th) year for additional 
one (1) year terms unless sooner not renewed, suspended, modified, 
revoked, or terminated in accordance with law. 

2. Any noise generated from the subject business, including, but not limited 
noise from the drive through speaker box and any speakers, noise resulting 
from vehicle queuing in the drive through lanes, and noise resulting from 
the parking lot shall be in accordance with the City of Artesia Municipal 
Code standards, including the City’s Noise Ordinance (Title 5, Chapter 2). 

3. The applicant shall indemnify, protect, defend, and hold the City, and/or any 
of its officials, officers, employees, agents, departments, agencies, 
authorized volunteers, and instrumentalities thereof, harmless from any and 
all claims, demands, lawsuits, writs of mandamus, and other actions and 
proceedings (whether legal, equitable, declaratory, administrative or 
adjudicatory in nature), and alternative dispute resolution procedures 
(including, but not limited to arbitrations, mediations, and other such 
procedures), judgments, orders, and decisions (collectively “Actions”), 
brought against the City, and/or any of its officials, officers, employees, 
agents, departments, agencies, authorized volunteers, and 
instrumentalities thereof, that challenge, attack, or seek to modify, set aside, 
void, or annul, any action of, or any permit or approval issued by the City 
and/or any of its officials, officers, employees, agents, departments, 
agencies, and instrumentalities thereof (including actions approved by the 
voters of the City) for or concerning the project, whether such Actions are 
brought under the Ralph M. Brown Act, California Environmental Quality 
Act, the Planning and Zoning Law, the Subdivision Map Act, Community 
Redevelopment Law, Code of Civil Procedure Sections 1085 or 1094.5, or 
any other federal, state, or local constitution, statute, law, ordinance, 
charter, rule, regulation, or any decision of a court of competent jurisdiction.  
It is expressly agreed that the City shall have the right to approve, which 
approval will not be unreasonably withheld, the legal counsel providing the 
City’s defense, and that applicant shall reimburse City for any costs and 
expenses directly and necessarily incurred by the City in the course of the 
defense.  City shall promptly notify the applicant of any Action brought and 
City shall cooperate with applicant in the defense of the Action.  This 
requirement to indemnify shall survive the suspension, revocation, 
expiration or termination of this permit. 

4. Exterior security cameras shall be used at all times capturing activity in the 
drive-through, outdoor space, and parking lot. Any footage captured by the 
cameras shall be given to the Sherriff’s Department or designee or the City’s 
Code Enforcement Director or designee, at their request. 
 



 7 

5. During all late night hours (12 AM (midnight) to 6:00 AM), there shall be a 
minimum of two employees working in the building at any one time, and 
shall ensure that any noise from the property is in compliance with the 
Municipal Code.  

 
6. The drive-thru menu speakers shall be equipped with adjustable volume 

controls in order to lower the volume level during any late-night/early-
morning hours. 

 
7. Parking lot lighting shall be directed or shielded to minimize light level on 

adjacent residential properties. 
 

8. In the event that any security problems, safety issues or criminal activity 
occur at the business during the late-night/early-morning hours (between 
12 AM (midnight) and 6:00 AM), and at the request of the City Manager, the 
business owner, at his/her own expense, shall provide a security plan with 
additional security provisions as determined by the Sheriff’s Department 
and/or the Code Compliance Director. The security provisions may include, 
but are not limited to, additional interior and exterior security cameras, 
additional lighting, posted signs, and/or security guards. Non-mitigatable 
security problems, safety issues or criminal activity directly related to the 
late night hours may be cause for revocation of this Permit. 
 

9. In the event that any persistent noise issues or disturbances of the public 
peace occur at the business during the late-night/early-morning hours 
(between 12 AM  (midnight) and 6:00 AM), and at the request of the City 
Manager, the business owner, at his/her own expense, shall provide a noise 
study, noise mitigation plan with proposed noise mitigation measures and 
features to the satisfaction of the City, and any other actions deemed 
necessary by the City. Non-mitigatable noise and public disturbance 
problems directly related to the late-night/early-morning hours may be 
cause for revocation of this Permit. 
 

10. Deliveries shall not be made to the subject property between the hours of 8 
p.m. and 7 a.m. any day of the week and that delivery vehicles shall only 
utilize Artesia Boulevard when arriving to and departing from the subject 
property.  

11. The applicant shall execute an affidavit of acceptance of these conditions 
prior to this permit becoming active. 

12. All permits and licenses shall be valid at all times while the business is in 
operation. 

SECTION 7: The location and custodian of the documents and other material, which 
constitute the record of proceedings upon which the City Council based its decision, is as 
follows:  



 8 

 
 

Jennifer Alderette, City Clerk 
18747 Clarkdale Avenue 
Artesia, CA 90701 
(562) 865-6262 Ext. 230 
 

SECTION 8:  Staff is hereby directed to file a Notice of Exemption with the Los Angeles 
County Clerk within five (5) days of the adoption of this resolution. 

PASSED, APPROVED AND ADOPTED this 17th day of March, 2025.  

                                                             

 

                                                                            _______________________________ 

                                                                            Ali Taj, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

 

________________________________ 

City Clerk  

 

ROLL CALL VOTE:   

 

AYES:   
NOES:   
ABSENT:   
ABSTAIN:    



 

CITY COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT

MEETING DATE:   March 17, 2025  ITEM NO:   11B.

 
TO: Mayor and Members of the City Council

 
SUBJECT: Introduction of an Ordinance Amending the Artesia Municipal Code Relating to Maintenance

of Vacant Properties
 

FROM: Bill Rodrigues, Acting Planning Manager
Sal Lopez, Interim Community Development Director
 

REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY:
  Melissa Burke, Deputy City Manager

HongDao Nguyen, City Attorney
Abel Avalos, City Manager

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
The Planning Commission recommends that the City Council:
 

1. Introduce for first reading Ordinance 25-966, an Ordinance Amending Chapter 24 (Vacant Buildings and
Foreclosed Properties) of Title 5 (Public Welfare) of the Artesia Municipal Code Relating to the Maintenance
of Vacant Properties; and
 

2. Find that the proposed Ordinance is not subject to the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”)
pursuant to State CEQA Guidelines Section 15061(b)(3) as it can be seen with certainty that there is no
possibility that the activity in question may have a significant effect on the environment.

 
BACKGROUND: 
The City Council has declared that vacant properties are a significant source of blight in both residential and
nonresidential neighborhoods. When left vacant and neglected, these properties not only detract from the
appearance of surrounding areas but also pose serious safety risks, such as fire hazards and attracting criminal
activity, particularly illegal drug-related offenses.
 
Properties that remain unoccupied, whether they are vacant lots or decaying buildings, contribute to the further
deterioration of the neighborhood. These properties can depress property values, hinder economic development,
and slow appreciation of nearby properties, which ultimately impacts tax revenues. In addition, the neglect of such
properties requires increased municipal services, which strains local resources. The unsafe and unhealthy
conditions they create significantly affect the well-being of nearby residents and businesses, interfering with their
use and enjoyment of their properties and constituting a public nuisance.
 
On August 28, 2024, the Conceptual Development Review Committee instructed staff to amend Chapter 24
(Vacant Buildings and Foreclosed Properties) of Title 5 (Public Welfare) of the Artesia Municipal Code concerning
the maintenance of vacant properties. The amendments are intended to make the provisions more comprehensive,



expand coverage to include vacant lots, and align the City’s Municipal Code more closely with the standards set by
the cities of Bellflower, Norwalk, and Downey.
 
Staff presented the proposed ordinance changes to the Planning Commission as Case No. 2024-38 on January 21,
2025. The Planning Commission requested more information of staff and continued the item.
 
On February 18, 2025, the proposed ordinance was again presented to the Planning Commission  and responses
provided to the Commission’s January 21, 2025 inquiries. The Planning Commission asked a few additional
clarifying questions pertaining to implementation and unanimously (5-0) recommended City Council adoption. 
 
ANALYSIS:
In developing the draft ordinance, staff followed the guidance and recommendations provided by the Conceptual
Development Review Committee and conducted a review of the Municipal Codes of Bellflower, Norwalk, and
Downey regarding vacant or improved vacant lots and properties. Based on this review, staff recommend several
changes to enhance the regulations, ensuring that vacant properties within the City are effectively managed and
potential challenges are mitigated.
 

The proposed ordinance introduces several significant updates aimed at strengthening the maintenance, security,
and overall management of vacant properties. These revisions are designed to address issues related to public
safety, property upkeep, and the prevention of blight, ensuring that vacant properties do not negatively impact the
surrounding community.
 

Key changes include:
 

Security Measures: The ordinance now includes provisions to secure properties, such as repairing fences,
locking gates, and securing openings like doors and windows to prevent unauthorized access.

 

Landscape and Irrigation Requirements: Property owners must submit a landscape and irrigation plan for
vacant lots that includes drought-tolerant vegetation and an automatic irrigation system. These plans must be
approved by the Community Development Director, and the landscaping must be maintained in good
condition at all times. Additionally, vacant properties must have landscaping around all perimeters adjacent to
public rights-of-way(s).

 
Maintenance of Water Features: Stricter regulations are introduced for pools, spas, and other water
features to ensure they remain free of pollutants, debris, and standing water that could attract pests. These
features must be securely covered and maintained to prevent water accumulation.

 

Mitigation Plans for Long-Term Vacancies: For properties vacant for more than 45 days, owners must
submit a Vacant Property Mitigation Plan. This plan will outline how the property will be regularly inspected,
secured, and maintained, including requirements for removing interior furniture and personal items and
ensuring clear visibility of the property’s interior.

 
Additional Maintenance and Security Measures: The Director is authorized to impose additional security
measures, including security lighting, increased inspection frequency, or the employment of security guards,
to ensure the property’s safety and compliance with the ordinance.

 

Recordation Requirements for Property Transfers: When a loan or deed of trust secured by real property
is transferred, the new beneficiary and trustee must record the assignment with the Los Angeles County
Recorder’s Office within 10 days. Any changes in the trustees must also be recorded with updated contact
details.

 



These amendments aim to promote a more proactive approach to vacant property management, ensuring effective
upkeep and security while safeguarding the community’s health, safety, and aesthetic standards. By establishing
clear guidelines and expanding enforcement mechanisms, the city will be better equipped to preserve the integrity
of its neighborhoods and mitigate the negative effects of vacant and neglected properties. Registration will also
help address items like graffiti abatement quickly, as staff will have up to date information on who the proper
contacts are for each property to ensure issues like graffiti are removed withing 72 hours.
 

The Planning Commission was concerned about how the updated code would be enforced. Staff is currently
working with a vendor that hosts web-based vacant property registration portals, where property owners will be
able to follow a link through the City's website to register their properties, and renew their registration annually.
Staff is also developing a fee study to incorporate the cost of providing this service, along with the staff time for
Code Enforcement Officers to routinely monitor the properties to ensure compliance. The fee study, along with the
suggested fee resolution will be presented to the City Council before the proposed Ordinance is adopted. Should
the proposed Ordinance be adopted, staff will continue with our current practice of providing courtesy notices to
property owners regarding the new rules well before enforcement takes place. This will allow property owners time
to make necessary changes, and where needed, receive Planning approval for landscaping plans. Finally, while the
City cannot force property owners to develop vacant properties, the proposed Ordinance will provide the City a tool
to ensure that properties are kept up nicely and add, not detract, from the quality of our neighborhoods and
commercial centers. 
 
FISCAL IMPACT:
There is no fiscal impact to the General Fund associated with the introduction, and ultimately the adoption, of this
Ordinance by the City Council.
 
ENVIRONMENTAL:
In accordance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines, this project is exempt from
environmental review as it does not meet the definition of a “project” under CEQA Guidelines Section 1578(b)(5).
The adoption of this Ordinance is an administrative action that will not cause any direct or physical changes to the
environment, and no further analysis is required.
   
RECOMMENDED COUNCIL ACTION:
Staff recommends that the City Council open the public hearing, receive public comment, close the public hearing,
and, by motion, introduce for first reading Ordinance No. 25-966, An Ordinance of the City Council of the City of
Artesia, California, Amending Chapter 24 (Vacant Properties) of Title 5 (Public Welfare) of the Artesia Municipal
Code Relating to the Maintenance of Vacant Properties. 
 
 
 

Attachments

Ordinance No. 25-966 (Vacant Properties).pdf
02.18.2025 Planning Commission staff report.pdf

https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67c91e584e7b11006b8f900c%2F03.17.2025%20Artesia%20-%20Ordinance%20No.%2025-966%20(Vacant%20Properties)%20(BBK%20Comments)-c1_final_2_18_25-c1.modified%2003.04.2025.pdf?alt=media&token=3f43bc37-4751-47a2-a588-5350cd89d697
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67c91e584e7b11006b8f900c%2F03.17.2025%20Artesia%20-%20Ordinance%20No.%2025-966%20(Vacant%20Properties)%20(BBK%20Comments)-c1_final_2_18_25-c1.modified%2003.04.2025.pdf?alt=media&token=3f43bc37-4751-47a2-a588-5350cd89d697
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67c91e584e7b11006b8f900c%2F03.17.2025%20Artesia%20-%20Ordinance%20No.%2025-966%20(Vacant%20Properties)%20(BBK%20Comments)-c1_final_2_18_25-c1.modified%2003.04.2025.pdf?alt=media&token=3f43bc37-4751-47a2-a588-5350cd89d697
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67c91e584e7b11006b8f900c%2F02.18.2025%20Planning%20Commission%20staff%20report.pdf?alt=media&token=b76caa54-6328-4ecf-9c96-2a2652e12dd4
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67c91e584e7b11006b8f900c%2F02.18.2025%20Planning%20Commission%20staff%20report.pdf?alt=media&token=b76caa54-6328-4ecf-9c96-2a2652e12dd4
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67c91e584e7b11006b8f900c%2F02.18.2025%20Planning%20Commission%20staff%20report.pdf?alt=media&token=b76caa54-6328-4ecf-9c96-2a2652e12dd4


1  

ORDINANCE NO. 25-966 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF 
ARTESIA, CALIFORNIA, AMENDING CHAPTER 24 
(VACANT PROPERTIES) OF TITLE 5 (PUBLIC WELFARE) 
OF THE ARTESIA MUNICIPAL CODE RELATING TO THE 
MAINTENANCE OF VACANT PROPERTIES 

WHEREAS, the City of Artesia (“City”) is authorized under the California 
Constitution with the police power to safeguard public health, welfare, and safety; 

WHEREAS, the City Council declares that vacant properties are a major cause 
and source of blight in both residential and non-residential neighborhoods; 

WHEREAS, properties that remain vacant and unoccupied for any appreciable 
period of time become a life-safety hazard, fire hazard, and attract crime (frequently 
involving illegal drug-related activity); 

WHEREAS, vacant properties, including lots and buildings, whether or not those 
buildings are boarded, substandard, structurally deficient, or any part of the property is 
poorly maintained, neglected for a long term, or exhibiting any combination of these 
negative qualities, contribute to the growth of blight within the City, depress market values 
of surrounding properties, discourage economic development, retard appreciation of 
property values thereby reducing tax revenues, necessitate additional governmental 
services, significantly interfere with the use and enjoyment of neighboring properties, 
create an unhealthy and unsafe condition affecting the public and constitutes an 
unreasonable use of property and a public nuisance; 

WHEREAS, the purpose of this Ordinance is to amend Chapter 24 of Title 5 (Public 
Welfare) of the Artesia Municipal Code (“AMC”) entitled, “Vacant Properties,” to ensure 
that owners of vacant properties are known to the City and other interested parties (and 
can be reached if necessary), ensure that owners of vacant properties are aware of the 
obligations of ownership under relevant codes and regulations, and ensure that owners 
meet minimum standards of maintenance of vacant properties; 

WHEREAS, the City Council finds that the adoption and implementation of the 
procedures and standards set forth below for the identification and abatement of public 
nuisances within the City is within the power and authority of the City to protect the public 
health, safety, and welfare of the City’s citizens; 

WHEREAS, the Planning Commission considered this Ordinance on January 21, 
2025 and February 18, 2025 and by unanimous vote (5-0) recommended City Council 
adoption; and  

WHEREAS, at a regularly scheduled meeting, the City Council held a hearing 
concerning the municipal code amendments contained herein as required by law and 
received testimony from City staff and all interested parties regarding the proposed 
amendments; and 



2  

WHEREAS, all legal prerequisites to the adoption of the Ordinance have occurred. 
 
NOW, THEREFORE, THE CITY COUNCIL OF THE CITY OF ARTESIA DOES 

ORDAIN AS FOLLOWS: 

 Incorporation of Recitals. The recitals above are each incorporated 
by reference and adopted as findings by the City Council. 

 Amending Chapter 24 (Vacant Buildings and Foreclosed Properties) 
of Title 5 (Public Welfare) of the Artesia Municipal Code is hereby amended in its entirety 
to read as follows with additions shown as underline and deletions in strikethrough: 

“CHAPTER 24 

VACANT BUILDINGS AND FORECLOSED PROPERTIES 

Sections: 

5-24.010 Purpose 
5-24.020 Definitions 
5-24.030 Authority to Administer and Enforce Chapter; Monitoring Program 
5-24.040 Scope 
5-24.050 Service Requirements 
5-24.060 Registration and Exemptions 
5-24.070 Registration Procedure 
5-24.080 Notice 
5-24.090 Maintenance Requirements for Vacant Buildings Properties; Quarterly 

Inspections 
5-24.100 Recordation of Transfer to Loan/Deed of Trust 
5-24.110 Fees 
5-24.120 Enforcement 

 
 
5-24.010 Purpose. 

The purpose of this chapter is to ensure all vacant buildings and foreclosed properties 
comply with minimum property maintenance requirements, to encourage proactive and 
preventive maintenance of properties, to ensure maintenance issues are quickly and 
efficiently remedied, and to promote the health, safety, and welfare of the people of the 
City of Artesia. 

5-24.020   Definitions. 
For the purposes of carrying out the intent of this chapter, unless the content clearly 

indicates to the contrary, the following words, phrases, and terms shall have the following 
meanings: 

(a) Building means any structure, including, but not limited to, any residential, 
commercial, industrial, or assembly structure, approved for occupancy on either a lot of 
record or within a single project approved by the City pursuant to the City’s Zoning Code. 



3  

(b) Director means the Director of the Artesia Community Development 
Department, or his or her designee. 

(c) Owner means and includes any person having legal title to, or who leases, 
rents, occupies or has charge, control, or possession of, any real property in the City, 
including all persons shown as owners on the last equalized assessment roll of the County 
Assessor’s Office. Owners include persons with powers of attorney, executors of estates, 
trustees, or who are court-appointed administrators, conservators, guardians, receivers, 
and any beneficiary and trustee who holds a deed of trust on a property in the City. 

(d) Person means any natural person or legal entity. 
(e) Vacant building property means any building that is parcel of land, including 

lots, which can be undeveloped, and may include any building on the parcel, that is 
(1) unoccupied and unsecured, (2) unoccupied and secured by fence or boarding or other 
similar means, (3) unoccupied and has multiple code violations, (4) has been unoccupied 
for more than 30 days, (5) unoccupied and subject to a current notice of default, notice of 
trustee’s sale, or pending tax assessors lien sale; or (6) unoccupied and conveyed by a 
foreclosure sale resulting in the acquisition of title by an interested beneficiary of a deed 
of trust or conveyed via a deed in lieu of foreclosure. 

(f) Unoccupied means not legally occupied. Factors that may be used, typically 
in combination, to determine whether a building is unoccupied include, but are not limited 
to: overgrown or dead vegetation; accumulation of newspapers, circulars, flyers, or mail; 
past due utility notices; the existence of real property tax delinquencies for the land upon 
which the building is located; disconnected utilities; accumulation of trash, junk, or other 
debris; the presence of non-functional or broken doors or windows; the absence of doors 
or windows; the absence of window coverings such as curtains, blinds, or shutters; the 
absence of furnishings or personal items consistent with residential or commercial 
furnishings consistent with the permitted uses within the zone of the real property; 
statements by neighbors, passersby, delivery agents, government employees that the 
property is unoccupied. 

(g) Secured means and includes such measures as may be directed by the 
Director that assist in rendering real property inaccessible to unauthorized persons 
including, without limitation, the repair of fences, walls, and other barriers, chaining or 
pad locking of gates, or the repair or boarding of doors, windows, or other openings. 

5-24.030   Authority to Administer and Enforce Chapter; Monitoring Program 
(a) Administration. The Director is authorized to administer and enforce this 

chapter. The Director may adopt supplemental regulations or policies to implement and 
interpret this chapter. These regulations or policies must conform with the purpose of this 
chapter. 

(b) Monitoring Program for Vacant Properties. A program monitoring vacant 
buildings properties is hereby established. The Director has the duty to do the following 
pursuant to the monitoring program: 



4  

 
vacant. 

(1) Inspect properties in the City to identify buildings properties that are 

 
(2) Order vacant buildings properties to comply with this chapter and any 

other applicable codes. 

(3) Order vacant buildings properties that are open and accessible to be 
secured against unlawful entry in accordance with this chapter. 

(4) Initiate proceedings against the owner of any vacant buildings property 
found to be in violation of this chapter or any other applicable code. 

(5) Maintain surveillance over vacant buildings properties so that timely 
code enforcement proceedings are commenced in the event the property becomes 
substandard or a nuisance. 

5-24.040   Scope. 
(a) Applicability. The provisions of this chapter apply to all improved real 

property throughout the City of Artesia where any of the conditions specified in this 
chapter are found to exist. 

(b) Regulations Cumulative. The regulations provided by this chapter are 
cumulative to each other and to any other regulations under City, State, or federal law. 

5-24.050   Service Requirements. 
Any notice required to be served under this chapter must be completed by either 

personal delivery or first-class first-class mail. Service by mail is deemed complete at the 
time of deposit in the mail. Any notice issued to a registrant may be sent to the mailing 
address listed on the application submitted to the City. Failure of any registrant to receive 
a properly addressed notice by mail does not invalidate any action, decision, 
determination, or proceeding under this chapter. 

5-24.060   Registration and Exemptions. 
(a) Registration Required. An owner of a vacant buildings property must 

register their property with the Director within 30 days of the buildings property becoming 
vacant, in accordance with the requirements of this chapter. Each beneficiary/trustee who 
holds a deed of trust on a property located within the City shall perform an inspection of 
the property in question prior to recording a notice of default or similar instrument with the 
Los Angeles County Recorder’s Office. If the buildings property is found to be vacant or 
shows evidence of vacancy, it is, by this chapter, deemed vacant. 



5  

(b) Exemptions. The provisions of this chapter do not apply to the following 
vacant buildings properties: 

(1) Active Construction. Vacant buildings properties where all of the 
following conditions are satisfied: 

i. There is a valid building permit for repair, rehabilitation, or 
construction of the a vacant building on the vacant property; and 

ii. The owner is progressing diligently to complete such repair or 
rehabilitation within one year of the issuance of the building permit; and 

iii. The owner regularly removes exterior trash, debris, and 
graffiti. 

(2) Active Marketing. The buildings property complies with all codes, is 
ready for occupancy, and is actively being offered for sale, lease, or rent. 

5-24.070   Registration Procedure. 
(a) Application Required. Any person seeking to register a vacant buildings 

property must submit a complete, written application to the City using a form adopted by 
the City for that purpose. 

(b) Application Contents. The City will not deem an application complete until 
all information, documents, and fees required under this chapter has been provided to the 
City. At minimum, any applicant requesting registration of a vacant buildings property 
pursuant to this chapter must submit the following information and documentation: 

(1) The name and address of each owner and any property management 
company (as applicable) responsible for the security, maintenance, and marketing of the 
property in question. 

(2) A maintenance plan describing and documenting how the 
maintenance requirements of this chapter will be complied with. 

(3) The methods by which the owner has secured the property against 
unauthorized entry, 

(4) A statement regarding any future plans for the property. 
(5) Proof of fire and liability insurance coverage. 
(6) Such other identification and information as the Director may require. 

(c) Registration Fee. Each applicant must pay the nonrefundable registration 
fee, as established by resolution of the City Council, at the time of registration and 
annually thereafter. 

(d) Annual Registration. The registration pursuant to this section must be 
renewed annually. A registration is valid upon issuance and continues in effect for one 
year from the date of issue until expiration. It expires automatically on December 31st of 



6  

each calendar year one year following the date of its issuance, unless suspended, 
revoked, or renewed in accordance with this chapter. 

(e) Notice City of Changes to Registration. Any person, partnership, 
association, corporation, fiduciary, or other legal entity that has registered a property 
under this chapter must notify the Director in writing of any change of information 
contained in the registration within 10 days of the change. 
5-24.080   Notice 

Whenever the Director has cause to believe, based upon an inspection, complaint, 
or report from another agency or person, that a building property is vacant and it has not 
been registered as required by this chapter, then the Director may serve the owner with 
a written notice requiring the owner to register the building property with the Department 
as vacant and pay the registration fee within the period of time specified in the notice, 
which may be no greater than 30 days. 

5-24.090 Maintenance Requirements for Vacant Buildings Properties; 

Inspections. 
(a) Maintenance Required; Director Modification. Each vacant building 

property that is subject to registration must be maintained in compliance with applicable 
federal, State, and local law and the maintenance and security requirements provided in 
subsections (b) through (gj) below. The Director may modify the requirements, below, at 
his or her discretion in the case of a partially vacant building property. The Director may 
also modify or waive some or all of these requirements in the case of a building property 
that has been damaged by fire, a natural disaster, or other calamity. 

(b) (b) Unimproved Vacant Lot Types. Persons owning or maintaining vacant 
lots that were never developed or became vacant after pre-existing buildings, structures 
or impervious surfaces were removed, must provide a landscape and irrigation plan to 
the Director for approval within 30 days of the real property becoming vacant. 

(c) Exterior Maintenance. Upon approval of a landscape and irrigation plan, a 
vacant property The owner must actively maintain and monitor the exterior of any the 
building(s) and the grounds, including all lots, so that they remain in continuing 
compliance with all applicable codes and regulations, and do not contribute to and are 
not likely to contribute to blight. Active maintenance and monitoring shall include, but not 
be limited to: 

(1) A landscaped area must be provided and maintained on all perimeters 
of a vacant property located adjacent to all streets, alleys, or other public right-a-way. 

(2) Landscaped areas must be planted with natural, drought-tolerant 
vegetation consisting of a combination of trees, shrubs, and groundcover, subject to 
approval of the Director. For detailed coverage requirements, please refer to Section 9- 
2.1503 of this Code. 

(3) Maintenance of landscaping and plant materials must be in good 
condition at all times. 



7  

(4) Property must be equipped with an operable automatic irrigation 
system for the ground cover, which must be installed and maintained in good condition at 
all times. Approved ground cover types for the property include grass, artificial turf, 
decomposed granite, mulch, woodchips, and gravel or rocks. Detailed coverage 
requirements for these ground covers can be found in Section 9-2.1503(b) of this Code. 

(5) Regular removal of all exterior trash, debris, and graffiti from the 
property building and its associated lots. 

(6) Maintenance of the exterior of the building of any structure on the 
vacant property, and all associated lots, in a good condition that is structurally safe and 
preserves the physical integrity of the structure, including but not limited to paint and 
finishes, foundation, roof, chimneys, flues, gutters, downspouts, scuppers, flashing, 
skylights, windows, exterior stairs and decks. All painted area to cover graffiti shall be 
painted to match the color of the building. 

(7) Prevention of criminal activity on the premises and trespass by 
unauthorized persons. 

(8) Turning off all utilities that are not necessary for the upkeep and 
maintenance of the property building. 

(9) Swimming pools, spas, fountains, or other bodies of water that are not 
maintained to be free and clear of pollutants or debris, or that are likely to harbor 
mosquitoes, insects, or vectors are prohibited. This includes, but is not limited to, water 
that is clouded or green, water containing bacterial growth, algae, insect larvae, insect 
remains, or animal remains. Additionally, swimming pools must be covered, secured, and 
maintained in such a way that water cannot collect or accumulate either in the pool or on 
top of the cover thereon. 

(d) Landscape and Irrigation Plan. Before the City issues a demolition permit 
on any vacant property in which the construction of a new building, structure, parking lot, 
or impervious surface is not scheduled to commence within 30 days after demolition, the 
responsible party must submit a landscape and irrigation plan for review and approval by 
the Director (with the appropriate plan check fees). The Director may impose any 
reasonable conditions of approval on the landscape and irrigation plan to ensure that the 
property will be adequately maintained during the time that it is vacant. Upon approval of 
the plan, the landscape and irrigation improvements to the vacant property, as specified 
on the plan, must be completed to the satisfaction of the Director within 30 days after 
approval of the plans. 

(e) Interior Maintenance. The owner must preserve the interior of any the 
building on the property from damage by the elements or plumbing leaks and keep it free 
from accumulation of garbage and other debris, and from infestation by rodents, insects, 
or other pests. 

(f) Security. Each vacant building property must be secured against 
unauthorized entry. The methods of security shall be as approved by the Director, who 
shall take into consideration whether the property has been cited for nuisance activities 
or criminal conduct by another department of the City or another government agency. To 



8  

enhance safety and prevent unauthorized access, the following specific security 
measures are required: 

(1) A wrought iron, heavy-duty vinyl, combination blocks & wrought-iron, 
or other suitable fencing material approved by the Director must be located behind all 
required perimeter landscaping. The fencing height must comply with Section 9-2.1401 
of this Code. All fences and barriers must be provided with a gate to allow access to the 
vacant property for emergency access. 

(2) All perimeter fences and barriers must be maintained in good condition 
at all times by the responsible party. Any on-site graffiti must be removed by the 
responsible party within 24 hours of discovery or notification by the City. The responsible 
party must inspect the property at reasonable intervals for any on-site graffiti and take 
other steps to reasonably ensure that there is no on-site graffiti. 

(g) Insurance. The owner must maintain fire and liability insurance coverage as 
determined necessary by the Director. Any insurance policy must require advanced, 
written notice to the Director in the event of cancellation of insurance or a reduction in 
coverage. 

(h) Sign Posting. The owner of the vacant building property is required to post 
a sign at the front of the building on the property, in a conspicuous location protected from 
the weather, that provides the current name, address, and phone number of the owner of 
record or property manager. If a notice of default or foreclosure has been recorded for the 
property, the lender’s name, address, and telephone number must also be provided. The 
sign may be no smaller than 8-1/2 inches by 11 inches. 

(i) Additional Requirements for Commercial Buildings. In addition to the 
above requirements, any vacant commercial building property, including all lots, be must 
be maintained in accordance with the following requirements: 

(1) If the property has a Bbuilding(s) with fire sprinkler systems, those 
systems must be maintained in working order. 

(2) If the property has a building(s) Buildings with a centralized and 
registered fire and burglar alarm system, those systems must be maintained in working 
order. 

(3) Buildings without fire sprinkler systems or fire alarm or burglar alarm 
systems shall be provided with continuous physical monitoring by means of an onsite 
patrol. “Continuous physical monitoring” shall mean the use of a licensed security agency 
operating in the City of Artesia and providing regular surveillance of the vacant building 
property, as part of the agency’s security route. 

(j) Quarterly Inspections. The City shall inspect each registered vacant 
building property on a quarterly basis to ensure ongoing compliance with the 
requirements of this Section. Any failure of an owner to comply shall be subject to the 
City’s enforcement of the provisions of this chapter. 

(k) Mitigation Plan. Properties, buildings, or structures that are vacant for more 
than forty-five consecutive calendar days, in addition to the requirements of subsections 
(b) through (h), responsible parties of any real property, building, or portion thereof, that 



9  

has been vacant for at least 45 consecutive calendar days shall also adhere to the 
following: 

(1)    Submit a Vacant Property Mitigation Plan to the Planning Division, 
which demonstrates how the property will be regularly inspected, secured, and 
maintained in a manner that protects the health, safety, general welfare, and aesthetic 
standards of the community, as well as which demonstrates goals and plans for 
demolishing any vacant structure or for the re-occupancy of the vacant property. 

(2)   Conduct or cause to be conducted sufficient and adequate 
inspections of any vacant property, building or structure, or portion thereof, to monitor and 
immediately abate any condition that does not adhere to the provisions of this chapter 
and Code. Such inspections shall be conducted at a minimum, once each calendar week, 
and the results of the inspections shall be documented and be submitted in writing to the 
Director within 48 hours of each inspection. 

(3) Remove all furniture and personal property from the interior of any 
real property, building, or structure, or portion thereof, that is vacant. 

(4) Remove all curtains, blinds, and window coverings from all windows 
located on the ground level of any vacant building or structure to allow a clear view to the 
interior of the vacant building or structure, or portion thereof. 

(l) Additional Requirements. In addition to the specific maintenance and 
security requirements provided in this chapter, the Director shall have the authority to 
require responsible parties for vacant properties subject to the registration pursuant to 
this chapter to implement additional maintenance and security measures in order to 
effectuate the purpose of this chapter. This may include, but is not limited to, the 
installation of security lighting, increasing the frequency of on-site inspections, 
employment of an on-site security guard, and/or posting additional signage at the 
property. 

5-24.100 Recordation of Transfer to Loan/Deed of Trust. 
 
Within 10 calendar days following the purchase or transfer of a loan or deed of trust 
secured by real property, the new beneficiary and trustee shall record with the Los 
Angeles County Recorder's Office an assignment of rents or similar document. This 
document must list the name of the person purchasing or acquiring the loan or deed of 
trust, along with the mailing address and contact number of the new beneficiary and 
trustee responsible for receiving payments associated with the loan or deed of trust. This 
requirement shall not apply to the sale or transfer of a property when such sale or transfer 
does not include the sale or transfer of any loan or deed of trust associated with such 
property. 

 
Within 10 calendar days following the change of a trustee in a deed of trust secured by 
real property, the beneficiary shall record with the Los Angeles County Recorder's office 
a Substitution of Trustee or similar document that lists the name of all new trustees, as 
well as the mailing address and contact telephone number of all new trustees. 



10  

5-24.1010  Fees. 
The City Council may establish by resolution, and from time to time may amend, a 
registration fee to defray the administration of this chapter, including but not limited to, the 
registration process, monitoring vacant buildings properties, and enforcing this chapter. 
The fee required under this chapter is in addition to any other license, permit, or fee 
required by any other section or chapter of this code. The amount of any fee, cost or 
charge imposed pursuant to this Chapter is a debt to the City of Artesia that may be 
recovered by any means authorized by law. 

5-24.1210  Enforcement. 
(a) Violations Unlawful. It is unlawful and declared a public nuisance for any 

person to operate, conduct, or maintain a vacant building property contrary to the 
provisions of this chapter. 

(b) Criminal Penalties. Any person who violates any provision of this chapter is 
guilty of a misdemeanor punishable by a fine of up to $1,000 per each violation per day, 
or by imprisonment in the County jail not exceeding six months, or by both; except the 
City Attorney, in his or her discretion, may prosecute a violation of this chapter as an 
infraction subject to the penalties in Section 1-2.01 of this code. 

(c) Administrative Citations. Administrative citations may be issued for 
violations of the provisions of this chapter, as set forth in Chapter 7 of Title 1 of this code. 

(d) Civil or Equitable Enforcement. The City Attorney may bring a civil or 
equitable action to seek the abatement of any violation of this chapter. 

(e) Aiding, Abetting, and Omissions. Whenever in this chapter any act or 
omission is made unlawful, it shall include causing, permitting, aiding, abetting, suffering, 
or concealing the fact of such act or omission. 

(f) Ongoing Violations. Each and every day a violation is maintained, caused, 
aided, abetted, concealed, suffered, or permitted is a separate offense. 

(g) Remedies Cumulative. The remedies, procedures, and penalties provided 
by this Chapter are cumulative to each other and to any other remedies, procedures, and 
penalties available under City, State, or federal Federal law Law.” 

 CEQA. The City Council determines that the adoption of this 
Ordinance is not subject to the California Environmental Quality Act (“CEQA”) pursuant 
to State CEQA Guidelines Section 15061(b)(3) as it can be seen with certainty that there 
is no possibility that the activity in question may have a significant effect on the 
environment. 

 Severability. If any section, subsection, sentence, clause, phrase, or 
portion of this Ordinance, or application thereof to any person or place, is for any reason 
held to be invalid or unconstitutional by a decision of any court of competent jurisdiction, 
such decision shall not affect the validity of the remaining portions of this Ordinance. The 
City Council hereby declares that it would have adopted this Ordinance and each and 
every section, subsection, subdivision, sentence, clause, phrase, or portion thereof, 



11  

irrespective of the fact than any one or more sections, subsections, subdivisions, 
sentences, clauses, phrases, or portions thereof be declared invalid or unconstitutional. 

 Certification and Publication. The City Clerk shall certify the passage 
and adoption of this Ordinance and shall cause the same to be published pursuant to 
state law within fifteen (15) days after its passage, and this Ordinance shall become 
effective thirty (30) days after its passage. 

 
 

PASSED, APPROVED, AND ADOPTED this   day of  , 2025. 
 
 
 

 
 

 

ALI TAJ, MAYOR 

ATTEST: 
 
 
 

 

JENNIFER ALDERETE, CITY CLERK 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

 

 
 

HONGDAO NGUYEN, CITY ATTORNEY 
 



PLANNING COMMISSION AGENDA REPORT

MEETING DATE:   February 18, 2025  ITEM NO:   6A.

 
TO: Honorable Chairperson and Members of the Planning Commission

 
SUBJECT: Case No. 2024-38: Amending the Artesia Municipal Code Relating to Vacant Properties

Code Amendment
 

FROM: Bill Rodrigues, Acting Planning Manager
 

REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY:
  Sal Lopez, Interim Community Development Director

Nick Papajohn, Deputy City Attorney
Abel Avalos, City Manager

 
RECOMMENDATION: 

1. Adopt PC Resolution 2025-02P, Recommending that the City Council Adopt an Ordinance Amending Chapter
24 (Vacant Buildings and Foreclosed Properties) of Title 5 (Public Welfare) of the Artesia Municipal Code
Relating to the Maintenance of Vacant Properties; and 

2. Find that the adoption of the proposed Ordinance is not subject to the California Environmental Quality Act
(“CEQA”) pursuant to State CEQA Guidelines Section 15061(b)(3) as it can be seen with certainty that there
is no possibility that the activity in question may have a significant effect on the environment.

BACKGROUND:
The City Council has declared that vacant properties are a significant source of blight in both residential and non-
residential neighborhoods. When left vacant and neglected, these properties not only detract from the appearance
of surrounding areas but also pose serious safety risks, such as fire hazards and attracting criminal activity,
particularly illegal drug-related offenses.
 
Properties that remain unoccupied, whether they are vacant lots or decaying buildings, contribute to the further
deterioration of the neighborhood. These properties can depress property values, hinder economic development,
and slow appreciation of nearby properties, which ultimately impacts tax revenues. In addition, the neglect of such
properties requires increased municipal services, which strains local resources. The unsafe and unhealthy
conditions they create significantly affect the well-being of nearby residents and businesses, interfering with their
use and enjoyment of their properties and constituting a public nuisance.  
 
On August 28, 2024, the Commission instructed staff to amend Chapter 24 (Vacant Buildings and Foreclosed
Properties) of Title 5 (Public Welfare) of the Artesia Municipal Code concerning the maintenance of vacant
properties. The amendments are intended to make the provisions more comprehensive, expand coverage to
include vacant lots, and align the City’s Municipal Code more closely with the standards set by the cities of
Bellflower, Norwalk, and Downey.
 



On January 21, 2025, this item appeared before the Planning Commission for approval.  The item was continued to
provide staff the opportunity to respond to Commissioner questions, responses of which can be found below in the
analysis.  
 
ANALYSIS: 
Staff has followed the guidance and recommendations provided by the Commission and conducted a review of the
Municipal Codes of Bellflower, Norwalk, and Downey regarding vacant or improved vacant lots and properties.
Based on this review, staff recommend several changes to enhance the regulations, ensuring that vacant
properties within the City are effectively managed and potential challenges are mitigated.
 
The proposed amendments to the ordinance introduce several significant updates aimed at strengthening the
maintenance, security, and overall management of vacant properties. These revisions are designed to address
issues related to public safety, property upkeep, and the prevention of blight, ensuring that vacant properties do not
negatively impact the surrounding community.
 
Key changes include:

Security Measures: The ordinance now includes provisions to secure properties, such as repairing fences,
locking gates, and securing openings like doors and windows to prevent unauthorized access.
Landscape and Irrigation Requirements: Property owners must submit a landscape and irrigation plan for
vacant lots that includes drought-tolerant vegetation and an automatic irrigation system. These plans must be
approved by the Community Development Director, and the landscaping must be maintained in good
condition at all times. Additionally, vacant properties must have landscaping around all perimeters adjacent to
public rights-of-way(s).
Maintenance of Water Features: Stricter regulations are introduced for pools, spas, and other water features
to ensure they remain free of pollutants, debris, and standing water that could attract pests. These features
must be securely covered and maintained to prevent water accumulation.
Mitigation Plans for Long-Term Vacancies: For properties vacant for more than 45 days, owners must
submit a Vacant Property Mitigation Plan. This plan will outline how the property will be regularly inspected,
secured, and maintained, including requirements for removing interior furniture and personal items and
ensuring clear visibility of the property’s interior.
Additional Maintenance and Security Measures: The Director is authorized to impose additional security
measures, including security lighting, increased inspection frequency, or the employment of security guards,
to ensure the property’s safety and compliance with the ordinance.
Recordation Requirements for Property Transfers: When a loan or deed of trust secured by real property
is transferred, the new beneficiary and trustee must record the assignment with the Los Angeles County
Recorder’s Office within 10 days. Any changes in the trustees must also be recorded with updated contact
details.

These amendments aim to promote a more proactive approach to vacant property management, ensuring effective
upkeep and security while safeguarding the community’s health, safety, and aesthetic standards. By establishing
clear guidelines and expanding enforcement mechanisms, the city will be better equipped to preserve the integrity
of its neighborhoods and mitigate the negative effects of vacant and neglected properties.  Registration will also
help address items like graffiti abatement quickly, as staff will have up to date information on who the proper
contacts are for each property to ensure issues like graffiti are removed withing 72 hours. 



The Planning Commission previously discussed concerns surrounding enforcement of the updated code.  Staff is
currently working with a vendor which hosts web-based vacant property registration portals, where property owners
will be able to follow a link through the City's website to register their properties, and renew their registration
annually.  Staff is also developing a fee study to incorporate the cost of providing this service, along with the staff
time for Code Enforcement Officers to routinely monitor the properties to ensure compliance.  The fee study, along
with the suggest fee resolution will be presented to the City Council before the proposed Ordinance is adopted. 
Should the proposed Ordinance be adopted, staff will continue with our current practice of providing courtesy
notices to property owners regarding the new rules well before enforcement takes place.  This will allow property
owners time to make necessary changes, and where needed, receive Planning approval for landscaping plans. 
Finally, while the City cannot force property owners to develop vacant properties, the proposed Ordinance will
provide the City a tool to ensure that properties are kept up nicely and add, not detract, from the quality of our
neighborhoods and commercial centers. 

FISCAL IMPACT: 
There is no fiscal impact associated with adoption of this Resolution or the subsequent adoption of the Ordinance
by City Council.
 
ENVIRONMENTAL:
In accordance with the California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) Guidelines, this project is exempt from
environmental review as it does not meet the definition of a “project” under CEQA Guidelines Section 1578(b)(5).
The adoption of this Ordinance is an administrative action that will not cause any direct or physical changes to the
environment, and no further analysis is required.
 
PUBLIC NOTICE:
Notice of the public hearing was published in the Los Cerritos Community News on January 10, 2025.  Notice of
the public hearing was also posted at three locations within City’s bulletin board.
 
RECOMMENDATION:

1. Adopt PC Resolution 2025-02P, Recommending That the City Council Adopt an Ordinance Amending
Chapter 24 (Vacant Buildings and Foreclosed Properties) of Title 5 (Public Welfare) of the Artesia Municipal
Code Relating to the Maintenance of Vacant Properties; and 

2. Find that the adoption of the proposed Ordinance is not subject to the California Environmental Quality Act
(“CEQA”) pursuant to State CEQA Guidelines Section 15061(b)(3) as it can be seen with certainty that there
is no possibility that the activity in question may have a significant effect on the environment.

Attachments

02.18.2025 Artesia - PC Resolution No. 2025-02P, Vacant Properties.pdf
Resolution No. 0225-02P - Exhibit A.pdf

https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67acee71cffa5300542a4225%2F02.18.2025%20Artesia%20-%20PC%20Resolution%20No.%202025-02P%20re%20Vacant%20Properties%20(003).pdf?alt=media&token=51c9a756-5385-43d9-9fea-a6e24478fb7d
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67acee71cffa5300542a4225%2F02.18.2025%20Artesia%20-%20PC%20Resolution%20No.%202025-02P%20re%20Vacant%20Properties%20(003).pdf?alt=media&token=51c9a756-5385-43d9-9fea-a6e24478fb7d
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67acee71cffa5300542a4225%2F02.18.2025%20Artesia%20-%20PC%20Resolution%20No.%202025-02P%20re%20Vacant%20Properties%20(003).pdf?alt=media&token=51c9a756-5385-43d9-9fea-a6e24478fb7d
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67acee71cffa5300542a4225%2F02.18.2025%20Artesia%20-%20Ordinance%20No.%2025-966%20(Vacant%20Properties)%20(BBK%20Comments)-c1_final.pdf?alt=media&token=ea93eb54-d334-4785-be64-05615b2fb22c
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67acee71cffa5300542a4225%2F02.18.2025%20Artesia%20-%20Ordinance%20No.%2025-966%20(Vacant%20Properties)%20(BBK%20Comments)-c1_final.pdf?alt=media&token=ea93eb54-d334-4785-be64-05615b2fb22c
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67acee71cffa5300542a4225%2F02.18.2025%20Artesia%20-%20Ordinance%20No.%2025-966%20(Vacant%20Properties)%20(BBK%20Comments)-c1_final.pdf?alt=media&token=ea93eb54-d334-4785-be64-05615b2fb22c


CITY COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT

MEETING DATE:   March 17, 2025  ITEM NO:   11C.

 
TO: Mayor and Members of the City Council

 
SUBJECT: 2025 Goal Setting Report

 

FROM: Melissa Burke, Deputy City Manager
 

REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY:
  Jamie Murguia, Finance Manager

Abel Avalos, City Manager

 
RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends the City Council, by motion, adopt the 2025 Goal Setting Report and direct staff to begin
implementation of the Early Action Goals.
 
BACKGROUND:
On November 5, 2024, voters in the City of Artesia solidly approved Measure AAA to enhance local services. The
Measure implemented a three-quarter cent transaction and use (sales) tax beginning April 1, 2025. The Measure is
expected to produce a 20% increase to the City's General Fund, about $3 million per year.  
 
On March 5, 2025, the City Council held a goal setting session facilitated by Tripepi Smith to discuss a broad range
of goals to continue moving the City forward. As part of this discussion, the Council developed an early action plan,
to address the community's most pressing needs and prioritize those items for implementation in the next fiscal
year. The 2025 Goal Setting Report is a culmination of the Early Action Goals and Long-Term Goals.  
 
ANALYSIS:
At the March 5, 2025 goal setting session, the City Council determined three goals to focus on as Early Action
Goals. These goals include enhancing public safety, implementing capital improvement projects, and investing in
staff development. Each of these three goals includes action items, and tactical steps to achieve the goal in the
Goal Setting Report. A summary of the Early Action Goals is below: 
 
Enhance Public Safety action items:

Address deputy's needs
Hire private security for patrol support 
Coordinate private security patrol with Los Angeles County Sheriff's Department for maximum effect
Increase security camera coverage in the City
Address gang issues 
Enhance community engagement

Implement Capital Improvement Projects action items:



Complete outstanding City projects
Resurface City streets
Repair sidewalks
Convert remaining asphalt alleys to concrete
Beautify the City
Repair public restrooms at Artesia Park
Introduce more and upgraded trash cans 

Invest in Staff Development action items:

Invest in current staff
Updated outdated software 
Hire and attract new staff

Additionally, the City Council discussed and identified several long-term goals, which were broken up into five
areas including: enhancing public safety, implementing capital improvement projects, investing in staff
development, expanding City offerings and facilities, and increasing economic development. The action items
included within these goals were identified as either ongoing goals or projects to be addressed after the priority
projects. The full list of action items is attached to the report, but a few examples include: monitoring existing public
safety tools to determine effectiveness of programs and ordinances; maintaining the City's Tree City USA
designation; creating an opportunity for youth internships; analyzing and evaluating existing and possible City
events; and implementing the City's Economic Development Plan.
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
There is no fiscal impact associated with adopting the 2025 Goal Setting Report at this time. The action items
within each goal may have fiscal impacts to the General Fund or other funds and will be evaluated on a case by
case basis as staff work towards implementation.  
 
RECOMMENDED COUNCIL ACTION:
Staff recommends the City Council, by motion, adopt the 2025 Goal Setting Report and direct staff to begin
implementation of the Early Action Goals.
 
 
 

Attachments

2025 Artesia Goal Setting Report

https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67ca0a8e4e7b11006b90f9b9%2FArtesia%20Goal%20Setting%20Report.docx-combined.pdf?alt=media&token=72b386cd-3d37-4203-bf06-dcd43beaaa17
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67ca0a8e4e7b11006b90f9b9%2FArtesia%20Goal%20Setting%20Report.docx-combined.pdf?alt=media&token=72b386cd-3d37-4203-bf06-dcd43beaaa17
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67ca0a8e4e7b11006b90f9b9%2FArtesia%20Goal%20Setting%20Report.docx-combined.pdf?alt=media&token=72b386cd-3d37-4203-bf06-dcd43beaaa17


 

 

City of Artesia 

Goal Setting Report 
 

 

   
 
 
 
 

Report Assembled By: 

 
 
Authors: 
Mike Egan, Director 
Kylie Sun, Senior Business Analyst 
Emma Totaro, Junior Business Analyst 
 
March 2025  

 



City of Artesia Goal Setting 

Table of Contents 
Table of Contents............................................................................................................. 1 
Executive Summary.......................................................................................................... 2 

Purpose....................................................................................................................................2 
City of Artesia Background......................................................................................................2 
Goal Setting Process................................................................................................................3 

Early Action Goals......................................................................................................................... 4 
Goal #1: Enhance Public Safety.................................................................................. 5 
Goal #2: Implement Capital Improvement Projects....................................................7 
Goal #3: Invest in Staff Development......................................................................... 9 

Long-Term Goals............................................................................................................ 10 
Goal #1: Enhance Public Safety................................................................................ 10 
Goal #2: Implement Capital Improvement Projects..................................................10 
Goal #3: Invest in Staff Development....................................................................... 10 
Goal #4: Expand City Offerings and Facilities...........................................................10 
Goal #5: Increase Economic Development...............................................................10  

- 1 - 



City of Artesia Goal Setting 

Executive Summary 
 

Purpose 
 
Voters in the City of Artesia solidly approved Measure AAA on the November 5, 2024, 
municipal ballot. The Measure implemented a three-quarter cent sales tax increase to 
enhance local services. The Measure is expected to produce a 20% increase to the 
City’s General Fund, or a little more than $3 million per year. 
 
On March 5, 2025, Tripepi Smith facilitated a public goal-setting session with the 
Artesia City Council and members of the City’s executive team. The Council discussed 
a broad range of overall goals and developed an early action plan to address the 
community’s most pressing needs. That early action plan focuses resources on public 
safety, infrastructure projects and staff development for the immediate future. 
Additional goals will be developed as staff capacity and revenues continue to grow. 
 

City of Artesia Background  
 
The City of Artesia is a small, vibrant community celebrated for its rich cultural diversity, 
thriving small business sector, outstanding restaurants, quality parks programs and 
innovative public education system. 
 
The City initiated this goal-setting effort to quickly focus resources on important 
community projects and to enhance organizational capacity, aiming to maintain its 
positive trajectory in service delivery. 
 
In recent years, Artesia has made significant strides. In late 2021, the City faced serious 
financial challenges, including insufficient revenue, inadequate financial reporting and 
high staff turnover in critical positions. However, over the past few years, Artesia has 
successfully addressed many of these issues. 
 
The City expanded its revenue base by implementing voter-approved cannabis sales 
and securing voter approval for Measure AAA. In August 2024, Artesia’s Finance 
Department received a clean audit report for the 2022-23 fiscal year, marking the 
completion of a backlog in financial reporting that spanned multiple years — an 
important achievement. Additionally, the City received a clean audit report for the 
23-24 fiscal year in February 2025, demonstrating Artesia’s commitment to responsible 
financial management and transparency. 
 
Furthermore, Artesia is currently conducting a class and compensation analysis to 
establish a competitive compensation structure that will attract and retain top local 
government talent. 
 

- 2 - 



City of Artesia Goal Setting 

 
 

Goal Setting Process 
 
The City of Artesia engaged Tripepi Smith to lead its goal-setting process to guide the 
upcoming 2025-26 fiscal year budget. The process included the following: 
 

Following a strategy call with the City Manager and Deputy City Manager, Tripepi 
Smith identified consolidated concerns and priorities and presented five general goals 
at a special meeting of the City Council the City’s executive staff held on March 5, 
2025. The City Council discussed and elaborated on the general goals, agreeing upon 
three goals for immediate action with revised objectives.  
 
From the March 5 meeting, Tripepi Smith created a work plan for each goal, as seen in 
the Tactical Steps columns below. The report is based on the City Council's consensus 
around the goals and expanded objectives. 
 
 
 

 

- 3 - 

Deliverable Date 

Goal Setting Facilitation Proposal  February 10, 2025 

Kick-Off Call with the City Manager and Deputy City 
Manager February 24, 2025 

City Council Goal Setting Workshop to discuss goals and 
objectives March 5, 2025 

City Council Meeting to review and adopt the Goal Setting 
Report March 17, 2025 



City of Artesia Goal Setting 

Early Action Goals 

 

 

- 4 - 



City of Artesia Goal Setting 

Goal #1: Enhance Public Safety 
Artesia will be a safe and secure City. 
 

 
 
 
 

- 5 - 



City of Artesia Goal Setting 

Objectives Tactical Steps 

1.1 Address deputies’ needs. Seek input from the Sergeant and deputies about 
necessary resources to address crime more effectively. 

Fund additional safety programs and resources for 
deputies to increase public safety. 

1.2 Hire a private security 
company for patrol 
support, similar to the 
efforts of neighboring 
cities. 
 

Explore local private security companies. 

Discuss and hire a private security company to aid 
current deputies and Sheriff’s Department staff. 

1.3 Coordinate private 
patrols with LASD for 
maximum effect. 

Create a patrol plan with deputies and private security to 
ensure that all areas of Artesia are regularly patrolled. 

Ensure each patrol grouping has a regular section to 
create familiarity with community members. 

1.4 Increase security cameras 
(general video 
monitoring, fixed 
Automated License Plate 
Readers (ALPRs) and 
ShotSpotter cameras) 

Add security cameras to the Civic Center (City Hall, 
Community Center and Artesia Park), City streets and 
local neighborhoods. 

Regularly maintain and monitor security cameras. 

Create a maintenance and replacement plan to ensure 
cameras continue functioning as intended. 

1.5 Address gang issues. Establish ongoing communications with neighboring 
cities to address evolving issues. 

Educate the Council and staff through a Roundtable 
about gang history and culture to better understand the 
situation and prevent further gang violence. 

1.6 Boost community 
engagement and resident 
relationships with local 
law enforcement. 

Invest in signage and materials to expand the reach and 
awareness of the neighborhood watch program. 

Create a standard of regular deputy safety checks for 
patrolled neighborhoods. 

Invest in mailers that promote Artesia’s public safety 
efforts and how to get more involved. 

- 6 - 



City of Artesia Goal Setting 

Goal #2: Implement Capital Improvement Projects 
Artesia will complete standing projects and improve residents’ quality of life with future 
projects. 
 

 
 
 

- 7 - 



City of Artesia Goal Setting 

Objectives Tactical Steps 

2.1 Complete outstanding 
City projects. 

Finish any current Capital Improvement Projects, such as 
the walking trail. 

2.2 Resurface and improve 
City streets. 

Accelerate street repairs, both main and neighborhood 
streets. 

Fill potholes in a timely manner.  

Introduce traffic-calming measures on main streets to 
enhance vehicular and pedestrian safety. 

Improve street drainage.  

Consider utilizing rubberized asphalt when repairing 
streets for environmental sustainability. 

2.3 Repair sidewalks. Fix sidewalks to increase walkability and safety in 
Artesia. 

Increase the number of streetlights or illumination with 
LED on select City streets to enhance brightness and 
improve safety. 

2.4 Convert remaining alleys 
to concrete. 

Finish pouring and laying concrete in the remaining 
Artesia alleys. 

2.5 Beautify Artesia. Focus on the area near the 91 Freeway, a critical entry 
point into the City. 

Introduce foliage veils and murals to decrease graffiti.  

2.6 Repair public restrooms 
at Artesia Park. 

Remodel and repair the public restrooms in Artesia Park 
to increase public safety and resident satisfaction. 

2.7 Introduce more trashcans 
and increase trashcan 
maintenance. 

Introduce more trashcans around the City and in City 
parks. 

Upgrade existing trash cans. 

Implement a maintenance plan to ensure trash cans are 
emptied on a timely basis. 

 

- 8 - 



City of Artesia Goal Setting 

Goal #3: Invest in Staff Development 
Artesia will be a City that regularly invests in current and future staff development. 
 

 
 
 

 

- 9 - 



City of Artesia Goal Setting 

Objectives Tactical Steps 

3.1 Invest in current staff. Based on the results of the Class and Compensation 
Study and labor negotiations, modify the salary tables to 
increase staff retention and loyalty. 

Implement regular staff development and bonding to 
ensure staff satisfaction and regular learning. 

3.2 Update outdated 
software. 

Invest in new software that is user-friendly. 

Explore AI programs to help expedite City processes. 

3.3 Hire and attract new 
staff. 

Hire new staff that will enhance Artesia and add 
necessary roles to expedite City Processes in multiple 
departments. 

Long-Term Goals 
The Artesia City Council's long-term goals are outlined in the following links. These 
goals are ambitious and forward-looking, and they will help to ensure that Artesia 
remains a vibrant and thriving community for years to come. 

Goal #1: Enhance Public Safety

Goal #2: Implembent Capital Improvement Projects 

Goal #3: Invest in Staff Development 

Goal #4: Expand City Offerings and Facilities 

Goal #5: Increase Ecomonic Development 

- 10 -



Artesia City Council Long-Term Goals 

Enhance Public Safety 
● Develop a survey or status review of vacant properties 
● Ensure that residents know the City is keeping track of the open lots with current 

projects 
○ Address public safety issues with open lots - examples:  

■ Abandoned lots on Artesia Boulevard 
■ Icehouse behind Stater Bros 

● Hold a community meeting in Padelford to address safety issues in North Artesia 
● Implement additional and uphold current public safety ordinances 
● Expand the alarm system rebate program 

○ Give away Ring systems to low-income residents and renters 
○ Advertise the existing rebate program 

● Get regular updates on the effectiveness of public safety programs 
○ Automated License Plate Readers (ALPR) program 
○ Catalytic converter ordinance 
○ Holding guardians responsible for property damage caused by minors 

● Discuss additional public safety programs 
○ Sky Knight Helicopter program 
○ Drone program 
○ Shot Spotter 

Implement Capital Improvement Projects 
● Assess City trees 

○ Explore other options for more attractive and environmentally friendly trees 
○ Keep Tree City USA designation 

● Make the City aesthetically pleasing for residents and visitors  
● Discuss priorities for the botanical garden 

○ Including, public safety, beautification and a timely project completion  
● Set goals for each major project to keep projects on task and timely 

Invest in Staff Development 
● Discuss how to bring City staff up to market rate 
● Provide an intern opportunity for local youth 
● Invest in new software that is easy for people to use 

○ Invest in an AI model to enhance City work 
● Hire for staff needs 



○ Introduce full-time employees in departments based on operational needs.  
● Reassess the code enforcement department for expansion and success 
● Improve and expedite the business licensing and permits process 

○ Explore offering business licensing solutions out of City Hall 
○ Explore outsourcing the building permits 

● Do a survey about employee satisfaction and bring it up to at least 80% 

Expand City Offerings and Facilities 
● Improve Artesia Park 

○ Discuss the future of the splash pad and old memorial flag pole 
○ Update landscaping 
○ Revive the rose garden 
○ Upgrade and increase trash cans 
○ Revamp bathrooms 

■ Potentially replace with a modern modular unit 
● Conduct a cost analysis on Artesia events to figure out event value and resident 

attendance 
○ Ask residents about what events they would like to see or what events they enjoy 
○ Ensure the offered events hit a variety of demographics 
○ Have more inclusive events catering to resident interests 

● Explore Future events 
○ India Independence Day (8/15) 
○ Be more open to hosting other possible cultural events 
○ Explore closing down Pioneer Boulevard for numerous events 

■ Farmers market 
■ Pioneer days 
■ Cultural events 

● Increase budget transparency and City Council meeting awareness 
● Invest in mailers and quarterly printed newsletters to increase resident knowledge 

and engagement 
● Hold more town halls to increase public awareness and resident comments  
● Implement a monthly e-magazine 
● Create a City app for services 
● Create a business improvement district on downtown Pioneer Boulevard 

○ Make the area a true destination for merchants and residents  
■ Have formal discussion regarding “Little India” 
■ Will be good for revenue, the City and residents 
■ Promote for the Olympics, World Cup, the opening of the Metro Train, etc. 

● Capitalize on visitor attractions 
○ Food District 
○ Jewelry District 
○ Little India 
○ Arts and Culture District 



● Invest in the downtown 

Increase Economic Development 
● Implement Strategic Economic Development Plan with Kosmont  
● Secure revenue for the City through: 

○ Billboards 
○ Business licensing 

■ Business license sweeps (by code officers) 
● Establish connections between top businesses and the City 

○ Offer staff and services to build the relationship  
● Create a database of commercial business property owners and property managers 

for internal use 
○ Connect tenants with property owners and managers to fill empty lots 

● Create an economic development support position 
● Create an ad hoc committee to function as an economic development sounding board  

○ Role: To review and work with staff on the implementation of the economic 
development strategic plan 

○ Mayor Pro Tem Trevino and Councilmember Manalo appointed 



CITY COUNCIL AGENDA REPORT

MEETING DATE:   March 17, 2025  ITEM NO:   11D.

 
TO: Mayor and Members of the City Council

 
SUBJECT: Schematic Design for Botanical Garden Project

 

FROM: Leslie Nacionales-Tafoya, Management Analyst
 

REVIEWED AND APPROVED BY:
  Melissa Burke, Deputy City Manager

Jamie Murguia, Finance Manager
HongDao Nguyen, City Attorney
Abel Avalos, City Manager

RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends that City Council approve the Schematic Design Plans for the Artesia Botanical Garden Project
at 11462 178th St., which include the overall site plan design, size of program areas visualized in renderings, rough
project cost and construction time estimates, and direct staff to develop the plans, specifications and engineering
for bidding construction based upon the approved design.
 
BACKGROUND:
The City purchased the Botanical Garden property in September 2018 with the intention to develop it for
recreational use. Between March and April 2019, the City held five (5) community planning meetings to gather input
on the proposed project from concerned residents. A total of 88 people participated in the meetings and proposed
amenities they would like to see, such as: a community center, pavilion, theatre stage, and garden space, all of
which were incorporated into the initial design for the project.  Based on this initial design, the City completed the
environmental analysis, including the preparation of an Initial Study and Mitigated Negative Declaration.  The study
identified potential adverse impacts on the surrounding neighborhoods and called out measures to mitigate the
impacts.  The potential impacts included: 1) Construction Noise – to be mitigated by limiting work hours and turning
off equipment when not used; and 2) Event Noise – to be mitigated by upholding the City’s noise ordinance,
including prohibiting amplified sound after 10:00 p.m.
 
Public comment on the studies lasted from October 17, 2019 to November 13, 2019, with a public meeting
occurring on November 4, 2019, and a City Council meeting on November 13, 2019, in which Resolution No. 19-
2777 was adopted. The Resolution included language that the site would "preserve a large portion of the garden on
site and develop amenities such as an outdoor amphitheater, botanical garden, community center, and an open
pavilion for community use and special events.”
 



In March 2023, the City was awarded $3,000,000 for the Project in federal funds through the Housing and Urban
Development Department’s (HUD) Community Project Fund (CPF) grant program. During the CPF grant
application process, the City estimated the Project budget would be $6,900,000 which included costs for design
services, demolition and site preparation, new landscaping, tree planting and lighting as well as for a community
center with attached event pavilion, amphitheater/stage with cover, a small event area with pergola and ancillary
amenities.  In March 2024, the City was awarded an additional $2,000,000 from the State through the California
Natural Resources Agency (CNRA) General Fund Specified Grant program. In June 2024, the City Council
approved the FY 2025-29 Capital Improvement Plan which provided $1,900,000 in Development Impact Fees to
fully fund the Project budget of $6,900,000.
 
In August 2024, the City Council approved a contract with the firm, Chee Salette Architecture Office Inc
(Consultant), to develop the design and construction documents, and to provide construction oversight for the
Project. Through the Initial and Schematic Design Phases of the design process, the consultant has completed a
Geo Tech Study, a tree inventory, and developed proposed design options for the Project.  The Consultant has had
bi-weekly meetings with City staff, including a meeting with LA County Fire Department representatives and also
made presentations at two Ad-Hoc Botanical Garden Committee meetings and two Joint Special Meetings of the
City's Commissions. The proposed Schematic Design is at 60 percent completion of the design process.
 
ANALYSIS:
On October 23, 2024, the Parks and Recreation, Planning, Public Safety and Beautification and Maintenance
Commissions held a joint Special Meeting to review and comment on design options for the Project.  Although the
feedback was positive, there were questions about the actual use of the Project; was it an event site or a botanical
garden? There were also questions about security and educational uses. After the Special Meeting, the design
options were also presented to the Botanical Garden Ad-Hoc Committee. The members felt that an amphitheater
would not get a lot of use relative to the space that it took up.  Both Ad-Hoc members felt that there needed to be
more park and garden spaces.
 
During the cost estimation phase of developing the Schematic Design, the Consultant determined that the design
presented at the initial meetings was estimated to be $2,000,0000 over the project budget due to unexpected costs
related to reconstructing the existing driveway for emergency access and addressing high water table in the
seismic construction. The Consultant then proposed revisions to the design based on community, commission and
Ad-Hoc Committee comments, which is estimated closer to the currently-funded amount for the project. These
revisions were presented to City staff, the Ad-Hoc Committee, and at a Special Meeting of the Joint Commissions
on March 3, 2025.  Each group provided feedback that they believe the updates improve the design and make the
park look and feel more like a Botanical Garden.
 
If the conceptual plans are approved by the City Council, we will proceed finalizing design details, engineering, and
construction plans.  Staff believes the revised conceptual design provides a greater emphasis on the garden and
passive recreation space than previous designs, while keeping key elements that the community said were
important.  While the desired community building remains in the design, it has been reduced to accommodate a
maximum banquet capacity of 72 persons.  The amphitheater and stage were removed to create a larger planted
area, and we have de-emphasized “performance based” programing, such as concerts with bands or theatrical
performances.  As proposed, the community building would allow for recreational classes like yoga, a meeting
space, small city events, and small facility rentals.
 
Throughout this process, the City has focused on mitigating negative impacts such as parking, perimeter fencing,
and noise.  While the project does not include onsite parking, staff are working with ABC Unified School District to
enter into a joint use agreement at Burbank Elementary School.  This agreement would provide a total of 81
parking spaces for the Botanical Garden.  The project development plans also call to replace the substandard
perimeter fencing with a standard six (6) foot block wall to aid in security and privacy for the neighbors.  In addition,
plantings around the perimeter will also aid in mitigating noise from the property onto neighboring properties.



 
Among the next steps in the process will be to develop the operational programing for the Botanical Garden which
would include: public use hours, recreational class programing, educational programing, suitable city special
events, and rules for facility rentals.  We will continue to hold additional discussions with the Ad-Hoc Committee
and the public to discuss operational plans as they develop.
 
Staff is requesting the City Council approve the 60 percent Schematic Design and direct staff to move forward with
the consultant in completing the design.  If the item is approved, the finalization of the design is estimated to be
completed in the summer of 2025, construction design completed and building plans approved in early 2026, bid
packets released in the spring of 2026, and a construction contract awarded in the summer of 2026.  Construction
is estimated to take approximately twelve months.
 
ENVIRONMENTAL ANALYSIS:
Pursuant to California Environmental Quality Act (CEQA) guidelines, an initial study was prepared to assess the
potential adverse environmental effects of the proposed Botanical Garden Project. The study concluded that the
environmental impacts associated with the Project were less than significant. The only potentially significant
impacts identified related to noise, which were reduced to less than significant levels through a Mitigated Negative
Declaration approved by Council on November 13, 2019.
 
Additionally, the City prepared and filed an Environmental Review (ER) to comply with federal grant requirements
to meet National Environmental Protection Act (NEPA) requirements. HUD approved the ER and  issued its
Authority to Use Grant Funds (AUGF) on June 26, 2024.
 
FISCAL IMPACT: 
There is no impact to the general fund related to approving the schematic design and directing staff to move
forward at this time.  The project is currently fully funded through grant funds and development impact fee funds. 
 
The proposed Schematic Design cost is projected to be close to the currently funded amount for the project.
However, these are rough estimates which will be updated during the Design Development phase of the process
and before construction is bid out for development.  When the construction documents are finalized, the item will be
brought back to the City Council to approve the construction plans, along with any additional information regarding
funding allocation if a shortfall is projected.   
 
RECOMMENDED COUNCIL ACTION:
Staff recommends that City Council approves the Schematic Design Plans for the Artesia Botanical Garden Project
at 11462 178th St., which include overall site plan design, size of program areas visualized in renderings, rough
project cost and construction time estimates and direct staff to develop the plans, specifications and engineering for
the construction packet based upon the approved design.
 
 
 
 

Attachments

Artesia Botanical Garden Renderings

https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67c79bd84e7b11006b8cca62%2FArtesia%20Botanical%20Garden%20Renderings%203-12-25.pdf?alt=media&token=9ef15a2b-6f19-4521-9fbb-58b7231e6ed3
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67c79bd84e7b11006b8cca62%2FArtesia%20Botanical%20Garden%20Renderings%203-12-25.pdf?alt=media&token=9ef15a2b-6f19-4521-9fbb-58b7231e6ed3
https://firebasestorage.googleapis.com/v0/b/fast-archive-274904.appspot.com/o/artesiaca%2Factions%2F67c79bd84e7b11006b8cca62%2FArtesia%20Botanical%20Garden%20Renderings%203-12-25.pdf?alt=media&token=9ef15a2b-6f19-4521-9fbb-58b7231e6ed3


ARTESIA BOTANICAL GARDEN
SCHEMATIC DESIGN

03.17.2025

CHEE SALETTE



ARTESIA BOTANICAL GARDEN  -   03.17.2025 CHEE SALETTE

site plan



WC
485 SF

STORAGE
98 SF

WARMING
KITCHEN
182 SF

OFFICE
165 SF

R
EF
R
IG
ER
AT
O
R
/F
R
EE
ZE
R

TR
U
E
 S
TR
2D
T-
2S

HEATED
CABINET

Avantco HEAT-1836I

TWO MICROWAVES
STACKED

SOLWAVE 180MWAS12T

ICE MACHINE
MANITOWOC NEO 140

FOYER
64 SF

COMMUNITY BUILDING
2,973 SF

MULTI-PURPOSE
ROOM

1,593 SF

HEATED
CABINET

Avantco HEAT-1836IJC
17 SF

TWO MICROWAVES
STACKED

SOLWAVE 180MWAS12T

EL
EC

17
 S

F
EL

EC
17

 S
F

SL
ID

IN
G

D
O

O
R

SL
ID

IN
G

D
O

O
R

20'-9"
39

'-8
"

42'-0"

9'
-1

"
5'-0"

27
'-0

"

9'
-0

"

84'-9"

32'-9"

12
'-9

"

57
'-9

"

6'-0"

11'-7"

12'-0" 20'-9"
14

'-4
"

12
'-8

"
6'

-0
"

6'-0" 36'-0" 6'-0"

5'
-0

"

12
'-5

"

5'
-9

"

9'-2"

11'-7" 16'-3"

5'-0"

1/4" = 1'-0"

DEC. 3, 2024

A2.01

COMMUNITY BUILDING
FLOOR PLAN

CHEE SALETTE

ARTESIA
BOTANICAL GARDEN

STAMP

REGULATORY APPROVALS

2024-08

N

DRAWING ISSUANCE

11462 178TH STREET
ARTESIA, CA 90701

ARCHITECT + LANDSCAPE ARCHITECT
1625 SOUTH CENTRAL AVENUE, GLENDALE, CA 91204
TEL : 747.240.6926

NO. ISSUE DATE

LEAD CONSULTANT

SUB CONSULTANT

NOT FOR CONSTRUCTION

1 50% SCHEMATIC DESIGN DEC. 3, 2024

0' 2' 4' 8'

ARTESIA BOTANICAL GARDEN  -   03.17.2025 CHEE SALETTE

building layout



ARTESIA BOTANICAL GARDEN  -   03.17.2025 CHEE SALETTE

COST BREAKDOWN
SITE DEMO      
SWPPP
FENCE + GATES + WALLS  
UTILITY BUILDING
UTILITIES
OFFSITE
GROUND IMPROVEMENTS
SITE PAVING    
PLANTING + IRRIGATION
SPECIALTIES
SITE LIGHTING 
BUILDING STRUCTURE
BUILDING SYSTEMS
DEMONSTRATION PLANTERS
DEMONSTRATION CREEK
DESIGN CONTINGENCY @ 8%
MARKET ESCALATION @ 5.4%
GENERAL CONTRACTOR @ 14%

TOTAL

SITE DEVELOPMENT       $1.7M (23%)

SITE CONDITIONS        $1.6M (21%)

BUILDING                         $2.4M (31%)

SITE FEATURES               $236K (3%)

CONTINGENCY+
CONTRACTOR                  $1.7M (22%)

$236K
$42K     
$100K
$135K
$400K
$50K
$400K
$271K
$890K
$177K
$543K

 $86K
$150K
$460K
$334K
$918K

$7.4M



ARTESIA BOTANICAL GARDEN  -   03.17.2025 CHEE SALETTE

entrance



ARTESIA BOTANICAL GARDEN  -   03.17.2025 CHEE SALETTE

community building entrance



ARTESIA BOTANICAL GARDEN  -   03.17.2025 CHEE SALETTE

community building educational setting

capacity: 20



ARTESIA BOTANICAL GARDEN  -   03.17.2025 CHEE SALETTE

community building banquet setting

capacity: 72



ARTESIA BOTANICAL GARDEN  -   03.17.2025 CHEE SALETTE

welcome plaza



ARTESIA BOTANICAL GARDEN  -   03.17.2025 CHEE SALETTE

art installation area



ARTESIA BOTANICAL GARDEN  -   03.17.2025 CHEE SALETTE

educational and demonstration area



ARTESIA BOTANICAL GARDEN  -   03.17.2025 CHEE SALETTE

meander thru the mature forest



ARTESIA BOTANICAL GARDEN  -   03.17.2025 CHEE SALETTE

pathway to the garden



ARTESIA BOTANICAL GARDEN  -   03.17.2025 CHEE SALETTE

garden walk



ARTESIA BOTANICAL GARDEN  -   03.17.2025 CHEE SALETTE

central lawn



ARTESIA BOTANICAL GARDEN  -   03.17.2025 CHEE SALETTE

garden walk



ARTESIA BOTANICAL GARDEN  -   03.17.2025 CHEE SALETTE

educational and demonstration garden



ARTESIA BOTANICAL GARDEN  -   03.17.2025 CHEE SALETTE

site plan



ca planting biomes
GRASSLAND CHAPPARAL DESERT

WETLANDSFOREST



plants









ARTESIA BOTANICAL GARDEN  -   03.17.2025 CHEE SALETTE

wedding at the lawn

capacity: 84 linear seating + lawn seating



ARTESIA BOTANICAL GARDEN  -   03.17.2025 CHEE SALETTE

movie night at the lawn

capacity: 36 linear seating + lawn seating


	RegularCityCouncilMeeting-03-17-2025
	Item 9A. 
	Item 9B. 
	2025 February Demand Check Register
	Item 9C. 
	Treasurer Report 013125
	Item 9D. 
	Item 9E. 
	MINUTES 1.13.2025 Reg
	MINUTES 1.13.2025 Sp
	MINUTES 2.10.2025 Reg
	Item 9F. 
	Facility Use Application- Phillipine Friendship Day
	ATT 1 Exhibit C-D- Facility Use Regulations
	Item 9G. 
	Fireworks America- July 4 2025 contract signed
	Item 9H. 
	South Coast Painters
	First Amendment - South Coast Painters
	Construction Agreement - Kilter Termite - Artesia Park
	Billboard Fund
	Item 9I. 
	Item 9J. 
	Willdan PSA HE and MUO 10-22-24 - [SIGNED]
	Wildan Amendment 3-6-25 Final
	MY Housing Authority
	Item 9K. 
	Sagecrest Amendment 3-6-25 Final
	Sagecrest PSA 10-2024 - signed
	Item 9L. 
	Historical Trail Planting Plans_IFB-2025.02.19
	March 2025 changes to Measure M and Measure R
	Item 9M. 
	2024 General Plan Annual Report
	3-17-25 Housing Element Annual Progress Report
	Item 11A. 
	DRAFT Starbucks CC Resolution No. 25-3032
	Item 11B. 
	03.17.2025 Artesia - Ordinance No. 25-966 (Vacant Properties) (BBK Comments)-c1_final_2_18_25-c1.modified 03.04.2025
	02.18.2025 Planning Commission staff report
	Item 11C. 
	Artesia Goal Setting Report.docx-combined
	Item 11D. 
	Artesia Botanical Garden Renderings 3-12-25

		2024-10-21T08:35:26-0700
	Agreement certified by Adobe Acrobat Sign


		2024-10-22T10:18:11-0700
	Agreement certified by Adobe Acrobat Sign


		2024-10-17T12:06:00-0700
	Agreement certified by Adobe Acrobat Sign




